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DEMERGER PLAN .

of 27 March 2006
for
the demerger of
: Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
i organisation number 916 235 291
as Transferor
with
Petrojar]l ASA
organisation number 989 600 699
! as Transferee
I
| |

entered into by the respective Boards of Directors of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and
Petrojarl ASA for the subsequent approval by the Extraordinary General Meetings of the
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This Demerger Plan is today e

(1)

(2)

PETROLEUM GE
291, Strandveien 4, l3

and

PETROJARL ASA, organisation no. 989 600 699, Beddingen 16, 7014 Trondheim

on the terms provided below,

1.1

1.2

MAIN FEATURES OF THE DEMERGER

Demerging of the Production Companies

PGS ASA and its subsidiaries are presently involved in the two main business areas
of streamer and seafloor seismic data acquisition, seismic acquisition operations on
land and marine and onshore multi-client libraries and data processing (the
“Geophysical Business”), and contractor operation of FPSO vessels in the North Sea
(the “Production Business™). '

Historically, the Production Business and the Geophysical Business have mainly
been organised and operated as two separate businesses within the PGS group.

Under the demerger of PGS ASA (the “Demerger’™), an independent group with
Petrojarl ASA as parent company shall be established (the “Production Companies”
which are listed in Appendix 1) to continue the Production Business.

The assets, rights and liabilities not transferred to the Production Companies shall
continue under PGS ASA and its remaining subsidiaries (the “PGS Companies™).
The PGS Companies shall after consummation of the Demerger continue the
Geophysical Business.

. The shareholders of PGS ASA will upon consummation of the Demerger receive one
new share in Petrojarl ASA (the "New Petrojarl Shares') for each share in PGS ASA.

Allocation of Market Values and Share Capital

Based on the estimates of the fair values of PGS ASA and the Production Business to
be transferred to Petrojarl ASA, and otherwise the allocation of assets, rights and
liabilities pursuant to this Demerger Plan, the Boards of Directors of PGS ASA and
Petrojarl ASA respectively have determined that the Demerger entails an allocation
of net values of 80% to PGS ASA and 20% to Petrojarl ASA.

Based on the above, the share capital and share premium fund of PGS ASA is
allocated in the same ratio; 80% to PGS ASA and 20% to Petrojar] ASA.



For a demerger to be effected with continuity for Norwegian tax purposes, the share
capital of the transferor shall be split between the transferor and the transferee
proportionally based on the relative net values allocated to each of the companies.
The Boards of Directors of PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA are of the oplmon that this
requirement is met by the above allocation.

Petrojarl ASA

Petrojarl ASA was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of PGS ASA on
2 March 2006, and has as of the date of this Demerger Plan a paid in capital of
NOK 831,654,285 allocated to a share capital of NOK 29,999,980 divided into
14,999,990 shares, each with a par value of NOK 2.00, and an aggregate share
premium of NOK 801,654,305.

Petrojarl ASA was incorporated for the sole purpose of consummating the Demerger,
and has not had and shall not have any operational activity prior to the time of
registration of completion of the Demerger with the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises (the “Completion Date™), cf. item 8.3 below,

Petrojarl ASA has been capitalized to achieve the intended division of ownership in
Petrojarl ASA on the Completion Date with 19.99% owned by PGS ASA and
80.01% by the shareholders of PGS ASA. It is PGS ASA's intention, subject to the
prevailing market conditions, to sell its 19.99% shareholding in Petrojarl ASA, ina
public offering in conjunction with the consummation of the Demerger.

As of the Completion Date, Petrojarl ASA will constitute the parent company of the
Production Companies.

Technical Implementation

Prior to the Completion Date, assets, rights and liabilities will be transferred to the
Production Companies through intra-group transactions (the “Related Transactions”),
in order for the Production Business to be organized under Petrojarl ASA as of the
Completion Date. A schedule of anticipated material Relatéd Transactions from |
January 2006 to the Completion Datc is enclosed as Appendix 2.

Prior to the Completion Date, PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA will enter into certain
transitional agreements that regulate the continuation of gstablished commercial
connections between the Production Business and the Geophysical Business. A
schedule of anticipated material transitional agreements between the Production
Companies and the PGS Companies is enclosed as Appendix 3.
|

Following the execution of the Demerger Plan by the respective Boards of Directors
of PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA, PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA shall report the
Demerger Plan to the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises, cf section 14-4(3)
and 13-13 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act of 1997 (the”PLCA™).

Through the Demerger, the assets, rights and liabilities described herein shall be
transferred from PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA pursuant to this Demerger Plan.
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1.6

2.1,

This transfer shall be effected by means of'a Norwegian statutory demerger pursuant
to Chapter 14 of the PLCA where PGS ASA’s share capital is reduced from
NOK 600,000,000, by NOK 120,000,000 to NOK 480,000,000, by reducing the par
value of cach PGS ASA share from NOK 10.00 by NOK 2.00 to NOK 8.00, together
with a simultaneous increase in the share capital of' Petrojarl ASA from
NOK 29,999,980, by NOK 120,000,000 to NOK 149,999,980, by issuing 60,000,000

‘New Petrojarl Shares, each with a par value of NOK 2.00.

The New Petrojari Shares shall be distributed to the sharcholders of PGS ASA, so
that each share in PGS ASA shall entitle its holder to one New Petrojarl Share.

Financial Effective Date

{
The Production Business shall be carried on for the account and risk of Petrojarl
ASA from and including t January 2006 (the “Effective Date™). '
f

Listing of Petrojarl ASA

Immediately after the Completion Date, Petrojarl ASA will be listed at Oslo Bers, '
cf. item 8.1 b) below.

ALLOCATION OF ASSETS, RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES

Transfer of Assets and Rights

On the Completion Date, the following assets and rights shall be transferred from
PGS ASA and be assumed by Petrojarl ASA:

a) 100% of the shares in PGS Production AS.

b) Indebtedness of KS Petrojarl | AS to PGS ASA of a principal outstanding
amount of US$ 78,561,926.68 as of the Effective Date, plus accrued unpaid
interest from the Effective Date.

¢) Cash of USS$ 46,500,000, adjusted for any net inter-company transfers in the
period from the Effective Date to the Completion Date as set out below. If,
following such adjustments, the cash contribution is negative, such negative
amount shall be paid by Petrojarl ASA to PGS ASA at the latest 15 days
subsequent to the Completion Date.

Inter-company transfers shall for this purpose include:

e (Cash sweeps from Production Companies to PGS ASA under the inter-
company offset bank system.

e Cash funding from PGS ASA to Production Companies under the inter-
company offset bank system.

¢ Inter-company charges refated to corporate and global shared services
costs between the Effective Date and the Completion Date as provided for
in item 9.3.



22
|

e Other non-cash inter-company charges, but excluding any inter-company
charges related to the Related Transactions described in item 1.4 and
Appendix 2.

For the avoidance of doubt, fees and costs pursuant to item 9.2.2 shall not
be taken into account for the purposé of calculating the adjustments
above.

In the cvent of a dispute between PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA in
connection with this item 2.1 ¢), the inter-company transfers shall be
verified by an independent auditor. Should there be any dispute
subsequent to such verification, the dispute shall be settled in accordance
with item 9.12 below.

Any indebtedness due to PGS ASA from any of the Production Companies.

The patents, trademarks and other intellectual property rights listed in
Appendix 4.

The agreements entered into by PGS ASA relating to the Production Business
as listed in Appendix §.

Transfer of Liabilities

On the Completion Date, the following liabilities of PGS ASA shall be transferred
from PGS ASA and be assumed by Petrojarl ASA:

a)

b)

c)

d)

All liabilities related to the assets and rights that are transferred to Petrojarl
ASA pursuant to this Demerger Plan, whether known or unknown, contingent
or actual, 1o the extent not specifically allocated to PGS ASA clsewhere in
this Demerger Plan. '

All indebtedness of PGS ASA due to any of the Production Companies.

All liabilities of PGS ASA under transferable pledges and guarantees, or
under pledges and guarantees for which consents to transfer have been
obtained prior to the Completion Date, issued by PGS ASA to third parties in
respect of liabilities of the Production Companies, whether known or
unknown, contingent or actual.

Any liability of PGS ASA under the lease agreements for the UK leases of
the FPSO vessel Petrojarl Foinaven and of the topside of the FPSO vessel
Ramform Banff. The Inland Revenue has raised a separate issue about the
accelerated rate at which tax depreciation is available for lessor of Petrojarl
Foinaven. If the Inland Revenue disputes the rate and was successful in
challenging that rate, the lessor would be liable for increased taxes on
Petrojarl Foinaven in early periods (and decreased taxes in later years), and
the rentals and termination sum would increase. There are a variety of
scenarios of how much the rentals would increase, mainly depending on how
much of the asset that will be subject to a different depreciation rate. If the
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aggregate liability related to the long-life asset discussion with UK Inland
Revenue for Petrojart Foinaven exceeds GBP 13,000,000, such. excess
amount shall be split on a 50/50 basis between PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA
if and when such excess amount becomes payabie.

e} Any liability for PGS ASA related to pensions for the existing and previous
employees (including, for the avoidance of doubt, current pensioners) of the
Production Companies.

Other Assets, Rights and Liabilities

Assets, Rights and Liabilities to Remain with PGS ASA

The following assets, and rights and liabilities related to such assets, shall regardiess
of items 2.1 and 2.2 remain with the PGS Companies:

a) Assets that are situated in any of PGS ASA's offices, other than the offices
of Petrojart ASA listed below initem 2.3.2 a). '

b) Assets that are situated on the vessels under the Geophysical Business.
Assets, Rights and Liabilities to be Transferred to Petrojarl ASA

The following assets, and rights and liabilities related to such assets, shall regardless
of items 2.1 and 2.2 be transferred to Petrojart ASA:

a) Assets that are situated in Petrojarl ASA's main offices in Trondheim,
Norway and Aberdeen, Scotland.

b) Assets that are situated on the vessels under the Production Business.

Assignment of Assets, Rights and Liabilities after the Date of this Demerger
Plan

If PGS ASA or Petrojarl ASA afier the date of this Demerger Plan identifies that any
of the assets and rights of PGS Companies primarily relate to and are required for the
operation of the Production Business, PGS ASA shall procure that such assets and
rights (and the liabilities related to such) shall be assigned to Petrojarl ASA free of
any additional consideration.

In the event that any necessary third party consent to such assignment is not
obtained, PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA shall as far as possible ensure that the
agreements continue in force in the name of the relevant PGS Company, but for the
account and risk of Petrojarl ASA. I this is not possible, the relevant PGS Company
and Petrojarl ASA shall as far as possible enter into an agreement that grants to
Petrojarl ASA the same rights against and liabilities towards the relevant PGS
Company as those that the PGS Company has against and owes to the contractual
party in question.
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This pfinciple shall apply in the same manner if any of PGS ASA or Petrojarl ASA
identifies that any of the assets and rights of Production Companies primarily relate
to and are required for the operation of the Geophysical Business.

t

Loan from PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA

For the purpose of the Demerger, Petrojar] ASA shall as of the Completion Date be
deemed to have received a loan from PGS ASA of US$ 325,000,000 which shall be
repaid in cash on the Completion Date, unless the Board of Directors of PGS ASA
has given its consent to the extension of the loan whether in part or in whole bevond
the Completion Date, on terms to be agreed between the parties, ¢f. item 8.1 c).

Guarantees — Release, Waivers and Compensation

Release from Cross Liability l

To minimize cross liabilities following completion of the Demerger, PGS ASA and
Petrojarl ASA have used, and will continue to use until and after the Completion
Date, their best efforts to enter into agreements releasing PGS ASA from liability in
respect of parent company guarantees related to the Production Business.

PGS ASA and Petrojart ASA have used, and will continue to use until and after the
Completion Date, their best efforts to obtain waivers under guarantees related to the
Geophysical Business releasing Petrojarl ASA from secondary joint and several
liability for the obligations of PGS ASA resulting from the. Section 14-11 of the
PLCA.

Compensation for Guarantees for the benefit of Production Companies
|

To the extent that PGS ASA or the other PGS Companies aﬁ:er the Completion Date
continue to be directly liable (as distinguished from the secondary joint and several
liability under Section 14-11 of the PLCA) for contingent or actual liabilities owed
by the Production Companies to third parties, Petrojarl ASA shall pay to PGS ASA a
guarantee fee calculated on the basis of the guaranteed sum at a rate equal to the
average margin paid by Petrojarl ASA on its interest- bearmg debt (for the avoidance
of doubt, not to include project financing debt) for the continuation of such
guarantees. To the extent that Petrojarl ASA has debt with a fixed interest rate, the
margin of such debt shall be determined as the difference between the fixed rate paid
for the six-month period and the relevant six-month mter-bank rate at the start of the
same period. '
Any guarantee fee is to be paid every six months in arrears, with the first payment to
be made on 2 January 2007, terminating upon the release or expiration of such
guarantee. .

Insurance

" ) 1

For a period of 5 years following the Completion Date, PGS ASA shall procure that
the PGS Companies at all times will have insurance in such amounts and covering
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such risks and liabilities as are customary for companies of a similar size engaged in
similar businesses in similar locations.

In the same manner Petrojarl] ASA shall for a period of 5 vears following the
Completion Date, procure that the Production Companies at all times will have
insurance in such amounts and covering such risks and liabilities as are customary
for companies of a similar size engaged in similar businesses in similar locations,

Tax Positions

Allocation of tax positions

The Demerger shall be carried out with continuity for Norwegian taxation purposes,
cf. item 6 below. This implies that Petrojarl ASA will take over the tax positions
relating to the transferred assets, rights and liabilities. Tax positions not connected to
specific assets, rights and liabilities will be allocated to the company continuing the
business from where such tax positions are originated. Tax positions not connected to
a specific business will be split between PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA according to
the net value allocation between the companies, cf. item 1.2,

_Reassessment

If and to the extent a reassessment related to a year prior to the Effective Date takes
place for PGS ASA, any change to the amount of loss carry forward in PGS ASA
shall be split in accordance with the net value allocation between the companies, cf.
item 1.2.

If and to the extent any subsidiaries of PGS ASA and/or of Petrojarl ASA after the
Demerger are subject to reassessments related to a year prior to the Effective Date,
PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA are obliged to first exhaust group contributions to other
subsidiaries within the group which the relevant subsidiary belongs. If need arises,
and such subsidiary wishes to grant group contribution to PGS ASA for any year(s)
prior to the Effective Date, then a compensatory payment shall be made at least equal
to the net present value of the reduced tax benefit for the other party to this Demerger
Plan. Any group contribution receivable shall then be allocated to the party owning
the subsidiary in question after the Demerger, and reduction in loss carry forward
shall be split according to the net value allocation between the companies, cf. item
1.2

The Parties shall co-operate to facilitate such changes to the individual tax returns
that are necessary to implement the principles described above.

Employment and Pensions

Employment

As of the Completion Date, those PGS ASA employees whose work primarily relate
to the Production Business shall be transferred to Petrojarl ASA. This applies to one
employee.
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The employees in the different subsidiaries of PGS ASA will continue their
employment with their existing employer.

Pension

Any liabilities for PGS ASA related to pensions for the existing and prewous
employees of the Production Companies shall be transferred to Peirojarl ASA
pursuant to item 2.2 €).

Risks after the Effective Date

In determining the allocation of net values between PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA,
cf. item 1.2, due considerations have been made with respect to different risks
connected to the Geophysical Business and the Production Business respectively. No
compensation shall be payable between PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA if any
circumstance (whether incurring prior to or after the Effective Date) influences or is
likely to influence the value of the PGS Companies or the Production Companies
respectively.

ISSUANCE OF NEW PETROJARL SHARES TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
PGS

In connection with the transfer of assets, rights and labilities from PGS ASA to
Petrojarl ASA under the Demerger, the share capital of PGS ASA shall be reduced
by way of a reduction of the par value of each PGS ASA share from NOK 10.00 by
NOK 2.00 to NOK 8.00 (cf. item 4.1 below), and the shareholders of PGS ASA shall
receive one New Petrojarl Share each with a par value of NOK 2.00 for each share in
PGS ASA (cf. item 4.2 below).

REDUCTION OF SHARE CAPITAL IN PGS ASA AND INCREASE OF
SHARE CAPITAL IN PETROJARL ASA

Reduction of the Share Capital in PGS ASA

This Demerger Plan shall be presented for approval at the extraordinary general
meeting of PGS ASA which is scheduled for 28 April 2006. As part of the approval
of the Demerger Plan, the extraordinary general meeting of PGS ASA shall pass the
following resolution on the reduction of share capital:

“The share capital of the Company shall be reduced from NOK 600,000,000 by
NOK 120,000,000 to NOK 480,000,000 through reduction of the par value of
each share from NOK 10.00 by NOK 2.00 to NOK 8. OO The Company’s share
premium fund of NOK 1,104,515,000 shall be reduced proportionally by NOK
220,903,000 to NOK 883,6I2 000. When executing the reduction, assets, rights
and liabilities shall be transferred to Petrojarl ASA in connection with the
demerger pursuant to the Demerger Plan dated 27 March 2006.”




4.2

!
I

With effect from the Completion Date, the relevant part of Article 3 of PGS ASA’s
Articles of Association shall be amended to read as follows:

“The share capital of the Company shall be NOK 480,000,000 divided into
60,000,000 shares of NOK 8.00 cach. The shares shall be registered with the
Norwegian Registry of Securities (Verdipapirsentralen).”

Increase in the Share Capital in Petrojarl ASA

This Demerger Plan shall be presented for approval at the extraordinary general
meeting of Petrojarl ASA which is scheduled for 28 April 2006.

As part of the approval of the Demerger Plan, the extraordinary general meeting of
Petrojarl ASA shall pass the following resolution on the increase of share capital:

“The share capital of the Company shall be increased from NOK 29,999,980
by NOK 120,000,000 to NOK 149,999 980 through the issue of 60,000,000
new shares in the Company each with a par value of NOK 2.00 in connection
with the demerger pursuant to the Demerger Plan dated 27 March 2006. The
Company's share premium fund shall be increased from NOK 801,654,305 by
NOK 220,903,000 to NOK 1,022,557,305.

Subscription of shares shall take place by way of approval of the Demerger
Plan by the extraordinary general meetings of PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA.

Payment of shares shall take place by transfer of assets, rights and liabilities
from PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA in accordance with the Demerger Plan when
completion of the demerger is registered with the Norwegtan Register of
Business Enterprises.

The new shares shall entitle the holders to dividends from and including the
financial year 2006.

The new shares shall be registered with the Norwegian Registry of Securities,
Verdipapirsentralen, as soon as possible after the Completion Date and shall
thereafter entitle the holders to full shareholder rights in Petrojarl ASA.”

With effect from the Completion Date, Article 4 of Petrojarl ASA’s Articles of
Association shall be amended 10 read as follows: .

“The share capital of the Company shall be NOK ]49 999,980 divided into
74,999,990 shares of NOK 2.00 each.

The shares shall be registered with the Norweglan Registry of Securities
(Verdipapirsentralen).” \

ACCOUNTING MATTERS

i
For the purposes of the statutory Norwegian GAAP unconsolidated parent company
financial statements of PGS ASA and Petrojar]l ASA, the Demerger shall be carried
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out with continuity, and PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA shall take all reasonable steps
to ensure that such shall be accomplished. This implies, inter alia, that the book
values of assets, rights and liabilities registered in PGS ASA shall be carried over to
Petrojarl ASA’s financial statements, and that the reduction of retained earnings and
any reduction in the premium paid-in capital of PGS ASA shall correspond to an
equivalent increase in retained earnings and premium paid-in capital of Petrojarl
ASA, cf. items 4.1 and 4.2.

The Demerger shall take effect from the Effective Date for the purpose of statutory
Norwegian GAAP unconsolidated parent company financial statements of PGS ASA
and Petrojarl ASA.

A draft opening balance sheet for Petrojarl ASA is attached as Appendix 13.

For the avoidance of doubt, the accounting treatment of the Demerger on the
consolidated financial statements of the PGS Companies and Production Companles
are not regulated by the Demerger Plan.

TAXATION MATTERS

The Demerger shall take effect for tax purposes from the Effective Date,

The Demerger shall be carried out with continuity for Norwegian taxation purposes
pursuant to the provisions of chapter 11 of the Norwegian Tax Act of 1999 (the “Tax
Act”), and PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA shall take all reasonable steps in connection
therewith.

In accordance with the terms of section 11-8(1) of the Tax Act, the nominal and
paid-in share capital is allocated in the same ratio as PGS ASA’s net values, i.e. 80%
to PGS ASA and 20% Petrojarl ASA.

Continuity for taxation purposes implies, inter alia, that the tax positions related to
assets, rights and liabilities that are transferred from PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA
upon the Demerger shall be transferred unamended 10 Petrojarl ASA, cf,, inter alia,
sections 11-7(1) and 11-8(3) and (4) ol the Tax Act.

"MANAGEMENT AND CONTROLLING BODIES IN PETROJARL ASA

Board of Directors of Petrojarl ASA

At the date of adoption of this Demerger Plan, the Board of Directors of PetrOJarl
ASA comprises of the following Directors:

» Keith Nicolas Henry, Chairperson
s Clare Mary Joan Spottiswoode
e Rolf Erik Rolfsen

It is intended that PGS ASA will present proposals for new shareholder
representatives on the Board of Directors of Petrojar] ASA. PGS ASA will then as



the sole shareholder of Petrojarl ASA appoint such representatives as members of the
Board of Petrojarl ASA with effect from the Completion Date in an extraordinary
general meeting of Petrojarl ASA prior to the Completion Date.

In addition, PGS ASA will, as the sole shareholder of Petrojarl ASA, amend the
articles of association of Petrojar] ASA to arrange for two employee representatives
on the Board of Dircctors of Petrojarl ASA.

Managing Director of Petrojarl ASA and PGS Production AS

The Managing Director of Petrojarl ASA and PGS Production AS is Espen Klitzing.

COMPLETION OF THE DEMERGER

Conditions for Completion of the Demerger

Completion of the Demerger is subject to the following conditions:

a} All consents, both contractual and governmental, required for the
consummation of the Demerger shall have been obtained or waived, and all
rights of termination (or material alteration} of agreements to which a
Production Company is a party shall have been waived or the deadline for
exercising any such rights shall have expired without such rights having been
exercised. The condition shall not apply, however, if; in the opinion of the
Board of Directors of PGS ASA, neither the potential fdilure to oblain consents
nor the potential terminations (or alterations) of such agreements would
individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on the
Production Companies or the PGS Companies. '

b) Oslo Bers shall have consented to Petrojarl ASA being listed immediately after
registration of the New Petrojarl Shares with the Norwegian Registry of
Securities Verdipapirsentralen.

c¢) Satisfactory documentation, in the opinion of the Board of Directors of PGS
ASA, shall have been produced demonstrating Petrojarl ASA’s ability to repay
its indebtedness to PGS ASA described in item 2.5 above on the Completion
Date, unless the Board of Directors of PGS ASA consents to an extension of
the loan in whole or in part.

d) There shall be no outstanding indebtedness between any of the Production
Companies and the PGS Companies other than the indebtedness under item 2.1
b), ¢} and d), item 2.2 b), item 2.5 and possible cross liabilities under
guarantees by PGS ASA (cf. item 2.6).

¢} The deadline for objections from creditors pursuant to section 14-7 cf. section
13-15 of the PLCA shall have expired for both parties, and the position
regarding any creditors who have raised objections has been settled or PGS
ASA shall have obtained a final ruling from Norwegian courts regarding any
such objections concluding that the Demerger may nevertheless be

13
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consummated and registered with the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises.

f) No circumstance having a material adverse effect on the business, property,
results of operation or financial condition of the PGS Companies or the
Production Companies has occurred, unless the Board of Directors of PGS
ASA is of the opinion that it will be in the interests of the shareholders of PGS
ASA to nevertheless consumimate the Demerger. ‘

g) There shall have been no decision by a subsequent extraordinary general
meeting of PGS ASA, pursuant to a calling notice from the PGS ASA Board of
Directors or otherwise, to cancel the Demerger.

Power to Amend the Demerger Plan

The respective Boards of Directors of PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA may on behalf of
the respective extraordinary general meetings make minor amendments to this
Demerger Plan to the extent that such amendments are necessary or appropriate and
such amendments wil} not be to the detriment of their respective shareholders.

Completion

The Demerger shall be completed when notice from Petrojarl ASA that the
Demerger shall enter into force and a notice from PGS ASA that the reduction of its
share capital shall enter into force are registered with the Norwegian Register of
Business Enterprises.

Such registration with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises shall take
place afier the conditions laid down in item 8.1 above have been satisfied or, where
permitted, waived. In the event that such registration has not taken place by 31
December 2006, the Demerger shall lapse unless the Boards of Directors of PGS
ASA and Petrojarl ASA have agreed to extend the deadline.

MISCELLANEOUS

Special Rights and Benefits

No directors, managing directors or experts shall be entitled to special rights or
benefits in connection with the Demerger.
Expenses in Connection with the Demerger and the Related Transactions

Expenses in Connection With Planning and Implementation of the Demerger

External expenses that refer directly to work with the planning of the Demerger and
the Related Transactions, including fees and disbursements payable to advisors, but
excluding (i) expenses related to establishing a new corporate profile for the
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9.3

9.4

9.5

9.5.1

915.2

Production Companies, (ii} expenses incurred in connection with the continued
operation of the Production Companies, and (iii} the fees and costs under item 9.2.2
below, shall be paid by PGS ASA or the PGS Company that is party 1o the relevant
Related Transaction.

Fees and Costs Occurred as a Result of the Related Transactions or the Demerger

Consent fees and other relevant fees and costs incurred to accomplish the transfer of
assets, rights and liabilities to the Production Companies under the Related
Transactions or otherwise pursuant to this Demerger Plan, whether known or
unknown, contingent or actual, shall be allocated to Petrojarl ASA or another
Production Company designated by Petrojarl ASA.

Allocation of Corporate and Global Shared Services Costs Between the
Effective Date and the Completion Date

Petrojarl ASA shall be charged a fixed monthly fee of US$ 370,000 for costs related
to PGS ASA’s corporate center, and a fixed monthly fee of US$ 93,000 for costs
related to global shared services in the period between the Effective Date and the
Completion Date, reduced with any actual charges made to other Production
Companies in the same period. All existing agreements relating to PGS ASA's
corporate center and the global shared services shall at the Completion Date be
terminated and replaced by the agreements set out in Appendix 3.

Dealing with Matters Related to the Other Party

In the event that a PGS Company becomes aware or receives notice of a potentiai
asset, right or liability that, under the provisions of this Demerger Plan or under the
terms of agreements that regulate Related Transactions are related to a Production
Company or vice-versa, PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA respectively, shall without
undue delay give written notice to the other party and give such assistance that is
reasonably required for the other party and its subsidiaries to protect their interests.

Mutual Indemnification

Obligation of PGS ASA to Indemnify Petrojarl ASA

PGS ASA agrecs to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Production Companies,
their Board of Directors and management (each an “Indemnified Party”), and pay or
reimburse the relevant Indemnified Party for any loss, liability or damage, including
indemnification of reasonable legal costs, whether or not arising from third party
claims, suffered based upon, arising out of or otherwise incurred after the Effective
Date related to the business, assets, rights and liabilities of any of the PGS
Companies not transferred as part of this Demerger Plan.

Obligation of Petrojarl ASA to Indemnify PGS ASA



Petrojarl ASA agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the PGS Companies,
their Board of Directors and management (each an Indemnified Party) and pay or
reimburse the relevant Indemnified Party for any loss, liability or damage, including
indemnification of reasonable legal costs, whether or not arising from third party
claims, suffered based upon, arising out of or otherwise incurred after the Effective
Date related to the business, assets, rights and liabilities of a any of the Production
Companies transferred as part of this Demerger Plan.

Notice and Opportunity to Defend

If an Indemnified Party becomes aware of any demand, claim or circumstance which
has given, or with the lapse of time or otherwise may give, rise to a claim or the
commencement {or threatened commencement) of any action, proceeding or
investigation (an “Asserted Liability”) that may result in the suffering of damages,
the Indemnified Party shall without undue delay give notice thereof (the “Claim
Notice™} to the party obligated to provide indemnification pursuant to this item 9.5
(the “Indemnifying Party”) and shall permit the Indemnifying Party to assume
control of the negotiation, compromise or defence against' the Asserted Liability,
unless the Indemnified Party reasonably considers that the assumption by the
Indemnifying Party of the control of the negotiation or compromise of or defence
against the Asserted Liability may reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect
on the commercial interests or reputation of the Indemnified Party (such Asserted
Liability being referred 10 herein as a "Commerc1allv Prejudicial _Asserted
Liability™.

The Claim Notice shall describe the Asserted Liability in reasonable detail, and shall
indicate the amount (estimate, if necessary) of the damages that have been or may be
suffered by the Indemnified Party. The Claim Notice shall indicate whether an
Asserted Liability is a Commercially Prejudicial Asserted Liability.

To maintain the claim, the [ndemnified Party must notify the Indemnifying Party
without undue delay, and no later than 21 days after having become aware of such
claim. \
If the Indemnifying Party elects to compromise or defend against such Asserted
Liability, the Indemnifying Party shall within 30 days (or sooner, if the nature of the
Asserted Liability so requires) notify the Indemnified Party of its intent to do_so, and
the Indemnified Party shall cooperate, at the expense of the Indemnifying Party, in
the compromise of, or defence againsi, such Asserted Liability.

If the Indemnifying Party elects, and is permitted hereby, to defend any claim, the
Indemnified Party shall make available to the Indemnifying Party any books, records
or other documents within its control that are necessary or appropriate for such
defence.

If the Indemnified Party has taken control of the negotiation,;compromise or defence
of a Commercially Prejudicial Asserted Liability, the Indemnifying Party shall
thereafter at its own expense cooperate in the negotiation or compromise of or
defence against the Commercially Prejudicial Asserted Llablllly and pay the fees and
expenses of the Indemnified Party. -
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With respect 1o settlements entered into by the Indemnifying Party (which may be for
cash only unless the Indemnified Party has agreed otherwise in writing), the
Indemnifying Party shall obtain the unqualified release of the claiming party in
favour of the Indemnified Party. No settlements shall be entered into by the
Indemnified Party without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party.

If the Indemnifying Party elects not to, or is not permitted to, compromise or defend
the Asscrted Liability, fails timely to notify the Indemnified Party of its election as
herein provided or contests its obligation to indemnify under this Agreement, the
Indemnified Party may pay, compromise or defend such Asserted Liability at the
expense of the Indemnifying Party. '

Limitations

The Indemnifying Party shall not be obligated to pay any amounts of indemnification
to the Indemnified Party under this item 9.5 until the aggregate amount of liability
for which indemnification may be sought equals US$ 100,000 whereupon the
Indemnifving Party shall be obligated to pay indemnification from the first USS.
Single claims which entitle a party to indemnification worth less than US$ 10,000
shall not be aggregated pursuant to this item 9.5.4.

If a claim for indemnification shall not have been notified to the Indemnifying Party
within 3 years after the Completion Date (whether or not such fact, circumstance,
action or proceeding is within the Indemnified Party’s knowledge at the end of such
3 year period) the Indemnifying Party’s obligation to pay any amounts for
indemnification to the Indemnified Party under this item 9.5 shall expire. However,
tax claims and liabilities as well as environmental claims and liabilities, shall not

terminate until two months after the expiry of the applicable statute of limitation.

No distribution from Petrojarl ASA and PGS Production AS

Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date, no distributions (in the form of
dividend, group contribution or otherwise) shall be made from Petrojarl ASA or PGS
Production AS.

Interim Operations

In the period commencing on the date of this Demerger Plan and ending on the
Completion Date, PGS ASA shall procure that the Geophysical Business and the
Production Business are conducted in accordance with past practices and pursuant (o
the existing business plans.

Mutual Information

PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA shall grant to each other access to all relevant
agreements, documents, files, calculations and assessments relating to any liability
subject to the secondary joint and several liability resulting from section 14-11 of the
PLCA (deriving from parent company guarantees, cf. item 2.6, or otherwise), and to
provide all reasonable assistance by the relevant staff and advisers in this respect.

.



9.9

9.10

9.12

Confidentiality

PGS ASA shall, and shall procure that the other PGS Companies will, procure that
all relevant confidential information regarding the Production Companies is kept
confidential and to show due care when handling such information so that the
information does not come into possession of third parties.

In the same manner Petrojarl ASA shall, and shall procure that the other Production
Companies will, procure that all confidential information regarding the PGS
Companies is kept confidential and to show due care when handling such
information so that the information does not come into possession of third parties.

The confidentiality obligations pursuant to this item 9.9 shall survive the Completion
Date and continue thereafter.

Closing Memorandum

PGA ASA and Petrojarl ASA agree to prepare and sign a closing memorandum on
the Completion Date, the content of such closing memorandum to be agreed upon
between PGS ASA and Petrojar] ASA.

Governing law

This Demerger Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
Norwegian law.

Disputes

a) In the event of a dispute between PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA in connection
with this Demerger Plan, each party may call a mediation process to be carried
out by a mediation board consisting of the Chairman and the Managing
Director of each company.

b) If the dispute is not settled by mediation within 30 days after such call of
mediation, the dispute shall be settled by arbitration in Oslo, Norway in
accordance with the Norwegian Arbitration Act of 2004.

If the parties fail to agree on the constitution of the arbitration tribunal within
one month after the parties have submitted a request in writing for the
arbitration of a particular dispute, each of the parties shall be entitled to request
the senior judge of the Borgarting Court of Appeal to appoint all of the
members of the arbitration tribunal, provided, however, that the parties shall be
entitled 1o express their opinions in advance on the persons who are being
considered for nomination.

The arbitration proceedings and the arbitration award shall, except as otherwise
required by applicable law or listing rules, be subject to confidentiality.
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This Demerger Plan in two counterparts, one for each party.

Board of Directors of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Jens Ulltveit-Moe, Keith Nicolas Henry Clare Mary Joan
Chairperson Spottiswoode
Francis Gugen Harald Norvik Rolf Erik Rolfsen

Anthony Tripodo
Board of Directors of Petrojarl ASA

Keith Nicolas Henry Rolf Erik Rolfsen Clare Mary Joan
Chairperson Spottiswoode



Appendices to the Demerger Plan

1.

2.

List of the Production Companies.
Schedule of anticipated material Related Transactions.

Schedule of anticipated material transitional agreements
between the PGS Companies and the Production Companies.

Schedule of patents, trademarks and other intellectual property
to be transferred from PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA.

List of agreements transferred from PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA.
The current Articles of Association of PGS ASA.

The current Articles of Association of Petrojarl ASA.

The Board of Directors’ Report on the Demerger.

Expert opinion on the Demerger.

The Annual Accounts, the Board of Directors’ Report and the
Auditor’s Report for PGS ASA for 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Audited Interim Balance Sheet fD-r PGS ASA per 31 December
200s. .

Auditor’s confirmation on the Intefim Balance Sheet for PGS
ASA per 31 December 2005,

Draft opening balance sheet for Petrojar] ASA.

Auditor’s confirmation regarding the draft opening balance
sheet for Petrojarl ASA. ‘

Auditor’s confirmation that there will be full coverage for the

paid in capital in PGS ASA following the capital reduction in
connection with the Demerger.
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Appendix 1

R
The Production Companies ECF/ {f;;
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‘ She
Petrojarl ASA Parent company Norway .
PGS Production AS 100.00% Norway
Golar Nor Offshore (UK) Limited 100.00% | United Kingdom
Golar Nor (UK) Limited 100.00% | United Kingdom
PGS Floating Production (UK) Limited 100.00% | United Kingdom
Golar Nor Offshore AS 100.00% Norway
PGS Petrojarl Varg AS 100.00% Norway
PGS Ramform Banff AS 100.00% Norway
PGS Tanker AS 100.00% Norway
Petrojarl IV DA 99.24% Norway
KS Petrojarl 1 AS 98.50% Norway
Ikdam Production SA France

40.00%
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Appendix 2

Schedule of Anticipated Material Related Transactions

Sallc of Shares
Sale of the shares (100%) in PGS Floating Production {(UK) Ltd. from Petroleum Geo-

i
' Services (UK) Ltd. to PGS Production AS.
ie Sale of the shares (40%) in lkdam Production SA and related receivable From PGS
| lkdam Ltd. to PGS Production AS.
)

i

Sale of Vessels
Sale of the FPSO vessel Petrojarl Varg from PGS Shipping (Isle of Man) Ltd. to PGS

L ]
Petrojarl Varg AS.

[
Sale of the hull of FPSO vessel Ramform Banff from PGS Shipping (Isle of Man) Lid.

2
E to PGS Ramform BanfT AS.

Novation of UK lease
Novation of the rights and liabilities under UK lease of the topside of FPSO vessel
Ramform Banff from PGS Shipping (Isle of Man) Ltd. to PGS Floating Production

(UK) Lid.
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‘ Appendix 3
Schedule of Material Anticipated Transitional Agreements

Prior to the Completion Date, PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA will enter into certain transitional
agreements that regulate the continuation of established commercial connections between the

Production Business and the Geophysical Business, including inter alia:

A framework Service Agreement.
An agreement giving the Production Companies access to PGS ASA’s global network.,
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Appendix 4

Schedule of patents, trademarks and other intellectual property to be transferred from
PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA:

I. Title: Device by ship for production/test production of oil/gas from a fietd below

seabed level

United States Patent No. 6,199,500, granted 13 March 2001
Patent No. 104, granted 21 September 2001

Angola

Brazil Pending Application P19808896-3, filed on 10 March {998
China Patent No. ZL 98804994, granted 12 March 2003

Norway Patent No. 308128, granted 31 July 2000

2. Title: Bearing System for a Turning Means

United States Patent No. 5,051,035, granted 24 September 1991

3. Tile: System for Transferring Fluids From a Piping System in a Ship’s Hull to a
: Turning Device, and Vice Versa
) f-,:?, -ty
1 United States Patent No. 5,002,433, granted 26 March 1991 oo =
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Appendix 5
List of Agreements Transferred from PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA

[Intentionally left blank]
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The current Articles of Association of PGS ASA Om Ay ’
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' PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA

(C})anged in Extraordinary General Meeting 27.11.91, Board Meeting 09.01.92, Extraordinary
General Meeting 30.01.92, Annual Meeting 28.04.92, Board Meeting 14.05.92, Annual
Meeting 12.03.93, Board Meetings 18.05.93, 27.05.93, 18.03.94, 14.04.94, 18.05.94,
28.06.94, 03.11.94, 02.02.95,11.05.95, Annual Meeting 22.06.95, Board Meetings 09.11.95,
07.03.96, Extraordinary General Mecting 21.03.96, Board Meeting 10.05.96, General
Meeting 11.06.96, Board Meetings 08.08.96, 30.09.96, 02.10.96, 11.11.96, 03.03.97,
13.05.97, General Meeting 25.06.97, Board Meetings 12.08.97, 10.11.97, 17.12.97, 07.01.98,
Extraordinary General Meeting 10.03.98, Board Meeting 09.06.98, Annual Meeting 23.00.98
and Board Meeting 21.07.98, 06.08.98, 31.08.98, 8.11.98,12.03.99, 18.05.99, Annual Meeting
22106.99, Board Meetings 29.07.99, 09.08.99,19.08.99, 18.11.99, 14. 03.00, 30.05.00,

23'08 00, 29.05.01, 31.07.01, 21.08.01, Extraordinary General Meetmg 16.10.03 and Annual
Meeung 08.06. 2005)

!
§ 1I The Company's registered name is PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA. The
\ Company is a public limited company.
§2 The business of the Company is to provide services to and participate and invest in

\ energy related businesses.

§3 The share capital of the Company is NOK 600,000,000 divided into 60,000,000
| shares of NOK 10 each.

The shares are to be registered at the Norwegian Registry of securities.

! To the extent required by §§ 1123(a) and (b) of the US Bankruptcy Code, the
Company may not issue non-voting shares or other non-voting equity securities.

§ 4 The Company's domicile shall be in Barum Municipality.

§5 The Board of Directors of the Company shall have from 3 to 8 Directors. Any two
Directors jointly may sign for the Company.

Until 16 October 2005, any election of new Directors and amendment of the
instruction to the Board concerning approval of major transactions shall require the
approval by more than two thirds of the votes cast as well as of the share capital
which is represented at the General Meeting. Subsequent to 16 QOctober 2005, the

I majority rule pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act § 5 -

i shall apply to such election.

i The period of service for members of the Board of Directors shall be one year.
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§6

§9

The Nomination Committee shall consist of three members. The service shall be two
years unless the Annual General Meeting determines that the period shall be shorter.

The Nomination Committee shall prepare a motion for the Annual General Meeting
relating to:

a) Election of members of the Board of Directors and the chairperson of
the Board of Directors.

b) Election of the members of the Nomination Committee and the
chairperson of the Committee.

c) -  The remuneration of the Directors and the members of the Nomination
Committee.

d) Any amendments of the Nomination Committee’s Mandate and
Charter.

Sections 6-7 and 6-8 of the Act relating to the Public Limited Liability Companies
apply correspendingly in relation to the members of the Nomination Committee.

The shares are freely transferable except that an acquisition by assignment shall be
contingent upon approval by the Board of Directors of the Company, which cannot
be withheld without reasonable grounds.

Notice of the General Meeting shall be given at least 4 weeks before the meeting.
The notice convening an Extraordinary General Meeting shall be given at least 2
wecks before the meeting if the holding of the meeting is demanded in writing by the
auditor or shareholders representing at least one twentieth of the Share Capital. (See
the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act 1997 § 5-7, second paragraph.)

In the Company's General Meeting each share has one vote. An owner with shares
registered through a custodian approved pursuant to Section 4-10 of the Norwegian
Public Limited Companies Act has voting rights equivalent to the number of shares
which arc covered by the custodian arrangement provided that the owner of the
shares shall within two working days before the General Meeting provide the
Company with his name and address together with a confirmation from the custodian
to the effect that he is the beneficial owner of the shares held in custody, and
provided further the Board of Directors shall not disapprove such beneficial
ownership after receipt of such notification in accordance with the rules set out in § 6
above.

Shareowners who wish to take part in the General Meeting, must give notice to the
Company by the date stated in the Calling Notice, which date must be at least two
working days before the General Meeting.

The General Meeting shall deal with the following;:

a} Approval to the Annual Accounts and Annual Report including
distribution of dividend.

b) Election of Board members and the Chairman of the Board.
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c) Election of the members and the chairperson of the Nomination
Committee and amendments of the Nomination Committee’s Mandate
and Charter. '

d) Such other matters as, according to law or the Articles of
Association, fall within the duties of the General Meeting.

The General Meeting shall be chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

In other respects, the stipulations of valid Norwegian Public Limited Companies
legislation shall be applied.
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PETROJARL ASA

| & 1 The name of the company

Thc;a name of the Company is Petrojarl ASA.

§ 2 Registered office

The registered office of the Company shall be in the municipality of Trondheim.
! § 3 The business of the Company

The business of the Company is to provide services to and participate and invest in energy
related businesses, hereunder to own and operate FPSO vessels, and everything relaled with
this, including taking part in other companies.

|

: ‘ $ 4 Share Capital

The Share Capital of the Company is NOK 29,999,980 divided into 14,999,990 shares, each
having a face valuc of NOK 2.00. The shares are to be registered at the Norwegian Registry of
Securities.

§ 3 The Board

The Board shall have 3 to 5 members as decided by the General Meeting.

Each Director and the Chief Execullve Officer hold the signatory rlghts of the Company
solely.

The Board will form a quorum when more than half of the members are present.

The Board has made a decision when more than half of the present members vote in favour of
a proposal, or if the number of votes is equal, the Chairman of the Board has voted in favour
of the proposal. Meetings of the Board shall be held in the municipality where the Company
has its registered office, or elsewhere inside or outside of Norway at the discretion of the
Board. ‘

1 .

The Chairman of the Board shall preside the meetings. If the Chairman of the Board is not
present, and no Deputy Chairman has been elected, the meeting shall be presided by a person
elected by the present members of the Board. If votes are equal, the election is decided by the
drzllwmg of lots.



§ 6 The General Meeting

Orldinary General Meeting shall be held within six months afier the expiration of each
financial year. The financial year runs from the 1* of January to the 31 of December.

The ordinary General Meeting shall consider and resolve:

1. Approval of the annual accounts and annual reports, including the distribution of
dividends.
2. Other matters which according to law or the Articles of Association is the

responsibility of the General Meeting.

t

The General Meeting shall be held in the municipality where the Company has its registered
office, or in the municipality of Oslo, B&rum or Asker.

The General Meeting shall elect a chairman. The Chairman of the Board, or another person
appointed by the Board, opens the meeting and presides this until a chairman is elected.

Extraordinary General Meetings shall be hetd when required by law.
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Board Report 2 HAY i

To the extraordinary general meetings of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and Petrojar]l ASA

JOINT REPORT OF THE BOARDS OF DIRECTORS ON THE DEMERGER

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and Petrojarl ASA

27 March 2006

INTRODUCTION

The respective Boards of Directors of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA ("PGS ASA")
and Petrojarl ASA recommend 10 the shareholders to approve the demerger plan
dated 27 March 2006 (the "Demerger Plan") entered into by the Boards of Directors
of PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA.

The decision to consummate the Demerger shall be made by approval of the
Demerger Plan by at least two-thirds of the votes cast at the respective extraordinary
general meetings of PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA, both scheduled for 28 April 2006.

!
DESCRIPTION OF THE DEMERGER

PGS ASA Prior to the Demerger

PGS ASA and its subsidiarics are presently involved in the two main business areas
of streamer and seafloor seismic data acquisition, seismic acquisition operations on
land, management of its marine and onshore multi-client library and processing of
seismic data (the “Geophysical Business™), and contractor operation of FPSO vessels
in the North Sea (the “Production Business™).

Historically, the Production Business and the GeOphysicdl Business have mainly
been organised and operated as two separate businesses within the PGS group.

Demerging of the Production Companies
Upon the demerger of PGS ASA (the “Demerger”), an independent group with

Petrojarl ASA as parent company shall be established to continue the Production
Business (the “Production Companics™).
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The Remaining PGS Companies

The assets, rights and liabilitics not transferred to the Production Companies shall
continue under PGS ASA and its remaining subsidiaries (the “PGS_Companies”).
The PGS Companies shall afier consummation of the Demerger continue the
Geophysical Business.

Distribution of Shares in Petrojarl ASA

The existing sharcholders of PGS ASA will upon consummation of the Demerger
receive new shares in Petrojarl ASA, so that each share in PGS ASA shall entitle its
holder to one new share in Petrojart ASA.

Conditions for Consummation of the Demerger

Consummation of the Demerger is conditioned upon inter alia Oslo Bors having
given notice that Petrojarl ASA will be accepted for listing immediately after
completion of the Demerger.

Information Statement

For a further description of the Demerger, PGS ASA will in the beginning of April
2006 publish an extended stock exchange notice pursuant to the rules of Oslo-Bors in
the form of an information statement on the Demerger. The information statement
will be filed with Oslo Bers and furnished to the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) under cover of a Form 6-K, will be mailed to PGS
shareholders shortly thereafter, and will be made available on Oslo Bers' homepage
at www.ose.no and the homepage of PGS at www.pgs.com.

REASON FOR THE DEMERGER

Following a comprehensive review of PGS ASA's strategy and financial structure, its
Board of Directors decided in November 2005 to explore the possibilities for
separating into two independently listed companies, PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA.

The conclusions of PGS ASA's Board of Directors are in' particular based on the

following beliefs;

e the Demerger will enhance the ability of each of the Geophysical and Production
Businesses to operate independently with dedicated and focused management
teams and facilitate the ability of each to pursue its own strategic development,
through further organic growth and acquisition strategies‘, as appropriate;

e the Demerger will allow the Production and Geophysical Businesses to
independently retain, motivate and recruit key personnel more effectively;
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4.1

4.2

4.3

e the Demerger will allow each of the Geophysical and Production Businesses to
develop capital structures and dividend policies that would be intended to make
gach company more competitive in its respective business; '

» the Demerger will allow shareholders and other providers of capital to identify
more clearly the different characteristics of the Geophysical and Production
‘Businesses and to value them separately and thereby allowing each of the
Geophysical and Production Businesses to develop its own focused investor base;
and

o the Demerger will provide the Geophysical and Production Businesses
independent access to financing in the public markets worldwide and other
funding sources which they do not have under the present structure.

LEGAL CONSEQUENCES OF THE DEMERGER

Norwegian Statutory Demerger

The Demerger shall be carried out in accordance with Chapter 14 of the Nofwcgian
Public Limited Companies Act (the "PLCA™).

Petrojarl ASA

Petrojarl ASA was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of PGS ASA on
2 ‘March 2006, and has as of today’s date a paid in capital of
NOK 831,654,285 allocated to a share capital of NOK 29,999,980 divided into
14,999,990 shares, each with a par value of NOK 2.00, and an aggregate share
premium of NOK 801,654,305.

Petrojarl ASA was incorporated for the sole purpose of consummating the Demerger,
and has not had, and shall not have, any operational activity prior to the time of
registration of consummation of the Demerger with the Norwegian Register of
Business Enterprises (the “Completion Date”). After the Completion Date, Petrojarl
ASA will constitute the parent company of the Production Companies.

Transfer of Assets, Rights and Liabilities

On the Completion Date, the assets, rights and liabilities as defined in the Demerger
Plan shall be transferred to Petrojar] ASA.

The Production Business shall be carried on for the account and risk of Petrojarl
ASA from and including 1 January 2006 (the “Effective Date™).

For the purpose of the Demerger, Petrojart ASA shall as of the Completion Date be
deemed to have received a loan from PGS ASA of US$ 325,000,000 which shall be
repaid in cash on the Completion Date, unless the Board of Directors of PGS ASA
has given its consent to the extension of the loan whether in part or in whole beyond
the Completion Date, on terms to be agreed between the parties.
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4.4

Petrojarl ASA will on the Completion Date receive cash of US$ 46,500,000, adjusted
for any net inter-company transfers in the period from the Effective Date to the
Completion Date. If, following such adjustments, the cash contribution is negative,
such negative amount shall be paid by Petrojarl ASA to PGS ASA at the latest 15
days subsequent to the Completion Date.

Reduction of Share Capital in PGS ASA

On the Completion Date, the share capital of PGS ASA shall be reduced from NOK
600,000,000, by NOK 120,000,000 to NOK 480,000,000, by reducing the par value
of each share from NOK 10.00 by NOK 2.00 to

NOK 8.00.

New Shares in Petrojarl ASA

Simultaneously, the share capital of Petrojarl ASA shall be increased from
NOK 29,999,980 by NOK 120,000,000 to NOK 149,999,980 through the issue of
60,000,000 new shares each with a par value of NOK 2.00. The new Petrojarl ASA
shares will be distributed to the existing shareholders of PGS/ASA, so that each share
in PGS ASA shall entitle its holder to one new share in Petrojarl ASA,

The respective Boards of Directors of PGS ASA and Petrojarl ASA are of the
opinion that the Demerger satisfies the necessary requirements for tax continuity in
accordance with Chapter 11 of the Norwegian Tax Act. Petrojarl ASA will assume
PGS ASA's tax positions related to assets, rights and liabilities transferred upon the
Demerger.

DETERMINATION OF THE SPLIT RATIO . AND DEMERGER
CONSIDERATION

The split ratio for the Demerger is derived from estimates of the fair value of the
Production Business relative to estimates of the fair value of PGS ASA, both on a net
debt free basis, adjusted for the agreed distribution of net debt in the Demerger.

PGS ASA used observed valuations contained in selected analyst reports released in
the period 2 February to 28 February 2006, together with internal valuations based
on internal financial forecasts and customary valuation procedures to value the
Production Business in a manner applicable to a publicly traded company. PGS ASA
further estimated its fair market value, by reference to its average market
capitalisation during the period 1 March to 16 March 2006.

Based on the above methodologies, the respective Boards of Directors of PGS ASA
and Petrojarl ASA have determined that the Demerger entails an allocation of net fair
values by 80% to PGS ASA and 20% to Petrojarl ASA. The share capital of PGS
ASA is consequently atlocated in the same ratio; by 80% to PGS ASA and
20% to Petrojarl ASA. ,
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For a demerger to be effected with continuity for the purposes of Norwegian
taxation, the share capital of the transferor company shall be split between the
transferor company and the transferee company proportional to the relative net
values allocated to each of the companies. The Boards of Directors of PGS ASA and
Petrojarl ASA are of the opinion that this requirement is met by the above allocation.

IMPLICATIONS OF THE DEMERGER FOR EMPLOYEES

As of the date of this report, the Production Companies have 524 employees. In
addition one employee related to the Production Business is employed by PGS ASA
and will be transferred to Petrojarl ASA in connection with the Demerger.

The employees in the various subsidiaries of PGS ASA W1l] not be directly affected
by the Demerger.

“The Production Companies already have separate pension funds. Petrojarl ASA shall

assume responsibility for the payment of premiums to the ‘Production Companies’
penSIon funds and any liability for PGS ASA related to pcnsmns for the existing and
previous employees of the Production Companies.

The Demerger will not involve redundancies. Nor is it expected that the Demerger
will have other significant consequences for the employees.

As far as the employees are concerned, the Demerger shall be implemented in
accordance with current legislation and collective bargaining agreements, including
the provisions of Chapter 16 of the Norwegian Working Environment Act, The
Board of Directors of PGS ASA shall ensure that the employees are provided with
information in accordance with the provisions of Section 16-5 of the Norwegian
Working Environment Act and PLCA Section 14-4 ¢f. Section 13-11.

* * ok %

Board of Directors of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Jens Ulltveit-Moe, Keith Nicolas Henry Clare Mary Joan
Chairperson Spottiswoode
Francis Gugen Harald Norvik Rolf Erik Rolfsen
Anthony Tripodo

Board of Directors of Petrojarl ASA

Keith Nicolas Henry Rolf Erik Rolfsen Clare Mary Joan
Chairperson Spottiswoode



Appendix 9 : E’E CF[

Expert Opinion on the Demerger 0 Mgy

To the general meeting of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
To the general meeting of Petrojarl ASA

TRANSLATION FROM NORWEGIAN

Expert statement regarding the demerger plan and the non-cash share contribution

Based on assignments from the Boards of Directors of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and
Petrojarl ASA, we are rendering the following statement regarding the demerger plan
according to the Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 14-4, and a statement relating to
the non-cash share contribution according to § 10-2 ref. § 2-6.

The demerger plan :

The Boards of Directors of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and Petrojarl ASA signed on March
27, 2006 a demerger plan whereby all assets, rights and liabilities relating to the “Production
Business”, as described in paragraph 1.1 and 2 of the demerger plan, comprising contractor
operation of FPSO vessels in the North Sea, shall be transferred to Petrojarl ASA.

Aécording to the demerger plan the share capital of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA shall be
reduced by NOK 120 000 000 and the shareholders shall receive one share in the transferee
company Petrojarl ASA at a par value of NOK 2,00 for each share they own in Petroleum
Geo-Services ASA.

We have reviewed the demerger plan to be able to express an opinion on the proposed
consideration to the shareholders in Petroleum Geo-Services ASA. The consideration in the
demerger has been based on estimated fair market values of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
and the Production Business.

The fair market value of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA has been determined based on market
capitalization of the company during the period 1. - 16. March 2006. The fair market value of
the Production Business has been based on analysts’ estimates of the relative ratio between
the enterprise value and the value of the Production Business in analysis dated in February
2006. These estimates were compared to internal valuations of the Production Business using
valuation principles customarily applied within the financial community.



Based on the estimates of fair values, as described above, and the allocation of assets, rights
and liabilities, the Boards of Directors have concluded that the relative relationship between
the net values Petroleum Geo-Services ASA retains and the net values being transferred from
Petroleum Geo Services ASA to Petrojarlt ASA in the demerger is 80:20.

! H

The method used to determine the consideration has in our view been appropriate.

1
We are not aware of any specific difficulties when determining the consideration.

In, our view the consideration to the sharcholders in Petroleum Geo-services ASA is
reasonable and has been based on objective grounds and facts.

Conﬁrmat:on of increase in share capital

According to the demerger plan it is proposed that PetrOJarl ASA shall receive assets, rights
and liabilities as consideration for shares to be issued in connection with the demerger of
Petroleum Geo-services ASA. Assets, rights and liabilities relating to the Production
Busmess as described in paragraph 1.1 and 2 of the demerger plan, will be transferred to
Petro_]arl ASA based on balance sheet values as reflected in the accounts of Petroleum Geo-
services ASA as the demerger will be accounted for according to the accounting rules
regarding continuity.

We confirm that assets, rights and liabilities to be transferred to Productions Holding ASA
can be reflected in the balance sheet at a total net value at least equivalent to the par value of
the shares to be issued as consideration of NOK 120 000 000.

Os!o, March 27, 2006
Kjelstrup & Wiggen AS

Per-Henning Lie
State Authorized Public Accountant (Norway}
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The Annual Accounts, the Board of Directors’ Report and
the Auditor’s Report for 2002, 2003 and 2004 for PGS ASA
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Annual Report 2002 B Feor

Business Highlights: b iy - L A o 0
]’GS’ has two arcas ol activity; (1) geophysical services, including seismic data acquisition and proces;s?_ng,f_ . " Uh
reservoir characterization, reservoir monitoring and consultancy services and (2) services related to lhen,}g C“ W FERp AT
production of oil and gas, including floating production, storage and offloading. P

2002 was an extremely challenging year for PGS and also for the Company’s sharcholders and creditors. Qur
share price fell to just over one Norwegian crown (NOK) and some of our bonds were trading at around 30% of
their face value after the credit agencies downgraded our rating to the lowest level. 2002 also marked a turning
point for PGS with the start of a corporate restrucluring process, both operational and financial. :

The Company’s problems stem for the most part {from poor investments in the years 1998-2001, as well as a
significant overcapacity in the marine seismic market. where prices failed to support investmenits in the fleet.
The most important misjudged investments have been the Ramform Banff, Atlantis and over-investment in the
multi-client data library. These investments were largely linanced by debt raised in the American finance market
and by syndicated bank loans. Cash flow from these investments has been significantly lower than expected, and
as a result the value of the Company’ assets is valued lower than its debt.

In November 2001, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with Veritas DGC Inc. to combine the
businesses of the two companies. On July 30, 2002, the Company received a withdrawal notice from the Veritas
board and the agreement was terminated. The Company recognized USD 4.6 million in transaction costs and a
USD 7.5 million termination fees from Veritas during the year ended December 31, 2002. In the course of the
first eight months ol'the year, a substantial portion of administrative time and resources where spent on planning
and preparing for the proposed merger.

In the autumn of 2002, the Board of Directors was altered. Jens Ultveit-Moe became our new Chairman. A new
CEOQ and CFO were appointed, Svein Rennemo and Knut Oversjeen, respectively. The business was refocused
on'an intensive financial restructuring and work started on an operational reorganization. The principal focus
was short-tlerm improvements to increase cash flow. along with intensified processes Lo divest activities outside
our core areas of marine seismic and floating production.

The results of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2002, confirm that important prerequisites for both
future survival and fulure profitability are in place.

First, our health, safety and environmental results and the regularity of our operations are exccllent in
comparison with our industry and excellent compared 1o previous years results. The sole exception was the fire -
onboard Ramform Valiant and its associated yard stay, though this was without any injury to personnel.

| .
Secondly, there was a significant reduction in risk-exposure in marine seismic. Investments in the multi-client
library were reduced and requirements for pre-financing of new multi-client projects increased. We successfully
shifted our marine seismic focus from multi-client to contract. This change of focus gained momentum towards
the end of the year, when we also achieved a significant increase in sale of completed multi-client projects (late
sales).

Thirdly, necessary steps were taken to attribute realistic values to assets on our balance sheet, based on updated
future cash flows. This resulted in Iarge impairments of our multi-client library, Ramform Banff, Atlantis and
other assets.

Fourthly, in the course of the year we put actions in place to reduce costs and increase efficiency. Further cost
cuts and efficiency improvements, including workforee reductions, are important points on the agenda. -

Towards the end of the year, we started comprehensive negotiations with our creditors, related to the
restructuring of the debt held by Petroleum Geo-Services ASA. All creditor groups (US bond holders and
international banks}) and the Company have engaged advisors, financial due diligence of the Company’s 5 vear
business plan has been completed, along with a legal review of the entire structure, There have been ongoing

talks and discussions between the parties through the whole period up to presentation of the annual report.
1

Financial Results:
In December 2002, the Company sold its subsidiary PGS Production Group Limited and entered into a
definitive agreement 1o sell its Atlantis subsidiary, with financial effect from January 2003, Accordingly, the




'
|

financial position and results of operations and cash flows for these subsidiaries have been presented as
operations held for sale/discontinued operations lor the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, and the
financial results from these activities are described separately.

f
Total revenue for 2002 was USD 994.0 million, an increase of 12% compared to 2001. Geophysical services
contributed 68% of the revenue mix, the remaining 32% came from production services, equivalent results for
2001 were 67% and 33%, respectively. The percentage change from 2001 te 2002 is principally duc to increased
revenue from the seismic contract market, as well as higher pre-funding of our multi-client seismic projects. Our
operating profit for 2002 was a loss of (USD 722.0) million, a decrease of USD 936.8 million from 2001. This
operating loss includes impairments of assets and the multi-client library, certain one-time expenses and
Goodwilk.

Geophysical services revenue for 2002 totaled USD 671.4 million, an increase of 13% from 2001. The increase
in 2002 was primarily attributable to a higher level of contract seismic activity duc to our increased eflorts in
this market. In 2002, our revenue from this market was USD 50.1 million higher than in 2001, an increase ol
16%. Revenue from pre-funding of our multi-client prujects also increased by USD 36.0 million on those for
2001, an increase of 51%. Sale of completed multi-client data (late sales) gencrated revenue of USD 162.5
million, a decrease of 4% from 2001. Alogether, revenue from the sale of multi-client data was USD 269.1
ml"lOl’l an increase of 12% from 2001, Operating profit from our geophysical services do not include revenue
from multi-client volume licensing arrangements that had been entered into with clients as of December 31, but
which, according to our revenue recognition principles, can not be entered as revenue in our financial
stalements. These volume arrangements Lotaled USD 19.2 million and USD 26.0 million as of December 31,
2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively, Of the increased revenue from geophysical services, marlnc services
contributed USD 61.5 million, or 14%, while USD 17.9 million, or 20%, came from land scismic.

Revenue from our production services totaled USD 322.6 million for 2002, which was 11% higher than for
2001. The increase was primarily due to Perrgjari I, which contributed USD 42.4 million; this vessel was only
operational in the latter half of 2001, partially offset by USD 9.9 million in revenue in 2001 carned from
sublease of shuttle tankers in the spot market. In 2002, all four of our production vessels were in full operation,
compared with 2001, when comprehensive upgrades were completed on Petrgjari [ and Ramform Banff, along,
with a minor upgrade of Petrojar! Foinaven.

After the upgrade completed in the first quarter of 2001, Ramform Banff has delivered an uptime performance of
around 99%, unfortunately this is not reflected in the financial statement. This is a result of lower production
output from the ficld. Revenue from Ramform Banff for 2002 was therefore USD 9.5 million (20%) lower than
for 2001, as this vessel only output on average 12% of its daily capacity, due to relatively low cil production.
PGS is evaluating alternative production solutions for the Banff-field, and alternative prejects for the Ramform
Banff. Based on the poor financial results from this vessel and so-far unsuccessful efforts to find alternative
production sotutions for the Banff-field, in 2002 we impaired USD 425.2 million in assets related to the vessel
and sub-sea equipment on the Banff-field. This impairment was based on discounted cash flows from the
Ramform Banff over the lifetime of the vessel, with a discount rate of 8% and estimated revenues from the
Banff-field through 2007.

Re;\'enuc from Petrojar! fwas USD 42.4 million, or 209% higher than for 2001, This vessel began production

on the Glitne-field during the third quarter of 2001 and continued production throughout the entire 2002 year.
{

Revenue from Petrojar! Foinaven was USD 133.4 million, or 8% higher than for 2001. This was a result of a

production capacity upgrade {undertaken during the second and third quarter of 2001} and an upgrade for the

Foinaven-field (during the fourth quarter of 2001).

]
In August 2002, the Company acquired 70% of production license (PL) 038 on the Norwegian sector of the
Naorth Sea. The license interests were bought from Statoil, which held a 28% share of PL 038 and Norsk Hydro,
which held 42% of the field. Our license partner is Petoro AS, which holds the remaining 30%. As consideration
for the 70% share, the Company assumed its portion of the field’s abandonment liabitities associated wilh the
field on the license, approximately USD 32.8 million before tax, as well as potential future environmental
liabilities associated with production from the field, The Company’s FPSQ Petrojarl Varg produces and has
produced from this fictd since December 1998. The Company has also carricd out seismic and geelogical
surveys over the area, to evaluate potential development of the field, including drilling of new sidetrack wells
and development of Varg South. Total revenue from Petrgjarf Vargithe Varg-field for 2002 totaled USD 87.3
million, approximately the same as for 2001 (USD 87.7 million).

|
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Othier production-related revenues for 2002 totaled USD 1.5 million. USD 9.7 million lower than for 2001.This
reflects revenue from sublease of our shuttle tankers on the spot market. while their respective production
vessels were undergoing upgrade. We had no such revenue in 2002,

Cost of sales for 2002 was USD 476.2 million, an increase of USD 953.2 million compared to 2001. or 25%.
Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue was 48% lor 2002, compared to 43% in 2001, The increased cost of
sales reflects a decrease in costs capitalized to our multi-client library, as well as a generally higher costs
associated with an increase in activity from 2001 10 2002. Costs capitalized to our multi-client library decreased
by USD 28.0 million, or 13%, while gross cost of sales increased by USD 67.2million, or 11%.

By Iscgmem, cost of sales related to our geophysical services increased by USD 66.5 million, or 24%, from
2001. This increase was due to a decrease in capitalization of costs to our multi-client library, as well as an
mcrcasc in gross cost of sales by USD 38.5 million. The reduction in capitalized costs reflects our change of
focus from multi-client projects to contract work. The increase in gross cost of sales is due to increased activity,
especially in land seismic,
Cost of sales related to production services increased by USD 34.8 million. or 31%, from 2001, primarily
reﬂFcting full-year production perieds from our FPSO vessels in 2002 compared to significant periods of costs
suspension into upgrade projects during 2001. The increased cost of sales also reflects a reversal of a previous
recorded loss contract accrual (from 2000) on Ramform Banff of USD 8.2 million in 2002 and USD 16.5 million
in 2001.

1
" Nel cost of sales related to general Corporate functions decreased by USD 6.1 million from 2001, or 139%.
Such costs are allocated to our two segments, based on revenues in the given period,

.

Depreciation and amortizations for 2002 were USD 357.5 million, an increase of USD 32.0 million from 2001,
or 10%. As a pereentage of revenue, depreciations and amortizations represented 36% and 37% for 2002 and
2001, respectively. Amortization of the multi-client library increased by USD 17.5 rhillion to USD 212.9
miltion, ar increase of 9% from 2001. Minimum amortizations of USD 39.8 million and USD 39.1 million for
2002 and 2001, respectively, are included in the amortization of the multi-client data library. Our average
amor!l/allon rates for multi-client seismic were 79% and 82% for 2002 and 2001, respectively (including
minimum amortization). Ordinary depreciations increased by USD 15.8 million. or 10%, of which USD 11,1
million, or 11%, were in geophysical services and USD 4.7 million, or 8%, were in production services; this is a
result of increased activity in both areas of operation and the fact that all four of our.production vessels were
fully utilized throughout 2002, compared with 2001. In 2002, we capitalized depreciations of USD 31.5 million,
as part of our multi-client library; the equivalent figure for 2001 was USD 30.2 rmlllon

Res’carch and technology costs decreased by USD 1.0 million to USD 2.8 million in.2002, or 26% from 2001.

I
Selling, general and administrative costs decreased by USD 10.3 million to USD 56.2 million, or 15% from
2001. As a percentage of revenue, selling, general and administrative costs represented 6% and 8% for 2002 and
2001 respectively. These cost reductions were the result of a cost cutting program, as well as the introduction of
a ﬂzlmcr and slimmer organization.

Impairments and other unusual items for 2002 includes:
e  USD 268.4 million in impairment of multi-client data library.
vo  USD 425.2 million in impairment of Ramform Banff and sub-sea equipment related to the Banff-ficld.
l'e  USD 48.0 million in impairment of assets relating to our geophysical services (marine, land and data
processing).
USD 14.7 million in impairment of investments in associated companies.
USD 43.4 miltion in impairment of Goodwill,
USD 2.9 miltion in net gain relating to the terminated merger with Veritas DGC, Inc.
| USD 3.6 million in costs relating to restructuring/refinancing of debt.
e USD 22.9 million in severance packages and other one-time charges.

]

Op(.raling, profit before impairments and unusual items was USD 101.3 million for 2002, a decrcase of 6% from
2001. Operating proiit before impairments and unusual items as a percentage of revenue was 10% in 2002, a
decrease of 2% compared to 2001.
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Operating profit before impairments and unusual items for cur geophysical services was USD 0.8 million for
2002, a decrease of USD 5.5 million, or 88%, from 2001. This dccrease was the result of fower market rates,
gencrally as a resull of overcapacity, and (o an increase in land seismic operations, which historically carries a
lower margin than marine seismic.

Operating profit before impairments and unusual items for our production operations was USD 100.5 million for
2002, a reduction of USD 1.5 million, or 1%, from 2001. Operating profit before impairments and unusual items
as a percentage of revenue decreased from 35% in 2001 to 31% in 2002. Although all four of our production
vessels were in full operation throughout 2002, in contrast to 2001 when some of the vessels underwent
upgrades, the operating profit and operating margin reflect decreased production output from the Banff-field. In
addmon the operating profit for 2001 included the utilization of USD 16.5 million in loss contract accruals for
the' Ramform Banff, compared to USD 8.1 million in such accruals utilized during 2002. Additionally, operating
profit before impairments and unusual items lor 2001 included revenue from the sublease of unwtilized shuttle
tankers capacily into the spot market.

Net financial expense for 2002 was USD 7.7 million, or 3%. greater than in 2001, which reflects the decrease in
capitalized interest of USI> 14.2 million, or 72% from 2001, reflecting both the multi-client investment decrease
during 2002 and the FPSO vessel upgrade projects undertaken during 2001. The elfect of the decreased
capitalized interest was partly offset by a 5% decrease in gross interest expense.

Other income (-expense) for 2002 of USD 39.3 million included USD> 54.1 million in fair value gains associated
with our tax equalization swap contracts, compared to USD 18.0 million in fair value expense for 2001. We
terminated all outstanding tax equalization swap contracts during 2002.

Provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations in 2002 for USD 205.3 million, consisted of:
*  Atax expense of USD 3.0 million on the results of continuing operations.
& A tax benefit of USD 119.1 million associated with impairments and other unusual items.
l'e A tax expense of USD 106.2 million related to tax equalization swap contracts and foreign exchange
fluctuations.
* A tax expense of USD 215.2 million in valuation altowance related to the deferred tax assets of
continuing operations. J

Net income on assets held for sale includes an impairment of Atlantis for USD 190.1 million (before tax) and
USD 26.8 million (before tax) related to the sale of Production Group Limited.

Disposal of net income in the parent company;
Petroleumn Geo-Services ASA generated a loss of NOK 8,162,545,903 for the year ended December 31, 2002,
The Board of Directors proposes to cover the loss as follows:

. NOK '

From additionat paid in capital 6.983312.020
. From other equity 1.179.233 883
Total 8.162,545,903

Asof Dcccmbcr 31, 2002, there was no free equity left in Petroleum Geo-Services ASA.

]nvestments/Caplt'll Requirements:

The Company’s capital needs relates to investments in property and equipment, oil- and pas assets, muln-chcnt
library, debt service requirements, lease obligations, payments on preferred secuntles of subsidiaries and
working capital needs. In addition to maintenance investments the previous investment level has mainly been
linked to growth in our two business segments, For 2002 the main capital expcndltures were maintenance
investments and investments in the Varg-field, PL 038, in the North Sea.

In 2002 the Company invested USD 60.9 million in capital expenditures and oil and gas assets (excludes assets
held for sale) of which USI> 41.8 millions relates to geophysical services, USD 10.9 million relates to the
FPSQ’s and USD 8.2 million to the Varg-field. In addition we invested USD 190.4 million in the multi-client
library and USD 77.2 million in assets held for sale. '

! .
Generally, a substantial amount of our capital expenditures and investments in our multi-ctient library is
discretionary, However, the terms of our USD 250.0 million short-term credit facility require us to limit our
capital expenditures (including the development of assets held for sale) and multi-client library investments 1o a
maximum of USD 28(.,0 million for the period July 1, 2002 until final maturity. For the period from July 1,



2002 through December 31, 2002, we invested USD 20.7 million in capital expenditures, USD 70.3 million in
multi-client librarv and USD 37.8 million in the development of assets held for sale, total USD 128.8 million.

For 2003 the estimated capital requirements totals USD 196 million and relates mainly to maintenance capex
within our geophysical scrvices, investmenis in the Varg-field and investments in the multi-cliem library.

As of December 31, 2002 the Company’s total outstanding debt, leases and preferred securities obligations
including contractual cash commitments are as follows:

Payments due by period

Contractual cash obligations: 2006 and
{In USD miltions) Total 2003 2004 . 2005 thereafter
Short-term and long-term debt, including

‘current potion (a) 2,255.7 941.3 12.2 13.0 1,289.2
Capital lease obligations (b} 101.7 20.0 18.0 285 35.2
Operating lease obligations 2528 87.1 59.1 342 72.4
Guaranieed preferred beneficial interest in junior
subordinated debt securitics 143.8 - - --- 143.8
Mandatonly redeemable cumulative preferred :

; sccurities {c) 64.0 64.0 - - o

Total contractual cash obligations 2818.0 1,112.4 89.3 75.7 1,540.6

' {a) Includes a USD 250.0 million short-term bank credit facility, which matures in June 2003, a fully-drawn USD
430.0 million revolving credit facility, which mature in September 2003 and USI> 250.0 million in senior
unsecured notes. which mature in November 2003, The amount excludes USD 15.8 million in debt relating to

’ assets held for sale.

{b) Reflects gross contructuzal commitments under capilal leases.
(¢} Assumes the redemption rate at an amount equal 1o 100% of actual revenue recognized from the licensing of the

‘ underlying securitized data,

Finance and Liquidity:

On'December 11, 2002, the Company sold PGS Production Group Limited (previous Atlantic Power Group
Limited) 1o Petrofac Limited for USD 20.2 million in cash proceeds and may receive up to USD 15.0 million in
additional, contingent proceeds during the period 2003 to 2010. The Company recognized a loss of USD 26.8
million in this context, '

As'of December 3 1, 2002, we had approximately USD 1.1 billion of debt and other contractual obligations
maturing in 2003, of which USD 930.0 million are bank credit facilities and senior notes obligations of the
parent company Petroleum Geo-Services ASA. All credit facilities are fully drawn. Based on our existing
business plan and forecast, our commitied cash abligations the upcoming 12 months exceed our committed
sources of funds and our cash on hand, and we are therefore dependent on 2 restructuring or refinancing
(including extension of the maturities) of certain of our obligations in order to continue as a going concern,
!
Wé are seeking 1o affect such a restructuring/refinancing and have organized a set of external advisors to assist
this work. Additionally, a steering committee of our banks has been formed and a substantial number of
bondholders have formed an ad hoc committee through a law firm to participate with us in discussions and
evaluations regarding our restritcturing/refinancing efforts. In connection with these negotiations and
evaluations, we have agreed to pay certain fees and expenses incurred by the banks and bondholder group,
including fecs and expenses of financial, accounting and legal advisors. ‘

Although we believe that it is possible 10 affect the necessary restructuring/refinancing. there can be no
assurance that we will succeed in restructuring/refinancing our financial obligations. If we, the banks, the ad hoc
bondholder committee or other creditors cannot execute a restructuring/refinancing agreement in a timely
manner, we may be required to, among other things, take appropriate legal steps to seck protection from our
creditors. Additionally. it is possible that any restructuring/refinancing agreement that is exceuted may involve a
process court approval of the agreement.

As'a result of the liquidity position, we have received significant credit rating downgrades, beginning in July

2002. Due to these ratings, and in the absence of a significant restructuring/refinancing of our contractual

obligations as discussed above, our ability 10 raise capital is very limited. :
1

[n addition, as a result of these downgrades, the Company has been required (beginning in the third quarter of

2002) to increase the quarterly redemption rate of the mandatorily redeemable cumulative preferred subsidiary

securities related to our multi-client library securitization to an amount equal 1o 100% of actual revenue
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rcco‘gnizcd from the licensing of the securitized library data. We could also be required to provide up to GBP
35.7, million {approximately USD 57.0 million) under certain leasing agreements; however, based on
discussions with the lessors, we do not believe that cash collateral will be reguired.

As (;f December 31, 2002, we were current on all payment obligations under our indebtedness. However, we
were in violation of certain financial and other covenants in certain debt and leasing agreements and were
secking waivers of these violations. The Company is in continuous negotiations with'its counter parties
regarding these issucs. There can be no assurance that these waivers will be obtained or that the parties to these
agreements wiil not seek to enforce their remedies, which could lead to PGS seeking relief from its creditors
und?r applicable laws.

In March 2002, the Company entered into a USD 250.0 millien short-term bank credit facility, which was
amended and restated in May 2002, The net proceeds from this credit facility were used to repay the USD 225.0
million senior unsecured notes. which matured in March 2002 and for general corporate purposes. The factlity
matdres in June 2003 and bears interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus margin of 4.5%, this margin having
escalated from a 0.65% margin at the facility’s execution date. Weighted average interest rate for 2002 was
5.1% with an equivalent average of 5.9% on the cutstanding balance as of December 31, 2002. Under the terms
of the credit facility, the Company is required to limit its cumulative capital expenditures {(inclusive the
development of assets held for sale) and investments in the multi-client library 1o a maximum of USD 280.0
million for the period from July 1, 2002 until maturity. For the period July 1, 2002 through December 31, 2002,
such investments totaled USD 128.8 million. The Company is atiempling to restructure the terms of this bank
credit facility.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company borrowed an aggregate of USD 230.0 million under
the USD 430.0 million revolving credit facility, with a weighted average interest rate of 2.3%. The average and
maximum borrowings outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2002, were USD 400.8 million and USD
430.0 million, and the weighted average interest rate was 1.9% on outstanding balances at December 31, 2002,
At December 31, 2002, the Company had fully drawn this facility.

As of December 31, 2002, there were 103,345,987 outstanding shares (inclusive ADR’s) with a face value of
NOK 3 in Petraleum Geo-Services ASA. The shares are traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker

PGS. The ADR's owned by USA addresses totals 50,798,544 shares (approximately 49%), while Norwegian
based shareholders held 41,675,036 shares (approximately 40%),

As a consequence of the impairments of assets recorded in the third quarter of 2002, and reflected in our two
business segments, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA impaired shares in subsidiaries (3.7 billion NOK) and
subordinated- and long-term intercompany loans to our subsidiaries (5.0 billion NOK). As a result, the equity in
Petroleum Geo-Services ASA as of December 31. 2002, is negative with 220.7 million NOK, and the share
capi'lal {commons stock) is lost.

Heallth, Safety and Environment:

Our offshore and onshore geophysical operations, and offshore oil production operation present several key
environmental challenges. PGS places considerable emphasis on prevention and the reduction of negative
environmental consequences of our operations worldwide. Continuous improvement requires a structured
approach (o the cnvironmental problems associated with the business. PGS has therefore elected to implement
an environmental management system compliant with 1SO 14001 (international standard for environmental
managementl) on two of our production ships and two of our shuttletankers. Adjustments necessary to achieve
compliance with the standard are also underway on another of our production vessels. The same is true for PGS
Marine Geophysical. All vessels and associated organizations have completed 1SM certification (International
Management Code for the Safe Operation of Ships and Pollution Prevention). .

PGS had a total of 16 lost time injuries, split 13 in Geophysical and 3 in Production. Overall, our Health, Safety
and Environment statistics improved, with a lost time injury Irequency of 0.66 (hours lost per million man
hours) for 2002, compared with a frequency of 1.64 for 2001,

Our'safety and environment results compare favorably with the norm for our industry.
|

PGS is currently implementing comprehensive cost cuts, These cuts will not be allowed 1o impinge upon health,
safety and environment. We continue to strive for continuous improvements in this area.
|



Organization:

As of the December 31, 2002, we had approximately 4,000 full time employees in the Company, 85% of these
were employed in geophysical services, 14% in our production services and 1% in corporate functions. An
equivalent distribution as of December 31, 2001 was 48% for cach operational area, and 4% for cross-company
services, We suffered no significant disturbance 1o daily operations as a result of industrial action in 2002.

Apart from hiring a new CEO and CFQ, the Company’s top management was reorganized, and a flatter
organizational structure imposed. Business arcas marine scismic, data processing, land seismic, FPSO and oil
company Pettra all now report to the CEO. In addition, we have established a separate organization for cross-
company services (Global Services) covering accounting, IT, reservoir consuliants and other shared services.
The corporate staff is strengthened with a new strategy and planning depariment.

The Company’s head office is in Oslo, Norway, where PGS leases office space. We also Icase offices in other
cities in Norway and in the USA, as we do in Angola, Australia, Brazil, China, Egypt. England, Russia,
Singapore, Scotland, the United Arab Emirates and Venezuela

New Accounting Standards:

In 2003 the Company implemented the new Norwegian Accounlmg Standard NRS (F) “Impairments of long-
term assets”, where long-term assets shall be impaired to fair value (recovering amount). The evaluation should
be implemented for every item classified as long-term asset with a separate cash flow, and the evaluation should
be based on the highest of net sales value and use value, based on net present value on discounted future cash
flows, Had the Company adopted the new accounting standard as of December 31, 2002, the effect would have
been additional impairments of USD 130 million of property and equipment and USD 65 million of multi-client
library. The Company’s Ramform vessels and other seismic vessels are considered as two separate bases for
estimates. The mulii-client library is evaluated by project or by arca in the Gulf of Mexico.

Subsequent Events:
As a result of the PGS share (ADR’s) trading tow on the New York Stock E xchangc {NYSE) over a period of
time, PGS no longer meet the requirements {or trading on NYSE. On February 26, 2003, NYSE informed us
that our ADR’s were suspended from the NYSE. Our ADR’s currently trade over-the-counter (OTC) and are
quoted on the Pink Sheets. The PGS shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange trade as normal.

[
At the closing of our accounts, the book value ol cur equity is negative and our share capital must therefore be
regarded as lost. Petroleum Geo-Services ASA 1s in negotiation with its creditors on a plan for a total
refinancing of the group and conversion of debt into equity. We expect these negotiations 10 be completed by
the'end of 2003. Booked equity post financial restructuring is expected to be satisfactory, For further details
regarding these negotiations, please sce the description given above, particularly under Finance and Liquidity.

In May, as a part of the Company’s cost cutting program, we announced staff reductions of around 250 people.
These proposed staff reductions will primarily take place in the Company’s offices in Houston, London and
Oslo. We anticipate costs related o the completion of these reductions to take effect in the second and third
quarters of 2003, when they will be accounted for under impairments and unusual items.

During the first quarter of 2003, we completed the sale of our Atlantis subsidiary to Sinochem. The cash
proceeds from the sale were USD 55.4 million, of which USD 10.6 million covered eperating cash paid to
Adlantis on behalf of Sinochem in 2003 up to the final cash seulement date of February 200 2003. The Company
recorded an additional loss of USD 3.4 million (after tax) in the first quarter 2003. Conditional on certain events,
the Company may receive an additional payment of USD 50 million for this sale.

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA is in constant diatog with Norwegian and UK tax authorities regarding a powntial
taxation demand for inadequate payment of employer’s contributions, national insurance contributions and
seamen’s pensions for EU seamen employed by PGS via PGS Isle of Man on NIS (Norwegian registered) ships.
No accrual has been recorded for this item.

The Company has strengthened its position in the marine seismic contract market, and has in addition reduced
its exposure in multi-client library investments. The seismic fleet is fully utilized. All our production vessels are
on running contracts and the regularity are on the same level as last year. Pertra has successfully completed the
A-15 well, and high oil price combined with higher volumes than the previous year has given an increase in
both revenue and earnings for 2003, In addition, we expect to sce the results of reduced staffing and cost cuts
towards the end of 2003.
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The Board thinks that the Company will succeed in the restructuring/refinancing, and the financial statements
have been prepared based on a going concern situation, ref. § 3-3 in the Norwegian Accounting Act. 1f the
Company do not succeed in the negotiations, large losses will be incurred. [n an event of liquidation the values
of the assets will be much less than the carrying amounts. In addition extra costs and contractual obligations will
cause significant losses. '

: Lysaker. Junc 10, 2003

Jens Ulliveit-Moe Geir Aune
Chairman of the Board
|
|
! Thorleif Enger Jens Gerhard Heiberg
[
| Marianne Johnsen Reidar Michaelsen
!
' Rolf Erik Rolfsen Svein Rennemo

Chief Executive Qfficer
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| Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
'I;hc consolidated financial stalements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles tn
Norway, which vary in certain aspect from US GAAP, as follows:

Business combinations:

Mergers: ‘

The legal mergers of the foating production business of Awilco ASA (in 1998) and Nopec A/S (in 1991) are
accounted for using the pooling of interest method in the Norwegian Statutory Accounts. Under US GAAP, these
combinations are accounted for using the purchase method where the purchase price paid for the businesses are
allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities as of data of acquizition.

Under the pooting of interest method of accounting, the results of the acquired businesses are included in the
Lfonsolidalcd results of the Company as of the earliest period reported, whereas in accordance with US GAAP results
are only included in the consolidated results after the date of acquizition,

1n accordance with the pooling of interest method, costs related to the merger are expensed in the year of the merger.

Acquizitions:

In the Norwegian $tatutory Accounts prepared in accordance with Norwegian GAAP, the acquizition of Acadian
Geophysical Services. Inc. {in 1998} is accounted for using the purchase method by allocating the purchase price to
the identifiable assets and liabilities as of the date of acquizition. Under US GAAP, this acquizition is accounted for
using the pooling of intercst method.

i

In accordance with the purchase method of accounting, the results of the acquired business are only included in the
(I:onso]idalcd resulis of the Company for the periods alter the date of aequizition. while in the US GAAP financial
statements results are included from and including the carliest year reported.

Other differences that affects the results for 2002 (unaudited):

Due 1o the differcnce in time of when Goodwill was impaired under US GAAP (we adopted Staiement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS™) No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™ as of January 1, 2002) and the
impairment of goodwill in accordance with Norwegian GAAP (impaired September 30, 2002), there is a difference in
amortization of goodwill in addition to the difference in amount impaired. This is due to the difference in business
combinations as describved above. Under Norwegian GAAP we amortized Goodwill for USD 0.8 million in 2002,
while there was no such amortization under US GAAP.

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) and Sharcholders' Equity between the Norwegian GAAP fiancial
s:tatemems and the US GAAP financial statements:
Differences in net income (loss) and total shareholders’ equity between Norwegian GAAP and US GAAP

financial statements for 2002, 2001 and 2000 are summarized in the reconziliations below:
|

Net Income (Loss): Unaudited
' Years ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss) in accordance with Norwegian GAAP (1245 692) 11294 (207 783)
Increase (decrease) due 10 accounting for:

Business combinations (147 586) (7 483) (5429)
, Tax effect L 170 642 1 697
Net income (loss) in accordance with US GAAP (1392 108) 4453 (211 513)
Sharcholders' Equity: Unaudited
i December 31,
('In thousands of dollars} 2002 2001
Sharcholders' equity in accordance with Norwegian GAAP (31546) 1208027
Increase (decrease) duc 1o accounting for:

Business combinations 41 811 189 399
' Tax effect {34 808) {35979

Sharcholders' equity in accordance with US GAAP (24 543) 1361 447




Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
. Consolidated Statements of Operations
Norwegian Statutory Accounts

. .
Years ended December 31,

(In thousands of dolars, except for share data) 2002 2001 2000
Revenue ' 994 019 885 063 757 368
Cost of sales 476 212 381 019 296 694
Depreciation and amontization 357 532 325 544 256 371
Research and technology costs 2766 3752 6677
Selling, general and administrative costs 56 198 66 503 55894
Impairments and other unusual items §23 332 (106 540) 364 025
Total operating expenses 1 716 040 670274 979 661
Operating profit (loss) {722 021) 214 789 (222 293)
Income (loss) from equity investments (1691) (544} 59 841
Financial expense, net (148 473) (140 808) (132 498)
Other income (expense). net 39 307 (22 305) (32 860)
Income (loss) before income taxes - (832 878) 51132 (327 810)
Provision {benefit) for income taxes 205 269 30028 (128 152)
Income (loss) from continuing operations (1038 147) 21 104 (199 658)
Operations held for sale/discontinued operations. net of tax (207 545) (9 810} {1 570
Income {loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change (1245 692) 11294 (201 228)
Cumulative effect of accounting change. net of tax - - {6 555)
Net income (loss) (1245 692) 11 294 (207 783)
Basic income {loss) per share before cumulative effect of accounting change (12.05) 0.11 (1,97}
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax - - (0,07)
Basic income {loss} per share (12,05) 0,11 {2,04)
Diluted income (loss) per share before cumulative effect of accounting change {12,05) 0,11 (1.97)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of 1ax N - - {0,07)
Diluted income (loss) per share (12,05) 011 {2,04)
Basic shares outstanding, 103 345 987 102 768 283 102 020 830
Diluted shares outstanding 103 345 987 102 788 055 102 020 830

Lysaker, March 31, 2003

Jens Ulltveit-Moe Geir Aune
Chairman of the Bourd

Thorleif Enger Jens Gerhard Heiberg
Marianne Johnsen Reidar Michaelsen
Rolf Erik Rolfsen Svein Rennemo

Chief Executive Officer




Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Norwegian Statutory Accounts

December 31,

(In thousands of dollars, except for shure data) 2002 2001
ASSETS
Long-term assets:
Intangible assets:
Other intangible assets 7555 12 600
Deferred tax benefits 75439 174 568
Goodwill .- 44 801
Total intangible assets 82994 231 969
Property and equipment, net 1 689 898 2233672
Multi-client library, net 660 383 9184072
Financial assets: -
[nvestments in associated companies 12 240 20713
Other financial assets 26 366 33 551
Total financial assets 38 606 54 264
Total assets 2471 881 3437977
Current asseis:
O1l and gas assets 17 324 -
Accounts receivable, net 220 895 234 887
Assets held for sale 65 309 241 097
Other current asscts 74 390 97 921
Cash and cash ¢quivalents 113031 102 130
Total current assets 490 949 676 035
Total assets 2962 830 4114012
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHODLERS' EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity:
Paid in capital: '
Common stock (103,345,987 sharcs, par vaiue NOK 5) 71 807 71 807
Additiona! paid in capital Lo- 1 044 497
Total paid in capital 71 807 1116304
Other equity (103 353) 91 723
Total shareholders' equity {31 546) 1 208 027
Guaranieed preferred beneficial interest in PGS junior :
subordinaied debt securities 142322 141 000
Mandatorily redeemable cumulative preferred subsidiary securities .
related to multi-client library securitization 63 954 163 588
Debt:
Accruals for long-term liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 97 307 37524
QOther long-term liabilities 55 305 24 766
Tolal accruals for long-term liabilities 152612 62 290
Orher long-term debr: )
Long-term capita! lease obligations 76075 41 683
Long-term debt 1310325 1 903 571
Total other long-term debt 1 386 400 1 945§ 254
Current liubilities:
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt and
capital lease obligations 959 550 246 429
Debt and other liabilities held for sale 19980 55732
Accounts payable and acccrued expenses 250524 275244
Income taxes payable 19034 16 448
Total current liabilities 1249 088 593 853.
Total liabilities and sharcholders’ equity 2 962 830 4114012
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Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
: Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
! Norwegtan Statutory Accounts -

Years ended December 31,

{In thbusands of dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities: i
Net income (loss) (1 245 692) 11294 (207 783)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization charged to expense 357 532 325 544 256 371
Write-downs and loss on sale of subsidiary, net 1035472 (97 027} 321070
Cash effects retated to assets and liabilities held for sale 5 864 (3 295) (1650)
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes 184 577 22756 {139 303)
Changes in current assets and current liabilities (28 376) (74 721} " (72 636)
Loss on sale of assets 7561 294 199
Other items 10 086 23 562 239
Nelt ¢ash provided by operating activities 331024 208 407 156 507
Cash flows (used in) from investing activities:
Investment in multi-client library (190 436) © (230 166) (264 541)
Capital expenditures {60 894) (185 294) (69 897)
Development of assets held for sale (77229) - (54 329) (45 320)
Sale of subsidiary/investment in affiliated company 20222 175000 150 508
Other items G030 (19 485) (12 086)
Net cash used in investing activities (317367 (314 274) (241 336)
Cash flows {used in} from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance ol long-term debt - - 223 845
Net proceeds from issuance of subsidiury preferred stock - 234285 -
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock. including ‘
| stock option exercises : - gl6 7 425
Repayment of long-term debt (241 826) (11 414) (15447)
Repayment of subsidiary prefemred stock {98 983) (77 280} -
Net increase {decrease) in bank facility and shori-term debt 335348 ) (5 667) (34 409)
Principal payments under capital lease obligations (15496) (7 B06) " (T775)
Net (payments) receipts under tax equalization swap contracts 9566 - (64 575) (8 068)
Other items 8 098 ‘ - -
Net ‘cash (used in) provided by linancing activities (3 293) . 68 359 163 571
Effect of exchange rate changes in cash and cash e¢quivalents 537 (93) (221)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10 901 (37 601) 80 521
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear 102130 139 731 59210

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 113 031 ' 102 130 139 731




Petroleum Geo-Services ASA \
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
. Norwegian Statutory Accounts

Accumulated
Additiona!  foreign currency

. Common Stock paid-in translation Other Sharcholders'
(In thousands of dollars, except for share data) Number Per value capital adjustments equily equity
Balance ‘at December 31, 1999 101 609 587 70 844 1028 255 3279 269 297 1371 675
Net income ) - - - - (207 783) (207 783)
Exercise of stock options 738 400 416 7011 - - 7427
Translation adjustments - - - (14 350) 421 {13 529)
Balance at December 31, 2000 102 347 987 71260 1 035 266 (1 071) 61933 1157390
Net income - - - - 11294 11294
Issuance of common stock 900 0O 493 8558 - 9051
Exercise of stock options 98 000 54 673 - - 727
Adjustment o Awilco merger - - - - 31956 31956
Translation adjustments - - - {2 762) 371 (2391)
Balance at December 31, 2001 103 345 987 71 807 1 044 497 (13 833) 105 356 1208 027
Net income - . - (1 044 497) - (201 195) (1 245692)
Dividens ko minority interest - - - - (1 076) (1 076)
Translation adjustments - - - 7.195 - 7195
Balance at December 31, 2002 103 345 987 71 807 - (6 638) {96 715) (31 346)
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Aud_'itor‘s report for 2002

We have audited the annual financial statements of Petroleumn Geo-Services ASA as of 31 December 2002, showing a
loss of NOK 8.182.545.903 for the parent company and a loss of USD 1,245,692,000 for the Group. We have also
audited the information in the Directors' report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption, and
the proposal for the coverage of the loss. The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statements of

’ 1ncome and cash flows, the accompanying notes and the consolidated accounts. These financial statements and the
Directors’ report are the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer. Our p
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and on other information according to the

— requlremems of the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors and auditing standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway. Those standards and practices require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. To the extent required by law and auditing standards, an audit
also comprises a review of the management of the Company's financial affairs and its accounting and internal control
systeli'ns. We belicve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion,

In our opinicn,

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with law and regulations and present the financial
position of the Company and of the Group as of 31 December 2002, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting standards, principles and practices generally
accepted in Norway

+  the Company's management has fulfilled its duty to properly register and document the accounting information as
required by law and accounting standards, principles and practices generally accepted in Norway

+ the information in the Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption, and the
proposal for the coverage of the loss is consistent with the financial statements and comply with law and
regulations.

Without affecting the conclusien in the preceding paragraph, we would emphasise that there is significant uncertainty
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The going concern assumption depends on additional
equity and restructuring of the debt. The Company is in negotiations with its lenders about a refinancing of the debt
and tlhc Company is in breach of several of its loan covenants. No reclassification has been done to short-term debt as
it is assumed that a refinancing will be achieved. Should the Company not succeed with an agreement which ensures
the ability to continue as a going concern, this may result in substantial losses, as the assets in the event of dissolution
or forced liquidation could be realized at values substantially below the book values. In such situation, liquidation
expenses and contingent liabilities could also give rise to substantial losses. We refer to the Board of Directors’ report
and accompanylng notes to the financial statements for further information.

Oslo, 10 June 2003
ERNIST & YOUNG AS

Jan Egil Haga (sign.)
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
i
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+ BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

atfgﬁa‘ smed a sound financial platform for
future development of the Company. The stron3&E
business partners and employees throughout the

st rom financial stakeholders, as well as
pfd resulted in a successful exit from Chap-

ter 11 on November 5, 2003. The substantial effort o™ectifying material weaknesses in accounting
and internal control and to complete the audits of the Company's historical financial statements

on a U.5. GAAP basis has continued into 2004,

In 2003 PGS demonstratad excellent operating performance that produced strong cash flows for
the year as well as strong operations regularity and HSE statistics. Going into 2004 PGS’ busi-
nesses are well positioned in their industry segments,

PGS is a technologrcally focused oilfield service company prin-
cipally involved in geophvsical and floating production services.
Globally, PGS f)rovic‘es # broad 1ange of seismic and reservoir
services, including seismic data acquisition, pracessing and
interpretation, as well as field evaluation. !n the North Sea, PGS
owns and operaies four iloating production, storage and
offloading units (“FPS0"}, and owns a small oil and gas com-
pany, PGS’ headquarters are in Qslo, Norway.

PGS managesits business in four segments as follows:

« Marine Geophysical, consisting of both sireamer and
seafloor seismic data acquisition, marine mulu-client library
and data pro#essing

* Onshore, copsisting of all seismic operations on land and in
very shallow water, and including onshore multi-clignt library

* Production, which owns and operates four harsh environ-
ment FPSOs in the North Sea

* Pertra, a small oil and gas company owning 70 % of and
being operator for Production License 038 on the Norwegian
Continental Sheif

BUSINESS HEADLINES 2003

Even though 2003 was a period of financial unceriainty, PGS
demonstrated a strang ability 10 maintain and {uriher deveiop
its operating performance. The achievemenis in 2003 ensure
that PGS’ busi}nesses are walt positioned in thelr industries.
The resulis for 2003 showed improvement over 2002 in terms
of revenues and Adjustad EBITDA (as defined}. However, sig-
nificant ';mpair:mem charges contributed 10 a substantial oper-
ating loss and,net loss in both 2003 and 2002,

Main businesé achigvements in 2003 include:

* The best safety performance ever recorded by PGS

* Strong operating regularity in all businesses

* improved cost position through successful exacution of the
cost reduction prograrm announced early in 2003

= improved position of our seismic operations in the conuact
market ,

 Significant axtension of expectad contract duration for three
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FPSOs as a result of field reserve upgrades andfor coniract
amendments

* Strong increase in reserve estimates for Perira resulting from
successiul acquisition and application of seismic data, reservoir
madeling and enhanced oif recovery ("EOR") drilling programs

MARKETS AND MAIN BUSINESSES

Marine Geophysical

PGS is one of four major global players in the marine 3D mar-
ket This market experienced continued overcapacity in 2003
even though demand for contract seismic increased substan-
tiglly from 2002. thdustry multi-client activity declined. The
existing overcapacity and weak pricing discipline caused gen-
erally weak profitability in the indusiry.

In line with it stated strategy, PGS succeeded in increasing its
market sharg in the contract market during 2003 at somewhat
improved margins. PGS’ activity in the multi-client market was sig-
nificantly reduced and higher levels of pre-funding were achieved.

The PGS fieet, with the six Ramform vessels in the high cepac-
ity segment, is the most modern in the industry. The fleet real-
izet high operating efficiency through the vear.

Onshore

in the market for onshora seismic services, PGS is a medium
sizac player among a large number of both regional end global
players. Competition and sirengths and weaknesses vary sig-
nificantly from région 1o region, New entranis to the market,
including, among others, Chinese companies, play a significant
rola, especially in Asia. PGS Qnshore has its main market pres-
ence in North and South America. In 2003, Onshore signifi-
cantly improved iis operating performance through improved
project execution and management.

Production

PGS is the market leader in operating contractor owned FPSOs
in the UK and Norwegian sectors of the North Sea. The demand
for these servicas is highty dependent on specific oil and gas
developrment projects, for smalt to medium sized fields,
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The four FPSOs owned and operated hy Production continued
on their axisting contracis throughout 2003, Contract amend-
ments andfor resarvoir developmens resulted in significant
proWoﬁgations of the exnecied contract duration compared 10
previous estimates for three of the FPSOs,

In Decémber 2003, the contract with Canadian Natural Re-
sources ("CNR"), operator of the Banff and Kyle tiglds in the UK
sector of the North Sea, was amended. Under the amended
agresment, Ramform Banff will continue 10 produce the Banff
field until the end of the field's life. The amended contract con-
tains a minimum day rate provision of $125,000 per day. .

Patrojarl 1 is producing the Glitne field, operated by Statoll, in
the Norwegian sector of the Morth Sea. In garly 2003 the pro-
duction contraci was amended and improved. Further, Statol)
announced in January 2004 that, as the result of upgrading the
field's reserves and increasing the number of production wells,
it expects the producing life of the Glitne field to extend to 2007,

Petrgjarl Varg is producing the Varg field. The successful EOR
driliing programs significantly increased the expected life of the
field during 2003 and the vessel is now exgected to continue
to produce on the field beyond 2006. As a result of the exten-
sion, Production and the license owners have engaged in dis-
cussions relative to modifving the contract structure.,

Petrojart Fonaven is brociucing the Foinaven field operated by
BR The;vessel is expected to produce the field beyond 2006.

Operating regularity was high in 2003 on all FPSQOs, with an
uptime of close 1o 89%. However, a vibration problem in one
of the compressors on Perrofar! Foinaven, which persisied
from late June through October, caused reduced production
volumes and cash flow to PGS,

Pertra

Pertra had significant drifling activity in 2003, resulting in sub-
stantiai reserve vopgrades and extension of planned field life. In
total three wells, two of which were appraisal wells, were
drilled in 2003, and the drilling program continues with four
additional wells in 2004, Total reserves (proven and probable)
from the Varg fiald (100%: Pertra is 70% owner of the fisld) aie
now estimated (o excead 70 million barrels of oil, out of which
approximately 40 million parrels were produced through
Dacember 31, 2003, and production is estimated 1o continue
through 2006. Drilling the four additional wells n 2004 and
another three wells in 2005/2006 will be requited 1o exiend
production beyond 2006.

Remaining proved reserves, as estimated in accordance with
SEC guidelines, is estimated 1o 11.2 million barrels {100%) at

December 31, 2003.

Pertra's total production {70% of the field) in 2003 was
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4.058,083 barrets and average realized price 'was $29.58 per
harrel. In 2002 (August through December) 1,297767 barreis
were sold at an average realized price of $2787 per barrel. Qil
prices increased duqing 2003, and a strong price development
has continued into 2004, '

Pertra applied for participation in two licenses in the 18th
licensing round in Norway, and was in Jung 2004 awarded par-
ticipation in both licenses, of which one with 80% participation
and operatorship.

Other businesses -
In the first quarter of 2003, PGS closed the sate of its Atlanus
subsidiary. ’

FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING SUCCESSFULLY COMPLETED
In 2002, it became clear that the Company was over laveiaged
and that a comprehensive financial restructuring of PGS was
crucial to its long-term viability and to provide a sustainable cap-
ital structure for the Company. This circumsiance was largely
the result of over investing in Marine Gaophysical capacity, as
well as excess investments in the late 19907, financed with
substantial amounts of debt, in the Ramform Banff. Atlantis
and the multi-client data library, and subsequent underperfor-
mance by these assets.

On July 29, 2003, as the first Norwegian company ever, PGS
voluntarily filed a petition for protection under Chapier 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code. The filing was based on a
financial restructuring plan that was pre-approved by a majority
of banks and bondholders as well as a group of PGS’ largest
sharehotders, PGS emerged from Chapter 11 November 5,
2003, just 100 days after filing.

in accordance with the plan of reorganization, $2,140 miflion of

PGS’ senior unsecured debt was cancelled and the associated

creditars received the following:

+ $726 million of 7-year 10% senior unsecured notes

* $250 million of 3-year 8% senior unsecured noies

+ $4.8 mullion of B-year unsecured semor term loan facility

* 3% oi PGS’ new ordinary shares as constituled immedi-
ately post restructuring, with an immediate reduction of this
sharehelding 10 61% in a rights offering of 30% of the new
ordinary shares o the pre-restructuring shareholders for $85
million or $14.17 per share

« $40.6 million of cash distributed by PGS, of which $179 mil-
lion was distributed in December 2003 and the remainder in
May 2004

in accordance with the plan, ihe exsiing share capital, con-
sisting of 103,345,887 shares, par value NOK %, was cancelled
and 20.000,000 new ordinary shares, par value NOK 30 were
issuad, The pre-restructuning shareholders received 4% or
800,000 of the new ordinary shares {one new share per 129 old
shares), as well as the right to acquire 30% or 6,000,000 of the

r PGS ANNUAL REPORT 2003 » PAGE 29



+ BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

1

new ordinary shares lone new share per 23 old shares), for $85
million ($14.17 Iper share} in the rights offering.

Owners of $144 million of trust preferred securities received
5% or 1,000,0()0 of the new ordinary shares.

Interest bearing debt of the Company post restruciuring was
$1,189 mitlion, 'a reduction of $1,283 million.

The financial réstructuring invoived only the parent company
and did noi involve operating subsidiaries, which continued ful
operations, leaving customaers, lessors, vendors, emoloveas
and subsidiary Lcreditors unaffected.

The financial reéiructuring was made possible by the strong sup-
port from alt stakeholders, including PGS’ creditors, shareholders,
employees, customers and cther business pantners. We are
grateful for this support, which enabled PGS to emerge with a
sound financial Platform for future development of its businesses.

US GAAP REF;ORTING AND INTERNAL CONTROL
RELATED MATTERS

As of June 2004, the audits of the Company's financial state-
ments prepared in sccordance with accounting principles gen-
erally acceptad in the Unites States ("US GAAP”) have not yet
been completéd. The required audit procedures for such US
GAAP financial statements include a reaudit of the 2001 finan-
cial statements, as well as the audits of the 2002 and 2003
financial staiements, to conform with filing requiremenis of
the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC”} in the
United States in relation to Annual Reports on Form 20-F

The Comgany has made significant progress in the work ang is
targeting completien of such audits and re-audit during third
quarier 2004.iThere can, however, be no assurance as (o
whether or when these audits and re-audit will be completed.
The outcome of the audits and re-audit could result in resiaie-
menis of the lCornpanv‘s previousty filed U.S. GAAP audited
financial statements and restatements or other adjustments to
its 2002 unaudited annual financial statements and 2002 and
2003 U.S. GAAP unaudited interim financial statements, Those
restaternents and adjusiments couid be material, although
they are expeéied 10 be of a non-cash nature.

Furthermiore, although the audits and re-audit are being conducted
under U.S. GAAR the outcome of such audit procedures might
also affect the financial siatements prepared in accordance with
Norwegian GAAP [N GAAP"), potentially both the opening hal-
ance as atJanuary 1, 2003 and the 2003 statement of eperations.

In connection Iwith the audit and re-sudit process under gener-
ally accepted auditing standards in the United States {"U.S.
GAAS"), the ¢ompany's independent auditor, Ernst & Young,
has issued a material weakness letter 10 the Company that

!
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identifies the following material weaknesses: (1) insufficient
documentation of or adherence to policies and procedures; (2)
inadequate U.S. GAAP expertise in the Company; (3) insuffi-
cient support for accounting Hooks and records; and {4) insuf-
ficient supervision and review control activities.

In response to this material weaknesses leter, PGS developed,
and has been actively implementing, a plan 10 address the mat-
ters ideniified, including hiring new parsonnel with expertise in
US. GAAP and LS. regulations, improving overall U.S. GAAP
axperise throughout the accouniing organization and upgrad-
ing the corparate business centrolter function. The Company
hasg put priority on improving documentation and reporting pro-
ceduras and has established new and more precise account-
ing policies. Further, the Company has established and out-
sourced an Internal Audit function. However, all material weak-
nesses have nat been eliminated at this time.

IMPAIRMENTS, UNUSUAL ITEMS AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Upon emergence from Chapter 11, the Company, for the pur-
pose of adopting "frash start” accounting in accordance with
SOP90-7 under U.S. GAAP and in order 1o perform impairment
reviaws for its NGAAP financial siaiements, made a full valua-
tion, using external experts, ot all its significant asseis and lia-
hilities, with a basis in the rastruciured entarprise value.

Further, the Company reviewed 1is accounting policies and
adopted certain new policies that the Company believes are
less complex, more transparent and beter reflect current oper-
atiens. The Company also, as a result of a changé in the appli-
cable Norwegian accounting standard, changed its accounting
for impairment of long-term assets, as described below.

In 2003, ihe Company recorded $740.9 million in impairment of
long-ierm assets, of which' impairment of the multi-client
lihrary amounted to $241.5 mullion, FRSOs $367¢ million, and
seismic vessels and equipment $129.%7 million. Significant
impairment charges were also taken in 2002,

Unusual items amounted t0-378.1 million in 2003, of which
expenses related to the debt restruciuring were $42.3 million
and expenses related 10 severance were $20.8 million.

The most significant changes in accounting pelicies were as

follows:

 tifective January 1, 2003, discounted cash flows are used 10
compuie recoverable amount for the purpose of tasting for
impairment of long-terny asse1s. Previously impairment test-
ing was based on undiscounted cash flows

 Cifective January 1, 2003, expenses incurred in connection
with yard stay, steaming and mobilization are expensed as
incurred. Such expenses were previously deferred and rec-
ognized as part of contract costs or multi-client project costs
as appropriate
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» Effective January 1, 2003, ihe successful efforts methed of
accouniing for oil and gas assets was adopied replacing tha
full cost method previously applied

s Effectiva November 1, 2003, the Company made certain
changes to its amortization policy for mulii-client library,
in¢luding an increase in minimum arertization, achieved by
reducing the maximum amortization period for new surveys
from eight to five years after completion of a survey

« Effective November 1, 2003, the depreciable lives of the
Ramform seismic acquisition vessels and of the FPSOs were
reduced from 30 to 2% years, except for Petrojar! 1, due 1o 3
substantial refurbishment completad in 2001

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Towal revenues for 2003 were $1.120.7 million compared to
$992.3 million in 2002, an increase of 13%. The revenue
increase for the year is due to increased revenues in Maring
Geophysical, Onshore and Pertra, partially offset by lower rev-
enues for Production,

Maring Geophysical 2003 revenues w1aled $584.2 miltion, an
increase of $35.6 rillion {rom 2002, Revenues from ¢ontract
seismic acquisition ncreased from $261.9 mullion in 2002 w
$348.1 million in 2003, an incigase of 33%, as a resul of
increased focus on the contract market. PGS™ acquisiton of
multi-client data was sigrificantly reduced and revenues from
multi-client pre-funding decreased by $44.3 milion, or 47%,
from $94.0 million in 2002 to $49.7 million in 2003. Pre-fund-
ing as a percentage of cash investments in multi-client data in
2003 was 73%, compared to 57% in 2002. Multi-client late
sales totaled $148.1 million in 2003, which was down $12.3
million or 8 % from 2002. In 2003 the fleet allccation between
contract and multiclient daia acquisition were approximately
81%/19% compased to approximately 66%/34% n 2002.

Onshor‘e revenues for 2003 1otaled $154.0 million, an increase
of $44.9 or 41% from 2002. Onshore realized a significant
increase both in contract and multi<lient revenues dug to
major growth in Latin America and stronger North America
rulti-client late sales.

Revenues for Production totaled $293.4 million in 2003, which
was $11.0 million, or 4%, lower than 2002, This reduction was
attributable to Petrofar! Foinaven, which had revenues of $112.1
million in 2003 compared 10 $133.4 in 2002, a reduciion of
16%. This reduction relaies both 10 a general dechne in the pro-
duction level of the field and 10 1he iemporary reduction in pro-
duction due to problems wiih one of the comgressors from late
June hrough October. Perrgjar! 1 had revenues of $57.7 miliion
in 2003, anincrease of $5.1 or 8% from 2002, due to improve-
ments in the production contract for the Ghitne Field. Revenues
from Ramform Banff increased $79 million, or 21%, to $45.7
million in 2003, as a result of a temporary increase in produc-
tion resulting from an acditional production well drilled early in
2003. Production subseguently declined. Revenues irom

Patrojari Varg decreased $2.2 million, or 3% to $67.3 million in
2003.

Pertra revenues in 2003 totaled $121.6 millon, an increase of
$88.9 million from 2002, PGS 100k over the field in August
2002; therefore, the 2002 numbers only include revenues from
the field for the last five monihs of the year.

Orther operating costs, which exclude depreciation, amortiza-
tion and unusual itemns, totaled $641.6 miltion in 2003 com-
pared to $531.9 in 2002, an increase of $109.7 million, The
increase relates primarily 10 & reduction in operating costs cap-
italized as mulii-client invastmenis, which were reduced by
$98.9 million, increased activity in Onshore, which increased
cost by $21.0 millien, and an increase in Pertsa of $32.2 due 10
a full vears operation in 2003, Cost sawings estimated to
approximately $65 million were achieved in corparale over-
head, Marine Geophysical and Production compared to 2002,
but this was partly offset by a negative exchange rate effect on
cost in GBP and NOK due to weakening of the USD.

Adjusted EBITDA® for 2003 was $479. 1million compared 1o
$460.5 milfion in 2002, an increase of $18.6 million or 4%. Per-
tra Adjusted EBITDA increased by $56.7 million and Onshore
Adjusted EBITDA increased by 524 .0 million. Adjusied EBITDA
tor Production and Marine Geophysical declined by $35.5 mil-
lion and $277 million, respectively. The reduciion in Marine
Geophysical must be seen in the context of two factors. First,
in ling with PGS’ stated strategy, multi-client acquisition activ-
ity was sharply reduced in 2003 resulting in less capitalized
operating costs and hence lower Adjusted EBITDA. Subse-
quent amortization of capitalized costs, as pre-funding and late
sales revenues are realized, does not enter into the computa-
tion of Adjusied EBITDA. Second, effective January 1, 2003,
the Company no longer capitalizes expenses related (o steam-
ing and yard stay as part of cost of the multi-client data.

Depreciation and amaortization for 2003 was 5305.4 million, a
decrease of $51.0 million, or 14%, from 2002, Amortization of
multi-client data library was reduced by $57.3 million, or 27%,
10 $155.6 million in 2003. The reduction refated to reduced
salas of multi-client data and a lower multi-client book value
resulting from impairments recorded in 2002 and 2003. Ordi-
nary depreciation increased by $6.3 miilion, or 4% 10 $149.8
million in 2003. Depreciation increased due to the reduction in
the depreciable lives of seismic vessels and FPSOs imole-

* Adjusted EBITDA, whan usad! by the Company means nel income (loss)
tufore financial nems, other gan floss), 1@«es, ¢apmoalion and amaortizaton,
unusual tems, mpaliment of long-1erms assets and disconnsusd operations.
Saa {inancial statements (Note 39) for a reconciliation of Adjested EBITDA (o
Mat Incorme (Lass). Adjusted EBITDA may nat be contparable 1o other similarly
titled measures from othar companies. We have included Adjusted EBITDA as a
supplemental disclosure because the Company believes that it provides useful
information regarding PGS’ ability to service debt and i fund capiial expendi-
turas and provides invastors with a helpful measure for comparing our operating
parformance with that of other companies.
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mented effective November 1, 2003 and increased deprecia-
tion in Pertra, partly offset by the effecis of write-downs made
in 2002 and 2003.

Operating profit before impairments and unusual tems was
$173.6 miltion in 2003 compered w0 $104.0 million in 2002. All
of the business segments reported increases in operating profit
aefore impairments and unusual items in 2003 over 2002.

Net interest expense was reduced by $373 million w0 $110.0
million in 2003, because most of the Company's debt did not
accrue in:erestlthmugh the Chapter 11 proceedings and ¢ue 1o
the significant reduction of debi post restructuring. Other
financiai gainfloss was a loss of $31.7 million in 2003 compared
1o a gain of $3§3.4 million in 2002, The 2003 amount inzludes
whte off of $13.2 million of deferred debt costs and original
issue discoumns, while the 2002 amount included a gain of
$54.1 million related o ceriain 1ax equalization swap coniracis.

Provision for income taxes was $26.4 million in 2003 compared
to $201.9 million in 2002, Tax expense in 2003 primarily relates
10 tax in regions wherg the Company has no carry-forward
losses, and Pertra, which is subject to petroleum taxation rules
in Norway with a nominal tax rete of 78%. Under these taxa-
tion rules it is not possible for Pertra to offset its income with
losses from other operations. Tax expense in 2002 included
among other items a valuation ailowance related to previously
recorded deferred 1ax assets of $215.2 million.
'

Net loss for 2093 was $818.3 million compared to a net loss of
$1,245.7 million in 2002.

CASH FLOW, BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCING

Net cash provided from operating activities amounied 10
$240.0 ruflion in 2003 compared to $330.7 mition in 2002.The
2003 amount includes payment of restructuring cest and other
unusual terns of $71.1 million compared 10 $14.3 million in
2002. Further, cash invasted in mulu-client library was reduced
by $98.9 millior to $91.5 million in 2003, thereby reducing cash
flows from operating activities and reducing investments in
rmulti-client libiary under investing activities. Cash flow from
operations adjusted for unusual items and the difference in
presentation of capitalized muiti-client cost improved in 2003.

Cash and cash equivalents were $146.3 million at December 31,
2003, an increase from $112.6 million a1 December 31, 2002.

At yearend, the Company had distribuied $179 mitlion of the
excess cash 10 creditors pursuant 1o the financial restructuring
agreement. The remaining excess cash of $22.7 million was
disttibuted in May 2004, and is included in accounts paysahle
and other accrued expenses at December 31, 2003. The pay-
ment of this remaining amount was contingent on the estab-
lishment of a2 $110 million twe-year secured working capital
facility. The facility was established in March 2004.

'
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interest bearing debt was approximately $1,194 million as of
December 31, 2003, and net interest bearing debt {inierest
bearing debt tess cash and cdsh equivalents, adjusted for the
final excess cash distribution) was $1,071 million.

Certain of the Company's loan and lease agreements and sen-
ior note indenture contain 1equirermneants to provide audited U.S.
GAAP financial statements by June 30 of each year and to pro-
wvide unaudited U.S. GAAP quarterly financial statements within
a specified period (typically 60 days} aites the end of each of the
fusi three quarters, The Company has received waivers and
amandments allowing it to report under N GAAP in lieu of U.S.
GAAP uniit June 30, 20065.

In addition to customary reprasentations and warranties, cer-
tain of the Company's debt agreements contain covenants
restricting the Company from incurring debt unless ceriain cov-
erage ratios are met and limiting Company financial indebted-
ness, excluding project debt, to $1.5 billion. These deb: agree-
mants also restict, among other things: payment of dividends;
ahility to place liens on Company assets; the amount of sub-
sidiary financial indebtedness; sslefleaseback transactions;
investments in project companies; investment in multi-client
library; and asset dispositions. Specifically, certain financing
sgreements do not allow the Company 10 pay dividends or
make any similar distribution until the $250 million 8% senior
notes, due 2006, are repaid. ’

According 1o Section 3-3 of the Norwagian Accounting Act, we
confirm that the financial statements are prepared on the
assumption of a going concern.

INVESTMENTS

I 2003, PGS invested $91.5 million in mulii-client daza library,
a reduction of $88.9 million or 52%. reflecting the Company’s
continged shift in focus towards the contract market.

Capital expenditures armountéd 1o $57.7 milien, whicn is in line
with 2002, The amount includas investment in cil and gas
assets (Pertra) of $34.2 miliion, significanily higher than previ-
ous year due to the high tevel of drilling activity. Capitat expen-
dilzres in Marine Geophysical were significantly reduced.

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL

As of December 31, 2003, PGS had 20.000,000 shares issued
and outstand‘ing, ali of which are of the same class and with
aqual voiing and dividend rights. Each share has a par value of
NOK 30, The Company's shares are listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange (OSE.PGS).

In February 2003, the PGS American Depositary Shares
(ADSs) were de-listed from the New York Stock Exchange due
10 tha trading price falling below required levels. The ADSs are
cunrantly traded over the counter {OTC) under the ticker
PGECY.
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Until thé audiis and re-audit of financial siatementis under U.S.
GAAP discussed above are completed, the Company will be
unable 1o file with the SEC an Annual Report on Form 20-F that
contains audited financial statements for three full fiscal years.
As long as this situation exists, the Company will be precluded
from, among other things, listing its ADSs on a U.S. national
securities exchange or on the NASDAQ Stock Market. A delay
in listing of the Company’s ADSs in the U.S. may have a nega-
tive imp:act on their liquidity.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT {“HSE"}

HSE management and reporting is a key element in PGS’ eval-
uation of business performance on all management levels and
for the gioard of Direciors.

Geophysical operations offshore and on land, as well as oil pro-
duction ofishore raise several environmental issues. PGS places
cansiderable emphasis on prevention and reduction of negative
environmental consequences of our operations worldwide. We
apply a structured approach to ensure that our HSE responsi-
bilities are well managed and strive for continuous improvement.

Within Production, the implemeniation of an environmental
managejment system compliant with 1ISC 14001 (internationat
standard for environmental management) has been completed
on alt Rroduction vessels, except Petrojar! T and ane of the
shutile tankers. Environmental reports for Production are avail-
able on-aur web site.

MaringiGeophysical completed the development of an envi-
ronmerital plan aimed to satisfy the requirements of ISC
14001, 'and in 2004 the implementation of SO 14001 is in
procesé on all seismic vessels. All our vessels and associated
organ'\z'ations have already completed ISM certification (Inter-
national Management Code for the Safe Operation of Ships
and Pol:lution Prevention).

Onshore established an overall environmental managernent
plan which has followed 1AGC, QOGP (bath industry assacia-
tions) and the US Environmental Protection Agency guidelines.
At the end of 2003 implementation was close 1o completion.
2003 was the Company’s best year aver far HSE perfarmance.
Results showed continued steacly improvement in all businass
areas from an already strong position. PGS’ safety and envi-
ronment results compare Tavorably with the norm in the indus-
rigs in which we operate.

1
PGS had a total of 7 lost time injuries in 2003, with 2 in Pro-
duction, 1 in Marine Geophysical and 4 in Onshore, This is a
sirong improvemem fromn 2002 when the Company had 16 fost
time injuries, with 3 in Production, 8 in Marine Geophysical and
7 in Onshore. Overall, our safety statistics improved, with & lost
time injury frequency of just 0.33 per miliion man hours for
2003, compared with a frequency of 0.66 for 2002 and 1,64 for
2001. Sick leave in our Naorwegtan operations was 4.6%.

|
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ORGANIZATION

tn the first quarter 2003, PGS announced a plan for a person-
nel reduction of approximately 250 employees, mainly in
Marine Geophysical and support functions. Onshore personnel
leveis fluciate with husiness aclivity, which increased in 2003.
By December 31, 2003, the number of employees {excluding
Onshore) was reduced by 277 Employees by business area are
specified as follows:

At December 31

2003 2002 2001

Marine Geophysical 1,143 1,286 1.420
Cnshore 1,479 1.828 946
Production , 515 520 535
Pertra 5 6 -
Global services/Corporate 235 252 291
Discontinued operations — 41 1,953
4,003 5,145

Total . 3.277

The nature of PGS’ operations requires a high degree of tech-
notogical background among its persennel. Traditionally a high
proporiion of its employees are male. The Company strives for
balance and equality with respect 1o sex, age and cultural back-
ground, and sees this:as an importani pan of its core values.
At December 31, 2003, 11% of the Company's employees
were female and 89%: 'male, while the allocation for PGS MNor-
wegian operations were 27% femate and 73% male.

The management team revised the organizational structure of
the business, to better reflect the size and importance of cer-
1ain business segments and improve overall control. The Group
L.eader Team was established to assist the CEO in day-to-day
management of the business. This comprises the CEQ and the
CFQ, as well as the senicr managers for strategy and global
services, and the heads of PGS’ four busingss units.

The Company’s head office is in Oslo, Norway. PGS alse has
offices in other chies in Norway, and in the USA Angola, Nige-
ria, Australia, Brazil, China, Egypt, England, Russia, Singapore,
Scotland, the United Arab Ermirales, Meaxico and Venezuela.

CHANGES IN BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As a part of the financial restructuring, an Extraordinary General
Meeting was held on Ocrober 16, 2003, where five new perma-
neni dirgciors, of which four were nominated by the Company's
hank and hond creditors, were elected to the Board. Permanent
direciors are Jens Ulltven-Moe {Chairman). Keith Henry (Alier-
nate chairman), Francis Gugen, Harald Norvik, Rolf Erik Rollsen,
Clare Spotiswaoede, and Anthony Tripodo, Alieinate Direclors
are Marianne Elisabeth Johnsen and John Reynolds.

As part of the financial restrucwring, the Extraordinary General
Meeting resolved that Board decisions on certain specified
major transactions, during the first 1wo years after the com-
pletion of the restructuring, shail require the support by the
board members nominated by the pre restructuring sharehold-
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ars or their suécessors, and that untl October 18, 2005, any
election of new directors shall require the approval by more
than two thirds of the votes cast as well as of the share capi-
tal which is replresented at the General Meeting.

Geir Aune, Torlsif Enger and Jens Gerhard Haiberg served as
directors through Qctober 2003. The Board of Directors wishes
10 express its gratitude for their contributions 10 PGS,
CORPORATE JBOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors is committed 10 mainiaining high stan-
dards of corpo;rate governance. We helieve that eifective cor-
porate governance is essentat w0 the well being of the Com-
pany and establishes the framework by which the Cormipany
conducis itself,in delivering services to its customers and valug
to its shareholders.

The Board strives to align its governance with sound interna-
tional practice and regulations. It has focused in particular on
ensuring that its governance standards meet the requirements
for non-American companies registered in the U.S. as stipu-
lated in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and best practice according to
Norwegian corporate governance standards.

After the debt!restructurmg and into 2004, the Company has
been working éxtensively with ravising and increasing the for-
malization of its corporate governance framework.

The Beard ha‘s established two sub-committees, the Audit
Commitiee arﬁd the Remuneration Commineg, 1o act as
preparatory hodies for the Board of Directors and 10 assist the
di\rectors in exercising their responsibilities.

in 2003 the Board of Directors had 23 meetings.

I
CUTLOOK .
PGS main focus for 2004 is on buikling confidence amaong its
main slakehclcers after & 2003 where financial restructuring
was the main larget. The Company’s business targets include:
» Realizing cash flow exceeding the business plan disclosed in

connection with the financial restructuring

» Further improverments in safety, operating regularity and cost
« Realizing concrete business synergies between its different

operations *
1
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* Building strength in corporate governance and HR capabilities
* Achieve re-isting in the U.S, )
* [dentifying attractive industry restructuring opportunities

All markets in which PGS operates showed some improve-
meant in 2003. Qil prices were high through 2003 and have
increased further in 2004, Market analysis expect a high price
level 1o continue through the year. In the medium to long term
this should positively impac: PGS’ main markets. Over the past
few yvears, E&P companies have been reticent to invest in

" exploration, and there is still underinvesiment in oil explo-

ration. However, PGS anticipates that the oil companies will be
gradually more active in the coming years, as reserves replace-
ment becomes mors critical,

In the Marine seismic markei overcapacity is stifl present,
despiie high growth rates in the contract market. PGS expects
the volume of contract work to grow further. A main uncer-
rainty is the extent of further shift in industry capasity from
multi-client work to compete for contract work. This may have
a material impact on pricing and margins moving forward. Fur-
thermore, a significant portion of PGS’ exisung library s relaled
¢ data offshore Brazil, The outcome of future licensing rounds
is key to realizing the value and future profits of this library.

The Company’s FPSOs are expected to continug producing on
exisiing assignmeanis through 2008. Pertra is expecied to real-
ize increased oil-production in 2004 as a result of the ongoing
drilling programs. .

The Board emphasizes that a description covening expeaciations
of future developments is uncertain by natre.

SETTLEMENT OF THE PARENT COMPANY'S LOSS FOR 2003
The parent company, Petraleuim Geo-Services ASA, reponted a
net loss of NCK 6,027867000 for 20032, The Board of Directors
proposes thas the loss is covered by ransfers irom other equity
of NOK 879,711,000 and additional paid in capital of NOK
%,148,156,000. :

At December 31, 2003, the parent company has no free equity
that, under Norwegian corporate law, can be distributed as div-
idend.

Lysaker, June 16, 2004

S St l e,

CLARE SPOTTISWOODE ROLF ERIK ROLFSEN

ANTHONY TRIPODOQ SVEIN RENNEMO
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31,

{In thousands of dollars) Nota 2003 2002 2001
Hevenue' 4 1 ,120:553 $ 992,336 5 882,707
Cost of sales 584,17 473877 378,577
Depreciation and amaoilization 4 305,419 356,427 324,283
Research and development costs 2,622 2,766 3.752
Selling, general and administrative Costs 54,251 55,235 65.102
Impairment of tong-lerm assais 4, 31 0,876 807416 13,155
Unusuat itemns, net 4,31 78.085 15,434 {119,701}
Total operating expenses 1,765,970 1,711,155 665,169
Operating profit [toss} 4 (645,312} {718,819) 217538
Income (lossl fram aquity investments 5 897 {1,691) (544}
Financial expense, net ] 110,027 {147301) (139.671)
Qthet gain liossl, net 7 {31,685) 39,412 (22,298)
Inceme Hosst before intome tares {786,127) (828,399) 55,025
Pravision fof income taxes 8 26,436 201.944 31,109
Incame floss) from continuing operations , 812,563} 1,030,343) 23,916
Operations held for sale/discontinued operations, net of 1ax 3 {8,687) {215,349) {12.622)
Met income {loss) {818,150) 13 {1,245,692) s 11,294
Hereof minority interest 125 s - s
Hereof majority interest ' G 818,275} § {1,245,692) § 11.294

1],

/ JENS ULLTVEIT-MOE
‘- CHAIRMAN

HARALD NORVIK

H)
b
KEITH HEN

l.ysakear, June 16, 2004

VICE CHAIRMAN

FRANCIS GUGEN
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CLARE SPOTTISWOODE
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ROLF ERIK ROLFSEN

futtog gt Do Nvan_,

ANTHONY TRIPODO

SVEIN RENNEMO
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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PETROLEUMTGEO-SERVICES :
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

. ) Decermbar 31,

{In thausands ol dgllars) Mote 2003 2002
ASSETS
Long-term assets:
Long-tarm intangible assets 12 3 197 % 5,883
Property anti equipment, net 14 1,085,098 1,689,684
Multi-client Itbrary, net 15 3672700 660.382
Oil and gas assals, nas 16 30.678 17324
Investments in associaled Companics a5 235 12,240
Qthar finzncial assets 17 29,523 26,352
Total long-tenn asscts 1,525 360 2,411,867
Curreni assets:
Accounts raceivable, net 18 | 172.508 220,085
Assets hald for sale 3 - 68.768
QOther current assels 19 64,737 7,067
Cash and cash equivalenis 20 ) 146,348 i 112,604
Total current assets 363,593 475,524
Total assets 4 $ 1,908,953 3 2,887.3M

LIABILITIES AND E‘.HAREHOLDERS' EQAUITY
Sharehoiders’ equity:
Paid in capital:
Common stock (20,000,000 shares, par value NOK 30 as of December 31,

2003, and 103;3115.987 shares, par valug NOK 5 as of Decernber 31, 2002) 3 £5.714 $ 71,807
Additional paid in capital , 287576 -
Total paitt'in capital . 373,290 71,807
Other equity wsTy M3,977
Minority Interest 1.527 1,402
Total shareholders’ equity 370,246 {40,768}
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in PGS junior subordinated debt securities - 142,322
Mandatorily redesmable cumulative prefarred subsidiary securities
related Lo multi-elient securitization - 63,954
Debt: :

1
Accruals for long-term hatihses:

Deferred incorne 1axes 8 14,972 21,868
Other long-term liahilities 23 76.748 53.903
Total accruals for lang-term tiabilities 91.721 75,771
Qher long-tenm debi:
Long-term capital lease obligations 0 61,234 76.075
Long-tenm debt 25 1,098,661 1.210.325
Total ather long-term debt 1,169,895 1.386.400
Current liabilitios:
Shoit-tesm debt and current ponion of long-term debt anct
capital lease obligations 10, 24, 25 34,487 959,560
Debt and othar lighilities held for sale 3 . 21,523
Accounts pavable 56,318 54,638
Accrued expanses 19 157143 205,065
Income taxes pavable B 39,143 19,034
Total current liabilities 287091 1,259,712
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity $ 1,908,953 S 2,887,391

’
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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years entiad Decembar 31,

(In thousands of collars) 2003 2002 200

¥
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income lloss) 3 (818,275} S [1,245,692) § 11.294
Adjustmenis o recontile not incomne {loss) to net cash
provided by cperating activities:

Depreciation and amortization charged 10 expense 205419 386,427 324,283
Non-caish impairments and loss (gain} salz of subsidiary, net 15,697 1,039,472 97027)
MNon-cash write-off of deferred debt costs and issue discounts 13.152 - -
Cash elfects related 10 assets and liabilities held tor sale 3,342 5.540 18.882)
Provision (henafit) tor deferrod income axes {(4,639) 184,577 22,756
Changes n currgnt assets and cuirent liabilities 2,125 {28,376) (74.721)
Lo%s on sale of assels 6,193 7581 294
Other nems 8,791} 11,191 24,823
Net cash.provided by operating activities 239,873 . 330,700 202,820
Cash flows {used in} Trom investing activities: .
Investment in mult-client liorary 191,500) 1190,436) 1230,166)
Capam! expanditures {57270 160,759 (185,156}
Caprtal expenditures on assets held for sale 18 {77364} 154,487
Salir of subsidiary 50115 20,222 175,000
Qiher ilerns, net 3,835 19,030} {19,485)
Net cash used in investing activities 195,378) (317,367} (314.274)
Cash flows fused i provided by Tinancing actmties:
Nat pr:oceeds frany issuance of subsidiary aferrad stock - - 234,285
Nei proceetls from issuance of cormmon stack, including stock eplion 2ercises .- - 816
Reden"npiion of preferred stock 61,105) (98,983} (772801
Fepayment of fong-term debt 11,241 {241,826} {(11,412)
Principal payments under capitzl lease obligations 117539 (15,496} (7806}
Met ingrease {decrsasel in bank facility and short-term debt (18) 335348 5,667
Net {payments) receipts under tex equelization swap contracts - 9,566 (54,5754
Qzher items, net {17932} 8,098 -
Net cash {used in} provided by financing activities {110,865} (3.293} 68,359
Effect of exchange rate changes in cash and cash equivalents 4 537 1931
Net increase (decrease) in cash ang cash equivalents 33,744 10,677 113,188}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 112,604 102.027 145,216
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 146,348 S 112,604 S 102,027

'

i
i
|

.
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PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated
Addional toreign currency
Commaon Stock paid in ransiation Qther Minority  Shareholders’
finn thousands of dollars, except for share daia) Number Par value canital adjustments equity intarest equity
Balance at December 31, 2001 103,345,987 & 71,B07  §1.,044,4G7 % (13.833! $105,5586 % - 3 1,208,027
Net incame - - 01,644,987 201198 - (1,245,692)
Dividens 10 minonty interest . - - {1,076} - {1.078)
Translation adjusiments - . 719% - - 7195
Balance at December 31, 2002 103,345,967 71,807 {6.638) (96.715) - {31,545}
Restated tor prior year net ncome gifects;
Seismic vessel costs - - 12,893 - 2,893}
Vessel crew rotation costs - - - 14,038} - {4,038
Accrued vacaiion costs - - - (3,692) - 2,693
Adjusted for minority inlerast - . - - - 1402 1,402
Restaled balance at December 31, 2002 103,345,987 71,807 . 6,638) (107339 1402 140.768)
Cumuiative effect of accounting principie
change January 1, 2003 - - - (26,754} - 126,754}
£Hiect of restruciuring, November 6, 2003:
Write down old sharecapital 1103,345,887) 171,800 - - 71.807 - -
Debt restructuring 20,000,000 85,714 1,010,929 - 167148 - 1,252,851
Net income ) - 723,413} - {94,852) 125 1818,150}
Translation adjustments - - - 2,067 - - 2,067
Balance at December 31, 2003 20,000,000 S B5,714 5 287576 H 4.571) S s 1,527 $ 370246

Petroleurn Geo-Services ASA has one class of shares, and as of December 31, 2002, common stock consisted of a totat of 103,345,987

shares of par value NOK 5 each fully paid in.

During 2003. the Company completed an extensive financial restiuciuring (see Note 25 for more infarmation). Besides a significant reduc-
tion of the Company’s toial debt, the restructuring iead 10 a cangellation of alt existing shares, and ihe share capital was reduced to zero
without any payment 10 the existing sharegholders in respect of the cancelled shares. Simulianecusly with the registration of the reduc-
tion of the shara capital to z2ro, the rearganized Petoleum Geo-Servicas ASA issued 20,000,000 new sharas with a par value of NOK 30
per share, giving a total share capital of NCK 600 million. The new shares ware distribuied 10 the Company’s creditcrs and existing share-

nolders.

Tha shareholdars voting rights are equal 10 ownership percentage. A listing of the Cormpany’s largas: sharehoiders is provided in Note 21.
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|
NOTES

|
- GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE

I COMPANY AND BAS!S OF PRESENTATION
Petroleum Geo-Services ASA (the *Company”) is a technologically
iocused oilfield service company principally involved in geophysical
and floating production services. Globally, the Company provides a
broad range of seismic and reservoir services, including seismic
dataracquisition, processing end interpretation, as well as field eval-
uation. iy the North Sea, the Company owns and operates four
floating production, storage and offlcading units {(FPS0O) and owns
a small oil and gas company. The Company’s headguarters are in
Oslo, Narway. See further discussion of the Company's services in
Note 4. |
The Con'wpany is a Norwegian limited liability company. The Com-
pany has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance wfth accounting principles generaily accepted in Norway ("N
GAAP“) I The Financial Statements are presented in US Dollars
{"$"), which is defined as the reporting currency,

| .
As more fully describaed in Note 3, the Company sold its wholly
owned software company PGS Tigress (UK} Lid. in December
2003. In December 2002 the Company sold its Production Servicas
subsidiany and also entered inte a definitive agreement 10 sall its
Atlantis subsidiary n January 2003, wiich was {inalized and &xe-
cuted in| February 2003 Accordingly, tha financial position and
results of operations and cash flows ior these subsidianies have
heen presented as operations held for sale/discontinued opera-
tions as of and for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
200 <
The acco:mpany\'ng financial statements have been prepared on the
basis of accounting principles that presume the realization of
assets and the settlement of liagilities in the ordinary course of
business. Accordingly, the financial statements do not purport to
present 'the realizable values of all assets or the settlement
amounts of all liahilities, and therefore, do not reflect the adjust-
ments inI tha carrying values of our assets, liabilities, income state-
ment items and balance sheet classifications that would be nec-
essary iﬁ the going concern assumption was not an appropriate
hasis for,our financial statements.

1
In 2002 |the Company, as more fully described in Note 25, suc-
cessfully: compieted a financial restructuring which involved can-
cellation of all pre—restructuring share capital and a reduction to
interest bearmg debt of $1,283 million from $2,472 million t2
$1.189 miltion. Costs relating to this restructuring totallsd $42.3
million apd ware axpensed as Unusual ltems, net in the consoli-
dated statemants of operations. In addition tha Company recorded
£12.2 million in write-off of deferred debt costs and issue dis-
counts, that were expansed as Other Gain (Loss!, net,

|
Upan enfwergence from Chapter 11, the-Company, for the purpose
of adepting “frash start” accounting in accordance with "The
American Institute of Certifiad Public Accountants Statemenrt of
Fosition™ {SOP 80-7) under generally accepted accounting princi-
ples in the United States {"U.S. GAAP") and in order to perform
impairment reviews for its N GAAP financial statements, made a
full valuaticn, using external experts, of all its significant assets and
liahilities! with a basis in the restruciured enterprise value, Similarly
the Company adopted a new N GAAP standard for Impairnient of
Assels eﬁect ve January 1, 2003, In total the Company recognized
the foHowmg impairrments under N GAAP in 2003; $241.5 millicn in
multi-clignt library, $367.0 million in Production assets, $129.1 mil-
lion in streamer fleet assets and $3.3 million in other long-term
assets. S?ee Note 31 for further details of these impairmeants.

|
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As of June 2004, the audits of the Company's financial statements
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have not vet been com-
pleted. The required audit procedures tor such U.S. GAAP financial
statements include a reaudit of the 2001 financial staternenis, as
well as the audits of the 2002 and 2003 financial statements, 10
conform with filing requirements of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) inithe United States in relation to Annual
Reports on Form 20-F

As part of the re-audit process, the Company identified certain
costs, which historically had not been appropriately accruedt for
relating to seismic vessels costs of $2.9 million, vessel crew rota-
ton cosis of $4,0 million and accrued vacation costs, relating to cer-
tain regions in the Company, of $3.7 million. The effect of these
accruals has been recorded diractly to shareholders’ equity.

The Company has made significant progress in the work and is tar-
geting completion of such audits and re-audit during third quarter
2004. There can, howaver, be no assurance as 1o whether or when
these audits and re-audit will he completed.

The cutcome of the audits and re-audit could result inrestatements
of the Company's previously filed .S, GAAP audited financial
statemants and restatements, or other adjustments, 10 its 2002
un-audited annual financial statements and 2002 and 2003 U.S.
GAAP unaudited interim financial statements. Those restatements
and adjustments could be matenal, although they are expected to
he oi a non-cash nature.

Furthermore, although the audits and re-audit are being conducted
under U.S. GAAP the cutcome of such audit procedures might also
aftect the financial statements prepared in accordance with N
GAAR potentially both the opening balance January 1, 2003 and the
2003 consolidated statements of operations.

In connection with the audit and re-audit process under genaral
accepted auditing standards in the United States ("U.5. GAAS™),
the Company's independent auditor, Ernst & Young, has issued a
material weakness letter 10 the Company that identifies the fol-
lowing material weaknesses: {1) insufficient documentation of aor
adherence to policies and procedures; (2} inadequate U.S. GAAP
expertise in the Company: (3} insufficient support for accounting
heoks and records; and (4) insufficient supervisicn and review con-
trol activities.

Inresponse to this material weaknasses letter, the Company devel-
oped and has been actively implementing a plan 1o address the
matiers identified, including hiring new personnel with expertise in
U.S, GAAP and U.S. reguistions, improving overall U.5. GAAP
expertise throughout the accounting organization and upgrading
the corporate business controller function. The Company has put
priority on wnproving documentation and reporting procedures and
has established new and more precise accounnng policies. Further,
the Company has established and outsourced an iniernal Audit
function. However, all material weaknesses have not been elimi-
nated at this time.

- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Change in accounting pringiples during 2003:

Effective January 1, 2003,'a new preliminary standard for Impairment
of Assets became effective under N GAAPR Under the newv standard
the Company must assess impairment indicators at each balance
sheet date. If such indicators exist, impairment losses are recorded if
the recoverable amount of a cash generating unit is less that its car-
rying amount. The main ¢hange from the previcus standard is that
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i

recoverable amount, if based on future cash flows, is based on dis-
counted cash flows rather than undiscounted cash flows.

Upon emergenc‘e from Chapter 11, the Company reviewed its
accounting policies for its N GAAP and U.S. GAAP accounting, and
adopted certain new policies that the Company believes are less com-
plex, more transparent and beiter reflact current operations. The most
significant changes in the N GAAP policies were as lollows:

» Effective January 1, 2003, expanses incurred in connaction with
yard stay, steaming and miobilization arg expensed as incuired. Such
expenses were previously ceierred and recognized as part of con-
tract costs or multi-Client project Costs as appropriate

« Effective January 1, 2003, the successful efforts method of
accounting for oil and gas assets was adopted replacing the full cost
rmethod previously applied

« Effective Novernber 1, 2003, the Company made certain changes to
its amartization policy for multi-client lrary, including an increase in
minimum amartization, achieved by reducing the maximum amort-
zation period {rom eight 10 five years after completion of a survey

« Effective Novermber 1, 2003, depreciable lives of Ramiorm seismic
acquisition vessels and FPSOs were reduced irorn 30 10 25 years,
except for Petrojar! 1 FPSQ, due to a substantial refurbishment com-
pleted in 2001,

See further descrigtion of the current accounting palicies below,

[Due to the complexity of 1these accounting changes, prior periods
financial statemenis have not been restated to reflect the impact of
these changes. .,

Basis of Consolidation and Equity Investments:

The (Zompzar1~,r'sL consalidated financial statements include all
accounts of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA and its wholly owned and
majority-owned subsidiaries, Subswdiaries are consolidated in the
accounts from the point of wime when the Company gaing control of
the companies. Sharas in subsidianes are eliminatad using tha pur-
chase method of accounting. This implies that the putchase costs for
the sharas are assigned 1o the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries,
which are consalidated using thair fair value at date of acquisition. Any
axcess of fair value is recordad as goodwill, All significant intercom-
pany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

investments in aLssociated entities (companies and joint ventures) in
which the Company's ownership interests equal or exceed 20% and
aver which the Company exercises significant, but not controlling,
influence are accounted for under the equity method. The equity
method impligs that the Company’s share of net income in the asso-
ciated company is included in a separate line in the profit and loss
staternent, while the Company’s sharg of the associated company's
equity, adjusted for any excess values or goodwill, is classified as 2
long-term asser in the balance sheet. Other invesiments are
accounted for at cost.

i

Discontinued Operations:

Subsidiaries that are either held-forsale or discontinued are reported
as discontinued operations. Revenues and gxpenses are exctuded
from revenue aml:i expenses of the Campany and reported separately
as a one fine item in the consolidated s1aiernent of operations, net of
iax. Assals and liahilities are presented as separate line items in the
halance sheet. For further details, see discussions of such discontin-
ued activities in Note 3.

Fareign Currenfcv Translation:

Although the Company’s activities are global, its transactions are pri-
marily denominated in US dollars: thesefore, the Company has
adoptad the US dollar as its reporting currency. The Company uses

|
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the US dollar as the functional currency for subsiantially all f its con-
salidated entities.

The financial statements of non-US subsidiaries using the US dollar
as their functional currency are measured as foliows: non-monetary
assets, share par value and paid-in capital are measured at historical
axchange rates; revenue and expenses are measured at the average
1ates of exchange during the period, excent for depreciaiion and anor-
tization, which are measured at historical @xchange rates; and all other
financial staternent accounts are measurad at the rat2 of exchange at
period end. Measurarmen: adjustmienis of foreign currency transac-
tions are credined or charged dirgctly to income, excep: ior adjust-
ments relating 1o long-term intercompany borrowings, which are
accumulated as & separate component of shareholders’ equity.

The financiat staternents of non-US subsidiaries using their local cur-
rancy as their functional currency are transtaied using the current rate
method. Assets and liabilities ara translated at the rate of exchange in
effact a1 period end; share par valug and paid-in capital are translated
at historical exchange rates; and revenue ang expenses are translaied
at the average raies of exchange in effect during the penoc. Transla-
tion adjusiments ara recorded as a separata componeni of share-
holders’ equity.

The Company’s exchange rate béiween the Norwegian kroner and
US dollar at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was NOK 6.79 and NCK
702. respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash eguivalents approximate fair
value. Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and all
highly liquid financial instruments purchased with maturities of three
montns or less. in addition, cash and cash eguivalents as of Decem-
her 31, 2003, also include bid bonds restricted to the restructuring
cash sween, which was paid in May 2004.

UK Leases:

The Company has periodically executed leasing arrangerments in the
United Kingdom (UK leases”) relating 1o certain seismic and FPSO
vessels andfor equipment (see Note 32}, Under the UK leases, gen-
erally UK Financials Institutions acquire the asseats and the Company
leases the assets from these indtitutions under long-term charters
that give the Cornpany the option to purchase the assets for a de mm-
imis amount at the end of the charter pericds. Due to the nature of
the charters, the Company capitalizes the assets. The Company
leqally defeases the present value of the Company’s future charter
obligations for the assets by making up-front, lump sum payments to
large international hanks {"paymant banks"}, which then assume the
Company’s liahility for making thé periodic payments due under the
long-term charters {the "Defeaséd Rental Payments™), Due to the
assumption of the chaner payment obligauons by the payment banks,
the: lessors legally release the Company as the primary obliger under
the charters and the Company therefore does not record capitat lease
obligations with respact 1o these UK leases. These UK leases provide
the UK Financial Institutions with the 1ax depreciation rights 10 the
assats and, therefore, the ability to utilize the related 1ax henefits.
Under its UK teases, the Company has indemnified the UK Financiat
Institutions against certain future events that could reduce their
expecied atierisx rewrns on the UK leases. These events include
notential changes in UK tax laws and interpretations (including inter-
pretations relating 10 depreciation rates) or interest rates.

At the daie that the Company executes any UK lease, the Company
traais the excess of the sales proceeds received over the amount
trequired 1o legally defease the charter obligations as a defered gain,
due 1o the indernnification contingencias. The deferred gain is recog-
nizable as athar income [lioss) once the Company has determined that
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the possibility of the indemnification contngencies occurring is
remote.

The Deieased Rental Payments are based on assumed Sterling
LIBOR rates of between 8% and 9% (the "Assumed Interesi Rates”).
if actual interest rates are greater than the Assumed Interes: Rates,
the Campany receives remal rebates. Conversely, if acluat interest
rates ara less than the Assumed Interest Rates, the Company s
required to pay rentals in excess of the Defeased Bental Paymenis
{the “Additionai Requred Rental Payments”). See Note 32 for addr-
tiona! information regarding the Company’s estimated tiability for such
Interest vanations.

Operating and Capital Leases:

The Company has significant operating lease arrangements within all
the operating segments and also has some capital lease arrange-
ments rainty for land seismic equipment. Capital i2ases are lease
arrangements where the substantial financial risk and contrel, but not
ownership, of the assets arg vansfarred from e lessor 1o the Come
pany.

The Company accounts for capital lease arrangemenis as if the Corn-
pany hat gcquired 1he assets. Correspondingly the present value of
tha future lease paynienis is accounted ior as liabiliies. The assets
are depreciated over the expecied useful life of the asser, while the
leass liability is reduced in accardance with the agreed payment teim,
Retirement Pians:

Defined benefit pension plans are estimated as present value of
future pension compensation, which for accounting purpose are con-
sidered earmned as of batance sheet date. Pension assets are asti-
mated at fair value. Nat pension liabilities on underfunded plans are
recorded as other long-term liabilities, while net pension assets on
over funded pians are recorded as other long-term assets, if it i prob-
able that the over funded amounts ¢an be utilized. Change in the pen-
sion liability, which is caused by amendments to the pension plans, is
apporticned over the expected average remaining years.

The Company's contibutions to defined contribution plans ae
expensed as incurred,

The actual pension costs are charged te salaries and social expenses
and are included in cost of sales and selling, general and administra-
tion ¢osts as appropriatg, in the consolidated statements of opera-
tions.

Accounting Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conferrnity with N GAAP
regquUIres management 10 make various gstirnaies, assumptions and
judgments that affect the reported amounis of assets and liabiliies
and the disclosure of contingent assets and lighilities. In addition, such
estimates, assumptions and judgmenis ¢an have a maierial effect on

‘the amourit of reported revenue and expenses during a particular
* period. The Company reviews significant estimates, assumptions and

judgments no less frequently than annually. In many circumstances,
the ultimate ouicomes elated to the estimates, assumptions and
judgments may not be known for several years after the preparation
of the financial staterments. Actual amounts may differ materially from
these estimates due to changes in general econormic conditions, laws
and regulations, changes in fuiure operating plans and the inherent
imprecision associated with estimates.

Provision for Doubtful Receivable:

The Company recognise loss on doubtful receivables when it is prob-
able that a receivable is not callactable.
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Centingencies:

Contingencies are recognized as liabilities if there is more than a 50%
prohability that thay will occur and can be reasonably estimated. Best
estimate is applied when estimating the settlement.

Mukhi-Client Library:

The muli-client library consists of seismic surveys that are licensed
to customers on a nonexclusive basis. All costs directly or indirectly
ingurred in acquiring, processing and otherwise completing seismic
surveys are capitalized into the mutti-client library, including the appli-
cable portion of the Company’s interest costs.

Beginning January 2003, the Companry no longer capitalizes the pro-
portionate cost of relocating its crews {steaming) between surveys
and the apportioned cost of yard stays.

The multi-client library is stated at the lower of survey costs less accu-
rmulated amortization or fair value. Fair value is catcu'ated based upon
remaming forecastad future sales less estimated selling costs, dis-
counted 10 @ net presant value using discount rates that give effect o
the inharent risk in the sales forecasts,

The Coinpany records s mvestiment i ihe mult-client library in &
manner consistent wath its capiial invesument and operating decision
analysis, which genarally results in 2ach component of the multi-clien:
library being recorded and evaluated on a survey-by-suivey basis. Cer-
tain projects that are in the same political regime, with similar geo-
logical traits and that are marketed colleciively are recorded and eval-
uated as a group by year of completion,

Amortization of the mulii-client library is generally recorded in propor-
tion 1o revenue recognized to date as a percentage of the iotal expected
revenue. In determining the annual amonization rates applied w the
rmudti-client library, management considers expected fuiure sales and
market developmants as well as past experience. These expeciations
include consitigration of geographic location, prospectivity, political risk,
exploration license periods and general economic conditions, The Com-
pany's local sales and operating management estimate, at least annu-
ally, the total expected revenue for each component of the multi-client
library. Because of the inherent difficulty in estimating future sales and
market developments, it is possible that the amonization rates could
deviate significantly from year 1o year.

To the extent that such revenue astimates, o the assumptions used
10 make those estimates, prove to be higher than actual revenue, the
Company's future operations will reflect lower profitability due
increased amaortization rates applied to the multiclient library in later
vears, and the multi-client library may also become subject 1o rmini-
mum amertization andfor impairment chaiges.

Aithough 11 15 the Company's general policy o anoriize the multi-
ctieni lirary hased on the proportion of the recognized revenue to the
otal expected revenue, an integral element of the Company’s amor-
tization is the minimum amortization policy. Under this policy, the
Company requires that the book value of each cormponent of the
multi-client library be reduced to a specified percentage by yearend,
hased on the age of the component in relation o its year of comple-
tion. This requirement is applied regardless of future revenue esti-
mates for the multi-client library component. The specified percent-
age generaias the maximum book value for each mutti-client library
component as the product of the percentage multipliad by the origi-
nal book value of the mufti-client library cormponent. Any minimum
amortization charges required are then determinad through a com-
panson of tha remaining book value © the maximum hook value
allowed for each component of the multi-client library.

Effective November 1, 2003 the Company changed the minirnum
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amortization perigd. Previously, the minimum amortization period was
8 years for maiing surveys and 5 years for land surveys. The profile for
new Surveys is now set at 5 years for both maring and tand surveys.
Existing marine surveys are accorded a iransition profile that will gen-
erally shorten their remaining minimum amortization pericd by one
vear as comparec:i 1o the previous profile.

™ !
The specified perlcentages thia Company uses (0 determine the max-
imum book value of its multi-client library components are summa-
fized as follows:

Maximum book-value from completion year

Year from i Existing marine Existing land New
comgpletion ©surveys surveys surveys
Year 1 100 % 100 % 80 %
Year 2 80 % 80 % 60 %
Year 3 1 60% 60 % a0 %
Year 4 a0 % 40 % 20%
Year 5 , 20 % 20% 0%
Year 6 : 10 % 0%

Year 7 ! 0 5

Research and Development costs:
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred,

Property and Equipment;

Property and eqdipment are stated at cost less accumulated degre-
ciation and amor}[ization and any impairment charges. Dapreciation
ang amortization are calculated using the straightline mathod for
all property and equiprent, after allowing for residual values, How-
avar, during the first ten momhs of 2003 e unitaf-preduction

_method of accounting was used for one of the FPSO vessels

4

The estimatad useful lives for the Company's property and equip-
ment, as of December 31, 2003, were as follows:

‘ Years
Betsmic vessels | 20-25
Seismic squipment 5-15
Seismic and cperations computer equipment 3-5
Leasehold improvemems - seismic vessels 1-a
Land seismic equipment 3-5
FPSO vessals and equipment 25 - (b
Buitdings and relatad leaseholid improvements 1-30
Fixturg, furninee, fittings and oltice computers 3«5

{a} Life of asset or length of lease, whichaver 1s shorter,
ib} Except for Petigjarl 1, which is depracioted over 30 years,

Expendiiures for major property and equipment that have an eco-
nomic useful life of at least one year are capitalized. Such property
and equipment are capitalized as indivigual assets and are depreci-
ated and amortized over their useful lives. Maintenance and repairs
are expensed as incurrad. The Company capitalizes the applicable
portion of its interest costs relaled 10 major capital projects that
require a perod of ume 10 complete. When property ana equip-
ment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the relaied ¢osi and
accumulated depreciation are rermoved from he accounts, and any
resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations,

" 1
Oil and Gas Assets:
Effective January 1, 2003 the Company adopted ihe successiul
efforts method of accounting for oil and gas exploration and pro-

|
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duction activities, Equipment related 10 wells and instailations 10 be

used in the tuture production and drilling activities are carried at the

lower of cost and market value.
i

Cosis are accounted for as follows:

» Acquisition costs 1o purchase, lease Or otherwise agquire
licenses, are capitalized pending the determination of the exis-
tence of proved reserves.

» Bxploration costs:

- Drilling costs of exploration wells are capitatized pending the
avaluation of oil andi gas reserves. | reserves are not found, the
drilling costs are charged to operating expense.

- Geoclogical and geophysical costs, area fees and costs associ-
ated with unsuccessful exploratory wells are expensed.

* Development costs:

- Alt costs related 10 the development and planning of commer-
cial oil and gas fields are capitalized, including the cosis of the
plan for developrment and operation and the drilling of unsuc-
cessiul developrment wells. Development cosis are capitalized
once the licensaes decide to procead with the development of
a field.

« Production {lifting} costs are costs incurred o operate and main-
tain the wells and installations, and are expensed as incurred.

* Interest expense relating to drilling activities and development
projects are included in capitalized exploration and development
COSts as appropriate.

+ Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, except for
cost of replacerments or renewals that expand capacity or
improve production, which are-capitalized.

Acausition costs are amortized using the unit-of-production
method based on total proved reserves (developed snd undevel-
opead), by indwidual field, Capitalized costs relating to fields in pro-
duction are amortized using the unit-of-productcn method based
on proved developed reserves, by individual fiaid.

Proved oil and gas reserves are included in the calculation of depre-
ciation, depletion andg amortization of capitalized costs. Proved oil
and gas raserves are those quantities of petrolaum which, by analy-
sis of geological and engineering data, can be estimated with rea-
sonable certainty 1o be commercially recoverable, from a given
date forward, from known reservoirs under current economic con-
ditions operating method, and governmental regulations. Heserves
numbers are updated quarterly by the Compeany and verified at
least annually by independent reservoir engineers.

Goodwill:

Gaodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over fair
value of the net assets acquired, and is stated at cost l€ss accu-
mulated amortization and any impairment charges. Goodwill amor-
tization is based on an individual assessment and calculated on a
straightdine basis over the estimated life.

Other Long-Term Intangible Assets:

Other long-term intangible assets include direct costs of patents,
toyalties and licenses, which are stated atl cost iess accumulated
amortization and any impairment charges. Amortization is based on
astimated useful lives of the related asseis.

Other Financial Assets: )

Orher financial assets consist of costs relatad 10 entaring into long-
e loan facilives (deferred debi issue cosis) and other tong-term
recewvables. The Company defers debt issue cosis relaing to long-
1erm debi, which 1s charged 10 2xpense using the efeciive intarest
meihod over the period loans are ouistanding. Such expense is
charged 10 financiat expense, net. Other long-term receivables
includes accounts receivable, expectad 1o he collected twelve

67



» NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2003

|

months after the balance sheat date, and also net pension assets
an overfunded plans.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets:

Long-lived assets imulticlient library, property, plant & equipment and
oif & gas'assets) are assessed for possible impairment when indica-
tions of impairments exist. Indicators include significant decreases in
the market value of an asset, significant changes in the extent or man-
ner of use of or physical change in the asset, or reduction of proved
oit and gas reserves based on field performance. In assessing impair-
ment, the carrying values of assets or cash generating units ars com-
pared 10 their recoverable amounts, defined as the highar of esti-
mated selling price and value in use. Value in use is computed based
on discounted estimated future cash ftows, Impaired assets are writ-
ten down to their esumated recoverable amounts.

Asset Retirement Obligation:

The Company accrues the fair value of a liability for the obligation
associzted with the retirement of long-lived assets and associated
retirernent ¢osis over the gedod of the contract or useiul hie when
a reasonable estimale for such oblhgations can be made,

Loss Contracts:

The Company reviews its revenue-producing exclusive contracts in
the ordinary course of busingss ta determine if estimated costs 10
parform the contract exceed the estimated contract revenue. Any
resulting net loss is expensed at the time the toss is determined.

Steaming:
Costs incurred steaming a vessel from one location to another are
axpensed as incurred.

Derivative Financial Instruments:

The accourtting treatrment of financial instruments generally follows
the intention kehind entering into the contracts, which are defined
as either hedge or trade ¢ontracts. Derivative financial instruments
are used pericdically by the Conmpany in the management of is {or-
eign currgncy exchange rate and interest rate exposure.

The difterent financial instriiments used in hedging currency and
interest exposure, are avaluated as separate porifolios. For those
arrangements classified as hedges, revenues and expense are
accrued and classified similar 1o the refated batance sheet item,

Gains and losses atuibutable to forward foreign exchange con-
wracts and option cortracts that do not quality for hedge actount-
ing are recagnized in thg incorme staternant as they arisa.

Revenue Recognition:

The Cornpany has elected 10 use the US Securities antt Exchange
Commission's Staff Accounting Buletin {SAB) No. 101 Revenue
Recognition as pringiple for recognising revenue. N GAAP is con-
sidered to be in compliance with SAB-101 for the principles applied.

1. Geophysical services (Marine and Onshore):
{a) Sales of Multi-Client Library Data:

Lare salés - The Company grants a ficense to a customer, which
entitles the customer to have access (o a specifically defined por-
tion of the Company's multi<lient data library. In each case, the por-
tion of the multi-chent library far which an access license is being
granted is complete and ready for use, The customaer’s license pav-
ment is fixed and determinatle, and typically is required at the time
that the license is granted. The Company recognizes revenue tor
late salas at the point that the customer has axecuted a valid
license agreement, the cusiomer has been granied access to the
|icensed| portion of the multi-client library and collection is reason-
ably assured.
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Voluma sales agreements — The Company enters into customer
arrangements in which the Company agrees to grant licenses 1o
the customer for acress 10 a specified number of blocks of the
multi-client library within 2 defined geographical area. These
arrangements typically enable the custemer 1o select and access
the specific blocks over a period of time. Although the license fee
is fixed and determinable in all cases, the payment terms of indi-
vidual volume sales agreements vary, ranging from payment of the
entire fee at the commencement of the volume sales agreement,
1o instalment payments over a multi-year period, 10 paymeni of the
license fee as the specific blocks are selecied.

The Company recognizes revenue for volume sales agreements,
based on a ratable portion of the (ctal volume sales agreement rev-
enue, when the cusiomer executes ficenses for-spacific Mocks, the
customer has been granted access 1o the data included in the
agreement and collection is reasonably assured.

Pre-fundirg arrangements ~ The Company typically obiains fund-
ing from a linvited number of customers before a mutu-client sais-
mi¢ project commences. In retumn for the pre-funding, the cus-
tomer typically gains the ability 1o direct/influence the project spec-
ifications, advance access 1o data as it is being acquired and dis-
counted pricing.

The Company recognizes pre-funding revenue as the services are
perforrmed on a percentage-oi-completion basis when cellection is
reasonably assured. The Company evaluates the progress o date,
in a manner generally consistent with the physical progress on the
project, and recognizes revenue based on the ratio of the project’s
progress 1o date in relation to the total project.

{b) Proprietary Sales/Contract Sales:
The Company perforins seismic services for a specific customer, in
which case the seismic data is the exclusive propeny of that cus-
tomer. The scope and terms of these proprietary sales vary substan-
tially, The Company recognizes proprietary/contract revenue as the
services are parformed, deliverad and collection reasonably assured.

{c) Other Geophysical Services:
Revenue from the Company’s other geophysical services is recog-
nized as the services are performed and delivered and collaction is
reasonably assured.

2. Production:

Tariff-hased revenue from the Company’s production Services 1s
racognizad as production occurs, while day-rate ravenue is recog-
nized over the passage of time. Revenues ars recognised when col-
lection is reasonably assured

3. Pertra:

Revenue from the Company’s ownership of production licenses is
recognized when ownership of produced oil passes 1o the cus-
omer {delivery).

Income Taxes:

The Company provides for all current taxes payable and for deferred
1axes arising from temporary differences between the tax bases oi
assets and liabilities and thair reported amounts in the financial
statementis, based on enacied tax rates and laws in effect for the
vears in which differences are expacted :0 reverse. Except where
required by Jaw, Norwegian income iaxes are noi accrued ior
unremitted eamings of international operations that have been, of
are intended 10 he, rainvesied indefinitely. Valuation allowances are
prowded against deferred tax assets when managamant deter-
mines that itis more likely than noi that a future tax benefit will not
be realized. At acguisition, excess values are recorded as gress,
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including deferred tax, while goodwill is recognised het. axcluding
deferred tax accrual.

Cash Flow Statement and Consoclidated Statements of
Operations:

The Companys cash flow statemeant is prepared in accordance
with the indirect method, where cash fiows trom opetational activ-
ities are incorporated as a part of the ¢ash flow statemant, and
where the cash flows are divided into operational activities, invest-
ing activities and financing activities. in order 1o provide the best
possible reconciliation to our financial staterments prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAR the Company has decided to use Net
Income {Loss) as the basis for presentation of cash flows from
operational activities. Similar is alse the consolidated statement of
operations presented in accordance with U.5, GAAP where oper-
ating costs are classifies ag; cost of sales, research and develop-
ment and selling, general and administration COSts.

- ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

During 2001, the Company entered into a definitive agreement
with Veritas DGC, Inc. ("Veritas”) 1o combine the businesses of the
two comgpanies, but during 2002, the agreement was terminated.
The Company recognized a net gain of $2.9 million in 2002 relating
to receipt of a termination fee. This amount was recerded in the
consolidated statements of operations as unusual items, net {see
Note 31). !

On December 11, 2002, the Company sold its Production Services
{fformerly Atlantic Power Group) subsidiary t¢ Petrofac Limited and
recognized 526.8 million gress loss on disposal of this subsidiary in
2002.The Comp'any received procaecs of $20.2 million at the ¢los-

!
|

ing date and received an additional $3.8 million and $1.5 millien in
2003 upon.settlement of the working capital and certain contingent
events, respectively. Furtheimare, the Company recorded an addi-
tional gain of $2.0 million related to such contingent events as of
Drecember 31, 2003, and accordingly a total of $3.5 million was
recorded as a gain in 2003. The Company is eligible 10 receive an
aciditional $6.0 million upon the cccurrence of certain contingent
events through 2010.

During February 2003, the Company sold its Atlantis oil and gas
activities to Sinochem, and received proceeds of $48.6 million in
addition to $10.6 million as reimbursements of outlays on behalf of
Sinocherm, The Company may receive up to $25.0 million in addi- -
ticnal, contingent proceeds, which currently has not been recog-
nized. During 2002, the Company recognized $190.1 miliion in
impairmens charges, including the estimated loss on disposal. The
Company recorded an additional $4.8 million in loss on disposal of
this subsidiary in 2003. '

On Decermnber 10, 2003, the Company sold its wholly owned sofi-
ware company PGS Tigress (UK} Ltd. for a deferred ¢compensation
of approximately $1.8 million, payable during 2004 and 2007 and
did not recerd any net effect (o income on disposal of this sub-
sidiary in 2003, The Company may receive additional, contingent
proceeds based on excess profits through 2006, such proceeds
have not been recognised as receivables.

The results of operations, net assets and cash flows for the above
mentioned subsidiaries have been presented as discontinued
aperations for 2003, 2002 and 2001, and is summarizad as follows:

|
'

Years ended Decermber 31,

. 2003 2002 : 2001
In theusands of dollars) Tigress Tigress Atlantis Praduction. + Tigress Atlantis P:oduction
|
Revenue i 1,244 1,684 23,452 181,302 2,356 575 166,950
. |
Dperating expenses before depreciation, . )
amartization, impairmant and unusual items 12,697) (3.298) {15,836) 1176.642) 13,845) {1,599 {165,181)
Depreciation and amortization (707} (1,105) — (455) {1,261) 53} {1.426)
Impairment of long-term assels — -— 190,101 — — - —
Unusual items {512} 482 — — - (B33} -—
Operating costs (3.916) {4,885) (205,937 (177,087) {5,106) 12,285) {166,607}
Dparating profit ! 12,672} (3.20M 1182,488) 4,205 {2,750) {1,710} ) 383
i
Financial expense}and other gain {loss), net {1,213} (1,278} 1,545 (74} {1.144) 2,310} 245
Income (loss) before income taxes {3.885) {4,479)  (180.940) 4,131 {3.894) 14.020) 628
. '
Capital expenditures on assets held for sale 18 125 72126 103 138 54,103 226

\ I

b
|
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Dacember 31, 2002

(In thousands of dollars) Tigress Atlantis
Other |ong;n-lerm intangible assats 1,671 —
Property a;nd equipment, net 214 322
Cihar financial assets 13 -
Oil and fias assetls, net - 56,669
Accounts receivable, net 810 2.489
Other qurient assels 324 1.913
Cash and cash equivalents 427 2,915

Total assets 3,459 65,309
Shori-term debt - (15.800)
Accounts payabla (137} (151)
Accruad expensas 1,106} 13,729)

Total liabilities {1,543} {19,980)

1n March 2001, the Company seld its global Petrobank data man-
agement business and related sofiware 10 Landmark Graphics Cor-
poration 'a subsidiary of Halliburton Company, for $165.7 million in
nat cash proceeds. The Company recognized a $138.6 million gain
on the sdle, excluding taxes of $40.4 million, which was classitied
as an unusual item in the Coempany's consolidated statements of
operations.

During August 2002. the Company purchased a 70% interest in
Production License 038 on the Norwegian Continental Shelf of the
North Séa. The Company’s interest was purchased from Statoil
{28%!} anld Norsk Hydro (42%). The Company’s 30% partner is the
Norwegian government’s State Direct Financial Interest, The Comn-
pany's FPSQ Petrofar! Varg has been in production on the Varg field
PL 038 since December 1598.

70

- SEGMENT AND GEQGRAPHIC INFORMATION
The Company's services are provided by various separately man-
aged businass units. These business units have been aggregated
into four reportable segments, Ma:ine Geophysical, Onshore, Pro-
duction and Pertra, based on economic characteristics. The Com-
pany believes that the business units within each repecrtable seg-
ment ara strategically and/or operationally interrelated and provide
similar services 10 the same customer base.

PGS manages its business in four segments as follows:
« Marine Geophysical, consisting of both sireamer and ssafloor

seismic tata acquisition, maring multi-client library and data pro-
CE3siNg

Onshore, consisting of all seismic operations on land and in shal-
tow warter, and including onshore muliiclien: fibrary

Production, which owns and cperates iour harsh environmant
FPSOs in the Norih Sea

Pertra, a small cil and gas company owning 70% of and teing
operator for Production License 038 on the Norwegian Conti-
nental Shelf

The principal markets for the Company's Production segment are
the UK and Norway, while the Marineg Geophysical and Cnshore
segments serve a warldwide market. Custemers for all segments
are primarily composed of major muiti-national, independant and
national or staie-owned oil companies. The Company's corporate
overhead has been presented under Global Services/Corporate.
Significant charges, which do not relate to the operations of any
segment, such as debt restruciuring costs, are also presented as
Global Services/Corporate. Information related to operations held
for sale/discontinued operations during any period presented has
been separately aggregaied. Affilisted sales are sales between
segments, and these sales are made at prices that approximaie
market value.
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Information by segment is summarized as follows:

Global Elimination

Marine Services! of affiliatad
{In thousand of doliars) Geophysical Onshore Preduction Perira {a) Caiporate sales Total
Revenue, unaffiliated companies;
2003 ! 582,687 154,034 248,310 121,641 13,586 - 1,120,658
2002 548,186 109,094 289,614 32,697 12,845 —_ 992,336
2001 i 482,685 91,173 289,645 — 18,204 — 882,707
Revenue, incluces affiliates:
2003 ' 584,180 154,034 292,415 121,641 21,200 (53.812} 1,120,658
2002 I 518,697 109.084 304,397 32,697 16,022 18.471) 992,336
200 ' 483,963 91,173 289,615 -— 18,472 {1,546 882,707
Denreciation and a':nortizalion: )
2003 , 195,397 38.023 A1,783 21,788 5,428 — 305,419
2002 251,925 37617 56,640 5,381 4,864 — 356,427
2001 : 244,045 17961 57313 4,964 - 324,283
Other operating e\:penscS: ih) '
2003 ! 334,309 99,164 114,567 60,784 27766 - 641,590
2002 ' 272,062 78,217 125,322 28,572 27714 — 531,878
2001 . 217163 67188 18,509 - 43,571 — 447431
Adjusied EBITDA: .(c)
2003 ; 248,378 54,970 128,743 60,857 (13,780 — 479,088
2002 276,134 30,877 164,191 4,125 14,869} — 460,458
2001 . 266,521 23.985 170,136 — {25,367} - 435,275
Impairmant of long-ierm assets: '
2003 359,834 - 11,822 367021 — 2,199 — 740,876
2002 310,734 64,808 229714 - 2,160 - 807416
2001 ' 6,458 6,697 - — , = — 12,155
Unusual items, net: ’
2003 22,908 304 - - 54,873 — 76,085
2002 1 1,341 2,625 - - 13,468 - 15,434
2001 . (131,712 3,275 5,064 e 3,672 — {119,701}
Operating profit {loss):
2003 ! 329,761) 4721 1240.061) 36,069 176,280 - (645,312}
2002 ) (287866) 73,173 {322,163) {1,256} 133,361 — (718,819}
2001 147730 {3.918) 107759 - 134,003) — 217538
Oparations held for sale/discontinued operations, net of tax:
2003 ‘ {4,208) -— 3,500 4.789) — - (5.587
2002 ' {78041 — 22,846} {184.659) = - {215,349}
200! | 12,812 CL 584 110,393 -— - {12,622}
Investment in equity method investees; 1
2003 ] 1,605 - 4,807 - 7 - 6.386
2002 { 6,811 1,193 4,028 — - — 12,240
Total assels: 1 ,
2003 : 883,184 112,345 769,944 60,897 831,583 — 1,808,953
2002 1,388,462 144,371 1,128,434 113,598 12,526 — 2,8873N
Additions 10 long-lived tangible assets {cash): (d)
2003 ! 84,486 28,233 515 34,165 1.811 - 149,210
2002 i 198,780 32,061 8,238 10.913 1,203 — 251,195
2000 238,057 17,004 158,905 — 1,356 — 415,322
Capital expenditures on assets held for sale:
2003 ' 18 — - - - - 113
2002 ! 135 — 103 77126 -— — 77364
2001 ‘ 138 — 226 5,103 — - 54,467

13) Qperations helé for sale/ciscontinued operations, net of tax, and capital expenditures on assets held for sale iin the column for Perual relaies (o
Atlantis, which was a part oi our ol and yas oparations. Total assets inctude 365.3 million relating 10 Atantis as of Decembar 31, 2002,

ibi Qthes operating expenses consist of cost of sales, research and develonment costs, and seling. general and adminisirative Costs.

ic) See Note 35 for further defintition of Adjusted EBITDA and a full reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA from Nel income (Loss).

td) Comprise cashlinvestment in multi-clignt library and capital expenditures,

Since the Comp:any provides services 1o the oil and gas industry worldwide, a substantial portion of the Company’s property and equip-
ment is mobile, and the respective locations at the end of the period (as listed in the tabla below) are not necessarily indicative of the
zarnings of the felated property and equipment during the period. The gaographic classification of revanues listed below is based upon

ipcation of performance o, in the case ol multi-client seismic data sales, the area where tha survey was physically located.
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Infermation by gecgraphic region is summarized as foliows:

Asiaf Middle Easy/
{In thousands of doliars) Amerncas UK Norway Pacific Africa Other Total
Revenue:
2003 317182 204,485 267892 115,365 145,285 70,348 1,120,658
2002 220,633 254,087 224,856 142,170 £0,393 70197 992,336
2003 172,780 218,802 187721 14E,345 75.552 79.506 832,707
Total sssats:
2003 428,500 817672 527,856 107631 4,056 23,178 1,908,953
Capitat expenditures cash):
2003 11,385 7360 37246 358 — 1.561 57710
2002 10,390 21,483 28,415 192 - 279 60,759
2003 ' 5,253 84,280 94,928 208 312 170 185, 156

Export sales from Norway to unaffitiated customers did not excead 10% of gross revenue for the years ended Decernber 31, 2003, 2002 and

2001

For the year ended December 31, 2003. the three largaest customers accounied for 19%, 12% and 10% of total revenuas. For the years ended
Decernber 31, 2002 and 2001, two customers accounted for 15% and 11 % of the revenue (2002} and 14% and 11% of the revenue {2001}

['[e1 1] - AFFILIATED COMPANIES ‘
The Company's shares of incarne/llosses! from atfilated companies accounted far using the aguity mathod are as follows:

Years ended Decemiber 31,

{In thousands of dollars) 2003 2002 200
Carporations and limited parinerships:
Geo Explarer AS 19 {524} 819
Calibre Seismic Company ) 137 (31)
AW Oil Exploration LLE - {877} 958)
lkdam'Production SA 3) (185) -
Triumph Petroleum 787 1288} {179}
General partnerships - —- 5
Total B97 {1,691} |544)
Investments and advances to affiliaied companies accounted for using the equity method are as follows:
Paid-in Ownership
Book value Share of capitalf, Equity Book value perceni as of
Decamber 31, income {dividends) transactions Cecember 31,  December
{In thousands of dollars) 2002 2003 2002 2003 (a) 2003 31, 2003
Corporations and limited partnerships:
Geo Explorer AS 1,254 119 - - 1,373 50,0%
Cathre Seismic Company 3.934 i) (3.930) - - 50.0%
Triumph Petroleurn (b} 194 787 - ’ 11,981) - 0.0%
lkdam. Production. SA 2,536 5] — 276 4,807 40,0%
Waltot Herwig AS {c} 1.107 - - 11,107 . 100.0%
Others 122 e — - 132
General partnershins 83 e 4 (13} 74
Total | 12,240 897 {3,926) (2,825} 6,386

(a) Inctudes foreign currency translation differences.
) The Company’s interest inTrivenph Petroleuny was sold in July 2002

¢} The Company increased the ownership percentage to 100% in Wailter Herwig AS

theralore consolidated in the financial statements.
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in December 20032, As of Decembar 31, 2003, Watter Herwig AS is
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i [0 H - FINANCIAL EXPENSE, NET
Financial expense, net, includes the following:

Years ended Degernber 31,

{In thousands of doliars) 2003 2002 200
Years anded December 31, Incamne {loss) balora income 1axes:
i thousarids of dottars) 2003 2002 2001 Norviay (528.118) {(498,373) (39.199)
‘ Foraign (263,954 (538.107)  B6,938
Interest income 5,432 3,951 £.573 Toial {792.072) 1,036.480) 47739
Intarest axpanse {105,238 (128,614} 124,200 Nohwog@an stellniory faie 28% 28% 28%
Inigrest expenses, net, belore Prorasion ihencfit] ior incoma tasas
financial expensas related 1o secunties 9%,806) (125,693 (118,736 at 1ha siatylory raie 221780y (290.214) 13,367
Intarest on trust preferrad secuntigs {8,536) (14,9%)  (14,935) Ingrease (reguction) v income
Intarast on multi-client libaary 1axas from;
securitization securities {1,685) (6,634} (6.000) Foreign 2arnings 1axed ai other
Financial expenses, net {110,027) {147.301) {139,671) than statutory rate 24,871 69,537  20.695)
Petroleum surtax {a) 16,941 1,599 -
, Prigr year adjusiment, exit shipping
] tax regime 37776 — —
- OTHER GAIN {LOSS), NET Qther adjustments in respect of .
Other gain (loss) consists of: oriol years 17497 4245 {66}
. Unrealized exchange losses
ipermanent ditterence) 4,169 91,020 {700
Years ended December 31, FPermanent iterns, incluting goodwill
tIn thousands ot dollars) 2003 2002 2001 mparmertt 30.020 56,683 1,690
Deferred 12x assels not recognized
Foreign currency gain {{oss) {8,315} (8,869) 11,954) 1o halance sheet 131,982 258,609 65,912
(Gain flossh on Tax Egualization contracis Other 114,626} 17735 2,333)
{TES) (see Mote 26) — 54,149 17596 Provision for Income taxes 26,817 208,214 36,445
Write-off of delerred debt costs and
issue discounts (13,1562} L - {a} Pertia‘'s income from ¢l activities on the Norwegian Continental Shelf is
Other (a) 10,2181 15,868) (2.348) taxed according te the Norwegian Petroleum Tax Law, which includes a
Other gain {loss), net {31,685) 39,412 (22,298) surtax of 50% in addition to the Norwegian corporate tax of 28%. No

ia} Ingludes inrerest variation paid relating to UK leases for the years
ended Decemnber 2003, 2002 and 2001 ot approximately $6.-1 million,
$3.9 millon and $1.5 mulion, respecuvely,

B - INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes consists of tha following

uphit (special depreciation deduction for surtax) is relevant for Perira, as
na capital expendiures are capitalized far 1ax purposes.

The ta« eftect of the temporary differences that generate the
Company's gaferred tax assets and liahilities are summarnzed as
fohows:

December 31,

{in thousands of dollars) 2003 2002

) Years ended Decomber 31, :
(In thousands of doliars) 2003 2002 2000 Property and equipment and long-term assets 31,.382)  (67526)
] Tax losses carnigd forward {311,361} {240,433}
Current laxes: Deterred gains iloss) (13,087} 58,715
Norway 5.02% 2,096 4,179 Receivables and inventory 25,2060 (20,384)
Foreign 26,050 22,50 9,510 Tax cradits {3,865) {3.665)
Deferred taxes: Expenses deduciible when paid (20,8480 143,862}
MNorway 22,620 88,160  (10,389) Other temporary differences 3.861 10.678
Foregn ! {26,878 96,417 33.145 Total {assel) iability before valuation allowance (101,868) (306,447)
Total . 26,817 209,214 36,445 Deterred lax ass5ets valuation allowance 416,841 328.315
\ Total (assa1) liability ) 14,973 21.868
Met 1ax related 10 pperations held Deterrad tax liability - Norwegian 14,973 7894
for sale/ disconuinled operations (381) {7270} (5,335) Daterred 1ax liability - Foreign — 12,974
Provision for income taxes 26,436 - 201,944 31,109 Total liability 14,973 21,868

The net provision {benefit) includes a net change in reserves relat-
ing 1o resolution of uncertainties regarding outstanding tax issues
af (6.9} million, $16.2 million and $14.4 million, for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.,

The provision {benefil) for income taxes differs from the amounts
computed when applying the Norwegian statutory tax raie o
inceme (loss) before income 1axes (inclusive of operations held for
salefdiscontinued operations and gross cumulative efiect of
accounting change) as a result of the following:
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The Company has significant 1ax lossas carried forward and other
deferred tax assets that are not recognized in the balance sheet.
The Company has not recognized net deferred tax assets to the bal-
ances sheet, due to cumulative losses in recent years and consid-
erable uricertainties in regards 1o future utilization of these losses.

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets not recognized in the balance
sheet:

Dacember 31,

To the extent that the Company continues 1o generate deferred tax  (n theusands dollars) . 2003 2002
assets, these will not be recognized 10 the balance sheet until
future earnings and utilization are substantiated. Beginning balance 328,315 69,706
Adjustment for sold opetauons £3,4587) -
Change oi the year 131,983  2%8.609
Deferred tax asset not
recognized to balance sheet 416,841 328,315
Tax losses carriad forward are summarized as follows:
} Decamber 31, 2003
(In thousands of USD} AsiasPacific Braz|! MNor vy UK us Other Total
Year of expiration:
2006 - - - - - 3,309 2,300
2009 - 70,836 - - - 70,836
2010 - - 21,287 - - — 211,287
2011 — — 130,475 — - — 120,476
202 — - 10,973 - - - 19,973
2013 - — 138.720 — e -— 138,720
Between 2019-2023 - - - - 10,824 - 10,824
Without-expiration 102,614 71,125 — 365,142 — - 538,881
Total losses carried forward 102,614 71,125 571,292 365,142 10,824 2,300 1,123,297

It is the Company’s current policy that unremitted earnings of cer-
tain international operations, which reflect full provision for non-
MNorwegian income taxes, have no provision for Norwegian taxes,
as these earnings are expected 1o he reinvested indefinitely. The
Cornpany has not calculated the tax effect associated with these
unremitted earnings.

The Company has previously assessed the net present value of the
deferred taxes in the Norwegian Tonnage Tax Regime 1o be irnma-
terial based on the reinvesiment plans and dividend policy of those
companies. In 2003 the Company decided that two subsidiaries
will exit-the Norwegian tonnage tax regime, and the estimated
defarred tax effect of USD 378 million is recognized in 2003,

The Narwegian Cenzral Tax Office (CTO) has not yetfinalized the tax
assessment of PGS Shinping AS and PGS Shipping (I0DM) Lid fibe
latter taxed as CFC in Norway) ior 2002, when the companies wiih-
drew from the Norwegian tonnage tax reagime. The pending issue
is related 1o fair value of the vessels owned by these companies
(10 seismic vessels and the FPSOs Feirojart Varg and Rarniorm
Banff). The Company based such exit on third party valuatons,
while the CTO has raised the issue whether the Company’'s boak
values a1 Decamber 31, 2001, would be more appropriate as basis
for computing the tax effects of the exit. Any increase of exit val-
uas will resuit in an increase of taxable exit gain and a correspon-
ding increase in basis for fuure tax depreciations. The Company
estimates that if the CTO position is upheld, taxes payable for 2002,
without considering mitigating actions, could increase by up to $24
million. The Company believes that its czlculation basis {or exit has
been prepared using acceptable principles and will contest any
adjustment 1o increase taxes payahle.
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(o1 14:] - EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share were calculated as foliows:

Years ended Dacamber 31,

2002 2002 2001
Net income {loss) {in thousands
of dollars) 1818,275)  (1,245,692) 11,284
Basic income {loss} per share (s 40.91) {$ 12.05) 5 0N
Basic shares cutstanding 20,000,000 103,345,987 102,768,283
Diluted shares outsianding 20,000,000 103,345,987 102.788.055

For the year ended Dacember 31, 2003, basic and diduied shares
cutstanging are presenied as 20,600,000, which is equal to the
numbers of sharas issued as part of the restruciusing of the Com-
pany dunng 2003, While a1t the sama tme, all existing shares of
103,345,987 were cancelled.

At Decembar 31, 2003, all prior share-hasedt compensation plans
had heen cancelled, resulting in no difierences hetween basic and
diluted earnings per share, Basic earnings per share and diluted
aarnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2002 wera
equal, since both basic and dilutad earnings per share were calcu-
tated using the weighted average shares cuisianding for the period
since there was no dilutive effect of any equity instrument issued.
The difference between the Company's 200% basic earnings per
share and diluted earnings per share calculations is reconciled as
follows:

» PGS ANNUAL REPORT 2003 » PAGE 49



» NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2003

Incoma available
to sharehoiders  Weighted  Per share

in thousands avelage amouni
For 2001 ) of dollars shares  in doltars
Basic earnings per share 11,284 102,768,283 5 on
Share equivalants - options 19,772
Diluted eamings per share 11,294 102,768,055 T o

1031 KT] - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases: :

The Company has operating lease comimitments expiring at various
dates through 2013. The Company alsa has capital lease commit-
ments for mainly onshore-based equipment, expiring at various
dates through 2008, Future minimum payments related to non-can-
cellable cperating and capiial leases, with lease terms in excess of
one year, existing at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Decembar 31, 2003

Other: , .
The Company has contingent kabilities resuhting from litigation,
other claims and commitments incidental to the ordinary course of
business. Management believes that the probable resolution of
such contingancies will not materially affect the financial position,
resuits of operations or cash flows of the Company.

The Cornpany has an ongeing dialogue with the Norwegian lax
authanties regarding a 1ax clzim related to she Company's employ-
aes in & subsidiary situaied on Isle of Man. The claim concerns pay-
roll taxes and paymeant of pension for seamen for EU citizens
ahoard Norwegian registered ships (M5}, During 2003, the Com-
pany has charged $12.4 milhon 10 expense as unusual items, net,
relating to this claim. The amount was paid as an on account pay-
ment in the fourth quarter of 2003. However, there are still some
uncertainties as o the size of the total ¢laim,

- LOSS CONTRACTS

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had no accrued
losses for cantracts. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had
$8.2 million in accrued losses related to the Ramiform Banff's Banif

Qperating Capital field contract. X

in thousands of dollars) leases ' leases
2004 : 54,507 18,225 - LONG-TERM INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2008 29,336 28,559 Long-term intangible assets consist of the {ollowing:
2006 18,069 - 21,623
2007 16,800 4,882 Dacembaer 31,
2008 16,879 7186 in thousands of dollars) ' 2003 2002
Theteafter 29,742 —

Total ' 165,323 82,445 Patants and royalties - 26
impuled interest 15,236) Ligrnses 1,975 5,857

Net present valug 77208 Total 1,97% 5,883
Curient porion {15,975}

Long-term portion 61,234

Future minimum gayments related 1o non-cancallable operating
{eases reflect $11.0 million and $7.8 million in sublease income for
2004 and 2005, 1espectively, relataed 10 a time-charter of one FRSO
shuttle tanker 10 a third party.

Thne future minimum payments under the Company's operating
teases relate 10 the Company’s operations as follows:

{in thousands of dollars) December 31, 2002

Marine seismic and support vessels 20,319
RS0 shuttle tankers . 77388
Operations computer equipmant 5,760
Buildings 60,2329
Fixlures, furnnure and finings . 1,617

Total 165,323

Rental expensa for operating ieases, including leases with terms of
1255 1than one vear, was 3876 million, $112.9 million and $123.1 mit-
tion for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 ana 2001,
respectively. Remal expense for operating leases for the years
ended Decembar 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 reftects $18.0 million,
3217 million and $13.8 million, respectively, n sub-lease income
related to a time charter of two FRPSO shunle tankers 10 a third
party. i

I
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During 2002, the Company cartied out an impairmant assessment
in accordance with the Norwegian Preliminary Standard cn impair-
rment of fixed assets, and recognized $42.9 million in impairment
of goodwill {excluding goodwill related 10 discontinued operations).
No goodwill existed as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,

The Company expensed amortization on goodwill amounting to
$1.2 miflion and $1.1 million for the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively, white no amortization was expensed
in 2003. Amoriization of goodwill refated w0 discontinued opera-
tians is not included.
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o1 EF ] - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (INCLUSIVE CAPITAL LEASES)

Seismic Production Fixtures,

) vessels- vessels-/ furnitures Buildings/
{In thousapds of doilars) equipmeant equipment and fittings other Total

[
Purchase costs:
Cost per December 31, 2002 1,104,157 1.705,751 52,841 15,681 2,878,430
Agditions 10 costs 20,655 8,74 3.028 267 32,594
Retirements 164.520) (8,852) {4.398) {1,956} (79,726)
Translation adjustimentsfother 511 1 {667) {2,248} 2,403
Caost per December 31, 2003 1,060,703 1,705,644 150,804 11,744 2,828,895
Accumutéted depreciation/
- impairrn'ents: I
Deprer.ialilon per December 31, 2002 507371 306.720 . 39.969 9.866 B63,926
Impairments per December 31, 2002 28,012 296,808 ' - — 324,820
Deprecialf_on 2003 BI630 41,606 5,688 1,227 136,151
Retromants 2003 (58,4861 18,852 1,282 1,924 {73.532)
Impairments 2003 126177 264,930 - 1,200 492,307
Translation adjustmenisfother 1303} - {1,384) 2,186} 3,873
Depreciation per Decembear 31, 2003 536.212 339,174 40,01 6,972 922,670
impairments per Decamber 31, 2003 151,189 863,738 ) —_ 1.200 817327
Batance per December 31, 2003 370,302 704,432 10,793 3,571 1,089.098

When calculating impairments, the carrying values oi assets or
cash generating units are compared 1o their recoverabsle amounts,
defined as the higher of estimated selling price and value in use,
See Note 2 for further description of the accounting principle for
impairments of longlived assets. As seismic vessels and aquip-
ment are not separate cash generating units, such asserts are pre-
sented combinad. As assets on capital leases are also oart of a
combined cash generating unit, capital leases are from the year
ended December 31, 2003, no longer presented separately.

\
Far the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, depreci-
gtion for $13.1 millien, $31.5 million and $30.2 million, respactively,
were capitalized to the multiclient library. Net depreciation
expensg was $123.1 million, $132.8 million and $119.4 million for
the vears ended Decernber 31, 2003, 2002 and 2007, respectively.
interest capitalized into property and equipment was $3.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001, while there for the years
ented December 31, 2003 and 2002, were no such intgrast capi-
talized. .

{
For details of the estimated useful life's for the Company's property
and equipment per December 31, 2003, see Notg 2 for all details.

‘

|

- MULTI-CLIENT LIBRARY

Tha Company adepled new accounting policies for yard stay and
steaming where such expenses previously were deferred and
recognised as part of contract costs or multi-client project costs as
appropriate. Effective January 2003 such costs are no longer
deferred. but expensed as incurred. The Company alsc adopted
changes tec its amortization policy of the multi-client library where
the maximum amortization pesiod for new projecis are reduced
from 8 to 5 years. See Note 2 for further details of these new
accounting policies. Due 1o the complexity of these accounting
changes: prior period financial statemeants have not been restatad
to reflect the impact of these changes.
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The multi-client library allocated by the vear in which the compo-
nents were completed, is summarized as follows:

Net book value
December 21,

{In thousands of dolfars} 2003 2002
Completed surveys:
Completed during 1997 and prior yaars 6,626 20,837
Completed during 1998 20,174 34,168
Completed during 1999 31,989 69,642
Completed during 2000 38.312 98,179
Completed during 2001 144,363 2679892
Completed during 2002 53,527 91,845
Completed during 2003 57768 -
Completed surveys . 352,739 G5B2663
Suiveys in progress 14,961 77720
Multi-client library 367700 660,383

Based on the current market conditions and the astimated fulure
casi flows for the individi:al multi-chent projects, the Company rec-
ognized $241.5 million, $268.4 million and $13.2 million for the
vears ended Decemper 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in
imgairment charges related 10 the mulu-cliens library,

Amortization expense was $155.6 million, $212.9 million and
$195.4 million for the years ended December 37, 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. Amoriization expense for the years ended
Decembier 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included $4.0 miliicn, $39.8
rmillion and $39.71 miilion, respectively in charges required under the
Company’'s minimum amortization policy for the mutti-client library
isee Note 2).

The application of the Cormpany's minimum amortizaton require-
ments 10 the components of the existing mutti<client library is sum-
marized as {oilows:
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t

Dacember 31, 2003
Minimum future amortization

{In thousand of dol‘lars]

1

During 2004 . 40,020
During 2005 ' 118,427
Cuning 2006 l - 123,694
During 2007 53,1432
During 2008 , 32,416

Future minimum amortization 367,700

These minimum amortization requirements are calculated as if
there will be no future sales of these compeonents. The Company
beliaves that the likelihood of incurring these minimum zmortiza-
ion amounis is remote because amortization generated by multi-
client sales in the ordinary course of business is expecied to sub-
stantially reduce the book value of the multi-chent libwary.

Because the minimum amortization requirements apply to the
multi-client library on a component by component basis rather than
in the aggregata, the Company may incur minimum amortization
charges in a year even if the aggregate amount of ordinary amorti-
zation charges recognized exceads the aggregate minimun amor-
tization charges,,

1
Interest capitalized into the mutticlient library was $2.7 million,
$5.6 million and $15.9 million {or the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

!
- OIL AND GAS ASSETS

The Company's oil and gas assets consist of the Cormpany’s nvest-
mentin 70% of t:he producing license 038, which includes the Varg-
fiaid on the Norwegian continental shelf of the Norih Sea. The cap-
italized value is as follows:

December 31, 2003

iln thousands of dollars) 2003 2002
Net book-value beginning of year 17,324 -
Qil and gas assats at start-up in August 2002 - 11.085
Effect of accounting principle chiange, January 1, 2003 (3,393) -
Capilzl expenditures, cash and accrued 44,802 8,239
Produced, but not defivered oil (a) {3,382 3.382
Depraciation, depletion and amortization (24,773 15,381}
Total 30.678 17,324

fa) Reclassified w0 other curremt assels in 2003.

I
(UYL - OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other tinancial assets consists of:

y

\ Deecember 31, 2003

{in thousands of dollars) 2003 2002
!

Deferred debi issue cosis 2.755 14,818

Oiher long-term réceivables 26,768 11,536

Total 26,353

‘ 29,523
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[NBARE] - RECEIVABLES |

The Comgpanv has racorded allowances for doubtful accounts of
$3.5 million and $3.9 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The Company has recorded $50.0 million and $478
rnillion of unbilled receivabies at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
raspectively: ihesa receivables relate 10 revenue that has been rec-
ogznized but is not yet biltable under the specific broker or customer
agrearents. Of these unbilled receivables, $9.7 million and $6.6
million wera nat long-term recaivables a1 December 33, 2003 and
2002, respectivety.

H\[s11FE] - OTHER CURRENT ASSETS AND ACCRUED
EXPENSES :

Other current assets, net at December 31, 2003 and 2002, include

$18.7 million and $22.5 million, respectively, in prepaid cperating

expenses.

Accrued expenses at December 31, 2003 include $15.0 million in
customar advances and deferred ravenue, $22.7 million in accrued
bid bonds relating to the debt restructuring cash sweep, as well as
£25.6 million in accrued vessel operating costs. Accrued expensas
at December 31, 2002, inclutie: $44.6 miilicn in accrued interest
expense, $30.8 million in customer advances and deferred revenue
and $24.3 millign in vessel operating Costs.

- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company’s bank balances included amounts restricted for pay-
ments of gmployee withholding taxes and other purposes aggre-
gating $4.0 million and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, respactively. In addition $22.7 million in bid bonds restricted
1o tha restructuring cash sweep, $4.6 million in other gperating bid
honds and $18.1 million in varicus other restricted cash as of
December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2002, resincted cash
was $16.4 million relating 1o the multi-client tibrary securitization
and other restricted cash.

- SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

As of December 31, 2003, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA had a share
capital of NQK 800 million divided on & total of 20,000,000 shares,
of par vaiue NOK 30, each fully paid in, All shares have equal voting
rights and are entitled to dividends. Any distribution of the Com-
pany’'s equity is dependent on the approval of the shareholders, but
the possibilities for dividends aré limited by certain debi covenants
{see Note 25).
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The 20 largest shareholders in Petroleum
as follows:

res and ADS owned or controlled by mempbers of the Board of
iewtors, Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers
rgfas follows: .

Daecember 31, 2003

Jotal DOwwnership
shares nercent

Ciiibank N.A. holder of American Depositary
Shatas {“ADS") (nominee} (a) 4,505,187 225 Board of Directors:
Cribank N.A. inominee} 2,733,167 13.7 Jens Ulltveit-Moe, Chairman 1,912,444 9.6
Umoe Invest AS {b) : 1,912,444 9.6 Francis Gugen - -
Eurpciaar Bank S.A. (ngminee) 877270 A4 Anthony Trinoto - -
Goldman Sachs & Co {nominea) 872,225 A4 Keith Henry - -
Bank o Mew York 842,659 4.7 Harald Norvik — —
JP Morgan Chase Bank inominga) 782.233 3.9 Roll Enk Roltsen —_— -—
Dautche Eank AG 752,425 3B Clare Spoitisweode ) - -
Bank oi New York 719.101 36 Mananne Johinsen (Depuiy board mambern) - -
Bear Sigans Secuniues maminga) 709,127 3£ Jabn Reyaoids (Oeputy boaret mambern) - -
State Streel Bank: & Fust Co (nominae 550,160 73 ‘
Credint Suisse 109,629 20 Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers:
torgan Staniey & Co {nomines) 338.318 17 Svein Rennarmo, Chiel Excoutive Qfficer — —
Compagnie Generaia 285,032 14 Knut Ovarsioen - — -
Bank of New York {nonunge)} 288,203 13 Sverre Suandengs . - -
JP Morgan Chase Bank 265,203 13 Andreas Enger - -
Bear Stearns Securities Incminee) 255,078 13 Anthony Ross Mackewn 76 0.0
UBS Secbri[ies LLC inominae) 232,053 12 Eric Wersich - -
Goldman'Sachs (nominee) 231,903 12 Erik Haugane . - -
JP Morgan Chase Bank 186.000 09 Helge Kraift 55 0.0
Other shareholders 2,261,552 1.3 Goutfred Langseih, appointed January 1. 2004 - -

Total | 20,000,000 100.0 Sverre Skogen, appointad January 12, 2004 — -

{a) On the basis of existing depository agreemaents regarding owners of
the ADS's, the table above does not shaw the benalicial owner of
shares. '

{2 Includ1e5 15,053 ADS's.

[l F7] - SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION .

'n connection with the restructuring of the Commpany in 2003, all shares in the Company were cancetled (see Note 25 for additional infor-
mation). This lead 10 the cancellation of all agreernents on share options, and no new agreements have heen established since the resiruc-
turing.” .

A sumniary of the status of the Company’s share-hased compensation plans as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, and changes dur-
ing the years then ended, is surnrarized as follows:

Decamnber 31, 2002 Decemnba 33, 2002 Docember 31. 2001
Waighted Weighted Wesghted

average averane average

exercise exarcise exarcise

{In thous?nds of options} Options plge Qptions price Options price

Quistanding at beginning of year 19735 135 NOK 8,635.4 142 NOK 10,690.8 135 NOK
Granted - - - - 120.0 103 NOK
Exercised - - - - 198.0) 75 NOK
Forfeited/cancelled {4,973.5) 1356 NOK {3,661.9} 151 NOK 2.0774) 108 NOK
Outstanding at end of year - - 497358 135 NOK 8,635.4 142 NOK
Weighted average fair value of options granted during year - ] ae 44 NOK
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L'le3fFx) - OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Other long-term liabilities consist of tha following

December 31,

{in thousands of déllars) 2003 2002
Agcrued pension costs 26,254 16,249
Accrued abandonment and plugging costs 49,303 33,661
Other {a) ' 1,191 3.993

Total . 76,748 53,903

{a} Includes payroll 1ax on certain pension lighilities

- SHORT-TERM DEBT AND CURRENT PORTION
OF LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASE
OBLIGATIONS

Shori-term debt and current partion of lang-term debt and capital lease

obligations consist of the foliowing

December 31,
tln thousands of dollars) 2003 2002
Revolving bank credit facility {a) — 430,000
Bank credit facility - a8
Hank vredit tacility {a} — 260,000
Currgnt poroon of long-ierm dett (see Note 25) 18,512 261,058
Currant porion of capital leases (see Note 10) 15,975 18,444

Total : 34,487 959,550

1t Unsecured dabt, cancelled as part of the restruciuring in 2003,

- FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING AND DEBT
Financial restructuring:

On July 29, 2003, the Company voluntarily fited a petition for pro-
ection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The
filing was based on a financial restructuring plan that was pre-
approved by a majority of banks and hongdholders as well as a group

'

of PGS’ largest shargholders. PGS ererged from Chapter 11 Noven-
ber 5, 2003, just 100 days aftar filng.

in accordance with the plan of reorganization, $2,140 million of PGS’
senior unsecured deht was cancelled and the associated creditors
received the following:

¢ $746 inillicn of 7-y2ar10% samor unsecured notes

» 3260 million of 3-year 8% senior unsecured notes

» 34 8 million of §-year unsecured senior term loan facility twhich
was Tully paid in May 2004)

* 91% of PGS’ new ordinary shares as constitutad immediately pos:
restructuring, with an immediate reduction of this shareholding o
61% in a rights offering of 30% of the new ordinary shares 1o the
pre-restructuring shareholders for $85 million or $14.17 per share

* 340.6 million of cash distributed by PGS, ot which $179 million was
distributed in December 2003 and the remainder in May 2004.

In accordance with the plan, the existing share capital, consisting of
103,345,887 shares, par value NOK B, was cancelled and 20,000,000
new ordinary shares, par value NOK 30, were issued. The pre-
restructuring shareholders received 4% or 800,000 of the new ordi-
nary shares {one new share per 129 ¢ld shares}, as well as the right
10 acguire 30% or 6,000,000 of the new ordinary shares {one share
per 23 old shares). for $85 million {$14.17 per share) in the rights
offering.

Cwners of $144 million of trust preferred securities received 5% or
1,000,000 cf tha new ordinary shares.

Interast bearing debi of tha Company post restructuring was 51,189
mullian, & reduction of $1,283 million,

The financial restruciuring invelved only the parent company and did
not involve operaiing subsidiaries, which continued full operations,
leaving customers, lessors, vendors, employees and subsidiary crec-
itors unaffected.

Long-Term Debt (exciuding bank credit facilities):
Long-term debt, excluding bank credit {acilities, consists of the fol-
lowing: .

Year-and Year-end
weighied average December winghled average December

{In thousands of dollars) interest rale 31, 2003 INtergst rate a1, 2002
Bank loans / public notes:

Secured ! 78% 111,106 B2 % 108,466

Unsecured 9.5% 1,000,761 "% 1,455,729
Other loans:

Secured ! 3.3% 5.306 3.9% 7188

Tatol debt | 1, 1172173 . 1.571,383
Current portion 118.512) {261.088)

Long-term portion of debt 1,098,661 . 1,310,325
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The Company's long-terin debrt is due for repaymant as follows:

December 31,

{In thousands of dollars) 2003
2004 18.512
2005 19.381
2006 263,586
2007 13,255
2008 1 14,394
Theseafter 788,045
Total 1112173

In May 2004, ihe Company repaid the unsecurad senior term loan
of $4.8 million, which had an original final term in 2011,

Bank Credit Facilities:

In March 2002 the Cormpany eniered into a secured $110.0 million
credit facility consisting of a $70.0 mitlion revolving credit facihty
and a 340.0 million letter of credit facility. The Company can borrow
US Dollars under the revolving credit facility for working capital and
general corporate purposes, and the letier of credit facility can be
utilizad in multi-currencies to obtain leners of credit to secure,
armang other things, performance and Lid bonds required in she
Company's ongoing business. The credit faciiity matures in March
2008 and is secured by certain assets of the Company. The inter-
est rate associated with the credit facility is LIBOR plus 2%. Al
December 31, 2002, the Company had a $430.0 millicn, fully
drawn, revolving credit facility as well as a $250.0 million bank
credit facility, which were both cancelled as pari of the restructur-
ing of the Company during 2003.

Short-Term Debt:

The Company draws short-term debt with various international
banks based on shori-term working capital reguirements, No such
borrowings weare made in 2003 and currently the Company does
not have any such borrowing facilities. No short-tarm debt were
outstanding at Decernber 31, 2002, and the average and maximum
short-term debt balances for the year ended December 31, 2002
were $8,7 million and $40.0 million, respectively. The asscaigted
weighted average interest rates for the year ended Decamber 31,
2002 was 2.7%.

Covenants:

In addition 10 customary representations and warranties, ceriain of
the Company’s debt agreements contain covenants restncting the
Company from incurfing debt unlgss certain coverage rauos are
met and limiting Cornpany financial indebtedness, excluding proj-
ect dabt, to $1.5 bilien. These debt agreements alsc restrict,
amang other things: payment ot dividends; ahility to place liens on
Company assets; the amount of subsidiary {inangial indebtedness;
salefleaseback transactions; investments in project companies;
investment in multi-client library: and asset dispositions. Specifi-
cally, certain financing agreements do not allow the Company to
pay dividends or make similar distribution until the $250 million 8%
senior notes, due 2006, are repaid.

Certain of the Company’s loan and lease agreemants and senicr
note indénture contain reguiremenis 1o provide audited U.S. GAAP
financial statements by June 30 of each yaar and ¢ provide unau-
dited U.S. GAAP quarterly iinancial statements within a specified
period {ypically 60 days) atter the end of each of the first three
quarters, The Company has received waivers and amendments
allowing it 1o repory, under N GAAP in lieu of U.S. GAAP until June
30, 2005.
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Pledged Assets:

Certain seismic vassels and related equipment carrying a hoox
value o $60.6 million and $106.0 million at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively, are pledgead as security on certain of the Com-
pany's indebiedness, as described ahove,

Letter of Credit and Guarantees:

The Company had aggregate outstanding letters of credit ang
related types of guarantees, not reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, of $31.0 million and $9.5 million
at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respactivaly.

- DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
RISK MANAGEMENT

The finarce depariment of Peirolaum Geo-Services ASA is respon-

sibte for cash management, financial managemen: and manage-

rment of financial risk for the parent holding company and sub-

sicliaries included in the consolidated group.

Notional Amounts and Credit Exposure of Derivative Finan-
cial Instruments: ’

Accounting for financial instruments follow the underlying intention
of the contract. The contract is defined either as a hedge or as held-
for-sale upon entering into the contract. Periodically, the Company
makas use of such financiat instrurnents in order 1o hedge against
foreign currency exchange risks, but they are not used for specula-
tive purposes.

The notional amounts of the denivative fimancial instrumenis sum-
rnatized below do not reflect the values exchanged by the parties
and, therefore, are not a measure of the Company’s exposure. The
amounts ultimately exchanged are calculated cn ihe basis of the
notional amounis and the other terms of the respactive derivative
financial instruments.

Receivables Credit Risk:

The Company extends credit to various companies in the oil and
gas industry worldwide, which may be affected by changes in eco-
nomic or other external conditions. At December 31, 2003 and
2002, accounts receivable (hoth current and long-term} were pri-
miarily from multi-national imegrated oil companies and independ-
ent oil and gas cornpanias, including companies ownad in whole or
in part by foreign governments. The Company manages its expo-
sure to credit risk through ongoing credit evaluations of its cus-
tomers and has provitded for potental credit losses through an
allowanrce for doustiul accounts. Managerment does not believe
that the Company is e~posed (o concentrations of credit risk that
are hkely 10 have a matenal advarse umnpact on the Company's finan-
cial position or results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk Management:

The Company periodically enters into torward exchange contracis
and opticn contracts to hedge against foreign currency exchange
risks associated with certain firm cemmitments and transactions
related to property and equipment. The Company i3 most sensitive
1o changes in the Norwegian kroner to US dollar exchange rates.
There were no foreign currency exchange contracis outsianding at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, At December 31, 2001, the Com-
pany had approximately $15.0 million of notional forward foreign
cuirency exchange contracis outstanding 1o hedge short-term Nor-
wegian kroner and US doftar transactions. Also a1 December 31,
2001, the Company had approximataly $17.2 million of notionat fo:-
ward foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding 1o hedge
US dollar and Brunei dollar wwansaciions during 2002; these con-
tracts had an aggregate fair value of approximately 50.8 million.
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During 1998 ang 1999, the Cornpany antered into forward foreign
currency exchange contracts known as tax equalization swaps
I'TES™) related 1o the tax effect of changes in the NOK/USS
axchange rate pertaining to its senior unsecured notas and its mert-
gage notes. In 2002, the Company terminated all outstanding TES
contracts and received $21.0 million from the counter party as the
termination setttement, The TES contracts provided for interim set-
tlemants between the Company and the counter party each
Decermber 30. A1 December 21, 2001, the Company's interim set-
dement position was an $11.4 million liability {which was paid dur-
ing 2002), and the Company carried an additional liabitity of $32.5
miflion to reflect the fair vatue of the contracts. The Company paid
565.2 mithon during 2001 as the interim settlement for 2000,
Resulis of oparations for the years endec December 31, 2002 and
2001 included $54.1 million ang ($18.0) million, respectively, of fair
valug income {expense) {recognized in other gain {oss), net) for
zhase contracts, and direct tax iprovision} benefit of (S15.2) million
and $5.0 million, respectively.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments: _

The carrying arnounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, other current assets, accounts payable and accrued
expenses and other current kiabilities approximate their respective
iair values because of the short maturities of these instruments.
The carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of the Com-
pany’s long-term financial instruments are summatized as follows:

Decamber 31,

5 2003 2002
Carrying Fair Carrving Fain
il thousands of dollars)  amounts valyes Amounis values
Dabn ‘ L7173 1,174,987 2,251,431 1,039,398
Trust preferred securities - - 142,322 7644

The carrying amounts of the indebtedness under Company's bank
credit facilities approximate their fair values. The fair values of the
Company’s other long-term debt instruments and trust preferred
securities are estimated using guotes obtained from dealers in
such financial instruments.
Interest Rate Exposure:
The Company is exposed 10 interest rate risk dug 1o maney market
activities relating to investments and cash flows, Changes in inter-
asirates can also affect tha fair valuas of assets and liabilities, Inter-
est income (expense), including actual interest payments, are
atfected by changes in interest rates. The majority of the Company’s
susiness activities are conductad in USD, GBP and NOK. This gives
rise 10 interest rate exposure in these currencies. As at December
31, 2003, the majority of the loans were ¢enominated in USD, and
approximarely 90% of these lcans had a fixed rate of interest.

I
The Cornpanry engages from time-to-time in interast rale activities.
As at December 31, 2003, 1he Company had outstanding inierest
swap agieements in the agg:egaté notignal amount of $174 sl
sion, which do not quality icr hedge accounting. The market value
of these agreements ware approvmaigly {($1,2) mitlion.

Foreign Exchange Exposure:

The reporting currency applied 10 the consolidated accounts 1S
USD, and the Company also applies this currency for internal
reporting of key performance indicators.

The Company's hetincome (lossyis affected by changes in exchange

cates, as profits and losses reported by subsidiaries which do not
use USD as the functional currency, are translated to USD using an

+ PGS ANNUAL REPORT 2003 » PAGE 56

average ra1e of exchange for the period. The significant loans and
assels held within the Company are denominated in USD.

The Company's cash flows are denominaied primarily in USD, NOK
and GBF The Company generally attempis 10 minimize net cash
flow exposure in these currencies through business transactions
and currency hedging instrumenis. At times, a significant currency
risk can exist based on fluctuations in exchange rates osetween
USD, NOK and GBP.

The Company did not have any currency hedging instruments as of
Decernher 31, 2003.

Forward contracts:

From time to time the Company may sell up to a defined portion of
its oil production on iorward contracis. At December 31, 2003, no
such forward sales existed.

- RETIREMENT PLAN :

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans for substan-
tially ail of its Norwegian and UK empioyees, with eligibility deter-
mined by certain period-of-service requirements. These plans are
generally funded through contributions 10 insurance companies. It
is the Company's general practice to fund amounts io thase
defined henefit plans, which are sufficient 1o meet the applicable
staiuiory requirements, Per December 31, 2003, 1,122 ernployees
were part of these plans.

Recanciliation of the plans’ agyregate projecied benefit obligations
and far values of asseis are summarized as follows:

Change in projected benafit obligations:

Decamber 31,

{In thousands of dollars) 2003 2002

Projectad bonefit ohligations at beginning of year 72,310 46,111

Adjusted at beginning of yaai 6.820 -
Servica cost 8,792 8,103
interast cost 4,454 3,108
Employes contributions 1.0 1,503
*avi Ol tax 1.434 —
Actuarial igain! loss. nel {3,204) B4
Benefits paid (1.678) 2,022
Exchange rate efiects 3,047 16,443

Projected banefit obligations at end of year 93,008 72,310

Change in plan assets:

Dgcember 31,

{n theusands of dollars) . 2003 2002
Fan value of plan assats al begmnmg of vear 48,144 34,67
Arjesimient at baginning of vear 530 -
Return on plan assets 3,796 3.439
Emnloyd contribuions B.728 10,202
Emiployee conisibutons 1,021 3,503
amendments - 119,262)
Benefus pad {1,676 2,022)
Exchange raie eflecis {2221) 10.713
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 53,332 48.144

The aggregate funded siatus of the plans and amounts recognized
in the Company's balance sheets are summarized as follows:

gl
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Dacamber 31,

{in thousands of dollars} 2003 2002

Funded status 39.677 {24,166}
Unrecognized actuarial loss 15,494 15,226
Unrecognized prior service cost 23 25
Unreccgnized wansiiion obligation ' 170 154
Net amount recognized as accrued
pension liability {23,990) {8,761}

The weighted averaye discount rate used was 6% for the years
endad December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. The weighted average
enpected return on plan assels was 7% for the vear ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003, and 8% {or each of the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2003, The weighted average rate of benafiis increase was
3% for the year ended Cecember 31, 2003, ant 4% o the vears
ended Dlecember 31, 2002 and 2001

The aggregate net periadic pension cost for the Company's defined
benefit p'ension plans is summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,

{In thousand of dollars) 2003 2002 2000
Service césl 8,792 8,103 7818
interest cost 4,454 3,108 2,693
Expected rewrn on plan assets {3,796) 13.439 (2.591}
Amortization of actuarial loss 2,142 86 28
Ammortization of prior service cost 3 2
Amortization of tansition ogligaton 20 s 14
Payrolt 184 1,492 — -
Net perodic pension cost 13,107 7.875 7963

Substantially 2l employees not eligible for coverage under the
defined benefit plang are eligible to participate in pension plans in
accordance with lecal industrial, tax and social reguiations, All of
these plans are considered defined contribution plans, Under the
Company’s US defined contribution plan, essentially all US employ-
ees are aligible to participate upon complation of certain period-of-
service requirameants. The plan allows eligible employees to con-
tribute up o 156% of compeansation, subject to IRS and plan limita-
ticns, on a pre-tax basis, Employee pre-tax contributions are
matchedl by the Cormpany up t0 6% of compensation, with a 2003
stautory employee contribution cap of $12,000. All contributions
vest when made. The annual emplayer matching contribution rec-
ognized by the Company related 1o the plan was $1.4 million for
2003 and $1.2 million for each of the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001, Contributions 1o the plan by employees for these
periods were $3.3 milion, £3.8 miliion and $3.7 million, respec-
tively, Aggregate employer and employee contributions under the
Company’s other plans for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 totalled $1.4 miflion and £0.4 miliion {2003), $7.4 rmil-
lion and $3.0 million (2002) and $4.9 million and $2.7 million {2001).

([s1§F2:] - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company owned 50%
of the shares in Gec Explorer AS and had chartered a vassel from
that company during these years. The Company also held 50% of
the shares in Walther Herwig AS until December 11, 2003, where-
after the ownership was increased 10 100% due to a de-merger,
and chartered three vessels from that company in 2003, 2002 and
2001. Toiat lease expense recognized by the Company for 2003,
2002 angd 2001 on these vassels was $74 million, $8.8 million and
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$9.2 millisn; respectively. There are no ramaining laase commit-
menis related to these investees as of December 31, 2003.

At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Comgpany held 50% of
the shares in Calibre Seismic Company {{CSC"), ane of the conw
panies through which the Company markets its seismic data, The
Company had $0.0 mitlion, $3.8 million and $6.7 million in invest-
ment in CSC at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
representing Company-funded ¢osts of seismic data acquisition
projects performed for CSC from 1991 to 1995.

As of December 31, 2003, the Chairman of the Beard, Jens Ulltveit-
Moe, contiched a iotal of 1,912,444 shares in Peuoleumn Geo-Ser-
wices ASA. Jens Ulliveii-Moe is alse the Chairman of Unitor ASA, &
company inat from time (o ume provides the Company with shins
equipment. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
the Company hired a consultant from Umoe Invest AS, whom from
2004 became an employee of the Company.

Mol F4] - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the year includes payments {or:

Years ended Decernber 31,

fin thousands of dollars) 2003 2002 2001
interest, net of capitalized interest 1376332 104,664 126,706
Interest on trust preierrad securities /

mutu-clignt library securitization 544 12,566 19.210
Incame taxes 12,096 15,938 1,257

The Company entered into capital lease agraements for new equip-
ment aggregating $0.6 million, $574 million and $41.8 million during
the years ended Dacember 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

- SALARIES AND OTHER PERSONNEL COSTS,
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, AND REMUNER-
ATIONTO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

Salary and social expenses that are included in cost of sales and

selling, general and administrative costs and unusual items (sever-

ance), excluding such cosis relating 1o discontinued operations

consist of:

Years ended December 31,

iy thousend of dollars) 2003 2002 200
Salaries 187285 165,039 148,922
Social security 19,844 1731 14,039
Pension 15,77 9,657 9,194
Qther hbenelits 36,210 62.160 50,836
Total 259,123 244,167 223,291

In addition, the Company expensed salaries and other personnel
costs related w discontinued operations of $1.8 million, $131.1 mil-
lion and $129.5 million far the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. As further described in Noie 10 and
Note 31, during 20032 the Company expensed $12.4 million relating
10 a payroll tax claim for employees working in a subsidiary on lise
of Man, which cost is not included in the table presented above.
The Company had an average of 3,690 employees in 2003. Aver-
age aumber of employees for 2002 and 2001 were 4,572 and 4,648,
respectively.
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Compensation to the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) and
other Executive Officers:

There have been certain changes among the Company's gxeculive
officers during 2003. As of Clecember 31, 2003, cur executive ofi-
cers were Svein Rennemc (CEO), Knut Bversipen (CFO). Sverre
Strandenes, Andreas £Enger, Anthony Ross Mackewn, EricWersich,
Erik Haugane and Helge Krafft. Gotifred Langseth replaced Knut
Oversjcen as CFO January 1, 2004. Sverre Skogen replaced Helge
Krafit as of January 12, 2004.

CEQ Svein Rennemo received salaries NOK 3,290,443 (approxi-
mately $464,391) and bonus of NOK 650,000 {approximately
$91,737), the latter relating 10 the successful financial restructuring
of the Company in 2003. In addition, Svein Rennemo received
oiher benefits of NOK 156,527 (approximately $22,091), giving a
gross total of NOK 4,096,970 {approximately $578,219) in 2003.
Svein Rennamo also received a performance bonus of NOK
650,000 {approximaiely $93.021) paid in May 2004, and a subst-
wition of an option scheme in Svein Rennemo's emptoyment agree-
ment that was never implemented, paid in June 2004 for NOK
650,000 {approximately $94,683) that must be used o buy PGS
shares at markel‘price and held for 2 minimum of three years. Svein
Rennemo is no$ entitled 10 any pension henefits for which he
raceives an annual compensation of NOK 256,000 (approximately
$35.283), which'is included in the salary for 2003.

The CEQ does not have any shares or share options in the Com-
pany as of December 31, 2003. Svein Rennemo has a mutual 12-
mnonth period of notice, with a deduciion ior other income, excent
capital income. During the period of notice. the CEQ does not have
the opportunity 10 seek employment with companies that are in
direct or indirect cornpartition with PGS, The comract can be termi-
nated without netice if Svein Rennemg fails 1o fullil his contraciual
obligations. The other executive officers have similar provisions in
their employment terms.

Aggregated payments 10 other axecutive officars for work carried
out in their respective periods for the year ended Dacember 31,
2003, was $2,338,338, including paid out bonuses for 2003, The
aggoregate benefits paid in to the various defined benefit plans for
these executive ‘officers as a group for 2003 was $366,657 As of
December 31, 2003, executive officers owned a total of 131 shares
{see Note 21 forladditional information). None of the executiva offi-
cers held any sh‘are options in the Company. The other executives
officars hold employee agreements where period of notice vary
{from three to eighteen months.

fFor 2004 the Board of Direstors has established a new perform-
ance bonus incentive scheme for the CEC and executive officars.
Under this scheme the CEQ is entitled to a cash honus maximized
10 50% of base;salary and a share purchase bonus maximized to
30% of base salary. Executive officers are entitled to a cash bonus
maxinyized 1© 40% of base salary and a share purchase benus max-
imized tc 20% of base salary. Within these limits, honus will he
finally detarmined on the basis of achigvernant and overachieve-
ment of financial and non-iinancial pertormance targets. 100% of
any amount recaived as share purchase Honus, on a pre 1ax basis,
musi be used 1o buy PGS shares at market price and held for a min-
imum of three y!ears.

1
Compensation to Board of Directors:
For the year ended December 31, 2003, the aggregate amount paid
for compensation to the directors as a group, for seirvices in all
capacities was $111,139, and concemed entirely directorship in
2002. In addition, the Company paid $285.000 as a final settlement
of a deferred pehsion liability in favour of a former director,
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As of Dezember 31, 20032, the total number of shares and ADS's
benahaaiy hald by directors, were 1,912,444, and none of the
directors held eny share aptions in the Company (see Note 21 for
acicinional information), i

Remuneration to auditor:

Fees for audit and other service$ provided by the Cornpany’s audi-
tor are as follows lexclusive VAT and including out of pocket
expenses): .

Years ended Decearnber 31,

{In thousands of dollars) 2003 2002
Audit fees fal ' 2,321 1,248
Audit Tges relating 1o US GAAP only {b) 5.866 —
Audit refaied fees (© g3 750
Tax fees () 182 51
Qther fees {e) . 541 5240

Total 9,003 2,589

{a} Fees presented are total fees incurred relaied to audit of the financial
statemants funtil May 31, 2004},

th} The fees include fees incurred in 2003/2004 (untii May 31, 2004) for
audits of prior periods of $4.0 million and for iresh start audit under US
GAAP of $1.9 mitlion. '

{e1 Zueliverelatad tees include f2es ingurred in connection wish re-audit,
agread upon praoceduras and other atiestalion servicas,

{th Tax Tnas nclude fees incurrad for tax filing and compliance and 1ax
planning and reorGanisanon.

{e) &ll ather fees inchudes foes for assistance n connection with restrue-
mnng, retinancing and dug-aitigenie periormed by banks.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, the agyregaie audit fees were
$1.1 million and other services $0.4 million, a total of $1.5 million.

- IMPAIRMENTS OF LONG-TERM ASSETS AND
OTHER UNUSUAL ITEMS

As discussed in Note 1, in 2003 the Company made a full valuation

of ali its long-term assets and imgaired assets down to their esti-

mated recoverable amounts.

impairment of long-tarm assets consist of the following

, Years ended December 31,
{In thousands of dollars) 2003 2002 2001

Impairment of multi-client library

{sea Nate 15) (241,481} (268.403) (13.155}

impairment of nroduction related

property and equipment {saa Note 14) (3670211 {425,214) -

imparnient of seismic vessels, ‘

equipmeant snd other geophysical

assels (see Notn 14) 129,084}  156,169) -

‘rmpan ment of licanses (2,090 — -

Impairment of Building leasehold

nprovements

Impan e of investments o aithated

compinies {see Note 5 — {14,724) -

Impairment of gocdwill {see Note 13} —  |42,B86) —
Total {740,876) (807416) (13,155)

£1,200] - -
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Unusual items, net consists of the foliowing:

Years ended December 37,

{lnn thousands cf dollars] 2003 2002 200

Sale of subsidiary {Data Management} - « 138,602

Net gain felated to cancelled mearger

wath Veritas DGC Inc - 2.864 -

Isle of Man, nationaf insurance lisbilty nza123) -— -

Cosis relaung Lo re-audit 2007 and 2002

U.S. GAAP accounts (2,559 - -

Dabi resisucluringv’fo!imn:ing.f"lresn slart” {42,274 13,6161 -

Resiructuring, termunation costs and

olner NON-recurtng Costs {20,840y 012,901} (1E90):

Other, nat — {1,780 -
Total {78,085} (15,434) 118,701

o) 3y - UK LEASES

The Company enterad into certain lease structures from 1996 o
1698 relating to Ramforms Challenger, Valiant, Viking, Victory and
Vanguard, Petrojarl Foinaven; and production eguipment of the
Ramform Banff. The Company paid funds 1o large international
banks {the “Payment Banks”), and in exchange, the Payment
Banks assumed liabifity for making rental payments required under
the leases (the “Defeased Rental Paymenis”) and the lessors
legally released the Company as primary obligor of such rental pay-
ments. Accordingly, the Company has ngt recorded any capial
lease obligations or refated ciefeasance funds on its consolidated
balance sheets with respect to these leases.

The Defeased Renmtal Payments are based on assumed Sterling
LIBCOR rates of between 8% and 9% (the “Assumed Interest
Rates”) I acwal interest rates are greater than the Assumed Inter-
est Rataes, the Company receives rental rebates. Conversaly, if
actual interest rates aie less than the Assumed Interest Rates, the
Company is required 1o pay rentals in excass of the Defeasad Rental
Payrnents [the “Additional Required Rental Payments™), Currenily,
interest rates are below the Assumed Interest Rates. and basedi on
forward market rates for Sterling LIBOR, a3 of December31, 2002
the net present valug of Additional Required Rental Paymienis
aggregated GBP 28.5 million fapproximatety $50.5 million, using an
8% discount rate. The Additional Required Rental Payments are
reflected in other gain {loss), net as they are incurred and paid. This
treatment is being re-examined as part of the U.S. GAAP 2002 and
2003 augits and 2001 U.S, GAAP re-audit, Any changs under U.S,
GAAP m‘av also change the Norwegian GAAP presentation,

'
(i [s)1 $xJ - SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
The ownarship percentage in subsidiaries and affiliated companies
as of December 31, 2003, are as follows:

+

Shareholding

Company, Jurisdiction  and voung nghts
PGS Shipping AS Norway 100%
Oslo Seismic Services Lid. Iste of Man 100%
PGS Geophysical AS Norway 100%
PGS Production AS Norway 100%
PGS Reservor Consultams AS Norway 100%
Mulitklient invest AS Norvay 100%
Portra AS Norway 100%
Petroieurn Gao-Services, inc. usa 100%
Petrcleum Geo-Services (UK Lid Uniled Kingdom  100%

84

Shareholding
Company Jurisdiction and voting rights
Sea;wuse Insurance Ltd. Bermuda 100%
PGS Mexicana SA da CV Mexico 100%
PGS Rio Bonito Brazil 99%
PGS Administracion y Servicios, S.A. de CV Mexico 100%
Datmornefiegeotizika PGS AS Notway 49%
Walther Herwig AS Norway 100%
Goo Explorer AS Norway 50%
Shanghai Tensor CNOOC Genphvsical Lid. United Kingdorm  50%
Baro Mebaniske Veri sted A5 MNorway 109%
Calbire Seistic Company UsSA 50%
PGS Capaal, Inc. Usa 100%
Diarmond Geophysical Serwces Company usa 100%
PGS Exploration (Migena) Lid. Nigeria 100%
PGS Data Processing Middie East SAE Egypt 100%
PGS Data Processing Inc. UsA 100%
Patroleun Gee-Services Asia Paciiic Pte. Lid.  Singapore 100%
PGS Australia Py. Lid. Ausiralia 100%
Atlantis (UK) Ltd, United Kingdom  100%
UNACO AB Sweden 100%
Hara Skip AS Norway 100%
PGS Exploration SDN BHD Malaysia 100%
PGS Exploration. Inc. usa : 100%
PGSIExploration Pty. Lid. Ausiralia 100%,
PGS Ocean Botlom Seismic, Inc. Usa 100%
PGS Exploration (UK) Lid. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Fleating Production (UK} L. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Pension Trustee Ltd. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Reservoir Consultants (UK) Ltd. United Kingdom  100%
Atlantic Explorer Lid, 15le of Man 50%
Osto Seismic Services Inc, . USA 100%
Osto Explorer Ple. Isle of Man 100%
Qslo Challenger Plc. Isle of Man 100%
PGS Shipping (1sle of Man) Lid. isle of Man 100%
PGS Onshore, Ing. LISA 100%
PGS Amencas, Inc. USA 100%
Saisnue Enaigy Holding, Inc, LUSA 100%
PGS Caspan AS Norway 100%
PGS Muln Client Seasmic Lid. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Maring Seivicas (Isie of Man) Lid. Isle of Man 100%
Golar-Nor Ofishore AS Norwiy 00%
Golar-Nor Ofishare UK) L. United Kingdom  100%
K/S Petrajarl | AS Narvvay 98,5%
GolarNor (UK Lid. United Kingdom  100%
Deep Guif LLC USA 50,1%
PGS Nopec (UK} Ltd. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Nominees Lid. United Kingdom  100%
Petrojarl 4 DA Naorvvay 99,25%
SOH, Ing, Usa 100%
PGS Trust | usa 100%
PGS Trust I USA 100%
PGS Trust It usa 100%
PGS Nusantara PT Indonasiz 0%
FWw Onl Exploration, LLC usa 63%
PGS Processing (Angotal Lid. United Kingdom  100%
Seismic Exploration [Canadal Lid. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Ikdam Lid. United Kingdom 100%
Sakhalin Petroleum Plc Cyprus 100%
lectam Production, SA France 40%
PGS Investigacao Petrolifera timitada Brazil 99%
Sea Lion Exploration Lid. Bahamas 100%
Aqua Exploration Lid. Bahamas 40%
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1

- IMPLEMENTATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS [iFRS)

In February 2001, the EU agreed that listed companies within the
EU must prepare consolidated accounis in comgliance with Inter-
national Financiail Reporting Standards (IFFRS) for reporting periods
heginning on or after January 1, 2005. Certain exceptions exist,
wheareby some member states are able to postpone implementa-
tion of tFRS until 2007 if the company prepares its financial state-
ments based on other internationally accepied accounting princi-
ples. |

Under the EEA 'agreement, Norwegian companies must comply
with the same requiremeants as companias within the EU. Norwe-
gian law has.not yet incorporated such a legal provision. Norwegian
Law is expected to he revised during 2004 and such a legal provi-
sion is expected to be incorporated. If the Norwegian authornities,
in agreement with tha Acceunting Law Commitiee racommenda-
tions, chose 10 ihcorporale the exception as described above, the
Company will be able t¢ postpone reporting under IFRS until 2007,
provided the Company continues to report under US GAAR The
work performed 10 date by the Company related to the implemen-
zation of IFRS is based on the assumption that IFRS will be imple-
mented in 2007

The Company is'in the iniial stages in the preparation ior {FRS con-
Yersion, Prelimiqary assessinents have been made of the possible
differencas between |FRS and N CAAP and a training program has
heeninitiated for employees. Accounting principles and transitional
rules are not vet finalized in many areas, and therefore, the poten-
zial effects on the Company of implementing IFRS have not yet
been determined.

The major differences between IFRS and N GAAP identified to date
during the preliminary assessments which may potentially have a
significant effect on the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows: |

*» il and gas assets
+ Goodwill on acquisition
* Tangible and intangible fived assets
» Financial insruments
* Pansions '
» Taxatuon '
|
Furthermore, changes to the presentation of ihe consolidaied
financial statements are anticipated with regard 1o the fayout and
disclosure requirements in the notes as a result of the IFRS imple-
mentation.

t
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[X[s)f¥TL] - ADJUSTED EBITDA

Adjusied EBITDA, when used by the Company means Net income
(Loss) before incoma {loss) from equity investments, financial
expenses, other gain lloss), taxes. degeciauon and amortization,
unusual items, impairment of long-terms assets and discontinued
operations, Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable 1o other sim-
ilarly ttled measures from other companies. \We have included
Adjusted EBITDA as a supp'emental disclosure because the Com-
pany believes that it provides useful information regarding the
Company's ability to service debt and 1o fund capital expenditures
and provides investors with a helpfut measure for comparing our
operating perfermance with that of other companies.

Adjusted ERITDA, for the periods presented was as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(In thousands of dollars} 2003 2002 2001
Nizt income {loss) {818,150 (1,245,652} 11,294
Add back:
Operations held {or
sale/discontinued operations, net’ 5537 215349 12,622
Provision thenelit) fer income 1aves 26,436 201,944 31,109
Othar gan toss), nat 3i.68% (39,212 22,298
Fingncal enpanse. nel 10027 11730 135.67)
Income (lass) rom equity invesiments  (B97) 1.691 54
Operating prolit tloss) 6453120 (718,819} 217538
Unusual items, net 78.085 15434 (119,700
lenpairmant of long-term assets 740,875 807416 13,15%
Cepreciation and amarbzation 305,419 356,427 324,282
Total 479.068 460,458 435,275
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» FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA 2003

PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 33,

{In lhousqnds of NOK) Mate 2003 2002 20
Revenue” NOK 200,836 NOK 386,623 NOK 379.624
Cost of sales 164,172 255.081 226,917
Dapraciation and amortization 5,881 7860 5233
Selling, genaral and admnisirative costs 398,537 366,344 426,042
Impairment of goodwill 8 - 42 -
Total operalng expensas 568,500 529,327 662,192
Qperating profit {loss) {367,794} 1242,704) [282,568)
Finangal expense, net 2 (182,949} 1523,764) (445.167)
Impairment of shares in subsidiaries 310 13,732,750} (3.743.269) -
Impairment of intercompany recevables 3 1,335,54%} 14.989,163) -
Cther gan loss), net 3 1398.873) 1 749,758 476,179
Income {loss) before incoma 1axes 16,027867) {7849,142) {251,556}
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 4 - 313,404 {70.903}
Net income {loss) NOK [6,027867) NOK {8,162,546) MNOK {180,653)
\
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» FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA 2003

PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA
BALANCE SHEET

Lecembar 33,

fin thousands of NOK) Note 2003 2002
ASSETS
Long-term asseis:
Long-term intangible assets 7 NOK - NCK 5.630
Properiy and equipment, net 9 28914 35,094
Shares in subsidiaries 10 1,800,610 2,395,988
intercompany receivahlas 3 9,416,513 11,309,259
Other financial fong-term assets 12 24,566 103,763
Total long-term assets 11,270,503 16,849,634
Curren! assels:
Receivables ' 4,536 33,277
Shori-tarm intercompany receivahles 54,053 348
Qther current assets 6.258 14,842
Cash and cash equivalents 13 217631 416,693
Total cumrent assets 282,476 465,160
Total assets NOK 11,552,979 NOK 17.314,794
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHQLDERS' EQUITY
Shareholers’ equiv:
Pawel 1 camtal,
Comman stock 120,000,000 shares, par valug MOK 20 as ol Decomber 31, NOK 60C.000 NOK 516,730
2003, and 103,345 987 sharges, par value NOK 5 as of December 31, 20021
Additional paid in capdal 1,928,763 -
Total paid in capital 2,528,763 516,730
Other equity | - (737405)
Total shareholders’ equity 14 2,528,763 220,735)
Debt:
Pension liabiiities 5 3,878 3.284
Cther long-term dabt:
Imtercompany debt 15 1,989,072 891.397
Long-terny debt i5 6,796,152 9.465,010
Total other long-term debt 8,755,224 10,356,407
Current hiabilities:
Short-lerm debt and currant portion of long-tarm debt 15 2,408 5,52759
Short-1erm imarcompany debt 29.339 212,033
Accounts payable 4,855 2,699
Accrued expenses 228,512 433,515
Total current liabilities 265,114 71765,838
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity NOK 11,552,979 NOK 17314,794
Warranties 13

» PGS ANNUAL REPORT 2003 » PAGE 62

87




\
» FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA 2003

v

i
PETROLEUM GEC-SERVICES ASA
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

! Years ended Dacember 31,

{In thousands of NOK) 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activiligs:

Net income {foss} NOK (6,027867) NOK (B.162,546)
Adjustments 16 reconcile net incoma tloss! 1o net ¢ash

roviced bv operaling achivitigs:

Deprabiaton and amortization charged 1o expensa © 5881 7860 .
Impairmant of shares my subsidiaries 2,742,750 3,743,269
Impairment of mtercompany receivables 1,335.541 4,942,208
ltems classitied as investmentftinancing activitios 1,908 514,850}
F‘rovision ibenefil) for deieired income 1axes - 385,614
Unleatlized foreign exchange (gain) loss (220570 4,549,177
Changeas in current assets and current liabitities {166,810) (142,754}
Other iterns 85,272 16,729
Net cosh provided by (to) operating activities {1,303,898) {4,272,647)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities: ’
Net increase (decrease) in bank facility - {960}
Sale of property and equipment - 13
Sale of subsidiary 372,525 -
Investment in subsidiaries and changes intercompany receivables 551.602 3,644,984
Net cash provided by {used in) investing activitles 925,127 3,544,037

Cash tiows (used in) provided by financing activities:

Net inFrease {decreasel in bank facility . 749,254
Repayment of long-term debt 126.058 11,999,103)
Net in:crease {decrease) in short-term daebt - 2,219,942
Receipts {payments) of dividend ! 68,004 -
Net {paymients) receipls under tax equalization SWap contracls - 65,696
Net cash (used in} provided by financing activities ] 194,062 1.035.829
Not ir‘.;crease {dacrease) n cash and cash equivalents ' {184,709 307219
Unienlizad foreign exchange (gain) loss on cash and cash equivalents {14,353) {108.222)
Cash and cash equivalenis at beginning of year . 416,693 217,696
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year NOK 217631 NOK 416,693
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» NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PETROLEUM GEO-SERVICES ASA 2003 '

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PETROLEUM GEQO-SERVICES ASA

!
- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA has prepared its Financial Statements in
accordance withraccounting principles generally accepted in Norway
{“N GAAP”), and the Financial Statements are presented in Norwe-
gian Kroner (NOK}). The Company applies the same accounting policies
as described in Note 2 in the notes o the consolidated financial state-
ments, but where Petroleurn Geo-Services ASA, in the financial state-
ments, apply the Norwegian Preliminary Accounting Standard on
deferrad tax, where reversible emporary negative and positive differ-
ences are offsetlisee Nota 3). Also, unrealized foreign exchange gain
{loss) on long-terfn intercompany loans is recognized in the statemant
of operations.

Shares in subsiQiaries {see Note 10) are presented at cost less any

write-Jowns, |

L] - FINANCIAL EXPENSE, NET
Financial expansz, net, consist of the following:

Years endet) Decembaer 31,

{ln thousands oi NOK) 2003 2002 2001
Interest income, extarnal 3.058 5,667 19,809
Intergst income, inlercompany 749,380 ¥68.993 1,103,858
Interast expense, external @) 16876,404) (1,126,387 (1,361,208}
Interast expense, intercompany [258,983) (272.037) {207629)
Total 1182,949) (623,764} (445,167)

{a) Imerest expen;e. external, is significantly reduced in 2003 since no
interest was paid from tuly 29, 2003 when the Company filed a peli-
tion for protection under Chapter 11, 10 November §, 2003, when the
Company emargad from Chapter 11. Alsc, the restruciuring reduced
the total imerel‘st hearing dabt,

Ll91¥] - OTHER GAIN {LOSS), NET
Other gain lioss), net, consist of the following:

Years ended Decermnber 31,

I thousands of J\'JOK) 2003 2002 2003
]

Group contribution received 68,004 514,850 -
Foreign currency gain (loss) 1267979} 770,883 ({513.867)
Gain {loss) on sale of subsiciaring 102,726} — 1.013,0m
Write-off of deferred debi costs
and issui discounts 154,829) - -
Otnel | 11,343} 464,025 {22,965)

Total ' {398,873) 1,749,758 476,179

Based on dowpward adjusted estimated fulure cash flows. e
Company's subsidiaries recognized significant impairment charaes
on their respaciive assets in 2003 and 2002. Correspandingly, Petro-
leunt Geo-Services ASA recognized impairment charges on invest-
ments in subsidiaries and intercompany receivables in 2003 and
2002 In cases where the estimated recoverable amounts exceeded
the book value of the shares in the subsidiary, the Company recog-
nized additional' impairment charges on such intercompany receiv-

ables. ,

111 F3 - INCOMETAXES

Reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for income taxes to 1axes
computed at nc}minal tax rate on incame (loss) before income
taxes: ,

i
b
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Years entdad December 31,
2003 2002 200

{In thousands of NOK)

Income (l0ss) before income taxes 6,0278867) {7.849.142) (251,556)

Norwegian statutory tax rate 28% 28% 28%
Provision {henefit) for ingome taxes
at ihe stalutory rate (1,687803) (2.197760) (70,436
Ingrease {reduction) in mcome laxgs from:
Permanant iterns ! 441,937 82 59
Dederned tax asset not recognized
to halance sheet 1,245,866 2,511,082 -
Oiher — — {526

Provision (benefit) for income taxes - 313,404 {70,903}

In accordance with the Norwegian Preliminary Accounting Stan-
dard on taxes, tax reducing and tax increasing ternporary differ-
ences are offset, provided the differences can be reversed in the
same period. Deferred income taxes are caloulated based on the
net temporary differences that exist by yearend. The Company has
not capitalized any net deferred.1ax asset due (¢ the considerable
uncenainly regarding fure wtilization. The temporary differences
which generate the Company's deferred tax assets and liabihties,
are summanzed as follows:

N thousands of MOK) 2003 2002
Temporary differences related 10 !
Property and eguipment 21,050 23.661
Pension liabilities (3,430 13,0581

{4.710,375) (4,943,208}
(7485,970) (3,743,269}

Intercompany receivables
Shares in subsidiaries

Shares in affiliated companies (365,708) {272,402}

(ther (2,038) 129,872)
Basis for calculated tax liability (asset) 12,576,471) {8,968,148)
Applied tax rate ! 28% 28%
Daferrad tax lizbilty fasset 13.521.412) (2,511,082)
Wiite down on daferred tax asset | 3,621,412

2,511,082
Deferred tax liability (asset], net - -

- RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company sponsors a definéd benefit pension plan for its Nor-
wegian employees, comprisinglof 26 persons. This plan is funded
through centributions to an insurance comipany, after which the
insurance company undertake the responsitility to pay out the pen-
sions. It is the Company's genaral practice to fund amounts to this
defined henefii plan, which is sutiicient 10 meat the appliceble statu-
LOry IBGUIreMEnts.

Net periedic pensicn costs:

Years endad December 31,

{In thousanas of MOK) ! 2003 2002 2001

Service costs 2,660 2,061 1,650
Interast cost 1.062 9 952
Expected rewrn on plan assets 17811 {B58) 1801}

Net arnortization | 201 1 182
Net periodic pension costs 3,142 2.155 1,993

Recognized pension liabilities:

The pension liabilities have heen calculated based on the underly-
ing economic realities. A racongiliation ¢f the projected pension lia-
bilities and amounts recognized in the Company's halance sheei,
are as follows:
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|
|

{In theusands of NOK) 2003 2002
Furded status {5,794} (6,630
Unreccgnized actuarial loss 1,863 3,522

Unrecogr'wized Dror SEMVICE Gest 14 50

Accrued payroll 1ax 464} -
Net amount recognized
as accrued pension liability {t} {3.751) {3,058}

|
{1) The actuariai value of the pension liability is presented at gross vatue in
the bziiance sheet, where the pension asset of NOK 0.1 million and
NOK 0.2 million as of December 31. 2003 and 2002 respectively, is
included in Other Fnangial Long-Term Assets. The corresponding gross
pension fiability is'presemed as Dabt of NOK 2.8 million and NOK
33 million as of Decembiar 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

[ .
Economic assumptions:

Years ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Discountrates 6.0 % LG5 % 6.5 %
Expeclec} rates on rewim 70 % FA 75 Y%
Expected salary increases 20% 4.0 % 4.0 %
Expecled pension incraases 3.0% 33 % 33 %

i
L[ - COMMITMENTS

The Company's operating leasing commitments related to the ¢oi-
porate administration expires on various dates through 2006
Future minimum payments related (o non-cancelable operating
lgases, with lease werms in excess of one vear are as follows:

i
4

tin thousgnds of NOK) December 31, 2003

2004 14 628
2005 2132
2006 2,066

20,826

Total
i

The Company's rent expenditure was NOK 32.0 mJIiibn, NOK 36.9
million and NOK 4Z.3 million for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. :

Wle1i 3] - SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES

[ To11 7] - LONG-TERM INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Long-term intangible assets consist of licenses. Amounts recog-
nized in the Company’s balance sheet are as follows;

December 31,

{In thousands of NOK} 2003 2002
Accumulated cost as ot January 1 7500 1.0M
Write down 15,151) 3,571}
Additions ) — —
Accumulated cost as of December 21 2,349 2500
Accumulated depraciation as of January 1 1,870 5,086
Write down - {3.571
Depreciation this year 379 455
Accumulated deprecations as of December 3! 2,349 1.970
Net book value ' ’ 5.530

The Company applies the sama rates for depreciation as the group.

+

i (o)X - GOODWILL .

During 2002, the Company made an impairment assessment in
accordance with the Norwegian Preliminary Accounting Standard on
impairment of assets, This resulted in impairment of all goodwill in the
Company, and no goodwill existed as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.

The Company applies the same rates for depraciation as the group,
and expensed net amortization on goodwiil of NOK 63,000 and
NCOK 85,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, while no amortization was expensed in 2003.

[ 'Te1 13X:] - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT *
Property and eguipment consists of fixtures, furniture and fittings.
Net book velue of propeny and equipment is as follows:

December 31,

im mousands of NG 2003 2002
Accumulated cost as of January 1 61,451 60,510
Additions - 959
Disposals {G72) 18}
Accumulated cost as of December 31 50,779 61,451
Accumulated depreciation as of January 1 26,357 20,100
Depreciation this year 5,881 6,262
Disposals 273 {5}
Accunwlated depreciation as of December 31 21,965 26,357
Net book value 28,814

35.094

Property and equipment is depreciated over 3 10 b years.

*

Shares in subsidiaries ara recognized in tha Company's balance shaet at cost less any impairment:

Book value as
of December

| Share- 21, 2002
' Registered- Number of holding {in thousands

ofhce shares Sharg capital {ai Par valug cf NOR)
PGS Geophysical AS Osio 1,410 QD0 NOK 144 000,000 100% HNOX 100 —
PGS Exploration {Nigerial Ltd. Nigeria 2.000,000 UsoD 2,000,000 100% Uso 1
FGS Reservoir Consiltanis AS © Oslo 1.000 NOK 100.000 100% NDH 100 -
Pewoleurn Geo-Sarvices, Inc. Housion 1000 usD 00%  USD i , -

90
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'

' Bock value as

oi December

Share- 31, 2003
Registered- Number of holding {in thousands

office shares Share capital {a) Par value of NGK)
Petroleum Geo-Services (UK) Ltd. London 212,176,360 GBpP 212,176,360 100% GBP 1 -
Seahouse Insurance Lid. Betmuda 120,000 UsD 120,000 100% usD 1 8,165
mAtiklient Invest AS Oslo 100.000 NOK 10,000,000 100% NOK 100 -
PGS Shipping AS . Oslo 4,733,975 NOK 189,35% 100% NOK 0.0q - 532,354
PGS Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100,000 S5GD 700,032,148 100% SGD 1 364,181
PGS Investigacao‘Petroliiera Luritadla Brazit — BRL 5,000 99% BRL 28.617
PGS Mexicana SA. daC V. Mexico 118,000,000 MXN 118,000,100 100% MXN 1 79,667
PGS Production AS Trondheim 187283370 NOK 187283.310 100% NOK 1 237500
Hara Skip AS Oslo 1,066,016 NOK 106,601,600 100% NOFK 100 513,599
Unaco AB Vasteras 5,000 SEK 500,000 100% SEK 100 465
Oslo Sefsmic Services Lid. Isle of Man 1 usp 1 100% Usp ] 33,570
Pertra AS ' Trondheim 1,000 NOK 1,000,000 100%  NOK 1,000 -
PGS Ausualia Py, Lid. Perth - — - 100%  — — 2,002
Total : 1,800,610

{al Voling nghts are acuwalent 1o sharebolding for alf companies

In Margh 2001,.{1he Company sold the subsidiary PGS Data Man-
agerment AS 1o Landmark Granhics Coiporation, a subsidiary of Hal-
liburton Company. This sale was part of the PGS group divestment
of the global Petrobank data storage operations. Net gain on this

Led k] - OTHER FINANCIAL LONG-TERM ASSETS
Other financial long-terrm assets consists of:

Qecember 37,

sale amounted to 1.0 hillion NOK. See Note 2 in the consolidated (I thousands of NOK) 2003 2002
financial statements for further information regarding this sale.

Deferred long-term debt costs (a) - 79,17
For further information on impairment of shares in subsidiaries, see Long-term receivables 24,566 24,589
Note 3. Total 24,566 103,763

'

- OTHER SHARES

Based on the last years' performance in READ Well Services AS,
the Company considerad the investment of NOK 4.0 million as iost
and expensed the loss as pert of cost of sales in 2001, The loss was
raalized in 2002‘.

[Tl BTY - SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(3t Deferred tong-term debt costs gre expensed on 3 straight-ling basis
ovear the peried up until maturity. These costs ate included as part of
e«ternal interest costs in the staternent of operations (see Nete 2).

Lo 30E] - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company's cash and cash equivalents included amounts
restricted for payrnents of emiployee withholding taxes of NOK 3.1
milirory and NOK 1.2 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Changes in the shareholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Paid-in capitai

Sharg premium Other Shareholdars’

{ln thousands of NOK, excapt tor shara daa) Number of shares Comimon stock resarve equity aquity
Balance at Decemnber 31, 2001 103,345,987 516,730 6.983.312 441,769 7941.811
Net incame — -— {6,983.312) {1,179,234) i8,162,546)
Balance at December 31, 2002 103,345,087 516,730 - {737465) 1220,728)
Write down of old share capital {103,345 887 (516.720) - 516,720
Deht resrructurir‘lg 20,000,000 GOC,000 7076919 1,100,446 B,777365
Net income — — {5,148, 156) 1879,711) {6,027.867}
Balance at December 31, 2003 20,000,000 600,000 2,528,763

1,928,763 -

Petroleurn Geo-Services ASA has one class of shares, which as of December 31, 2002, consisted of 103,345,987 shares of par value
NOX 5 each, all fully paid in. )

During 2003, the Company completed an extensive financial restructuring (see Note 15 for more informaticn). Besides a significant reduc-
tion of the Company's total debt, the restructuring lead to a cancellation of alt existing shares, and the share capital was reduced to zero with-
out any payment to the existing sharaholdars in respect of the cancelled shares. Simultanecusly with the registration of the reduction of the
share capital 10 Zero, the rearganized Petroleum Geo-Services ASA issued 20,000,000 new shares with a par value of NOK 30 per share, giv-
ing a total share;capita\ of NOK 800 rnillion, The new shares were distributec between the Company’s creditors and existing shareholders.

The shareholders voting rights are equal 1o ownership percentage. A listing of the Company’s largest shareholders is provided in Note 21
in the consolidated financial statements.
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+ NOTESTO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF PETROLEUM GEOQ-SERVICES ASA 2002

~ FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING AND DEBT
Financial restructuring:

in 2002, it became clear that the Company was over leveraged and
that a comprehensive financial restructuring of the Company was
crucial 10 its long-term viahility and to provide a sustainable capital
structure for tha Company, On Juty 29. 2003, the Company volun-
tarily filed a petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the Umited
States Bankruptcy Code. The fihng was based on a financiat restruc-
turing plan that was pre-approved by a majority of banks and hond-
holders as well as a group of the Company’s largest sharehotders
The Company emerged from Chapter 11 November 5, 2003, just
100 days after filing. See Note 25 in the consglidaied financial state-
ments {or further information.

Long-Term Debt, Excluding Bank Credit Facilities:
Long-term debt consists of the following:

Year-and Year-snd
waighted Dec. weighted Oac,
average 31, average N,
{In thousands of NOK) interest rate 2003  interestrate 2002
Bank loans / public notes;
Unsecured 9.46% 6,798,560 714 % 10,219,657
Trust preferred securities — — 96% 999,140
6,798,560 11,218,797
Current portion 2,408 (1,783.787)
Total 6,796,152 9,465,010
Maturities:

Aggregate maturities of the Company's debt, including bank
credit facilities are as follows:

iln thousands of NOK) Decemnber 31, 2003

2004 2,408
2005 2,405
2006 1,700,755
2007 2,408
2008 2.405
2009 2,408
2000 ‘ 5,069,942
201 15,429

Total | 6,798,560

Bank credit facilities:

In March 2004 the Company entered into a secured $i10.0 million
credit facility consisting of & $70.0 million revolving credit facility
and a $40.0 million letter of credit facility. See Note 25 in the con-
solidated financial statements for additional information,

l.ong-term intercompany debt:
There is no fixed plan for repayment of long-term intercompany
debt.

- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company periodically makes use of financial instrumentis. For
a more in depth descripiion of these instruments refer 1o Note 2
and Note 26 in the consolidated financial statements.
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- SALARIES AND OTHER PERSONNEL COSTS,
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, AND REMUNERA-
TIONTO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECU-
TIVE OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

Salary and social expenses that are included in ¢cost of sales and

salling. general and adiministrative costs cansist of:

Years ended December 21,

{In thousands of NOK) 2003 2002 200t
Salaries 42,564 57720 134,583
Sucial security 4,775 11,228 6.007
Pension 2.959 2,195 2,679
Other benefits 15,560 23,372 63,773
Total 65,862 104,475 207,042

The Company had an average of 24 employees in 2003. Average nurm-
ber of emplovees for 2002 and 2001 were 25 and 58, respectively.

Compensation to Board of Directors, CEQ

and other executive officers:

Thare have been certain changes among the Company’s executive
officers during 2003. As of December 31, 2003, our execuiive offi-
cers were Svein Rennemo (CEQ), Knut GOversjaen {CFO), Sverre
Strandenes, Andreas Enger, Anthony Ross Mackewn, Eric Wersich,
Erik Haugane and Helge Krafft. Gottired Langsath replaced Knut
Bversjpen as CFO January 1, 2004, Sverre Skogen replaced Helge
Krafit as of January 12, 2004. For information on compensation to
Beard of Diractors, CEQ and other executive officers, see Note 30
in the consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration to auditor:
Fees for audit and othar services providad by the Company's auditor
are as follows {exclusive VAT and inclusive out of pocket expensesi:

Years ended December 31,

n NOK3 2002 2002
Audit fees (a) 42,258,889 950,000
Qther financial audil — 5,055,025

42,258,889 6,005,025
© 3.784,067 4,078,632
46,042,356 10,083,557

Total audit tees
Othar services (bl
Total

{a) Audit fees for 2003 includes fees incurred in 2003/2004 related 10 10au-
dit of 2001 and 2002 {NOK 27.765,492) and fresh start 2003 (NOK
13,293,397}

{b) Cther services inchude fees for assistance in connection wiih resiruc-
wring. refinancing and due-diigence pertormed by banks,

~WARRANTIES

Patroieum Geo-Services ASA provides letter of credit and related
types of guarantees on hehalf of subsidiaries, which normally are
claimed in contractual relationships were subsidiaries are contract-
ing parties. These guarantaes are considered to be ordinary in con-
traciual relationships, as well as in the Company's ordinary opéera-
tions. See also Note 25 in the consolidated financial statemeams.
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» AUDITOR’S REPORT

E_’J ERNST& YOUNG . ) & Statsautoriserte revisorer o Foretaksregisteret;

NO 976 389 387 MVA

Ernst & Young AS Tel. +47 24 00 2400
Oslo Atrium Fax +47 24 0024 01
Pastboks 20 WWW.EY.N0

N-0051 Oslo

| ' Medlemmer av Den norske Revisorfurening

To thé Annual Sharcholders' Meeting of
Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Auditor's rep.ort for 2003

We have audited the annual financial statements of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA as of 31 December 2003, showing ¢ loss of NOK
6,027,867,000 for the parent company and a loss of USD 818,150,000 for the Group. We have also audited the information in the
Direclors' report conceming the financial siatements, the going concern assumption, and the proposal for the coverage of the loss.
The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statements of operations and cash flows, the accompanying notes ond the
consclidated accounts. These financial staternents and the Dirgctors® report arc the responsibility of the Company’s Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer. Our responsibility is lo express an opinion on these financial statements and on other
information uccording 1o the requirements of the Nerwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors, ,
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors and suditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway. Those standards and practices require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statemenis are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the smounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial staternent presentation.
To the extent required by Yaw and auditing standards, an audit alse comprises a review of the management of the Company's
financial affairs and its accounting and intemal control systems. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion. '

The audit of the Company's financia! statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles gencrally aceepted in the
Unites States (US GAAP) have not yet been completed. The required audit procedures for such US GAAP financial statements
include 2 reaudit of the 2001 financial statements as well as an audit of the 2002 and 2003 financial statements, due to requirements
relating to the filing of the annual financial statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission in the Unites States, The
outcome of such audil procedures might also affect the financial statements prepared in accordance with Norwegian GAAP,
potentially both the opening balance as at January 1, 2003 and the 2003 statement of operations.

In our opinion,

+  the financial statements, except for the possible impact of the completion of the audit of the US GAAP financial statements
referred to above, have been prepared in secordance with law and regulations and present the financial position of the
Company and of the Group as of 31 December 2003, und the resulis of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended,
in accordance with accounting standards, principles and practices gencraily accepted in Norway

+  the Company's management has fulfilled its duty to properly register and document the accounting infortnation as required by
law and accounting standards, principles and practices generatly accepted in Norway

+ the informatton in the Directors’ repont concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumpt:on. and the proposal for
the coverage of the loss is consistent with the financial staternents and comply with law and regulations.

)
Without affecting the conclusions above we emphasize that the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting have not been
operating effectively. We have issued a letter to the Board of Directors addressing material weaknesses in the design and operation
of the interna) controls. We refer to note 1 and the Directors' Report for more details, including management's response and
initiativcs 10 improve the internal controls within the Company.

|
Oslo, 16 June 2004
ErnsT & YOUNG AS

Jan Egil Hoga
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Note: The translation to English has been prepared for informuation purposes only.

B Bewaksadresse: O Arendal, Bergen, Bo, Orammen, Fosnavdg, Fredriksiad, Holmestrand,
slo Arium Forten, Hanefoss, Konpshery, Kragero, Kristiansand, Larvik, Levanger,
Christian Frederiks plass 6 . Lillrhammer, Mass, Moy, Notdden, Qsle, Cara, PorsgrunndSkien,

0154 Osles Sandeford, Sortland, Stavanyer, Steinkjer, Tromso, Troadheim, Tonsherg,
. Vikersund, Alesund
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In 2004 PGS demonstrated excellent HSE and operating performance.
Despite a difficult marine geophysical market in the first half of the
year, negative impact from a labor conflict on the Norwegian Conti-
nental Shelf and damage to the main production riser on the Varg
field, PGS delivered on its financial projections for the year.

PGS significantly improved its financial P Onshore, which consists of all seismic opera-
flexibility, reducing net interest bearing debt to tions en land and in very shallow water and
below $1 billion at year-end, and realizing a transition zones, including onshere multi-glient
further $120 million reduction from the sale of library

Pertra early 2005. » Production, which owns and operates four harsh

1 environment FPSOs in the North Sea
In November 2004 PGS completed the re-audit P Pertra, a small oil and gas company which

of its historical U.S. GAAP financial statements owned 70% of and which is operator for

and achieved a re-listing of its ADSs on the Production License 038 (“PLO38") on the

New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE”] in Norwegian Continental Shelf ("NCS") and alsc
December. These achievements mark impor- neld participating interests in six additional NCS
tant mitestones in delivering the commitments licenses without cutrent production

from the Chapter 11 restructuring in 2003 and

nerrnalizing PGS’ communication with, and Pertra was sold to Talisman in March 2005 as
access to, capital markets, described in a separate paragraph below and will be

‘ reperted as discontinued operation starting with the
The divestment of Pertra in March 2005 marks 2005 financial statements.
PGS’ exit from a very successful Exploration &
Production (E&P} venture which started in 2001.
PGS was formed as an oil service company

and with this exit from E&P. PGS will once Business headlines 2004
again become fully focused on its oil service Main business achievernents include:
business with strategic focus on geophysics
and floating production operations. We are P Continued strong HSE performance
industry leaders in both these areas, with P Strong operating uptime and regularity in all
5trong credibility, market share, client relation- businesses, with the exception of the impact ot
ships and technological expentise. The main a strike on the NCS and a riser damage on 1he
goat for 2005 is to improve the return on these Varg field i »
assets. b Strong value creation through successtul ol ‘ -

. development and sale of Pertra . The diV\é st
PGS is a technologically focused oilfield service P Financial flexibility greatly improved through ATV R
corpany principally involved in providing 2004 cash flow from operations and will further ment of Pertra
geophysical services worldwide and floating improve with cash proceeds from sale of Pertra in March 2005
production services in the North Sea. Globally, P Net interest bearing debt reduced from $1 071 . .
PGS provides a broad range of geophysical and million to $395 millicn at year end 2004. Further marks PGS’ exit
reservoir services, including seismic ¢lata reduction of approximately $150 million:early from a very
acquisition, processing and interpretation and field 2005 from sale of Pertra ’
evaluation. In the North Sea, the Company owns # Completion of re-audit of U.S. GAAP financial successful E&P
and operates {our floating production, storage and statements and subsequent re-tisting on NYSE venture
oftloading vessels {"FPS0s”). The Company's » Strong multi<client fate sales and marine seismic .
headguarters are at Lysaker, Norway. contract performance during second half of 2004

PGS, in 2004, managed its business in four

segments as follows: Sale Of Pertra toTa”Sman
On February 1, 2005, PGS signed an agreement to
» Marine Geophysical, which consists of both sell its wholly-owned subsidiary Perira AS 1o
streamer and seafloor seismic data acquisition, Talisrnan. The transaction was closed March 1,
emaring multi-client library and data processing 2005.
PGH F;\).ORD GED Ot G AWWMET A VRN ST N T L ! 3
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'~ PGS continued

4|

ifs focus on the
marine contract
market in 2004

The sales price was approximately $155 million.
PGS expects to recognize the Pertra operations
from January 1, 2005 to closing and a sales gain
totaling above $140 million as discontinued
operations in its financial statements for 2005.
PGS does not expect to incur any taxes from the
transaction.

As part of the transaction, Talisman has agreed (o
split with PGS, on a 50/50 basis, revenues (on a
post petroleum tax basis) from production of the
Varg Field exceeding $240 millicn per year in 2005
and 2006.

Further, Talisman and PGS entered into an gption
agreement under which the PLO38 ticense hotders
can change the existing terminaticn provisions for
the FPSQ Petrojari Varg. The option, if exercised,
will at the discration of the PLO38 license helders
allow production of the Varg field to be extended
until 2010 The option is exercisable until February
1, 2006, and if exercised the license owners wilt
have to make a payment of $22.5 million and
guarantee a minimum of $190,000 per day as
compensation for the use of Petrojar! Varg. PGS
received $2.5 million at closing for granting this
opticn. Under the existing contract between
PLO3B and PGS Producticn, Petrojarl Varg is
currently producing the Varg field for a fixed base
day rate of $90,000 and a variable rate of $6.30
per barrel produced, PGS has a right t¢ terminate
the agreement if the production of the Varg field
falls below 15,700 barrels per day.

In PGS’ 2004 financial statements, the revenues
and expenses of Pertra are included in tevenues
and expenses in the consolidated statement of
operations. In PGS’ 2005 financizl statements, the
gain on sale and the revenues and expenses of
Pertra will be reporied as discontinued operations
and all historical financial statements will be
reclassified to report Pertra as discontinued
operations, Alsp, as a consequence, the revenues
on the Petrofarf Varg FPSO related 1o Pertra's 70%
of the Varg field will be reclassified to external
revenue instead of being eliminated as inter
segment revenues, thereby increasing significant-
ly the revenues in Production includad in PGS’
consolidated statament of operations,

Markets and main businesses

Marine Geophysical

PGS is one of four major global participants in the
marine 3D market, with a markel share exceeding
30%. The PGS streamer acquisition fleet, tataling
10 vessels, with the six Ramform vessels in the
high capacity segment, is the most modern in the
industry.

The marine 3D market has experienced continued

overcapacity over several recent years. Since 2001
and well into 2004 a strong increase in demand
for contract seismic has been offset by a steep
reduction of multi-client activity. In 2004, 3D multi-
client activity in the industry reached its lowest
levels in 10 years!

After a weak first half of 2004, the balance
between capacity and demand improved
significantly in the second half resulting in
improved prices and margins and an improved
industry order backleg situation. PGS' marine
acquisition order backlog was $170 million at
December 31, 2004 compared to $108 million at
December 31, 2003.

PGS continued its focus an tha contract market in
2004, Activity in the multi-client market was
further reduced from 2003 and higher tevels of
pre-funding were achieved. At the same time,
sales from the multi-client library increased
substantially during the second half of 2004. Over
time PGS expects to increase its multi-client
investment from the very low 2004 levels.
Onshore !

In the market for onshore seismic services PGS is
a medium sized player among a large number of
both regional and giobal players. Competition and
strengths and wezknesses vary significantly from
region to region. New entranis to the market,
including, among others, Chinese companies, play
a significant role, especially in Asia.

In 2004, PGS Onshore had all its active crews and
its main market presence in North and-South
America, In 2004, Onshore continued acceptable
operating performance building on strong project
execution and management, but activity levels
declined towards the end of the year due 1o the
comptetion of one out of two large projecis in
Mexico. The activity level in domesiic U.S. was
high throughout the year and a third crew was
added to this opgrating area.

Preduction

PGS is the market leader in operating ‘contractor
owned FPSOs in the UK and Norwegian sectors
of the North Sea. The demand for these services
is highly dependent on specific oil and gas
development projects for small to medium sized
cilfields.

The four FPSOs owned and operated by Produc-
tion continued on their existing contracts
throughout 2004,

In December 2003, the contract with Canadian
Natural Resources {(“"CNR"), operator of the Banff
and Kyle fields in the UK sector of the North Sea,
was amended. Under the agreement, Ramform
Banff will coniinue 1o produce the Banit field until
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the end of the fisld's lile. The amended contract is
production incentive based but contains a
minimum day rate provisicn of $125 000 per day.
Development work on the Banff field and the tie in
of a well from the Kyle field increased Ramform
Banff production slightly towards the end of 2004,
Further tig-ins from Kyle are planned for 2005.

I
Petrofar! I is producing the Glitne field, operated
by Statoil, in the Norwegian sector of the North
Sea. PGS expects the producing life of the Glitne
fiald to extend to 2007

Patrofar! Varg is producing the Varg field (in PLO38)
operated by Pertra (sold to Talisman in 2005). PGS’
successful development drilling programs in 2003
and 2004 have significantly increased both produc-
tion levels and the expected life of the field. The
FPSQ is now expected to continue 1o produce the
figld beyond 2007 In 2004, 2 revised compensa-
tion structure was agreed beiween the PL0O38
owners and PGS providing a combination of a
fixed day rate and a volume based production
taritf. Following the sale of Pertra to Talisman, the
PL0O38B owners have an option to change certain
terms of the production contract against making
certain paymants 10 PGS as described above.

3
Patrofar! Foinaven is producing the Foinaven field,
cparated by BP, west of Shetland. The vessel is
expected to produce the field beyond 2007

Operating regularity was generally high in 2004,
However, groduction on two of the FPS0s was
negatively impacted by a labor conflict on the NCS
causing a shut down of Petrojarl | from September
12 to October 29 and Peirojari Varg from October
13 to October 26. In addition, production on the
Varg field was reduced to approximately one half
of normal producticn beginning November & due
to a damaged main production riser. The field
returned 10 normal production after a successful
installation of a new riser on March @, 2005.

Pertra

The sale of Pertra to Talisman was closed March 1,
2005 as described above. Pertra had significant
drilling activity in 2004, with a rig working
throughout the entire year. |n total, five develap-
ment wells were completed on the Varg field. In
addition, one dry exploration well was drilled on
the “Villmink" prospect in PL 038.

As a result of the development work, underlying
field output levels increased substantially
throughout the year. However, in the fourth
quarter production was negatively affected by a
shut down from Qctober 13 to October 26,
caused by tha labor conflict on the NCS, and
damage of the main production rises on November
5, limiting preduction to a daily maximum of
approximately 15,000 barrels.
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Pertra‘s total cil production was 5.3 million barrels
in 2004 compared to 4.1 million barrels in 2003.
Average realized oil price was $35.11 per barrel in
2004 compared to $29.37 in 2003.

Pertra was awarded participation in an additional
six licenses on the NCS during 2004.

Financial results

Total revenues for 2004 were $1,135.5 million
compared 10 $1,120.7 million in 2003, an increase
of 1%. Pertra revenues increased by $65.1 million,
but this increase was partly ofiset by a decrease
of revenues in Marine Gecphysical and Onshore
and higher elimination of intersegment revenues
as described betow.

Marine Geophysical 2004 revenues totaled $574.2
million, a decrease of $10.0 million, or 2%, from
2003. Revenues from contract seismic acquisition
decreased $49.5 million from $348.1 million in
2003 to $298.6 million in 2004, primarily duetoa
¢lose down of the Company's ocean bottorm 2C
crew in late 2003, Revenues from this crew
amounted to $40.5 million in 2003. In addition,
contract revenues wera negatively impacted by a
weak contract market in first half of 2004, and
significant operating disturbances during '
completion of a large turn key project offshore 1.
India in second guarter. Multi<lient late sales
increased by $57.9 million, or 39%, to $206.0
million in 2004, reflecting overail high demand in
the second half of the year. PGS’ acquisition of
multi-client data was further reduced and
revenues from multi-client pre-funding decreased
by $19.2 million, or 39%, from $49.7 million in
2003 to $30.5 million in 2004, Pre-funding as a
percentage of cash investments in multi-client
data increased to 96% in 2004 compared to 73%
in 2003. In 2004 the fleet allocation {active vessel
time) between contract and multi-client data
acquisition was approximately 89%/11 %
comparad to approximaiely 81%/19% in 2003.

" —In 2004 the fleet
‘allocation between
contract and multi-
client data acquisi-
tion was approxi-
mately 89%/11%

Onshore revenues for 2004 totaled $133.2 miltion,
a decrease of $20.8 or 14% from 2003. Onshore
had significant activity in Alaska, Mexico and Saudi
Arabia in 2003 while in 2004, Onshore had no
activity in Saudi Arabia or Alaska. Additionally,
activity in Mexico declinad at the end of 2004 as
cne of the two large projects was completed in
third quarter. Activity in dornestic U.S. was strong
hoth for PGS and the market in general.

Revenues for Production totaled $298.2 million in
2004, which was $4.8 million, or 2%, higher than
2003. Petrojari Foinaven had revenues of $96.6
million in 2004 compared to $112.1 million in
2003, a reduction of 14%. This reduction relates
primarily 10 a natural decline in the production
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level of the field: Petrgjarl f had revenues of $61.3
million in 2004 c.ompared to $67.7 million in 2003,
a decrease of 9%, primarily due to natural field
production decline. Production on Patrojar! | was
shut down from. September 12 to Octaber 29 due
10 a tabor conflict on the NCS, but the revenue
impact was limited as PGS received force majeure
compensation during the period. Revenues from
Ramform Banffwere $51.5 million in 2004
compared to $45.2 miltion in 2003, an increase of
14%, primarily due to a $3.7 million fump sum
modification job for CNR and the introduction of 2
new production contract effective January 1,
2004. Production levels on Ramform Banff
improved in the latter part of 2004 due 1o tie in of
one well from the Kyle field and development
work on Banfi field wells. Revenues from Patrojart
Varg increased $19.3 million, or 28% to $871
miillion in 2004 compared to 3678 million in 2003.
The increase is due primarily to increased '
production, desbi:e a shut down from QOctober 13
1o October 26 refated 1o a labor conflict on the
NCS and damage to the main production riser
reducing production to approximately 50% oi the
field's potential starting November 5.

Pertra revenues in 2004 totaled $186.7 million, an
increase of $65.1 million, or 54%, from 2003. The
increase is primarily due to an increase in
production from 4.1 million barrets in 2003 t¢ 5.3
million barrels in 2004,

QOperating costs, excluding depreciation, amortiza-
tion and other {income) expense, totaled $708.C
million in 2004 compared to $641.6 in 2003, an
increase of $66.4 million, The increase relates
primarily to increased operating costs for Pertra
due to the significant increase in production and
increased well intervention and geological and
geophysical costs, which increased operating
costs by $47.5 million. Maring Geophysical
increased operating costs by $29.4 million, mainly
as a result of a reduction of cost capitalized as
multi-client investments (reducec by $36.7 million)
and general cost increase driven by unfavarable
change in currency rates and fuel prices, partially
offsel by the effect of close down of the ocean
hottem 2C crew in late 2003. Production operating
cost increased $8.8 million, primarily due to
increased material purchases billed 1o customer
{on Ramform Banfh, a weakening of the U.S dollar
exchange rate (which increases she reported U.S.
dollar cost for Production since a significant part of
these are incurred in British Pound Sierling and
Norwegian Kroner) and increased maintenance
expensa. Maintenance investmenis in Production
are expensed as incurred. Onshore reported a
$1.0 million reduction of operating costs.
Elimination of inter-segment revenues and cost
[reduces consolidated revenues and operating
costs), increased by $23.9 million and $22.3
million, respectively, primarily due to increased

6]

payments from Partra to Production for the use of
Petrojarl Varg.

Adjusted EBITDA for 2004 was $4275 million
compared to $479,1 million in 2003, a decrease of
$51.6 million or 11%. Marine Geophysical Adjusted
EBITDA decreased by $39.4 million, Cnshore
Adjusted EBITDA decreased by $20.0 million, and
Adjusted EBITDA for Production decreased by
$4.0 million. Pertra Adjusted EBITDA increased
$17.5 million.

Depreciation and amentization for 2004 was
$327.0 mitlion compared to $305.4 million in 2003,
an increase of $21.6 million, or 7%. Crdinary gross
depreciation expense dec¢reased by $5.2 million,
or 3%, to $1577 million in 2004. Pertra deprecia-
tion increased $23.0 miillion, primarily due to
increased production and a charge of $11.4 millicn
for dry exploration well (Villmink) reflected as
depreciation. Depreciation in Marine Geophysical,
Onshore and Production decreased by $19.1
million, $6.8 million and $2.0 million, respectively.
Depraciation in Marina Geophysical and Produc-
tion generally decreased due to significant asset
write-downs in 2003, partly offset by reduced
depreciable lite and reduced salvage value
assumptians for FPSOs and seismic vessels
implemented effective November 1, 2003.
Depreciation capitalized as part of the cost of
multi-client library was reduced by $9.1 million to
$4.0 million in 2004.

Amortization ¢f multi-client data library increased
by $17.7 miltion, or 11%, to $173.3 millien in 2004,
Amortization as a percentage of multi-client
revenues was 86% in 2004 compared t1¢ 69% in
2003. Amortization for 2004 included an additional
charge for minimum amgortization of $78 million
and additional amortization on certain individuat
surveys of $23.5 million to write thase surveys
down to fair value, Minimum amortization in 2003
amounted to $4.0 million.

Cperating profit was $88.7 million in 2004
compared to a loss of $645.3 million in 2003. In
2003 the Company recorded impairments and
other operating (income} expense of $819.0
million.

Interest expense was $111.2 millien in 2004
compared to $115.5 million in 2003. Average
intesest bearing debt was significantly lower in
2004 compared 10 2003, but in 2003 most of the
debt did not accrue interest for approximately
threa months while the Company was in Chapter
11 proceedings. Other financial items amounted
10 a loss of $11.2 mitlion in 2004 compared to a
loss of $27.2 million in 2003. The 2003 amount
includes write off of $13.2 million of deferred debt
costs and original issue discounts,

- O_peraﬁ/ng profit

was $88.7 million
in 2004 compared
to a loss of $645.3
million in 2003

Adjusted EBITDA, when used
by the Company means net
income lloss) before financial
itamns, other gain (loss), taxes,
depreciation and amortization,
other {income) expense, impair
marnt of long-term assels and
discontinued operations. See
financial statements (Note 34}
for a reconciliation of Adjusted
EBITDA to Net Income {Loss),
Adjusted EBITDA may not ba
comparable to other siri-

larly titled measures frem other
companies. We have included
Adjusted EBITDA as a supple-
mental disclosure because the
Company beligves that it pro-
vides useful information regard-
ing PGS’ ability to service debt
and to fund capital expenditures
and provides investors with a
helpful measure for cornparing
our operating parformance with
that of other companies.
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Provision for income taxes was $28.6 million in
2004 compared 10 $26.4 million in 2003. Tax
expense primarily relates 10 withha!ding taxes,
taxes payable in regions where the Company has
no carfy-forward losses and to deferred 1axes for
Pertra, which is subject to petroleum taxation
rules in Norway with a nominal tax rate of 78%.
Under these taxation rules it is not possible to
offset Pertra's income against (ax losses from
other operations.

Net loss for 2004 was $53.9 millicn compared to a
netloss of $819.1 million in 2003.

Cash flow, balance sheet and
financing

Net cash provided {rom operating activities
amounted to $281.6 million in 2004 compared to
$220.1 million in 2003. The 2004 amount includes
payment of restructuring cost and cther operating
expense of $16.9 million compared to $71.1
million in 2003,

b

Cash and cash equivalents {excluding restricted

Board of Direclors’ Report

The Company's interest bearing debt consisted of
the following primary camponents at Decermnber

31, 2004:
10% Senior Notes, due 2010 .S 746 million -
8% Senior Notes, due 2006 . 250 n;_@ili;m
8.28% First Preferred Morigage Notes, due 2011 89 million
! Other loans, due 2005 - 2006 . 10mition,
“Toldebt. 7 o< S b 81105 million ]
Cattatonsos T T T Sy miten:

Net interest bearing debt {interest bearing debt,

including capital leases, less ¢cash and cash .
equivalents and restricted cash) was approximate- N .
Iy $995 million as of December 31, 2004 _

compared to $1,071 million {adjusted for the final ,The Company
excess cash distribution of $22.7 million which expectsto use a
was included in accrued expenses) at December portion of its cash
position and pro-

31, 2603.
ceeds from sale of
Pertra to reduce

" .51 164 million |

-

The Company expecis to use a portion of its cash
position and proceeds from sale of Pertra to
reduce debt during 2005, In March 2005, the

cash) amounted te $132.9 million at December Company called $175 million of its $250 million debt during 2005
31, 2004 compared $105.2 million at December 8% Senior Notes, due 2006, for repayment in
31, 2003. Restricted cash amounted to $35.5 April at a price of 102% of par. The remaining
millien at December 31, 2004 compared to $51.1 balance is callable at 101% of par starting
millien at December 31, 2003. November 2005.
The Company has a $110 million two-year secured Certain of the Company's loan and lease agree-
working capital facility (maturing March 2006), $70  ments and its senior nota indenture contain
million of which can be berrowed and usec for requirements 1o provide audited U.S. GAAP
generél corporate purpeses. The remaining $40 financial statements by June 30 of each year and
millior.\ is availabla for issuance of letters of credit to provide unaudited U.S. GAAP guarterly financial
to support bid and performance bonds associated statements within a specified period (typically 60
with PGS’ day-to-day operations. At December days) after the end of each of the first three
3n, 2604, approximately $15 millien of letters of quarters. The Company has received waivers and
credit were outstanding under this facility. No amendments allowing it 1o provide Norwegian
amounts were outstanding under the revolving GAAP financial statements in lieu of U.5. GAAP
credit portion of the facility. Further, the Company financial siatements until June 30, 2005.
in February 2005 established an additionat
overdraft facility of NOK 50 million as part of its In agdition 10 customary representations and
Norwegian cash poaling sysiem. warranties, certain of the Company’s debt
: agreemants contain covenants restricting the
The nbminal value of interest bearing debt, Company from incurring debt unless certain
including capital leases, was approximaiely $1,164  coverage ratios are met and limiting Company
million as of December 31, 2004 compared to financiat indebtedness, excluding project debt, 10
$1,204 million at December 31, 2003. $1.5 billion. These debt agreements also restrict,
! among other things; payment of dividends; ability
10 place liens on Company assets; the amount of
i subsidiary financial indebtedness; salefleaseback
' transactions; investments in project companies;
investment in multi-client Library; and asset
dispositions. Specifically, certain finanging
. agreements do not allow the Company to pay
dividends or make any similar distribution until the
5250 million 8% Senior Notes, due 2006, are
repaid.
PCS SOARD OF DIRZCTORS REPORT AMD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2004 . l 7
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— Further strength-
ening of financial
flexibility is a key
priority of the
Company.’

As required by Section 3-3 of the Norwegian
Accounting Act, we confirm that the financial
statements are prepared on the assumption of a
going concern.

Financial risk description

Financial market risk

PGS is exposed to certain financial market risks,
mainly adverse changss in intarest ratgs and
foreign currency exchange rates.

PGS conducts business in various currencies and
is subject to forgign currency exchange rate risk
on cash flows related to revenues, expenses,
financing and investing transactions in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar. Cur cash flows from
operations are primarily denominated in U.S,
dollars, British pounds and Norwegian kroner.
Our revenues are predominantly denominated in
U.S. dollars while some portion of our operating
expenses are incurred in British pounds and
Norwegian kroner. Substantially all of our debt is
denominated in U.S. dollars, Although we
periodically undertake limited hecging activities to
reduce certain currency fluctuation risks, these
activities provide only limited protection against
currency-related losses. As of December 31,
2004, we did not have any cpen derivative forward
axchange contracts to manage the exposure
related to these risks.

QOur exposure to changes in interest rates relates
primarily to our capital lease obligations and from
our UK leases. As of December 31, 2004, we had
capital lease obligations of approximately $59
milfion payable through 2008. Interest asscciated
with these capital lease obligations is based on
(.5, dollar LIBOR plus a margin.

PGS has entered into certain UK leases. The
leases are legally defeased because we have
made payments to independent third-party banks
in consideration for which these banks have
assurned liability to the lessors equal to basic
rentals and termination sum obligations. The
defeased rental payments are based on assumed
Sterling LIBOR rates between 8% and 9%. If
actual interest rates are greater than the assumed
interest rates, we receive rental rebates. If, on the
other hand, actual interest rates are lgss than the
assumed interest rales, we are required to pay
rentals in excess of the defeased rental payments.
Actual interest rates have been lower than the
assumed interess rates during the past several
years.

We enter into, from ttme to time, various financial
instruments, such as interest rate swaps, 10
manage the impact of possible changes in interest
rates. As of December 31, 2004, we had one
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open interest rate swap agreement in the
aggregate notional amount of $10.3 million which
does not qualify for hedge aceounting. The market
value of this agreement was approximately $(0.5)
million.

Credit risk .

The Company’s trade receivables are primarily
from multinational integrated oil cornpanies and
independent oil and natural gas companies,
including companies ownead in whole af in part by
foreign governments. We manage our exposure 10
gradit risk threugh ongoing c¢redit evaluations of
customers. Further, we believe that our exposure
1o credit risk is relative low due to the nature of
our customer base, the long term relationship we
have with most of our customers and the historic
low level of losses on trade receivables.

Liquidity risk

As described above, at year end PGS had a cash
balance of $132.9 million and a $110 million two-
year secured working capital facility {(maturing
March 2006}, In 2005, the Company established
an additional overdraft facility of NOK 50 million
and received approximately $156 million from the
sale of Pertra.

Based on the yearend cash balance, available
liquidity rescurces and the current strugture and
terms of PGS’ debt, we believe that PGS has
adequate liquidity and that liguidity risk is at
acceptable levels.

Investments

During 2004, PGS had a total cash investment of
$42.2 million in multi-client data library compared
to $91.5 million in 2003, a reduction of $49.3
million, or 54%, reflecting the Company's
continued focus towards the contract market.

Capital expenditures amounted to $148.4 million
in 2004 compared to $57.7 million in 2003, an
increase of $90.7 million. The increase relates in
large part to Pertra capital expenditures (mainly
drilling programyj, which increased $50.8 million to
$85.0 million in 2004. Capital expenditures in
Marine Geephysical increased $40.9 million to
$£56.9 million in 2004. This increase relates
primarily to the Company’s streamer replacement
program, increased investments in data process-
ing equipment and normal equipment replace-
ment after unusually low investment levels during
2003.

Shares, share capital and dividend

As of December 31, 2004, PGS had 20 000 000
authorized sharas issued and outstanding, all of
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which are of the same class and with equal voting
and dividend rights, Each share has a par vatue of
NOK 30.

The Company's shares are listed on the Oslo
Stock Exchange. The Company’s American
Depositary Shares ("ADSs”) are listed on the
NYSE.

Further strengthening of financial flexibility is a key
priority of the Company. Consequently the
Company expects to use its cash {low generation
to develop its core businesses and maintain or
improve financial ratios. The Company does
therefore not expect to pay ordinary dividends 0
shareholders in the next two to three years. The
Company is not allowed 1o pay dividends under its
loan agreements until the $250 millicn 8% senior
notes, due 2006, are repaid. At yearend 2004, the
parent company does not have tree equity that,
under Norwegian corporate law, can be distrib-
uted as dividends.

U.S. GAAP reporting, restatements
and internal control related matters
U.S. GAAP reporting

The Company filed its Annual Report en Form 20-F
for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2003, including
audited financial statements under U.S. GAAP for
the years 2003, 2002 and 2001 on Novernber 16,
2004.' PGS restated previously published U.S.
GAAP audited consolidated financial staternents
for the year ended December 31, 2001,

PGS' prirary financial reporting is U.5. GAAPR -
Since {ourth quarier 2003 the Company did not
have a basis to issue U.S. GAAP financial
statemnents until the 2002 and 2003 audits and
2001 re-audit of the Company's U.S. GAAP
financiat statements were completed. These
audited financial statements are now completed,
and the Company intends 1¢ commence reporting
its quarterly financial stalernents on a U.S. GAAP
basis effective first quarter 2005.

Eﬂecltive January 1, 2005 publicly traded
companies in EU ang EEA countries are required
te repart financial statements based on Inteina-
tional Financial Reporting Standards {“IFRS").
Several EU/EEA countries, including Norway, have
established transiticn rules allowing companies
that are listed for public trading in the U.S., and
therefore, have prepared complele financial
statements under U.S. GAAP at least from and
in¢luding 2002, 1o defer adopting IFRS reporting
until January 1, 2007 Based on its listing and
reporting history, PGS has concluded that the tran-
sition rules apply 10 the Company and intends 1¢
defer its IFRS reporting until January 1, 2007

Boaid of Cireciors’ Bepornt

Restatements

The Company's Norwegian GAAP auditad financial
statements for 2003 were issued with a qualifica-
tion that adjustments could arise from the results
of the audit of the Company’s financial statements
under U.S. GAAP for 2003 and 2002 and the re-
audit of the Company's U.S.-GAAP financial
statements for 2001. Upon completion of these
audits the Company concluded that its historical
treatment of interest-rate contingencies related to
its UK leases should be restated uncder Norwegian
GAAP This restatement reduced retained earnings
as of January 1, 2002 by $14.1 million. In addition,
the restatement increased cther financial items for
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003 by
$0.6 millien and $0.9 million, respectively.

Material Weaknesses

PGS has previcusly disclosed material weaknesses
in its internal controls over financial reporting. PGS
has taken extensive actions to address the material
weaknesses and has developed and is continuing
to implement a plan to remediate those weak-
nesses. While the actions the Company has taken
have signiticantly improved the quality of its
internat controls aver financial reporting, the
Company has not eliminated all material weak-
nesses that were previously identified. PGS is
committed to remediating the material weakness-
es and deficiencies in internal controls over
financial reperting as expeditiously as possible.

'

Health, Safety and Envircnment

( ”» H SE a” ) .

HSE management and reporting is a key element
in PGS’ evaluation of business performance for all
management [evels and the Board of Directors.

Geophysical operations offshore and on land, as
well as oil production offshore raise several
environmental issues. To meet the continuously
changing customer and industry expectations,
investments have baen made to further develop
our HSE systems and competence. PGS places
considerable emphasis on prevention and
reduction of negative enviranmental impact of our
operations worldwide. We apply a structured
approach to ensure that our HSE responsibilities
are well managed, and we strive for continuous
improvernant.

2004 was a good year with strong HSE perfor-
mance. PGS’ safety and environment results
compare favorably with the norm in the industries
in which we operate. Our HSE results effectively
support our effarts to develop and maintain our
position as a markes leader in both geophysical and
harsh environment floating production services.

Marine Geophysical has in 2004 implemented a
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tions.

Norwegian Petroteum Safety Authority (P

P First year ever without lost time incidents in
Production

P Implemented.best available technology (BAT)
to reduce discharges to sea within our seismic
operations

P Production was ISO 14000 limernational
standard for environmental management)
certified in 2004,

P Production {shuttle tankers) was certified by
International Ships and Pon Security Code
{ISPS}

P Perira headed up the oil industry's annual full
scale oil contingency exercise in cooperation
with NOFC (Norwegian Clean Seas Associa-
tion for Operators) with great success.

PGS had a total of 9 lost time incidents in 2004,
none which were of a serious nature. 2004 was
the first year ever with no lost time incidents on
any of Production's four FPS0s.

Overall, lost time incidens frequency was C.4 per
million man hours in 2004, compared with a
frequency of 0.33 for 2003 and 0.66 for 2002. The
1otal recordable case frequency was 2.3 per
million man hours in 2004 compared to 2.9 in
2003. Sick leave in our Norwegian operations was
4.5% in 2004 compared 10 4.6% in 2003,

n 2004 Pertra caused 3,000 liters of il to be
discharged to sea. The incident was caused by a
fatigue in a flexible production riser on the Varg
field. The incident did not cause any major damage
10 the environment or wild life at sea. Further, the
Company had in March 2004 a minor gas
explosion onboard the Petrojar/ Varg. The incident
did not cause any harm to people, the environ-
ment or our assets. The incidents were reported in
accordance with the regulations relating to
material and information in the petroleum
activities, sectien 11.

At December 31

2003 ]|
) '_ 1143
e

2004 ][
Lams
B 1011‘

2002}
" ass.
— o ) 1828
Proﬁucnonu B _4 _ .

Pertra - |

.
e e L

] Global Serwces/Reserv0|r,fCorporate .

Dlscontmued cperatlons
[ Total '

il :
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The nature of PGS’ operations requires a high

degree of technological expertise among its

personnel, Traditionally a high propertion of its

employees have been male. The Company strives

for balance and equality with respect to sex, age

and cultural backgreound, and considers this as a

main element of its core values. At December 31,

2004, 11% of the Company's employees were

fernale and 89% male, while the allocation for

PGS’ Norwegian employees was 20% female and

80% male. University educated males and

fermales (geophysicists, geologist, engineers elc)

in PGS have the same wage structure. However,

most females working in PGS are employed in

functions, which traditionally are paid less. About

25 percent of this group is employed in 80 percent

or less of a full time position for a shorier or

tonger period by own choice, primarily related to

responsibility for small children. In management ,,f ,“'
positions at PGS’ headquarters at Lysaker, 26
percent are ferale and 74 percents are male.
PGS’ Board of Directors has 6 male and 1 female
permanent dizectors.

g— The Company
strlves “for balance
and equality with
respect to sex, age
and cultural back-
ground, and consid-
ers this as a main
element of its core
values

The Company's head office is ai Lysaker, Norway.
PGS zlsp has offices in other cities in Norway,
and in the U.S., Angola, Australia, Brazil, China,
Egypt, England, Mexico, Nigeria, Russia, Singa-
pore, Scotland, the United Arab Emirates and
Venezuela.

Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance

In 2004 the Board of Directors consisted of Jens
Ulitveit-Moe {Chairman), Keith Henry (Aliernate .
chairman), Francis Gugen, Harald Norvik, Rolf Erik
Rolisen, Clare Spottiswoode and Anthony Tripodo,

all elected as permanent direciors for a two-year
pericd at the Extraordinary General Meeting held

on Cctober 16, 2003. Alternate directors are
Marianne Elisabeth Johnsen and John Reynolds,
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As part of the 2003 financial restructuring, the
Extraordinary General Meeting resclved that
Board decisicns on certain specified major
wansaclions, during the first two years atter the
completion of the restructuring, shall require the
support by the board members nominated by the
pre-restructuring shareholders (Messrs. Ulltveit-
Mce, Norvik and Relisen) or their successors, and
that until October 16, 2005, any etection of new
directors shall require the approval by more than
two thirds of the votes cast as well as of the
share capital which is represented at the General
Meeting.

The Board has established two sub-committees,
ihe Audit Committee, consisting of Messrs.
Gugen (Chairman), Tripodo and Norvik, and the
Remuneration Committee, consisting of Messrs.
Henry and Rolfsen, {o act as preparatery bodies
for the Board of Directors and to assist the
directors in exercising their responsibilities.

In 2004 the Board of Directors had 17 meetings.

PGS is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance. We believe that effective
cerporate governance is essential to the well
being of the Company and establishes the
framework by which we conduct ourselves in
delivering services to our customers ang value to
our shareholders.

PGS is registered in Norway as a public limited
company and the Company’s governance model is
built on Norwedgian corporate law, PGS also
adheres to requirements applicable to foreign
registrants in the U.S., where the Company's
ADSs are publicly traded, including the New York
Stock Exchange listing standards. The Company
otherwise implements corporate governance
guidelings beneticial to its business.

PGS’ corporate governance principles are adopted
by the Board of Directors. The Board conducts a
periodic review of these principles. Key aspects of
the Company’s corperate governance structure are
described in more detail in the separate corporate
governance report in the 2004 annual report. PGS
ASA’s articfes of association, in addition to full
versions of the rules of procedures for the Board
of Directors, ihe Audit Committee charter, the
Remuneration Committee charter and the code of
conduct are available on the Company's website
{www.pgs.com).

doard of Directors’ Report

Qutlook

The markets in which PGS operates showed
improvement in 2004. Qil prices varied signifi-
cantly through 2004, but generally at relatively
high levels. Development so far in 2005 is
favorable. Market analysts generally expect a high
orice level 10 continue. in the medium 1o long
term, high price Jevels would positively impact
PGS’ core markets.

Qver the past few years, E&P companies have
made relatively low investments in exploration,
and there is arguably still underinvestment in oil
axploration, despite increasad activity in 2004.
There are signs that the oil companies will be
gradually more active in exploration during the
¢coming years, as reserves replacement becomes
even more critical.

After a number of years of overcapacity, the
marine seismic market balance has improved, as
reflected in increased industry order backlog and
margins. Within floating production, increased
focus on smaller fields and tail-end optimization
forms a basis for growth in outsourcing where
PGS Production is well positioned with market
leadership in the North Sea and the potential to
grow in selected international markets.

in 20085, PGS will aperate from a more focused oil
services base seeking 1o further build its
competitive advantage and market leading
position. At the same time, PGS will continue to
manage its business in a financially disciplined
manner - focusing on improvement in return on
capital employed, cash generation and prudent
risk management.

In 2005, we expect the following factors to
influence perfermance:

Marine Geophysical

¥» Increased contract prices as a 3D market near
full capacity utilization is expected during 2005

» Muiti-client late sales fower than 2004 due to
limited reinvestment over the past three years
and expected delay of Brazilian 7th Licensing
Round sales into 2006

P Cost levels impacted by increased fuel prices
and weaker U.S. dollar compared to 2004

Onshore

P Continued focused approach centered around
markets where PGS can compete most
effectively

> Full year activity level at par with 2004, building
on expected start-up of significant transition
zone project in Nigeria and cantract awards for
South America crews

PGS BOARD OF DIRFCTOR 3" RE2ORT AND FINANCIAL STATLMENTS 2004
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Production

» The Company's FPSOs are all expected to Settiement of the parent company’s
continue producing on existing assignments loss for 2004
through 2006 The parent company, Petroleum Geo-Services
> Total oil proddclion from the four FPSOs taken ASA, reported a net loss of NOK 824,248,000 for
together is expected 10 be in line with 2004 2004. The Board of Directors proposes that the
> Increased maintenance cost as the time since loss is covered by transfer from additional paid in
deployment of alt FPSOs on their raspective capital.
fields is increasing. In addition USD currency
has deprecisted compared to 2004 At December 31, 2004, the parent company had
: no free equity that, under Norwegian corporate
The Board emphasizes that forward looking law, can be distributed as dividends.

statements contained in this report are based on
various assumptions made by the Company that
are beyond its controd and that are subject to
certain risks and uncertainties as disclosed by the
Company in its filings with the Oslo Stock
Exchange and the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commissian. Accordingly, actual results may
differ materially from those contained in the
torward looking statements.

'

March 31, 2005

M’ (‘” N NN

Jens Ulitveit-Moe ' Clare Spottiswoode Harald Norvik Anthony Tripodo
&m (ﬂbw
Rolf Erik Bblfsen Francis Gugen Svein Rennemo

Chief Exacutive Officeer
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Consolidated Finarcial Statements 2N04

P ) ) vep
etroleum Geo-Services e .

. . N A o p
Consolidated Statements of Operations =gz ory,,,, = *¢

Years ended December 31,
fin thousands of dollars) Note 2004 2003 2002

Revenue 4 $ 1 135 461 $ 1 120 658 § 992 336

Cost 01 sales/ —produc(s 639 251 584 717 473 B??
Depreciation and arnortization 4 326 996 305 419 - 356427
Research and developmeni costs 3419 2622 2766
Selling, general and administrative costs 65 314 . 54 251 55235
Impairment of long-lived assets 4,32 - 740 876 B07 416
Other operating expense, net 4,32 11 760 78 085 l.) 434

Total operating expenses 1046740 1765970 1711155

Operating profit {loss) 4 88 721 {645 312) 718 819}
Income {loss) from associated companies 9 5277 897 {1 691}
Interest expense 8 {111 233) {115 459) {161 252}
Oth 7 {11182) {27 181) 42803

Income (loss) bef come taxes (28 417) {787 055) _ (828 9591
Incorna ax expense 8 28 558 26 436 ' 201 944

Income {Ioss) from comlnumg operatlons [56 9151"-"”".” 1813 491)".“"“- {1 030 903)-".
Income tloss] from dlscontmued operations, net of lax 3 3048 (5 587) (215 349)

flnant:lal |te

et

Hereof minority interest $ 30 3 125 %

ereof majorty mterost vereeerssssrsenne 9 s.p5a2m | (8819203 $(1246202)

March 31, 2005

M(L\ Q&M%mw

Jens Ulltveit-Moe Clare Spottiswoode

Anthony Tripodo

k/l\uxu ﬂblm.w

Roif Erik Bblisen Francis Gugen Svein Rennemo
Chief Executive Officeer

Haratd Norvik
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i

Petroleum Geo-Services

Consolidated Balance Sheets

+

‘ ‘ December 31,
fin thousands of dollars) Note 2004 2003

ASSETS

Long-term assots: ‘
Long-lived intangible assets 12 $ 2075 3 1975
Property and equipment, net 14 : 1042279 1089098

" Multi-client library, net 15 240 596 367 700
Cil and natural gas assets, net 16 ’ 63 956 30678
Restricted cash 20 10 014 1004
Invesimenis in associated companies 4,5 5720 6 386
Other financial assets 17 40 105 29523

Current assets:
Accounts receivable, net ' 18 201 844 172 508
Other current assets 19 70 195 64 737
Restricted cash 20 25 477 41123
Cash and cash equivalents 132 942 105 225

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOQOLDERS' EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity:
Paid in capital:
Common stock (20 000 000 shares, par value NOK 30) $ 85714 $ 85714
Addi(lonal pald m capllal 287 576 287 576
Totar pa:d in capstal 373 290 373 290
Qther equity (70 436} {20 18)
M ncrltylmeres: 1 226 1 527
Total shareholders’ eqmty ' 304 080 354 699

Debt:
Accruals for long-term liabilities:
Deferred 1ax liabilities 8 28 445 4253
Other Iong letm llabtlmes ’ 23 133 342 4015

Total accmals for Iong term Ilabnmes 161 787 118 268

Other Iong-term debt
Long-term capital lease chligaticns 10 33156 61234
f 1108675

Current liabilities:

Short-term debt and cusrent portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 10, 24, 25 45 373 34 487
. Accounts payable 81910 56318
Accrued expenses 26 15 448 157 143
Income laxes payable 8 8 259 8 143

Toral current ||ab=||t|es et et . reveerereerans 250 990 276 091
Tolal Inabxlmes and shareholders equny s ‘l 835 203 s 1 918 967

PGS BOARD OF DIRECTSRE RE-CRT AND FINANCIAL STA TRITHN » 2ul4 | 15
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Petroleum Geo-Services

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

‘;(ears ended December 31,

{In thousands of ao.'.'ars) 2004 2003 2002
Cash flows fromloperating activities:
Net income (loss) $ [54277) $(819203) $1{1 246 252)
Adjustments to :raconcile net income {loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization charged to expense 326 996 305419 - 356427
Non-cash imp:_)irmenls and loss {gain) on sale of subsidiaries . 745 697 1039472
Non-cash write-off of defarred debt costs and issue discounts - 13162
Cash effects related to discontinued cperations - 3342 5 540
Provision [benefit) for deferred income taxas 26970 4 639} 184 577
Changes in current assets, current liabilities and other {37 881} {9 988) {16 625}
Loss on sale of assets 4128 6193 7 561
Net hncrease) decrease |n resmcted cash 15 646 (19 904) i 602
Net cash proviced by operating activities 281582 220 069 332302

Cash flows {used in} provided by investing activities:

Investment in multi-client library {42 159) (31 500 (190 4386)

Capital expenditures {148 372) {57 710 (60 759)

Capital expenditures on discontinued operations - (118) (77 364)

Sale of subsidiaries 2035 50 115 20222

Other nems net 4 031 ' 3 835 !9 030)
Net cash used in mvestmg actwmes (154 455) ’ (95 378] (31? 367)
Cash flows {used in) provided by financing activities:

Redempiion of preferred stock - (64 05) 198 983)

Repayment of long-term debt {24 167} {11 241) {241 826)

Principal payments under capital leases {21 121) {17 539) . {15 496)

Net increase (decrease) in bank facility and shon-term debt 1962 48) © 335348

Net (payments) receipts under 1ax eqgualization swap contracts . - 9 566

Distribution to creditors under the restructuring agreement {22 660) {17 932)

_Gther items, net B (3 488) . 3 098
Net cash used |n hnancmg acuvmes (69 474) (110 865) (3 2931
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 74 14 537

MNet increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 271717 13 840 12179

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 105 225 91 385 79 206
Cash and cash equwalems al end oi year $132942 $ 105225 3 91385
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Petroleum Geo-Services
Shareholders’ Equity
Accumulated
foreign
Agditiona!  currency Share-
Comman Stock paid-in transiation Other Minority holders’
fin thousands of dollars, except for share data) Number Par value capital  adjustments equity interast equity
Balance at December 31, 2002 102 347 987 $71807 % - $(6638) $007339) $1402 § (40768}
Restated for prior year net income effect:
UK leases - - - . {14 619 . (14 619
Restated balance at December 31, 2002 102 347 987 71807 - {6 638) {121 958} 1402 {55 387}
Cumulative effect of accounting principie
change January 1, 2003 - - - - 26 754} . - (26 754}
Effect of restructuring, Novernber 6, 2003:
Write down old sharecapital {102 347 987) (71 807) - - 71807 - -
Debt restructuring 20 000 C00 85 714 1010 989 - 157 148 - 1253851
Net incorng - - (723 413) - {95 790} 125 (819078
Transtation adjustments - - - 2087 - . 2 067
Balance at Decernber 31, 2003 20 000 000 B5 714 287 576 {4 571} (15 547} 1527 354 699
Net income . - - - (54 277} 350 {53 827)
Dividens to minority interest - - - - (264) - (264)
Revaluations {of shares available for sale) - - - - 5889 - 5889
Translation adjustments & other - - - (1 666} - 651} 2317)
Balance at December 31, 2004 20 000 000 $85714 $287576 $(6237) S (64199) .-$1226 S 304 0BO

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA has one class of shares, and as of December 31, 2004, common stock consisted of a 1otal of 20 000 000

shares of par valug NOK 3¢ each fully paid in,

During 2003, the Company completed an extensive financial restructuring [see Note 25 for more information). Besides a significant reduction
of the Company’s total debt, the restructuring lead to a cancellation of all existing shares, and the share capital was reduced 10 zero without
any payment to the existing sharehotders in respect of the cancelled shares. Simultanecusly with the registration of the reduction of the
share capital to zero, the reorganized Petroleurn Geo-Services ASA issued 20 000 Q00 new shares with a par value of NOK 30 per share,
giving a total share capital of NOK 600 million. The new shares were distributed 10 the Company’s creditors and existin‘g sharaholders.

The shareholders voting rights are equal to ownership percentage. A listing of the Company’s largest shareholders is provided in Note 21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General Information About the Company and Basis of Presentation

General:

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA {"PGS ASA") is a public limited liability
company established under the laws of the Kingdom of Norway in
1991. Unless stated otherwise, references herein to the “Company”
and “PGS™ refer to Petroleurm Geo-Services ASA and its majority-
owned subsidiaries and affiliates, companies in which it has and
controls a majority voting interest.

PGSisa techpologically focused oilfield service company
principally involved in providing geophysical services worldwide and
floating production services in the North Sea. Globaily, it provides a
broad range of geophysical and reservoir services, including seismic
data acquisition, processing and interpretation and field evaluation.
In the North Sea, the Company owns and operates four floating
production, storage and offloading ("FPSQ") vessets. Through 2004,
the Company also owned a small gil and natural gas company that
produces oil and natural gas from licences on the Norwegian
Contingntal Shelf. This investment was divested in March 2008. The
Company’s headquarters are at Lysaker, Norway. See further
discussion of thg Cormpany's services in Note 4.

The Company has prepared its consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
Norway "N GAAP"). The Financial Statements are presented in US
Dollars {"$*), which is defined as the reporting currency.

As mare fully described in Noie 3, the Company sold its wholly
owned software company PGS Tigress {UK) Ltd. in December 2003,
The Company sold its Production Services subsidiary in December
2002 and its Atiantis subsidiary in January 2003, which was finalized
and executed in February 2003. Accordingly, the financiat position
and results of operations and cash {lows for these subsidiaries have
been presented as discontinued operations as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

The accomgpanying financial statements have been prepared on
the basis of accounting principles that presume the realization of
assets and the setttement of liabilities in the ordinary course of
business. Accordingly, the financial statements do not purport 1o
present the realizable values of alt assets or the setilement amounts
of all fiabilities, and therefore, co nat reflect the adjustments in the
carrying values of our assets, liahilities, incoma statement items and
balance sheet classifications that would be necessary if the going
concern assumption was not an appropriate basis for our financial
statements.

In 2003 the Company, as more fully descrited in Note 25,
successfully completed a financial restructuring which involved
cancellation of all pre-restructuring share capital and a reduction of
interest bearing)‘debt of $1,283 million from $2,472 million to $1,189
miltion. Costs re:lating 10 this restructuring totalled $3.5 million and
$42.3 for the years ended Dacember 31, 2604 and 2003, respec-
tively and were expensed as other operating expense, net in the
consolidated statements of operations. In addition the Company
recorded $13.2 million in write-off of deferred debt costs and issue
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discounts, that were expensed as other financial items, net.

Upon emergence from Chapter 11, the Company, for the purpose
of adopting “fresh start” reporting in accordance with “The
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of
Position" {SOP 90-7) under generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"} and in order to perform
impairment reviews for its N GAAP financial statements, made a
full valuation, using external experts, of all its significant assels ant
liahilities, with a basis in the restructured enterprise value. Similarly
the Company adopted a new N GAAP standard for Impairment of
Assets effective January 1, 2003. In 10tal the Company recognized
the following impairments under N GAAP in 2003; $241.5 million in
multi-client library, $3670 million in Production assets, $129.1 million
in streamer fleet assets and $3.3 million in other long-term assets.
See Note 32 for further details of these impairments.

Restatements: )

The Company filed its Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year
ended December 31, 2003, including audited financial statements
under U.S. GAAP fer the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001 on November 16, 2004. In connection with finalizing the
audited financial statements in accordance with U.5. GAAR PGS
restated previously published U.S, GAAP audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2001.

The previously issued Norwegian GAAP audited financial
statements for 2003 were issued subject to adjustments that could
arise from the results of the audit of the Company’s financial
statements under U.S. GAAP for 2003 and 2002 and the re-audit of
the Company's U.S. GAAP financial statements for 2001, Upon
completion of these audits the Company has concluded that its
historical treatment of interest-rate contingencies related to its UK
leases should also be restated under Norwegian GAAR

In previgusly issued financial statements, all gains associated
with UK lease transactions were recognized as and when ascsociated
tax contingencigs were considered remote. However, a portion of
these gains should have been deferrad for liabilities related to the
ditference, at inception of the lease, between the projected future
distribution from the Payment Banks and the projected lease
payments, based on forward interest rate curves (see Note 2}. This
deterred gain should have been amortized over the term of the
lease. The restatement reduced retained earnings as of January 1,
2002 by $14.1 million. Furthermore, the restatement increased other
financial iterns for the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2003 by
$0.6 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

Further, as a reflectien of conclusions reached in connection with
the finalization of the U.S. GAAP financial statements for the years
2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company has incorporated certain
changes in the presentation and classification of transactions in its
Norwegian GAAP financial statements. Such changes inctude
separate balance sheet presentation of restricted cash and
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reclassification of two leases from operating leases to capital leases.
When completing the 2003 N GAAP financial statements, the
Company identified certain cests which historically had not been
accrued appropriately relating to seismic vessels costs of $2.9
million, vessel crew rotation costs of $4.0 million and accrued
vacation costs, relating to certain regions in the Company, of $3.7
millign. The effect of these accruals were recorded directly to
shareholders’ equity in the year ended Decemnber 31, 2002.

Material Weaknesses:

PGS has previously disclosed material weaknesses in its internal
conirols over financial reporting. PGS has taken exiensive action 10
address the material weaknesses and has developed and is
continuing to implement a plan to remediate those weaknasses.
While the actions the Company has 1aken have significantly
improved the quality of its internal contrels over financial reporiing,
the Company has not eliminated all material weaknesses that were

previously identified. PGS is committed to remediating the material
weaknesses and deficiencies in internal controls over financial
reporting as expeditiously as possible.

U.S, GAAP Reporting and Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS"):

PGS’ primary financial reporting is U.S. GAAP Effective Janvary 1,
2005 publicly traded companies in EU and EEA countries are
required to report financial statements based on IFRS, Several EUf
£EA countries, including Norway, have established transition rules
allowing companies that are listed for public trading in the U.S., and
therefore, have prepared complete financial statements under U.S.
GAAP at least from and including 2002, to defer adopting IFRS
reporting until January 1, 2007 Based on its listing and reporting
history, PGS has concluded that the transition rules apply to the
Company and plans to defer IFRS reporting until January 1, 2007

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with N GAAP
requires management to make estimates, assumptions and
judgments that affact the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. In many circumstances,
the ultimate outcome related to the estimates, assumptions and
judgments may ngt be known for several years after the preparation
of the financial statements. Actual amounts may differ materially
from these estimates due to changes in general economic condi-
tions, changes in laws and regulations, changes in future operating
plans and the inherent imprecision associated with estimates.

Consolidation and Equity Investments:

The Company’s consolidated financial statemenis include all
transactions of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, its wholly owned and
majority-owned subsidiaries that it controls. Subsidiaries are
consolidated in the accounts fram the point of time when the
Company gains control. Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated using
the purchase method of accounting. This implies that the purchase
costs: for the shares are assigned to the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiaries, ustng their air value at the date of acquisition. Any
exceass is recorded as goodwill. All inter-company transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidaticn. In those cases
where the subsidiaries are not wholly-owned, the minority interests
arg separately presented in tha consolidated statements of
operations and consolidated balance sheets.

Investments in associated companies in which the Company has
an-ownership inlerest equal to or greater than 20% but equal 10 or
less than 50%, and where the Company has the ability to exercise
significant influence are accounted for using the equity method. The
equity method implies that the Company’s share of net income in
the associated company is included in a separate ling in the profit
and loss statement, while the Company’s share of the associated
company's equity, adjusted for any excess values or goodwill, is
classified as a long-term asset in the balance sheet.

Shares available for sale with an available market value are carried
at fair value a1 each balance sheet date, with unrealised gains
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racorded directly to equity. Gains are recognized in the statement of
operations when realized.

Discontinued Operations: .

Subsidiaries that are either held-forsale or discontinued are reported
as discontinued operations. Revenues and expenses are excluded
from revenue and expenses of the Company and reported sepa-
rately as a one fine item in the consoclidated staterment of operations,
net of tax. Assets and liabilities are presented as separate line items
in the balance sheet. For further details, see discussions of such
discontinued activities in Note 3.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash eguivalents approximate fair
value. Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and all
highly liquid finangial instruments purchased with rnaturities of three
months or less.

Cash and deposits that are restricteéd from the Company’s use
are disclosed separately in the consolidated balance sheets and are
classified as current or jong-term depending on the nature of the
restrictions. Such restrictions primarity relate to bid bonds, employee
tax withholdings, restricted deposits under contracts, and cash in
our wholly owned ¢aptive insurance company.

Fareign Currency Translation: -

The Company's reporting currency is the US dollar (“dollar™) as it is
the functional currency for substantially all of its operations
thraughout the world.

The financial statements of non-US subsidiaries using their local
currency as their functional currency are translated using the current
exchange rate method. Under the current exchange rate method
assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect
at period end; share par value and paid-in capital are translated at
histerical exchange rates; and revenue and expenses are translated
at the average rates of exchange in effect during the period.
Translation adjustments, net of 1ax, are recorded as a separate
compaonent of shareholders’ equity.
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The Company's exchange rate between the Norwegian Kroner
and US dollar at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was NOK 6.13 and
NOK 6.79, respectively.

Operating and Capital Leases:

The Company has significant operating lease arrangements within all
the operating segments and also has some capital lease arrange-
ments mainly for tand seismic equipment. Capital leases are lease
arrangements where the substantial financial risk and contral, but
not ownership, of the assets are transferrad from the lessor to the
Company.

The Company accounts for capital lease arrangements as if the
Company had acquired the assets. Correspondingly the present
value of the future lease payments is accounted for as liabilities. The
‘assets are depreciated over the expected useful tife of the asset,
while the lease liability is reduced in accordance with the agreed
payment term.

UK Leases:

The Company has periodically executed leasing arrangements in the
United Kingdom {"UK leases”} relating to certain seismic and FPSO
vessels and/or equipment [see Nate 10). Under the UK leases,
generally UK financial institutions {”Lessors"} acquired the assets
from third parties and the Company leased the assets from the
Lessors under long-term charters that give the Company the option
10 purchase the assets or a bargain purchase price at the end of the
charter periods. These UK leases provids the Lessors with the tax
depreciation rights to the assets and, therefore, the ahility to utilize
the related tax benelits. Under these UK leases, the Company
indemnified the Lessors against certain future events that could
reduce their expected aftertax retuins. These events include
potential changes in UK tax laws or interpretations thereof (including
intarpretations relating to depreciation rates) and changes in interest
rates as the leases are based on assumed interest rates.

Due 10 the nature of the charters, the Company accounts for
theses leases as capital leases. The Company legally defeased its
future charter ohligations for the assets by making up-front, lump
sum payments to unrelated large institutional banks {"Payment
Banks"}, which then assumed the Company's liability tor making the
periodic payments due under the long-term chartars {the “Deleased
Renta! Payments”) equzl to the basi¢ rentals and termination sum
obligations, as defined in the agreements. The Company has no
rights to the amounts paid to Payment Banks. Due 1o the assump-
tion of the charter payment obligaticns by the payment banks, the
Lessors tegally released the Company as the primary obliger under
tha charters. Accordingly, the Company accounted for the release as
a derecognition af the capital lease obligations with respect 1o these
UK leases.

At the date that the Company executed any UK lease, tha
Company weated the excess of the capitalized asset value over the
amount required to legally defease the charter obligations as a
deferred gain. The deferred gain related to indemnification for tax
contingencies and for changes in future interest rates. In previously
issued financial statements, all gains associated with UK lease
wransactions wera recognized as and when associated {ax contin-
gencies were considered remote. However, a porticn of these gains
should have been deferred for liabilities related 10 the difierence, at
inception of the lease, between the projected future distribution
from the Payment Banks and the prejected lease payments, based
on forward interest rate curves. This deferred gain should have been
amortized over the term of the lease. The financial statements for
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been restated
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to reflect this accounting {see Note 1 and 10}.

The Deteased Renial Payments are based on assumed Sterling
LIBOR rates of hetween 8% and 9% (the "Assumed Interest
Rates”). It actual interest rates are greater than the Assumed
Interest Rates, the Company receives rental rebates. Conversely, if
actual interest rates are lass than the Assumed Intarest Rates, the
Company is required 10 pay rentals in excess of the Deteased Rental
Payments (the "Additional Required Rental Payments”). Such
payments are made annually or bi-annually and are recorded as other
financial items, net.

Receivables Credit Risk:

The Company's trade receivables are primarily from multinational
integrated oil companies and independent oil and natural gas
companies, including companies owned in whale or in part by
foreign governmentis. The Company manages its exposure to credit
risk through ongoing credit evaluations of customers and has
provided for pelential credit losses through an allowange for doubtful
accounts. The allowance for doubtiul accounts reflects manage-
ment's best estimate of probable lossas inherent in accounts
receivable from trade customerss and is based on a number of
factors consisting mainly of aging of accounts, historical experience,
customer concentiation, customer creditworthingss, and curient
industry and economic trends. The Company does not believe that
exposure to concentrations of credit risk is fikely to have a material
adverse impact on its financial position or results of eperations,

Retirement Plans:

Defined benetit pension plans are estimated as present valua of
future pension compensation, which for accounting purpose are
considered earned as of balance sheet date. Pension assets are
estimated at fair value. Net pension liabilities on under-fundad plans
are recorded as other long-term liabilities, while net pension asseis
on over-funded plans are re¢orded as other long-term assets, if it is
prebable that the overfunded amounts can be utilized. Changae in
the pension liability, which is caused by amendments to the pension
plans, is apporticned over the expected average remaining years of
service.

The Company's contributions to defined contnbution plans are
expensed as incurred.

The actual pension costs are charged 1o salaries and social
expenses and are included in cost of sales and selling, general and
administration costs as appropriate, in the consolidated statements
of operations.

Mutti-Client Library:

The multi-client library consists of seismic surveys to be licensed to
customers on a nonexclusive basis. Costs directly incutred in
acquiring, processing and otherwise completing seismic surveys are
capitalized into the multi-client library, including the applicable
portion of interest costs,

Beginning January 2003, the Company no longer capitalizes the
proportionate cost of relocating its crews (steaming} batwaen
surveys and the apportioned cost of yard stays.

The multilient library is stated at the lower of survey cosis less
accumulated amortization or fair value. Fair vatue is calculated based
upon remaining forecasted future sales less estimated selling costs,
discounted 10 a net present value using discount rates that give
effect to the inherent risk in the sales forecasts.

The Company records its investment in the multi-client library in
a manner consistent with the capital investment and operating
decision analysis, which generally results in each component of the
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multi-client library being recorded anc evaluated separately. Projects
that are in the same poligEaleggirne, with similar gaological 1raits
! recorded and evaluated as a

spplies to certain surveys in
G

multi-client library iS~ggnerglly recorded in
proportion to rgége re_c‘ognize_ii 11@53569 ¥pgfcentage of the

g en‘ EN!J dgterminmg then al amertization rates
m7° ient library, manage
future sales antheat? :

group by year of co
Brazil and the Gulf

sglegfand operating management
estimate, at least annually, the totdl expected revenue for each
survey or group of surveys of the multi-client library. Becausa of the
inherent difficulty in estimating future sales and market develop-
ments, it is possible that the amortization rates could deviate
signifié:antly from year to year, To the extent that such revenue
estimates, or the assumptions used to make those estimates, prove
to be higher than actual revenus, the Company’s future operations
will reflect lower profitability due to increased amortization rates
applied to the multi-client library in tater years, and the muiti-client
library may also become subject to minimum amortization andfor
impairment. Effective November 1, 2003, the Company has
categorized its multiclient surveys into three amortization categories
with amortization rates of 90%, 75% or 60% of sales amounts.
Classification of a project into a rate category is based on the ratio of
its remaining net book value 10 its remaining sales estimate. Each
category includes surveys where remaining book value as a
percentage of remaining estimated sales is less than or equal to the
amortjzation rate applicable to each category.

SurF\revs completed in 2003 and prior years

An integral compeonent of amortization of the multi-client library is
the minimum amortization policy. Under this policy, the bock value
of each survey or group of surveys of the multiclient library is
reduced to a specified percentage by year-end, based on the age of
the survey or group of surveys in relation to its year of complation.
This requirement is applied each year-end regardless of future
revenua estimates for the multiclient library survey or group of
surveys. The specified percantage generates the maximuem book
value for each multi-client library survey or group of surveys as the
product of the percentage multiplied by the original book value of
the multiclient linrary survey or group of surveys at the respective
pericd-end. Any additional or “minimum® amortization charges
required are then determined through a comparison of the remain-
ing book valye to the maximum hook value allowed for each survey
or group of surveys of the multi-client library. -

Effective November 1, 2003 the Company revised the minimum
amortization period from eight years for marine surveys and live
years for onshore surveys to five years for both marine and onshore
projects from the end of the year of completion {the year when the
project is completed and processed data is ready and available for
use) and three years for derivative processed projects (processing or
reprocessing that creates data that can be marketed and sold as an
addition to the existing library) from the end of the year of comple-
tion. Existing marine surveys were accorded a transition profile that
wilt generally shorten their cemaining minimum amortization period
by one year as compared 10 the previous profile.

The specified percentages of the total capitalised cost the
Company used 10 determine the maximum book value of its multi-
client library components are summarized as follows:

New surveys

Calendar year Marine Land Calendar year S-year J-year
of completion sSUrveys sSurveys after completion Profile Profile
2003 - B0% 80% Year } 80% 66%
2002 60% 60% Year 2 60% 33%
2001 40% 40% Year 3 40% 0%
2000 20% 20% Year 4 20%

1993 10% 0% Year 5 0%

1998 10%

1997 0%

In'addilion, effective January 1, 2004, the Company classilies
write.downs of individual multi-client surveys which are based on
changes in project specific expectations and not individually
material, as amortization expense. Such additional, non-sales related,
amortisation expenses would be expected to appear regularly since
projects are evaluated on an individual basis, except as described
above. Write-downs related 10 fundamental changas in estimates
affecting a larger pari of the Company’s multi-client library and which
are material are classified as impairment in the consolidated
statement of operations. Previously all write-downs of multi-client
Iibrar‘y were classified as impairment expense.

Research and Development costs:
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
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Property and EQuipment:
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation, amortizaticn and impairment charges. Depregiation and
amortization are calculated based on cost less estimated salvage
values using the straight-line method for all property and equipment,
excluding leasehold improvements, which are amortized over the
asset lite or lease term whichever is shorter, Through the first ten
months of 2003 the unit-of-production method of accounting was
used for one of the FPSO vessels. .

The estimated useful lives for the Company's property and
equipment, as of December 31, 2004, were as follows:
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Years
Seismic vessels 20-25
Seismic and operations computer equiprment 3-15
FPSO vessels and equipment 25 - 30
Buildings and related leaseheld improvements 1-3C
Fixture, furniture, fitings and office cormputers 3-5

Expenditures for major properly and equipment that have an
economic useful life of at least one year are capitalized as individual
assets and depreciated over their useful lives. Maintenance and
repairs, including periodic maintenance and class surveys for FPSOs
and seismic vessels, are expensed as incurred. The Company
capitalizes the applicable portion of its interest costs to major capital
projects. When p;roperty and equipment are retired or otherwise
disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is
included in the results of operations.

0i! and Natural Gas Assets:

Eftective January 1, 2003 the Company adopted the successful
efforts method of accounting for il and natural gas properties.
Under this method, all costs of acquiring unproved oil and natural
gas properties and dnlling and equipping exploratary wells are
capitalized pending determination of whether the properties have
proved reserves. If an exploratory well is determined io be non-
productive, the drilling and equipment costs for the well are
expensed at that time, All development drilling and equipment costs
are capitalized. Capitalized costs of proved properties are amortized
on a property-by-property basis using the unit-of-production method
whereby the ratio of annual production to beginning of period proved
oil and natural gas reserves is applied to the remaining net book
value of such properties. Oil and natural gas reserve quantities repre-
sent estimates only and there are numerous uncenainties inherent
in‘the estimation process. Actuat future production may he materi-
ally different from amounts estimated, and such ditferences could
raterially affect future amocrtization of proved properiies. Reserves
numbers are updated quarterly by the Company and verified at least
annually by independent reservoir engineers. Geological and
gsophysical costs are expensed as incuired.

Long-lived assets to be held and used, including proved oil and
natural gas propprlies accounted for under the successiul efforts
method of accounting, are assessed for impairment whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those
assets may not be recoverable. An impairment 10ss is indicated if
the sum of the expected future cash flows, discounted, is less than
the carrying amount of the assets. In this circumstance, an
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

Unproved properties are periodically assessed for impairment
and a loss is recognized at the time of impairment. Unproved oil and
natusal gas properties that are individually significant are periodically
assessed for impairment by comparing their cost 10 their estimated
value on a project-by-project basis. The remaining unproved oil and
natural gas properties, if any, are aggregated and an overalt
impairment a!loyvance is provided based on historical experience.

Goodwill: '

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over fair value
of the net assets acquired, and is stated at cost less accumulated
amertization and any impairment charges. Goedwill amortization is
based on an individi:al assessment and calculated on a straight-ling
basis over the efstima:ed life.

Other Long-Lived Intangible Assets:

Other long-lived intangible assets generally relate to direct costs of
software product development, patents, royalties and licenses.
Other long-tived intangible assets are stated at cost less accumu-
lated amortization and any impairment charges. Amortization is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated peried of
benefit, ranging from one 10 ten years. -

Other Financial Assets: ‘

Other financial assets consist of costs related to entering into long-
term loan facilities (deferred debt issue costs) and long-term
receivables. The Company defers debt issue cosis relating to leng-
term debt, which is charged to expense using tha effective interast
method over the period loans are ouistanding. Such expense is
charged 1o interest expense. Long-term receivables includes
accounts receivable expected to be collected more than twelve
months after the balance sheet date (including government grants
and contractual receivables related 10 asset removal obligations) and
also net pension assets on over-funded plans.

Impairment of Long-Lived Asseéts:
Long-lived assets (multi-client library, property, plant & eguipment
and oil & gas assets) are assessed for pessible impairment when
indications of impairments exist. Events that can trigger assess-
menis for pessible impairments inctude, but are not limited to (i)
significant decreases in the market value of an asset, (i) significant
changes in the extent or manner of use of an asse, {ii) a physical
change in the asset, {ivl a reduction of proved oil and natural gas
reserves based on field performance and (v) a significant decrease in
the price of oil or natural gas. In assessing impairment, the carrying
values of assets or cash generating units are compared to their
recoverable amounts, defined as the higher of estimated selling
price and value in use. Value in use is computed based on discount-
ed estimated future cash flows. Impzired assets are written down to
their estimated recoverable amounts.

See further details on multi-client library above.

Loss Contracts: -

The Company reviews its revenue-producing exclusive contracts in
the ordinary course of business to determine it estimated costs 10
pertorm the contract exceed the estimated contract revenue. Any
resulting net loss is expensed at the time the loss is determined.

Derivative Financial Instruments:
Derivative instrumaents are recognized in the balance shaet at their
fair values while realized and unrealized gains and losses attributable
to derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are recognized in income as they arise. To gualify tor hedge
accounting, the details of the hedging relationship must be formally
documented at inception of the arrangement, including the risk
management objective, hedging strategy, hedged items, specific
risks that are being hedged., the derivative insirument and how
effectiveness is being assessed. There are three types of hedges:
cash flow hedges, which are hedges that use derivatives to offset
the variability of expected future cash flow, fair value hedges, which
are hedges that eliminate the risk of changes in the fair value of
assets, liabilities and certain firm commitments, and net investmant
hedges, which hedge foreign ¢uirency exposuse of a net investment
in a foreign operation, -

The Company uses cerivalive financial instruments periodically to
manage exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
changes in interest rates on variable rate debt, and firm commit-
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mants or expected future cash flows associated with the purchases
of property, plant and equipment, The Company may also use
derivatives 1o manage exposure 1o commaodity price fluctuations tor
oil and natural gas. The Company does not engage in derivative
financial instrument transactions far speculative purposes. As of
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company did not have
outstanding any derivative financial instruments that qualified for
hedge accounting.

Revenue Recognition:

The Company has elected to use the US Securities and Exchange
Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin {SAB) No. 104 Revenue
Recognition as principle for recognising revenue. SAB-104 is
congidered to be in compliance with N GAAP for the principles
applied. The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive
evidence of a sale arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered, 1he sales price is fixed or determin-
abla and collectibility is reasonably assured. The Company defers the
unearned component of payments received from customers for
which the revenue recognition requirements have not been met, On
July 1, 2003, the Company adopted the provisions of EITF 80-21,
"Revenue Arrangement with Multiple Deliverables® which is also
considered to be in accordance with N GAAP Consideration is
allocated among the separate units of accounting based on their
relative fair vatues. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a
matarial impact on the Company's financial position or results of
operations. The Company’s revenue recognition policy is described
in more detail below,

1. Geophysical Services (Marin, Onshore and Other}:

{a} Sales of Multi-Client Library Data:

Late sales — The Company granis a license to a customer, which
entitles the customer to have access to a specifically defined portion
of the multiclient data library. The customer’s license payment is
fixed and determinable, and typically is required at the time that the
license is granted. The Company recognizes revenue for late sales
when the customer executes a valid license agreement and has
been granted access to the licensed portion of the muiti-client library
and coltection is reasonably assured.

Voturne sales agreements - The Company grants licenses 10 the
customer for access to a specitied number of blocks of muiti-client
library within a defined geographical area. These licenses typically
enable the customer to select and access the specific blocks over a
period of time. Although the license fee is fixed and determinable in
all cases, the payment terms of individual volume sales agreements
vary, ranging from payment of the entire fee at the commencement
of the volume sales agreement, to instalment payments over a
mutti-year period, to payment of the license fee as the specitic
blocks are selected.

Revenue recognition for volume sales agreements is based on a
ratable portion of the total volume sales agreement revenue,
megasured as the customer executes a license for specific blocks
and has been granted access to the dats and collection is reasonably
assured.

Pre-funding arrangements — The Company obtains funding from
a limited number of customers before a seismic project commenc-
es. In return for the pre-funding, the cusiomer typically gains the
ability to direct or influence the project specifications, to access data
as it is being acquired and to pay discounted prices.

Pre-tunding revenue is recognized as the services are performed
on a proportional performance basis. Progress is measured in a
manner generally consisteni with the physical progress on the

P3S BOARD OF CIRECTDF 8° RECORT AND FIMANCIAL STATEAM M5 2004

114

project, and revenue is recognized based on the ratio of the project’s
progress to date 10 the total project revenues, provided that all
other revenue recognition criteria are satisfied.

(b} Proprietary Sales/Contract Sales:

The Company periorms seismic services for a specific customer,
in which case the seismic data is the exclusive property of that
custormner. The Company recognizes proprietary/coniract revenue
as the services are perfarmed, and become chargeable to the
custormer on a proportionate performance basis over the term of
each contract, Progress is measured in a manner generally consis-
tent with the physical progress of the project, and revenue is
recognized based on the ratio ¢f the project’s progress 1o date 10 the
total project revenues, provided that all other revenue recognition
criteria are satisfied.

{c) Other Geophysical Services:

Revenue from other geophysical services is recognized as the
services are performed, provided all other recognition criteria are
satisfied. -

2. Production Services;

Tariff-based revenue irom the Production services is recognized as
production oceurs, while day-rate revenue is recognized over the
passage of time, provided all other recognition criteria are satisfied.

3. Revenue Products {Pertra}):

Revenue from the Company's ownership of production licenses is
recognized when pwnership of produced oil passes {0 the customer
{delivery).

Capitalization of costs associated with a revenue contract is limited
1o the delerred revenue related to the contract.

In the Consolidated Statements of Operations ieimbursements
received for expenses incurred under a contract are characterized as
revenue in line with EITF 01-14 “Income Statement Characterization
of Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred’
which is also considered to be in accordance with N GAAP

Income Taxes:

Deferred tax assets and liahilities are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences of transactions and evenis. Under this
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in
which the differences are expecied o reverse. Deferred tax assots
are reduced by a valuation allowance to record the deferred tax
assets at an amount that is more likety than not te be recoverable.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted tor the affects of
changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. At
acquisition, excess values are recorded as gross, including deferred
tax, while goodwill is recognised net, excluding deferred tax accrual,
The Company does not recognize any deferred tax liability on
unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries when remittance is
expected to be delerred indefinitely.

Asset Retirement Obligations:

The Company records the fair value of an asset retirement obligation
["AR0O") as a liability in the period when it is incurred [typically when
the asset is installed at the production location). When the liability is
initially recorced, the entity capitalizes the cost by increasing the
carrying amount of the related properties, plant and equipment.
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Qvar time, the liability is increased for the change in its present
velue each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciaied over the. -
usaful life of the related assal, Alsg, revisions to a previously
recorded ARQ may result from changes in the estimated cash flows
required to settle the ARO. The effect of such changes are recorded
as cost of sales. _

The Company has asset retirement obligations associated with
its oil and gas prbducing activities in the Norwegian North Sea and
with the sub-sea production facility associated with its Ramform
Banff FPSO also operating in the North Sea. These cobligations
generally relate to restoration of the environment surrounding the
facility and remaval and disposal of all the production equipment, For
oil and natural gas production facilities, the obligations are generally
statutory as well as contractual. The asset retirement obligations will
be reduced by grants from the Norwegian government, and with
contractual payments from FPSQ contract counterparts. These
receivables have been included in the conselidated balance sheets
under other financial assets.

{_f‘\lote 1_31} Acquisitions and Dispositions

In December 2002, the Company sold its Production Services
{formerly Atlantic Power Group) subsidiary to Petrofac Limited and
recognized $26.8 millian gross loss on disposal of this subsidiary in
2002. The Company received proceeds of $20.2 million at the
closing date and received an additional $3.8 million in 2003 upen
settlement of the working capital. Furthermore, the Company
recorded additional gains of $3.0 million and $3.5 million relating to
contingent events for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The Company is eligible to receive an additicnal
$3.0 million upen the pecurrance of certain contingent events
through 2010.

In February 2003, the Company sold its Atlantis oit and gas
activities to Sinclnchem. and received proceeds of $48.6 million in
addition to $10.6 million as reimbursements of outlays on behalf of
Sinochemn. The Company may receive up to $25.0 million in
additional, contingent proceeds, which currently has not been

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Consolidated
Statements of Operations:

The Company's consolidated statements of cash flows is prepared
in accordance with the indirect method, where cash flows from
operating activities are incorperated as a pan of the cash flow
statement, and where the cash flows are divided into operating
activities, investing activities and financing activities. In order to
provide the best possible recongiliation te eur financial statements
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP the Company has decided
to use Net Income {Loss) as the basis for presentation of cash flows
from cperating activities. Similarly, the consolidated statement of
operations is presented on a format used under U.S. GAAP where
operatling costs are classified as; cost of sales, research and
development and selling, general and administration costs.

Commitments and Contingencies;

The Company accrues for loss contingencies when it is probable
that a loss will result from a contingency, and the amount of the loss
can be reasonably estimated. ’

recognized. During 2002, the Cempany recognized $180.1 million in
impairment charges, including the estimated loss on disposal. The
Company recorded an additional $4.8 millign in 1oss on disposal of
this subsidiary in 2003.

In December 2003, the Company sold its wholly owned software
company PGS Tigress {UK) Ltd. for a deferred compensation of
approximatety $1.8 million, payablé during 2004 and 2007 off which
the first payment was received in December 2004. The Company
may also receive additional contingent proceeds based on perfor
mance of the company through 2006. As of December 31, 2004, the
Cempany had not received any such contingent proceeds. The
Cempany recognized n¢ net gain of loss on the disposal of Tigress.

The results of operations, net assets and cash flows for the
above mentioned subsidiaries have been presented as discontinued
operations for 2003 and 2002, and are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,

) 2003 2002
{in thousands of doflars) Tigress Tigress Atlantis Production
Revenue . 1244 1684 23 452 181 302
Operating expenses before deprecistion, amortization,
impairment and other cperating income and expenses 2 697} (3 298} (15 836) {176 842)
Depreciation and amortization (707} {1 105} - {455)
Impairment of long-term assets — - {190 101) .- -
Other o ing income and expenses (512) (482) - -
ses (3918) (4 885} {205 837) {177 097)
Operating profit (loss} {2672) {3 201} (182 485) 4 205
{1213) (1278} 1545

Financial expenses and other financial items, net

Capital expendithres of discontinued operations

18 135 77126
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A reconcitiation of income (loss) before income taxes, as reported above, and income (loss) from discontinued operations, not of tax, as

presented in the consoclidated statements of operations, is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

fin thousands of dolars) 2004 2003 2002
Income (loss) before income taxes - (3 885) {181 288)
Loss on disposal — 4 821} {26 791}
Additional procesds 3048 3500 -
Income tax benefit texpensel L= {381} (7 270}

Income {less) from discontinued operations, net of tax 3048 {5 587) {216 349}

Operating expenses relating 1o discontinued operations includes
corporate management fees based on actual charges to these
entities. For continuing operations such fees are presented in the
segment for Research/Shared Services/Carporate (see note 4).

~ Allocation of interest expense to discontinued operations is
based on actual interest charged o the respective entities.

During August 2002, the Company purchased an aggregate 70%
interest in PL 038 on the Norwegian Continental Shelf of the North
Sea. The interest was purchased from S1a10il (28%) and Norsk Hydro
{42%). The Company’'s 30% partner is the Norwegian government’s
State Direct Financial Interest, The Company's FPSO vessel, Patrojart
Varg, has been in production on the Varg field of the license since
December 1998.

Subsequent event:

On February 1, 2008, the Company signed an agreement to sell its wholly-
owned subsidiary Pertra AS to Talisman, and the transaction was
closed March 1, 2005. The salgs price was approximatety $155
million with a gain totalling approximately above $140 million, based
on book-value of net assets of December 31, 2004. The Pertia
operations up to March 1, 2005, will be presented as discontinued
operations in the censolidated financial statements for 2008,

See note 4 for selected finangial information for Partra for the
years ended Becember 31, 2004, 3003 and 2002. In addition incoma
hefore income taxes for these years were $26.6 million, $31.7
million and $3.2 million and income tax expense were $27.6 million,
$5.3 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

Segment and Geographic Information

In 2004 we managed our business in four segments as follows:

* Marine Geophysical, which consists of both streamer and
seaflpor seismic data acquisition, marine muylti-client library ang
data processing.;

¢ Onshore, which consists of ali seismic operations on land and in
very shallow water and transition zones, including onshore multi-
client library;

. Pr'oduction, which owns and operates four harsh environment
FPSOs in the Narth Sea; and

* Pertra, a small oil and natural gas company that owned 70% of
and was operator for PL 038 on the Norwegian Continental Shelf
{"NCS"} and alsc had participating interest in six additional NCS
licenses without current production,

Pertra was sold to Talisman in March 2005 and will be reported as
discontinued operations in the 2005 financial statements.

The Company manages its Marine Geophysical segment from
Lysaker, Norway, its Onshore segment from Heuston, Texas, and its
Production segment and Pertra from Trendheim, Norway.

The principat markets for the Production segment are the UK and
Norway. Pertra produces its oil in Norwegian waters, but oil is sold
as a commodity worldwide. The Varg fietd {PL 038), which is 70%
owned and operated by Perira, is producing using the FPSQ Fetrojart
Varg, which is owned and operated by the Company’s Production
segment, The Marine Geophysical and Onshore segrnents serve a
worldwide market. Customers for all segments are primarily
composed of major multi-national, independent and national or
state-owned oil companies. Corporaie overhead has been presented
under Reserveir/Shared Services/Corporate. Significant charges,
which do not relate to the operations of any segmant, such as dett
restructuring costs, are also presented as Reservoir/Shared
Services/Corporate. Information related 1o discontinued operations
during any period presented has been separately aggregated.
Affiliated sales are made at prices that approximate market value.
tnterest and income tax expense is not included in the measure of
segment performance.

Information by business segment is summarized as follows:
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! ' Reserveir/ /
Shared
Marine . Services/
fln thousands of dollars) Geophysical Onshore  Production Pertra a)  Corporate  Elimination Total
Revenue, unaffiliated companies:
2004 565 307 133 162 237 815 186 717 12 460 - 1135461
2003 582 687 154 034 248310 121 641 13 686 — 1120 658
2002 548 186 109 094 289514 32697 12 845 - 992 336
Revenue, including affiliates:
2004 ) 574 214 133 162 298 202 186 717 20 852 {77686) 1135461
2003 584 180 154 034 293 415 121 641 21200 53812) 1120658
2002 ' 553597 109 094 304 397 32697 16 022 (23 471} 992 336
Depreciaiion and amortization: (e}
2004 199 487 36 685 39794 47 N 3239 326 996
2003 . 195 397 38023 41783 24 788 5428 ' - 305419
2002 251 925 37617 56 640 5381 4 864 -— 356 427
Other operating expenses; {b) i
2004 365191 98 216 173 486 108 272 38912 - (76093) ~ 707984
2003 | 335802 99 164 164 672 60784 34 980 (53 812} 641 590
2002 ) 277 463 78217 140 206 23572 3089 (18 471} 531878
Adjusted ERITDA: (c)
2004 209023 34 946 124 716 78 445 {18 060) {1 593) 427 4717
2003 . 248 378 54 B70 128 743 60 857 {13 780} —-_ 473 068
2002 276134 30877 1684 191 9125 (14 868} {5 000} ABD 458
Impairment of long-lived assets:
2004 - e - - - L -—
2003 359834 11 822 3567 021 - 2199 - 740 876
2002 310734 64 B08 429714 - 2 160 — 807 416
Other operating expense, net: -
2004 ; (13) 9 - 11 764 o 11760
2003 , 22908 304 - - 54 873 - 78 085
2002 1341 2625 - - 11 468 -_ 15 434
Operating profit {loss):
2004 : . 9549 {1 748) 84 922 30 654 {33 063) (1593) 88 721
2003 329 761) 4721 {280 061) 36 069 (76 280) - (645 312)
2002 ! (287 866) {74 173) (322163 3744 (33 361} {5 000} (718 819)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax: .
2004 . - -— 3048 e - - 3048
2003 4 298} - 3500 ’ 14 789} - bt {5 587)
2002 (7 804) - (22 846) (184 699} - — (215349
Investment in associated companies; : ’
2004 ' 235 - 5411 - 74 5720
2003 ! 1 605 - 4 807 - 74 —_ 6 386
Total assets: '
2004 : 773 485 89 205 721907 113639 136 967 —en 1835203
2003 - ' B8B83 184 113 345 769 944 60 897 91 697 — 1918 967
Additions 1o long-lived tangible assets: (d} '
2004 ’ 88 761 10 817 988 84 991 5088 {114) 190531
2003 84 486 28 233 515 34 165 181 - 149 210
2002 ' 198 780 32081 8238 10913 1 203 — 251 195
Capital expenditures on discontinued operations: ’
2004 e - - [ - —
2003 ! ns - - — - - 18

2002 ) 135 - 103 77126 = - 77 364

fa) Discontinued operations, net of tax, and capital expenditures on discontinued operations, included in segment data for Pertra, relates to Allantis,
which was a part of the Company’s oil and natural gas operations prior to its disposition in early 2003, The discontinued operations related 1o
Tigress and Production Services are related to Marine Geophysical and Production, respectively.

) Other operating expenses consist of cost of sales/-products, research and development costs, and selling, general and administrative €osts.

{c) Ses Note 34 for {urther cefinition of Adjusted EBITDA and a full reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA from Net Income {Loss).

{d) Consist of cash investment in multi-client hbrary and capital expenditures.

fe) Includes costs associated with dry wells for 2004 (Pertra).
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Since the Company provides services worldwide to the oil and natural gas industry, a substantial portion of the property and equipment is
mobile, and the respective locations at the end of the pariod {as listed in the table below, together with multi-client library and oil and natural
gas assets} are not necessarily indicative of the earnings of the related property and equipment during the period. The geographic classitica-
tion of income statement amounts listed below is based upon focation of performance ¢r, in the case of multi-client seismic data sales, the
area where the survey was physically located.

i

Information by geographic region is summarized as follows:

l Elimination of
Asiaf Middie East affiliated

fin thousands of doifars) Americas UK Norway Pacific Africa /Other  ~ sales Total
Revenue, unafitliated companies:
2004 269 629 191 745 340 367 191703 112503 29514 - 1135481
2003 317183 204 485 267 892 115 365 145 385 70348 - — 1120658
2002 220633 254 087 224 856 142170 80393 70197 —_ 992 336
Revenue, includes affitiates:
2004 269 629 194 712 347 154 191 703 ".2 503 29514 [9 754) 1 135 461
2003 - 317183 206 585 273 14 115 365 145 385 70 348 (7322} 1120658
2002 221233 . 256 992 227774 142 200 80 383 70197 {6 453) 992 336
Total assets:
2004 343 a4 912 664 471913 79 462 20334 6 889 . - 1835203
2003 428 500 827 686 527 856 107 691 4056 23178 — 1918967
Capital expenditures (cashi:
2004 7 955 40 812 96 813 1975 - 817 148 372
2003 . 1 385 7160 37 246 358 — 1 561 - 57 710

2002 : 10 390 21483 28415 192 — 279 - 60 758

Export sales from Norway to unaffiliated customers did not exceed 10% of gross revenue for the years ended ‘December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, customers exceeding 10% of the Company’s total revenue were as follows {the
table shows perceniage of revenues accounted for by such customers, and the segments that had sales to the respective customers are
marked with X):

Years ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Segments serving customer: 25% 10% 19% 12% 10% 15% 1%

Marine Geophysical

Pertra
Reservpir/Shared ServicesfCorporate

Investments in Associated Companies

Income (loss) from associated companies accounited for using the equity methed is as foliows:

. Years ended December 31,
{in thousands of dollars) 2004 2003 2002

Corporations and limited partnerships:
Gac Explorer AS 1827 19 (524)
Atlantic Explorer {loM) Ld. (80} - -
Calibre Seismic Company - {4) 37)
FW Qi Exploration LLC - - 677)
Ikdam Preduction, SA 2030 {8) (165)
Triumph Petroleurn —_ 787 {288}
Aqua Exploraticn Ltd. 1500 - -
Total 5277 897 {1 691)
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Investrments and advances to associated companies accounted for using the equity method are as follows: -

:

Paid-in Ownership

Book value Share of capital Currency - Book value  percent as of

December 31, income (dividends) translation December 31, December 31,

{ln thousands of doflars) . - 2003 2004 2004 2004 {a} 2004 2004

Corporations and limited partnerships:

Geo Explorer AS 1373 1827 (3 018) - 182 50.0%

Atlantic Explorer floM} Ltd. - 12 (80} - — 32 50.0%

Ikdam Production, SA ' 4 807 2030 — {1 428)° 5411 . 40.0%

Aqgua Exploration Ltd. - 1 500 (1 500) - - -

General partnersh\:ps 94 — — 1° a5 -
Total 6386 5277 4 518) {1425} 5720

{a) Currency translation relating to the investment in Ikdam Production relates to reversal of the historical
currency adjustments recorded against equity.

INote 6] Interest Expense

Interest expense includes the following:

Years ended Decamber 31,

{in thousands of dollars) 2004 2003 2002
Interest expense, gross (112 694) (107 934} {135 223)
Interest on trust preferred securities - (B 536} (14 974)
Interest on multi-ctient library securitization securities — (1 685} {6 634)
Interest capitalized 14861 2 696 5879

Total interest expense ’ {111 233) {115 459} {151 252)

‘Elgte 7 cher Financial ltems, Net

Other financial items, net, consists of;

Years ended December 31,

fin thousands of doliars) 2004 2003 2002
Interest income 4840 5432 3951

Foraign currency l0ss 8 024) (8315) - (8869
Gain onTES (a} - — 54 149
wWrite-off of deferred debt costs and issue discounts - (13 152} -
Other (b - 7 998) {11 346) (5 428)

Other financial items, net .

{a) During 1998 and 1999, the Company entered into forward foreign currency exchange contracts known as tax equiglization swaps (“TES") related
10 its senior unsecured notes, its 8,28% First Preferred Mortgages Notes and its trust preferred securities. In 2002, all outstanding TES contracts
were serz.'ed.;

bl Includes interest variation paid relating to UK leases for the years ended Decemmber 31 2004, 2003 and 2002 of approximately $6.3 miliion,
£6.4 miflion and $3.9 million, respectively.
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Income Taxes

The provision [benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:
: Years ended December 31,

|

| .

{ln thousands of dol'ars) 2004 2003 2002
I

Currenlt taxes:
Norway X 397} 5025 2096
Foreign 1 987 26 050 22541

Deferred taxes:
Norway - 28528 22 620 88 160
Foreign {1 558} 126 .878) 96 417
Toal 28558 26817 209214
Net taxes relaled to dlscomlnued cperatlons . - (381) {7270)
Income 1ax expense 28 558 26 436 201 944

The nét pravision {benetit) for the year ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 includes $C.3 million, {$6.9) million and $16.2 million,
respactively, related 1o contingent tax issues.

The provision {benefit) for income taxes differs from the amounts computed when applying the Norwegian statutory tax rate 1o income (loss)
before income taxes (inclusive of discontinued operations} as a resuit of the following:

' Years ended December 31
{in thousands of doflars} 2004 2003 2002
Income (loss) before income taxes:
Norway ‘ (75 558) (528 118) {498 373)
Forei 49 838 (263 954) {538 107)
Total 259 (792 072) {1 036 480)
Norwegnan statutory rate. : 28 % 28 % 28 %
F‘rowsnon {beneﬂt) o mcome 1axes atthe statutory rate ' (? 201) (221 780) (290 214)
Increase (reduction) in income taxes from:
Foreign earnings 1axed at other than statutory rale {7 422} 24 871 65 537
Petroleum surtax {a) 14 078 16891 1599
Prior year adjusiments related to exit shipping 1ax ‘
regime, unreschved issues, etc. (b) 3047 55273 4245
Unrealized exchange losses (permanent difference) (2 578) 4 169 91 020
Permanent itemns, including 2002 goodwill impairment . 15 165 30020 56 683
Deferred tax assets not recognized in balance sheet 13 469 131983 258 609
Other — {14 630) 17 735
lncome 1a>< expense © 28558 26817 209 214

fal Pertra’s income from oil aciivities on the Norwegian Continental Sheif is taxed according to the Norweg:an Petroleumn Tax Law, which includes a
surtax of 50% in addition to the Norwegian corporate tax of 28%.
(b} Frior year adjustments relate only to deferred taxes for which a valuation allowance was recognized.

Tax effects of the Company’s temporary differences are summarized as follows:
December 31,

fin thousands of dolfars) 2004 2003
Préperw and equipment and long-term assets ' 1822 31 382)
Tax losses carried forward {262 458) (311 351}
Deferred gains (losses) {16 994) (13087
Tax credits . {2 893) {3 855)
Expenses deductible when paid (68 091) (56 714
Other lemporary dlﬂerences t6‘071) 3 861
Total net deferred tax (asset) ||ab|| ty {353 68") (4\2 588)
Deferred tax assets not recognized in balance sheet 384905 4 16841 ______
Net deferred tax {asset) liability in balance sheet 31220 4253
Deferred tax (asset) ||abu|w Norweglan 30854 4253
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Net deferred tax liability in the balance sheet is presented as:
December 31,

fin thousands of doliars) . 2004 2003

Deferred tax liabilities (short term) 2775 —
Deferred 1a>< |LaDI|JtIeS tlong 1erm) ' 28 445 4 253
Net deferred tax (asse[) I|ab|l|[v |n balance sheet 31220 4253

The Company has significant tax losses carried forward and other deferred tax assets that are not recognized in the balance sheet. The
Company has rejected recognition of net deferred 1ax assets to the balances sheet due 1o cumulative losses in recent years and considerable
uncertainties in regards to future utilization of these losses. To the extent that the Company continues to generate deferred tax assets, these
will not be recognized to the balance sheet until future earnings and utifization is substantiated.

t

Tax losses carried forward and expiration periods per December 31, 2004 are summarized as follows;

{in thousands of doltars)

Brazil 8350 No expiry

Norway 471 679 2011-2014

Singapore 32605 No expiry

UK ' 302 055 No expiry

us 72570 2019-2025

Other 10 023 2011 funlimited
Losses camed forward 89? 282

I
It is the Company’s current policy that unremitied earnings of certain international operations, which reflect full provision for non-Norwegian
income taxes, have no provision for Norwegian 1axes, as these earnings are expected 10 be reinvested indefinitely.
The Company has previously not accrued for the deferred taxes related to subsidiaries in the Norwegian tonnage tax based on the reinvest-
ment plans and dividend policy of those companies. In 2003 the Company decided that two subsidiaries will exit the Norwegian tonnage tax
regime, and the estimated gress deferred tax effect of $378 million was incorporated in 2003.
The Norwegian CentraITax Office {CTO) has not vet finalized the tax assessment of PGS Shipping AS and PGS Shipping (IOM) Ltd {the latter
being taxed as a CFC in Norway) for 2002, when the companies withdrew from the Norwegian tonnage tax regime. The pending issue is
related to tair value of the vessels owned by these companies (10 seismic vessels and the FPSOs Patrojarl Varg and Ramiorm Banffl. The
Company based such exit on third party valuations, while the CTQ has raised the issue whether the Company's book values at December 31,
2001, would be more appropriate as basis for computing the tax effacts of the exit. Any increase of exit values will result in an increase of
taxable exit gain and a corresponding increase in basis for future tax depreciations. The Company estimates that if the CTO position is upheld,
taxes payable for 2002, without considering mitigating actions, could increase by up to $24 milfion. The Company believes that its calculation
basis for exit has been prepared using acceptable principles and will contest any adjustment to increase taxes payable.

lNotef‘Q] Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share were calculated as follows:

Years ended Decamber 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net income {lass) (in thousands of dollars) (54 277} 819 203} !1 246 252)
Basic and diluted income {loss) per share 3270 $ (40.96) §(v2.08)
Basic ang dilutod SAIOS OUISKANGING s s s G111k s e e

For the year ended December 31, 2003, basic and diluted shares outstanding are presented as 20 000 000, which is egual 1o the numbers of
shares issued as part of the restructuring of the Company during 2003. At the same tima, all previously existing shares of 103 345 987 were
cancelled.
At December 34, 2003, all prior share-based compensation plans had been cancelled, resulting in no diflerences between basic and diluted

. J . . . . .
earnings per share. Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2002 were equal, since both
basic and diluted earnings per share were calculated using the weighted average shares outstanding for the pericd and there was no dilutive
effect of any equity instrurment issued.
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-

ote 10} Commitments and Contingencies

|

}

{z

Leases:

The Co:mpanv has operating lease commitments expiring at various dates through 2015. The Company also has capital lease commitments
for mainly onshore-based equipment, expiring at various dates through 2008, Future minimum payments related 10 non-cancellable operating
and capital leases, with lease terms in excess of one year, existing at December 31, 2004 are as follows:

December 31, 2004
Operating leases

{in thousands of dolfars) Capital leases

2005 | 36436 27 364
2006 22818 21224
2007 22612 6904
2008 22 609 6632
2009 21283 -
Thereafter 37875 -

Total 163 633 62124
Imputed interest (3 385)

Net present value 58 739
Current portion {25 583)

Long-terrm portion 33 156

Future minimum payments related tc non-cancellabte operating leases reflect $71 million of sublease income for 2008, related to a time-

charter of one FPSO shuttle tanker to a third party.

The tuture minimum payments under the Company's operaling leases relate to the Company's cperations as {ollows:

fin thousands of dofiars) December 31, 2004

Marine seismic and support vessels 7135
Onshore seismic equipment 213
FPSQ shuitle and sterage tankers 60 000
Operations computer equipment ' 63
Buildings 95 714

i g 508

F

ncluded in the minimum lease commitment for FPSO shuttle and
storage tankers as presented in the table above, is the six month
cancellation period for a storage tanker operating on the Banii field
in the North Sea. PGS is obliged to keep the vessel for as long as
Rarform Banif praduces the Banff field, which could exiend to 2015
depended on the client. The maximum paymaent for the lease
through 2015 is $119.4 million.

Rental expense for aperating leases, including leases with terms
of less than one year, was $61.2 million, $976 million and $112.9
million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Rental expense tor gperating leases for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 reflects $10.3 million,
$18.0 million and $21.7 million, respectively, in sub-lease income
related 10 time chaster of FPSO shuttle tankers to a third party.

1
Other:
The Company has contingencies resulting from litigation, other
claims and commitments incidental to the ordinary course of
business. Management belioves that the probable resolution of such
contingencies will not materially affect the financial position, results
of operations er cash flows of the Company.

|
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UK Leases:

The Company entered into capital leases from 1996 to 1998 relating
to Ramforms Challenger, Valiant, Viking, Victory and Vanguard, the
FPSO Petrojart Foinaver; and the production equipment of the
Ramform Banff for terms ranging from 20-25 years. The Company
has indemnified the Lessors for the tax consequences resulting
from changes in tax laws or interpretations thereof or adverse
rulings by the 1ax authorities ("Tax Indemnities”) and for variations in
actual interest rates from those assumed in the leases (“Interest
Rate Differential”). There are no limits on either of these indemni-
ties. Reference is also made to the description in Note 2 - UK
Leases. .

The Company believes it is unlikely that these defeased leases
will be successtully challenged by the UK 1ax authorities and has not
recorded any liability related to these overall Tax Indemnities in iis
Norwegian GAAP financial statements. In November 2004, the
House of Lords in the United Kingdom rejected an appeal from the
UK 1ax authorities relating to capital allowances associated with
another entity's defeased lease transaction. Consequently, the
Company believes that this final judgment further reduces the risk
that the Company’s UK leases will be successfully challenged.

The UK tax authorities hava raised a specific issue about the
accelerated rate at which tax depreciation is available under the UK
lease related to the Petrojarl Foinaven. If the Inland Revenue werg
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successful in challenging that rate, the lessor would be liable for the
increased taxes on Petrofar! Foinaven in early periods (and decreasead
taxas in later yea'rs), and the Company’s rentals would correspond-
ingly increase (and then decrease).

With respect to the Interest Rate Difterential, the Company,
following the restatement described in Note 1, deferred a portion of
the gains related to its UK leases for liabilities related to the
difference, at inception of the lease, between the projecied future
distribution from the Payment Banks and the projected lease
payments, based on forward interest rate curves. These deferred
gains are amortized over the term of the leases. Defeased Rental
Payments are based on assumed Sterling LIBOR rates between 8%
and 9% {the “Assumed Interest Rates”). If actual interest rates are
greater than the Assumed Interest Rates, the Company receivas
rental rebatas. Conversely, if actuat interest rates are less than the
Assumed Interest Rates, the Company pays rentals in excess of the
Defeased Rental Payments {"Additional Required Rental Payments“).
Additional required Rental Payments were $6.3 million, $6.4 million
and $3.9 million for the years ending December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The Company amcrtized deferred gains of $0.9

j‘Note_ 11 Loss Contracts

million, $0.6 mitlion and $0.8 million for the years endind December
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which are reporied in other
financial items, net. The deferred gains are recorded at excharge
rates at the balance sheet dates and resutted in unrealized foreign
axchange losses of $1.3 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and
which are presented as other financiat items in the consolidated
statement of operations.

Currently, interest rates are below the Assumed Interest Rates,
and based on torward market rates for Sterling LIBOR, as of
December 31, 2004 the net present value of Additional Required
Rental Paymenis aggregated GBP 29.6 million, using an 8%
discount rate, off which GBP 1.0 million was accrued at December
31, 2004. As of December 31, 2003, such accrual was GBP 1.1
million.

In additicn, the Company has, as described above, deferred gain
in relation to Interest Rate Ditterential amounting to GBP 8.3 millien
and GBP B.8 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tivaly.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had no accrued ioss contracts.

ﬂc&g 12| Long-Lived Intangible Assets

Long-lived intangible assets consist of the following:

December 31,
{in thousands of doliars) 2004 2003
Software products 39 —
Licenses and patents 2036 1975
Total 2075 97%

[Note 13] Goodwill

The Company recognized $42.9 million in impairment of goodwill (excluding goodwill related to discontinued operations) in 2002. No goodwill
existed as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. The Company expensed amortization on goodwill amounting 10 $1.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002, whilg rio amortization was expensed in the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.
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Seismic Production Fixures,
vessels-/ vessels-/ furnitures Buildings-/
equipment equipment and fittings other Total
1 060 703 1 705 644 50 804 11 744 2 828 895
53 662 988 8910 754 B4 314
41 128) (112 932) {1121} 32) {155 211)
Translatlon adjustmems/o &0 10 581 3 n 977} {186) 8 419

Cost per Decernber 31, 2004 “Yoszezo 189370V 56616 12280 2746417

. Accumulated depreciation/- impairments: .
Depreciation per December 31, 2003 536 212 339 474 4001 6973 922 670

fmpairments per December 31, 2003 154 189 661 738 — 1200 B17 127
Depreciation 2004 63 342 39 663 4 830 912 108 747
Retirements 2004 (37 777) {112 932) (373 n (151 083)
Translauon ad]ustments/other 7 075 (1] ] t411) 14 6 577
Deprecnatlon per December 31 2004 ’ 568 852 266 204 44 057 7 898 887 011

Balance per December 31, 2004 360779 665 759 12 559 3182 1042279

The Company had $636.4 million and $656.7 million in property and equipment under UK leases at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tlvely

When calculating impairments, the carrying values of assets or cash generating units are compared 1o their recoverable amounts, defined as
the higher of estimated sstling price and value in use. See Note 2 for further description of the accounting principle for impairments of long-
lived assets. As seismic vessels and equipment are not separate cash-generating units, such assets are presented combined. Vessels and
equipment subject to capital leases that are part of a cash-generating unit are not presented separately .

The fo'llowing table summarizes depreciation expense, (see Note 32 for impairment details}:

‘Years ended Decemnber 31,

{In thousands of dollars) 2004 2003 2002
Deprecxatmn expense, net 01 amoum capnahzed |mo multi-client library 104 765 123 056 132818
Deprectatlon expense 3982 13 085 28

No interest was capitalized into property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

For détails of tha estimated useful life’s for the Company's property and equipmént per December 31, 2004, see Nate 2 for ali details.

{No‘té;isl Multi-Client Library

The net carrying value of the multi-client library, by the year in which the components were completed, is summarized as follows:

: Net bock value December 31,
{in thousands of doliars) 2004 2003

Comﬁleted surveys:
Completed during 1998, and prior years 2 966 26 8OO
 Completed during 1999 12 432 31989
Completed during 2000 22434 38312
Completed during 2001 12817 144 353
Completed during 2002 383 53 627
Cor'npleted during 2003 33436 57 758
Completed dunng 2004 10 334 -
Completed surveys 232 560 352 739
Suryeys in progress 8036 14 961

700
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The following table summarizes impairments charges, amortization and capiialization of interest and depreciation related to multi-client

library:

Years ended December 31,
fin thousands of dollars) 2004 2003 2002
Impairment charges (note 32) - 241481 268 403
Amortization expenses (a) 173276 155 648 212887
Interest capitalized into multiclient library 1461 2 696 65579
Depreciation capitatized into multi-client library 3982 13 095 31528

fal Amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004, includes $31.3 million of additional non-sales related smortization. This amount
includes $78 million in minimum amortization and $23.5 million of non-sales related amortization to reflect raduced fair value of future sales on
certain individual surveys. For the years endad December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company recognized $4.0 mitlion and $39.8 miliion, raspactively,
in mirimum amortization,

The application of the Company’s méinimum amortization requirements to the compenents of the
axisting multi-client library is summarizec as follows:

{in thousands of dollars) Minimum future amortizations

During 2005 72271
During 2006 "97 010
During 2007 ! 34 884
During 2008 23988
During 2009 9155

o

2030 3288

240 598

These minimum amortization requirements are calculated as if there were no fulure sales related to these surveys. The Company believes
that the likelihood of incurring these minimum amortization amounts is remote because amortization generated by mutti-client sales in the
ordinary course of business is expected 10 substantially reduce the book value of the multi-client library.

Because the minimum amortizaticn requirements generally apply 1o the multi-client library on a survey-by-survey basis rather than in the
aggregate, the Company may incur minimum amartization charges in a year even if the aggregate amount of ordinary amortization charges
recognized exceeds the aggregate minimum amartization charges.

Note 16 Oil and Natural Gas Assets

The Company’s oil and natural gas assets ¢onsist of the Company’s The Company expansed geological and geophysical costs for total
investment in 70% of the production license 038, which includes the  $8.6 million, $4.3 million and $3.3 million for the years ended
Varg-field, on the Norwegian continental shelf of the North Sea. The December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively. Such costs are

capitalized value is as follows: included in cost of sales in the consolidated statements of opera-
' tions.
fIn thousands of dofiars) 2004 2003
Net book-vaiue beginning of year 30678 17 324
B o g 10 PGPl change, . _ summ |Note 17] Other Financial Assets
Capital expenditures, cash and accrued 81\030 44 902
Produced, but not delivered oil {a) - (3382 Other financial asseis consists of:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 136 314) 20 429) . ——December 31,
Expensed capitalized exploration costs {b) {11 438) (4 344) fin thousands of dollars) 2004 2003
.....Net book-valus at end of year . 63956 0678 Governmental grants and :
contractual receivables 17 204 11 660

{a) Reclassifiad to other current assets in 2003. Other long-term receivables C 18 645 15 108
{b) Ciassified 8s depreciation and amortization in the cosolidated state- Deferred debt issue costs . 4 356 2758

ment of aperations. Totai4010529523
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Note¥18] Accounts Receivables, net

Accounts receivable, net, consist of the following:

D e e P ares e Soatements 2004

31191 Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following:

Deacember 31, December 31,

fin thousands of doflars) 2004 2003 {In thousands of doflars} E 2004 2003
Accounts receivable - trade 162775 129192 Prepaid operating expenses 13053 18 720
ABowance for doubtful accounts {1492) {3 468) Spare parts, consumables and supplies 12 840 11 348
Unbilled revenue and other receivables 40 561 46 784 Prepaid taxes 15 821 11 256
Tot31201844172508 Shares available for sale 0689 —
..................................................................... raa IESTTITT S produced oll, nOl llhed 5 037 5 377
) Advances 10 agents 723 5123
Development of altowance for doubtful accounts is as follows: O st 13032 .29
Total 70 195 64 737

fin thousands of doflars) 2004 2003
Beginning balance 3468 3,857
New and additional allowances 977 3325
Write-offs and reversals (2 953} (3714)
£nding balance 1452 3468

I}
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fa) Shares available for sale refates to the Company’s investment in
Enteavour originatly acquired through contribution of licenses to
use PGS seismic data in the North Sea. The Company owns ap-
proximately 3.3% of the shares in the Endesvour, which had an
original cost price of $3.8 miflion. Under the terms of an agreement
with Endeavour, the Company may nol sell any of its shares for the
first twelve month from the conversion date (February 2004); from
twelve to twenty-four months, the Company may seli up to ana third
of its equity per quarter. Revaluation of the shares (a gain of $5,8 mik
lion in 2004} has been recorded directly to shareholder’s equity (see
consclidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity).

[Note 20] Restricted Cash

Raestricted cash consist of:
December 31,

(In thousands of dollars) 2004 2003
Current;
Bid / performance bonds 1 674 27 265
Restricted payroll withholding taxes

Other
Total restricted cash, curren
Long-term - bond escrow

§ 2004 i35
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Shareholder Information

|Note 21

As of December 31, 2004, Petroleum Geo-Services ASA had a share capital of NOX 600 million divided on a 1otal of 20,000,000 shares, of
par value NOK 30, each fully paid in. All shares have equal voling rights and are entitled to dividends. Any distribution of the Company's eguity
is dependent on the approval of the shareholders, and the ability to make distributions are limited by certain.debt covenants and Norwegian
Corporate Law (see Note 25],

The 20 largest shareholders in Petroleum Geo-Services ASA were as follows:
December 31, 2004

Total shares Ownership percent
Citibank N.A., holder of American Depositary Shares ("ADS”) (hominee} (8} 3404 070 170
Citipank N.A., holder of American Depoesitary Shares ("ADS") (nominee) (a) 3194 565 16.0
Umoe Invest AS - 1012 444
JP Morgan Chase Bank {nominee) 752333
Bear Stearns Securities (nominge) 580 951
Maorgan Stanley & Co. {nomineg} 557 572
Goldrnan Sachs & Co. {nomines} 531034
JP Morgan Chase Bank (neminee) 495 160
£uroclear Bank S.A. (nominee) 454 060
Goldman Sachs International (nominee) 432 643
State Street Bank & Trust Co. (nominee) 348621
Qdin Norge ' 306 906
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken (nominee) 293879
Vital Forsikring ASA 284 230
Odin Norden 276 300
Morgan Stanley & Co. (nominee) 253 767
Deutsche Bank AG 217213
Mellgn Bank (nominee) 210 678
KAS Depositary Trust {nominee) 200 000
Bank of New York 179 691

Cther shareholders 6 013 883

{a) On the basis of existing depository agreements regarding owners of the ADS's, the table above does not show the beneficial owner of shares.
Shares and ADS owned or controlled by members of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and

other executive officers were as follows:
December 31, 2004

Total shares Qwnership percent

Board of Directors:

Jens Ulltveit-Moe, Chairman (a) 1012 444 - 5.1
Keith Henry, Vice Chairman ’ — R
Francis Gugen — —
Harald Norvik - —
Rolf Erix Rolfsen — -
Clare Mary Spotliswoode - . -
Anthony Tripodo - -

Marianne Johnsen (Deputy board member) — -
John Reynolds (Deputy board member) —- —

Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers:

Svein Rennemo, 'Chief Executive Officer 3000 {b)
Goufred Langseth - -
Rune Eng 1000 (b}
Eric Wersich - —

Sverre Skogen ' - -
Erik Haugane - -
Anthony Ross Mackewn 76 (b}
Andreas J. Enger - -

fa) Controfled through Umoe AS.
fb) Less than 1% cf the Company’s share as of December 31, 2004.

i
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|Note 22] Share-Based Compensatior; '

In connection with the restructuring of the Company in 2003, all shares in the Company were cancelled {see Note 25 for additional informa-
tion). Accordingly, all agreements on share options for the Company’s key employees and directors were also cancelled. No new agreements
have been established since the restrugiuring.

A summary of the status of the Company’s share-based compensation plans as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and changss during the
years then ended, is summarized as follows:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Weighted average Weighted average
{in thousands of options) Options exercise price Options exercise price
Outstanding at beginning of year 135 NOK 86354 142 NOK
Forfeited/cancelled 135 NOK (3661.9) 151 NQK

49735 7135 NOK

! Note 23| Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities consist of the following: ‘

December 31,

fin thousands of doliars) 2004 2003
Deferred gain UK leases 16 983 15 547
Accrued pension costs 32 364 26254
Assel retirerent obligations 58518 4% 303
Tax contingencies 25522 21720
Other . 985 ;1191

133342 15

I'Na—@ Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations

Short-term debt and current partion of long-term debt and capital lease cbligations consist of the following;

Decernber 31,

{In thousands of dpllars) 2004 - 2003
Shert-term debt 1962 -
Current portion of long-term debt {Note 25} 17 828 18512
Current portion of capital leases (Note 10} 25583 15975

[Noie 25' Financial Restructuring and Debt

Financial restructuring completed in 2003: *  £746 million of 7-year, 10% senior unsecured notes
On July 29, 2003, the Company volumtarily fited a patition for + 5260 million of 3-year, 8% senior unsecured notes
protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code + $4.8 million of 8-year, unsecured senior term loan facility {which

(“Chapter 11”). The filing was based on a financial restructuring plan was fully repaid in May 2004}

that was pre-approved by a majority of banks and boncholders as
well as a group of PGS’ largest shareholders. PGS emerged from
Chapter 11 November 5, 2003, just 100 days after filing.

In accordance with the plan of reorganization, $2,140 million of
PGS’ senior unsecured debt was cancelled and the associated
creditors received the following:

91% of PGS’ new ordinary shares as constituted immediately
post restructuring, with an immediate reduction of ihis share-
holding 1o 61% in a rights offering of 30% of the new ordinary
shares to the pre-restructuring shareholders for $85 million or
$14.17 per share

$40.6 million of cash distributed by PGS, of which $17.9 million
was distributed in Decemnber 2003 and the remainder in May
2004.

PGS BOARD OF DWRICTURS REPQRT 4% 0 FINANCIA. ST 75207075 004 E 37
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In acceordance with the plan, the existing share capital, consisting
ot 103 345 987 shares, par value NCOK S, was cancelled and

20 000 000 new ordinary shares, par value NOK 30, were issued.
The pre-restructuring sharehclders received 4% or 800 000 of the
new ordinary shares (one new share per 129 old sharas), as well as
the right to acquire 30% or 6 000 000 of the new ordinary shares
{1 500 GO0 of which were committed to sharegholders underwriting
the rights offering and 4 500 000 of which were available to alt pre-
restructuring shareholders on a basis of one new share per 23 olg

Long-Term Debt:
tong-term debt consisis of the following:

fin thousands of dollars)

-

shares), for $858 million {$14.17 per share} in the rights offering.
Owners of $144 million of trust preferred securities received 5%
or 1000 000 of the new ordinary shares.
interest bearing debt of the Company post restruciuring was
$1 189 miflion, a reduction of $1 283 million. The financial restructur-
ing involved cnly the parent company and did not involve operating
subsidiaries, which continued {full oparations, leaving customers,
lessors, vendors, employees and subsidiary creditors unattected.

December 31,

Unsecured:
10% Senior Notes, due 2010
8% Senior Notes, due 2006
Liber + 1.15% Unsecured senior term loan
Secured:
8.28% First Preferred Mortgage Notes, dus 2011
Cther lcans, due 2005 - 2006

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt as of December 31, 2004
are as follows:
{ln thousands of doflars)

December 31, 2004

Year of repayment:

2005 17 828
2006 26323
2007 12 800
2008 14 040
2009 15 160

Theresfter 779 859

8

al

The 10% Senior Notes, due 2010 ("10% Notes”) bear intarest at
10% per annum payable semi-annually and mature in November
2010 with no required principal payments until then. The 10% Notes
are not callable until November 2007 and are callable thereafter at
par ptus a premium of 5% declining linearly until maturity. The 8%
Senior Notes, due 2006 "8% Notes”) bear interest at 8% payable
semi-annually and mature in November 2006 with no required
principal payment until then. The 8% Notes are callable from Novem-
ber 2003 at par plus a premium of 3% declining linearly until
maturity. Both the 10% Notes and 8% Notes are unsecured
obligations of PGS ASA and are guarantead by certain material
subsidiaries.

The 8.28% First Preferred Mortgage Notes, due 2011 ("8.28%
Notes”} bear interest at 8.28% payable semi-annually to the
bondholders along with scheduled principat payments. The Company
is required 1o make monthly sinking fund payments to the indenture
trustee in the amount of $ 50 000 per day. These monthly payments
are designed 1o meet semi-annually, interest and principal payments
and are held in trust by the indenjure trusiee until the semi-annual
payments are made. The 8.28% Notes are secured by, among other
things, two seismic vessels. [n addition the indenture trustee has an
irrevocable deposit of $10 million as security for future interest and
principal payments; this deposit is presented as long-term restricted
cash in the consolidated balance sheet because the monies wili be

38|

2004 2003
745 949 745 950
250 000 250 000

- 4811

98 920 109120

8149 17 306

1103018 ¥ 127187
(17 8

(18 612

used to make final debt service payment when the 8.28% Notes are
retired. The 8.28% Notes are not callabte until June 2006 and are
callable thereafter at par plus a8 make whole premium based on US
treasury rates plus 0.375%

In May 2004, the Company repaid its loan of $4.8 million, which
had an original maturity date in 2011.

Bank Credit Facilities:

In March 2004, the Company entered into a secured $110.0 million
credit facility consisting of a $70.0 millien revolving credit facility and
a $40.0 million letter of cradit facility. The Company may borrow US
Dollars under the revolving credit facility for werking capital and
general corporate purposes, and the letter of credit facility can be
utilized in various currencies 1o obtain letters of credit to secure,
among other things, performance and bid bonds required in the
Company's ongoing business. The credit facility matures in March
2006 and is secured by certain assets. Tha interest rate for
borrowing under the credit facility is LIBOR plus 2%. The cradit
facility is an obligation of PGS ASA and is guaranteed by certain
material subsidiaries.

Short-Term Debt:

The Company borrows short-ierm debt with various internaticnal
banks based on short-term working capital requirements. NG such
horrowings were made during 2004 and 2003 and no short-term
debt was outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003. Net short-
term debt is $2.0 million of which $1.8 million is related to purchase
ot the seismic vessel Falcon Explorer. .

Covenants:

In additien to customary representations and warranties, the
Company’s loan and lease agreements include various covenants.
Certain of the Company’s debt agreements contain covenants
restricting it from incuiring debt unless certain coverage ratios are
met and limiting financia! indebtedness, excluding project debt, to
$1.5 billion. These debt agreements also restrict, among othir
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things: payment of dividends; ability to place liens cn Company

assets; the amount of subsidiary financial indebledness; certain sale/

leaseback transactions; certain transactiens with affiliates; invest-
ments jn project companies; investment in multi-client tibrary; and
asset dispositions. Specifically, certain financing agreements do not
allow the Company to pay dividends or make similar diswribution until
the $250 million 8% Senior Notes, due 2006, are repaid.

Certain of the loan and lease agreements and senior nots
indenture contain requirements to provide audited U.S. GAAP
financial statements by June 30 of each year and to provide
unaudited U.S. GAAP quarterly financial statements within a
specified period (typically 60 days} after the end of each of the first
three quarters. The Company has received waivers and amend-
ments:allowing it to report under N GAAP in lieu of U.S, GAAP until
June 30, 2006.

The Company is in compliance with its loan covenants as of
December 31, 2004 and currently,

Pledged Assets:

Certain seismic vessels and seismic equipment with a net book
value of $55.2 million and $60.6 miilion at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively, are pledged as security on the Company's debt
shown as secured in the table above and as short-term debt. In

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

{in thousands of doflars)

addition Petrojart Varg and the shares of KS Petrojart 1 AS and Gotar-

Nor Offshore AS, 98.5% owners of Petrgjarf 1, are pledged as
security {or the $ 110 million bank credit facility. The book value of
Patrojar! Varg and shares in KS Petrojarl t AS and Golar-Nor Offshore
AS totals $166.9 million at December 31, 2004.

Letter of Credit and Guarantees:

The Company had aggregate outstanding letters of credit and related

types of guarantees, nat raflected in the agccompanying consalidaied
financial statements, of $30.1 million and $31.0 mitlion at December
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Subsequent Event:

In February 2005 the Company established an additional overdraft
facitity of NOK 50 million as part of its Norwegian cash pooling
system.

On March 8, 2005 the Company sent a notice of redemption
relating to $175 million of its $250 million 8 % Senicr Notes, due
2006 (“Notes"). The Notes, in the amount of $175 million, will be
radeerned on April 7 2005 at a redemption price equal to 102.00%
of the principal amount of such Notes, plus accrued and unpaid
interest o the redemption date.

December 31,

Accrued employee benefits

Accrued vessel cperating expenses
Customer advences and deferred revenue
Accrued commissions

Accrued interest expenses

Accrued debt restructuring expenses
Other'

2004 2003
37 659 3290
17 080 25 628
12 070 " 15014

9683 5 088

33%4 1805

- 25 32¢
35 562 50 387

Note 27| Derivative Financial Instruments and Risk Management

t

The finance department of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA is respon- ’
sible for cash management, financial management and management
of financial risk for the holding company and subsidiaries included in
the consolidated group.

Notional Amounts and Credit Exposure of Derivative
Financial Instruments:

Accounting for financial instruments fellow the underlying intention
of the contract. The contract is definecd either as a hedge or as held-
for-sale, upon entering inte the contract. Periodically, the Company
makes use of such financial insiruments in order to hedge against
foreign currency exchange risks, but they are not used for specula-
tive purposes.

The notionat amounts of the derivaiive financial insiruments
sumr‘narized below do not reflect the values exchanged by the
parties and, therefore, are not a measure of the Company's
exposure. The amounts ultimately exchanged are calculated on the
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basis of the notional amounts and the other terms of the respective
derivative financial instruments, '

Receivables Credit Risk:

The Company extends credit to various companies in the oil and gas
industry worldwide, which may be affected by changes in economic
or other external conditions. At December 31, 2004 and 2003,
accounts receivable {(both current and long-term) were primarily from
multi-national integrated oil companies and independent oil and gas
cempanies, including companies owned in whole or in part by
foreign governments. The Company manages its expasure to credi
risk through ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and has
provided for potential credit losses through an allowance for doubtful
accounts. Management does not believe that the Company is
exposed to concentrations of credit risk that are likely to have a
materia! agverse impact on the Company's financial position or
results of operations.
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Foreign Cumency Exchange Risk Management:

‘The Company pericdically entars into forward exchange contracis
and option contracts to hedge against foreign currency exchange
risks associated with certain firm commitments and transactions
related to property and equipment. The Company is most sensitive
to changes in the Norwegian Xroner 1o US dollar exchange rates.
There were no foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding at
December 31, 2004 and 2003,

v

{in thousands of doliars)

Decernber 31, 2004
Carrying amounts

Fair values

Fair Values of Financial instruments:

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, other current assets, accounts pavable and accrued
expenses and other current liabilities approximate their respective
fair values because of the short maturities of these instruments, The
carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of the Company's
leng-term tinancial instruments are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2003
Carrying amounts

Fair values

1103 M8

1218386

1127187 1185313

The fair values cof the Company’s fong-term debt instruments are
astimated using quotes obtained from dealers in such financial
instruments. ;

Interest Rate Exposure;

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk due to money market
activities relating 10 investments and cash flows. Changes in interest
rates can also affect the fair values of assets and liabilities. Interest
income {expense), including actua! interest payments, are affected by
changes in intergst rates. The majority of the Company’s business
activities are conducted in USD, GBP and NCK. This gives rise 10
interest rate exposure in these currencies. As at December 31, 2004,
viruatly alt loans were denominated in USD, and approximately 99% of
these loans had a fixed rate of interest.

The Company engages from time-1o-time in interest rate derivatives.
As at December 31, 2004, the Company had gutsianding interest swap
agreements in the aggregate notionaf amount of $10.3 million, which do
not qualify for hedge accounting. The market value of these agreements
waere approximately ($0.5) millien.

Foreign Exchange Exposure:
The reporting currency applied to the consolidated accounts is USD, and
the Company also applies this currency for internal reporiing of key
performance indicators.

The Company’s net incomae {loss) is affected by changes in

|NotéE28] Retirement Plans

exchange rates, as profits and josses reported by subsidiaries which do
not use USD as the functional currency, are translated to USD using an
average rate of exchangs for the period. The significant loans and assets
held within the Company are denominated in USD.

The Company’s cash flows are denominated primarily in USD, NOK
and GBP The Campany generally attempts to minimize net cash flow
exposure in NOK and GBP through business transactions and ¢usrency
hedging insiruments. At times, a significant currency risk can exist
based on fluctuations in exchange rates between USD, NOK and GBP

Tha Company did not have any currency hedging instruments as of
December 31, 2004.

Commodity Derivative:

We are exposed 10 fluctuations in hydrocarbon prices, which historically
have fluctuated widely in response 10 changing market foices. Pertra’s
nat production in 2004 (combined) was & 317 134 barrels, with an
average realized price of $35.11 per barrel. In 2003 the average realized
price was $29.37 per barral. )

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, we did not have any outstand-
ing derivative commaodity instruments. n the first half of 2004, we sold
forwarg 950 000 barrels of our second halt production at an estimated
average of $30.50 per barrel. Of total amount sold forward, 250 060
barrels sold forward at an average price of $29.91 per barrel was not yet
delivered at December 31, 2004 and was delivered in early January
2005, Estimated fair value of the contract per December 31, 2004 was
a net liability of $2.6 millicn.

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans for substantially all of its Norwegian and UK employees, with eligibility determined by
certain period-of-service requirements. These plans are generally funded through contributions 10 insurance companies. [t is the Company’s
general practice to fund amounts 10 these defined benefit plans, which are sullicient to meet the applicable statutory requirements. At

December 31, 2004, 1,069 employees were participating in these plans.

Reconciliation of the plans’ aggregate projected benefit obligations and fair values of assets are summarized as {ollows:

Change in projected benefit obligations:

{in thousands of doliars}

December 31,

Projected benefit obligations at beginning of year
Adjusted at beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Employee contributions

Payroll tax

Actuarial (gain) loss, net

Benefits paid

Exchange rate effects

Projected benefit obligations at end of year

40} o

2004 2003
93 008 72310
f- 6 820
10 188 8792
5145 4454
968 1903t
198 1434
(2045) (3 204)
{1212) 1 676}
9620 3047
115 880 93 008
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Change in plan assets:;

December 31,

{in thousands of dolars) 2004 2003
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 53 332 48 144

Adjustment at beginning of year {1347) 530
Return on plan assets 4130 3796
Employer contributions 8383 8728
Employee contributions 968 1031

Benefits paic (1212) (1 676)

The aggregate funded status of the plans and amcunts recognized in the Company's balance sheets are summarized as folicws:

Cecember 31,

21)

{In thousands of dolfars) 2004 2003
Fundad status {44 315) (39677
Unrecognized actuarial 1oss 15 554 15 494
Unrecognized prior service cost - 23

Unrecognized transition obligation

Net amount recognized as accrued pension liability

Net amount recognized as accrued pension liability is presented as follows:

December 31,

170

fin thousands of doliars) 2004 2003
Other long-term assets 3603 2264
{32 364} {26 254)

Other long-term liabilities

unt recogn

s accrued pension liability

“otha Consolidatee Financial Staternants 2004

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $104.3 million and $72.7 miliion as of December 31, 2004 and

2003, respectively.

Assurﬁptions used to determine benefit cbligaticns:

2004 2003
Norway UK Norway UK
Discount rate 5.3% 5.3% 6.0% 53%
Return on plan assets 6.3% 75% 70% 75%
Benefit increasa 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 4.7%
Annual adjustmeant 10 pensions 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
The aggregate net pericdic pension coss for the Company's defined benefii pension plans is summarized as foltows:
Years ended December 31,
{in thousands of dolars) 2004 2003 2002
Service cost 10198 8792 8103
Interast cost 5145 4 454 3108
Expecied return on plan assets (4 130) {3 796) (3 439)
Amortization of actuarial loss 119 2142 86
Amartization of prior service cost - 3 2
Arnortization of transition obligation - 20 15
Adjustment to minimum Lability (1871} - -
Administration costs 99 - -
Payroll'tax 1047 1492 | -
MNet periodic pensicn cost ' . 11 604 13107 7875
PGS BOARD CF DINCCTONS BEPORT ARD FINANCIAL ETAT TN 47 2004 I 41
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The Company’s pension pian asset allocation at December 31, 2004 and 2003,

by asset category, are presented by major plan group as follows:

{in thousands of dolfars)

Decemnber 31, 2004 Decemnber 31, 2003

Fair value of plan assets

Bonds .
Equity securities
Real estate

Substantially all employees not aligible for coveraga under the

detined benefit plans described above are eligible to participate in
pension plans in accordance with local industrial, tax and social
regulations. All of these plans are considered defined contribution
plans. Under the Company's US detined contribution 401(k) plan,
essentially all US employees are eligible to participate upon
completion of certain-of-service raquirements. The plan allows
eligible employees 10 contribute up to 100% of compensation,
subject to IRS and plan timitations, on a pre-tax basis, with a 2004
statutory cap of $13 00C {$16 000 for employees over 50 years).
Employee pre-tax contributions are matched by the Company as
foltows; the firs1 3% are maiched at 100%, the nex1 2% are

'Note 29| Related Party Transactions

At Dacember 31, 2003 and 2002, the Coempany owned 50% of the
shares in Geo Explorer AS and had chartered a vessel frem that
company during these yearé. The Company also heid 100% of the
shares in Walther Herwig AS {until December 11, 2003, the
Company held 50% of the shares, but increased its shares as Walter
Herwig AS was de-merged) and chartered three vessels frem that
company in 2003 and 2002. Total lease expense recognized by the
Company for 2003 and 2002 on these vassels was $7.4 million and
$8.8 miltion, respectively, while there were no lease expense
recognized duririg 2004.

As of December 31, 2004, the Chairman of the Board, Jens
Ulltveit-Moe, through Umoe AS, controlled a total of 1,012,444
shares in Petroleumn Geo-Services ASA. Jens Ulltveit-Moe became a
major shareholder and took office as Chairman of the Board in 2002.
Jens Ulhveit-Moe also has a 60% ownership interest in Knutsen
QAS Shipping AS (“Knutsen"). Knutsen is chantering the MT Nordic

Norway UK ' Norway UK

$40 1M %31 454 $15280 %14 907 $23145
69% - 62% 57% -
16% 92% 13% 14% 4%
12% - 12% 13% —

maiched at 50% of compensation. All contributions vest when
made. The employer matching contribution recognized by the
Company related to the plan was $1.2 million, $1.4 million and $1.2
million for each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Contributions td the plan by employees for these
periods were $3.1 millien, $3.3 million and $3.8 millian, respectively.
Aggregate employer and employee contributions under the
Company’s other plans for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 totalled $1.6 million and $0.4 million (2004}, $1.4
million and $0.4 million (2003} and $7.4 million and $3.0 million
{2002).

Svenita and was also chartering the MT Nordic Yukon up to 2003,
from PGS on a time charter contract and paid $10.3 million, $20.1
million and $20.5 million to PGS under these contracts in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. PGS charters the vessels from an indepen-
dent third party. The vessels wera chartered by PGS to shuttle the
Banft field, but in 2001 were chartered to Knutsen on terms
appreximating PGS's terms under the third-party lease, due to low
production on the Banff field. The vessel MT Nordic Yukon was
redetivered by PGS to the vessel owner in November 2003. In
addition, PGS has a contract of afireightment with Knutsen for
transporting crude oil relating 10 the Banff field and paid $0.7 miflion,
$2.4 million and $1.8 million 1o Knutsen under this contract in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. Mr. Ulltveit-Moe is also the Chairman
of Unitor ASA, a company that from time to time provides the
Company with equipment for its vessels.

Note 30 Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid during the year includes payments for:

Years ended December 31,

{In thousands of dolars) 2004 2002 2002
Interest, net of capitalized intesest 106 731 137633 104 664
Interest on trust preferred securities - -
/ mutticlient Iiprary sgcuritization — 544 13 566
Income taxes 29 753 13 096 15 938

The Company én:ered into capital lease agreements {or new equipment aggregating $0.6 million and $57.4 million during the years enced
Decamber 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, whila there were no new capital lease arrangements during 2004,

\
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ote 31 [ Salaries and Other Personnel Costs Number of Employees, and Remuneration
to the Board of Directors, Executive Officers and Auditors

Salary and social expenses that are included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative costs and ather operating income
lexpense) fincluding severance), excluding such costs relating ta discontinued operations consist of:

‘Years ended December 31,

fin thousands of doflars} 2004 2003 2002
Salaries 183 769 187 295 155 039
Social security 17 250 19 844 17311
Pension 14 395 15774 9657
Olher benefns 22 581 36 210 62 160

Total ' 237 995 259 123 244 167

In addition, the Company expensed salaries and other personne! costs related to discontinued operations of $1.9 million and $131.1 million for
the years ended Cecember 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company expensed $12.4
million relating to a payroll tax claim for employees werking in a subsidiary on Isle of Man, this expense, is not included in the table presenied
above {see Note 32}

The tollowing table presents information about the number of our employees as of end of each of the iast three years:

Decemnber 31,

' 2004 . 2003 2002
Il
Marine Geophysical 1115 1143 1356
Onshore 101 1479 1828
Production 501 515 520
Pertra 16 5 ’ 6
Reservoir/Shared Services/Corporate 256 235 252

Discontinued operations — -
3377

The C:c:mpam,r had an average of 3 138, 3 680 and 4 574 employees during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
1

|
Chief Executive Officer {CEQ) and other Executive Officers:
The table below provides information about the Company's executive officers as of December 31, 2004:

Executive officer Share
Name: \ Position: singe Ownership
Svein 'Rennemo President and Chief Executive Officer 2002 ]
Gottfred Langseth Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer . 2004 -
Rune Eng President - Marine Geophysical ) 2004 g "}
Erik Wersich President - Onshore 2003 -
" Sverre Skogen President - Production ' 2004 -
Erik Haugane Managing Director - Pertra ' 2003 -
Anthony Ross Mackewn Senior Vice Prasident - Geophysical 1999 *}
Andreas J. Enger Senior Vice President — Group Planning ‘ 2003 -
| ;
(*) Less than 1% of the Company’s shares as of December 31, 2004.
CEQ Svein Rennemo in 2004 received a salary of NOK 3 788 022 entitled to a cash bonus of up to 50% of annual base salary and a
{approximately $556 432} and bonus totalling NOK 1 230 357 share purchase bonus of up to 30% of annual base salary. On the
{approximately $180 730), of which NOK 650 000 (approximately basis of achievement of certain group and individual kay perfor-
$95 480} must be used to purchase shares in PGS. Svein Rennemao mance indicators, the Board of Directors resolved that the CEO for
is not entitled 10 any pension benefits for which he receives an 2004 is entitled to a cash bonus of NOK 812 500 (approximately
annual compensation of NOK 250 000 {approximately $36 723), $132 523} and a share bonus of NOK 325 0C0 {approximately
which is included in the salary for 2004. %63 009). The estimated bonus was accrued as of December 31,
According to the performance bonus incentive scheme for the 2004. The net share bonus amount paid after withholding taxes
CEQ established by the Beard of Directors for 2004, the CEQ is must be used to buy PGS shares at market price and held for a
PCS ‘FSOARD OF DIRECTORS' REFORT AND FINANCIAL STA EMENTS 20064 . l 43
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'

minimum of three years.

The CEOQ held 3 000 shares in the Company as of December 31,
2004, Svein Rennemo has a mutual 12-month period of notice, with
a deduction for other income, except ¢apital ingome. During the
period of notice, the CEQ can not seek employment with companies
that are in direct or indirect competition with PGS. The confract can
be terminated without notice if Svein Rennemo fails to fulfil his
contractual obligations. The other executive officers have similar
provisions in their employment terms.

Aggregated payments to ather executive officers for work carried
outin their respective periods for the year ended Decemnber 31,
2004, was $2 241 448, including benuses paid cut during 2004, The
agaregate benefits paid in to the various defined benefit plans for
these executive officers as a group for 2004 was $121 894. As of
December 31, 2004, executive officers owned a total of 1 076
shares {see Nota 21 for additiona! information). None of the
execulive officers held any share aptions in the Company. The other
executives officers hold employee agreements where period of

notice vary from three to eighteen months.

For 2004 the Board of Directors established a performance bonus
incentiva scheme for the other executive officers similar to that for
the CEQ. Under this scheme, executive officers are entitled to a
cash bonus of up to 40% of annual base salary and a share purchase
bonus of up to 20% of annual base satary. Within these limits,
bonuses were finally detarmined on the basis of achievement and
overachievement of financial and non-financial performance targets.
100% of any amount received as share purchase bonus, on a net
basis (amount paid after withholding tax), must be used to buy PGS
shares at market price and he!d for a minimum of three years. The
Board resolved 1hat the benus under the schems for these exacu-
tives for 2004 would ba $465 592, an estimated amount for the
scheme was accrued December 31, 2004.

Board of Directors:

The table below provides information about our directors as of
December 31, 2004:

Director Term Share

Name Position since axpire ownership
Jens Ulliveit-Moe Chairman 2002 2005 5.1% {a}
Keith Henry Vica Chairman 2003 2005 -
Francis Gugen Director 2003 2005 -
Harald Norvik Director 2003 2005 -
Rolf Erik Rolfsen Director 2002 2005 -
Clare Mary Spottiswoode Director 2003 2005 -
Anthony Tripodo Director 2003 2005 -

{a) Controtied through Umoe AS.

For 1he year ended December 31, 2004, the aggregate amount paid for compensation to the directors as a group, for services in all capacities
was $575 240. This amount includes compensation paid to all persons who served as directors during any period.

As o December 31, 2004, the total number of shares and ADS's beneficially held by directars, were 1 012 444, and nene of the directars
hefd any share opticns in the Company {see Note 21 for additional information).

Remuneration to auditor:

Fees for audit and other services provided by the Company’s auditor are as follows {exclusive VAT and including out of packet expenses):

‘Years ended¢ December 31,

{In thousands of dollars) 2004 2003 2002
Audit fees (a) B 105 8187 1248
Cther financigl audit {b) 42 93 750
Fees for 1ax services (c) 134 182 51
Allotherfees (@ — - 541 \ 540

fa) Audit fees for 2004 include audit of the annugl accounts up to March 31, 2005 (83 199k) as well as incurred fees in 2004 (after May 31, 2004) for
the audit of previous periods ($3 267k) and for the close of the 2003 audit in accordance with US GAAP and fresh siart ($1 639K).
Audit fees for 2003 include audit of the annual accounts up to May 31, 2004 (82 322k} as well as fees incurred during 2003/2004 (up to May 31,

2004 for the sudit of previous periods ($3 966k} and for the fresh start audit under US GAAP ($1 899k).
b} Other financial audit consists of fees for agreed upon procedures and other attestation services.
{c) Feas for 1ax services consist of fees for tax fifing services, other tax assistance and regrganization.

{a) Al other fees includes fees for assistance in connection with restructuring, refinancing and due diligence performed by banks in connecticn with

tha financial restructuring in 2003, C
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‘Not;e. 32] Impairments of Long-Lived Assets and Other Operating Expense, net

As discussed in Note 1, in 2003 the Company made a full valuation of all its long-term assets and impaired assets down to their estimated
recoverable amounts.

Impairment of long-ived assets consist of the following:

Years ended December 31,

{!n thousands of dollars) 2004 2003 2002
Multi-client library (Note 15) - {241 481) {268 403)
Preduction related property and equipment {Note 14} — {367 021} 425 214)
Seismic vessels, equipment and other geophysical assets (Note 14) - {129 084} {56 169)
Licenses - (2 090} -
Building leasehold improvements - 1 200} -
Investments in associated companies (Note 5) - — {14 744)
Goocwill {Nete 13) ., - — {42 BEG)

Total b - (740 976} (807 416)

Other bperating expensea, net consists of the following:

! Years ended December 31,

{In thousands of dolars} 2004 2003 2002
Costs relating to compietion of 2002 U.S. GAAP accounts and re-audit 2001 (7 447} (2 559) -
Debt restructuringfrefinancing/" fresh start” {3471} 42 274) {3616)
Restructuring, termination costs and other non-recurring costs (842) {20 B840} (12 901
tste of Man, nationat insurance liability - nz2412) -
Net gain related te cancelled merger with Veritas DGC inc. . - - 2864
Other, net - = {1781)
Total {11 760} {78 085) {15 434)
]
Note 33] Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies :
The ownership percentage in subsidiaries and affiliated companies as of December 31, 2004, are as {ollows:
Shares/ Shares/
: voting - voting
Company Jurisdiction  rights Company . Jurisdiction  rights
PGS Shipping AS Norway  100% Petroleum Geo-Services Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore  100%
Oslo Seismic Services Lid. Isle of Man  100% PGS Australia Pty. Ltd, Australia 100%
PGS Geophysical AS Norway  100% Atlantis {UK) Ltd. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Preduction AS Norway  100% PGS Egypt for Petroleum Services Egypt 100%
PGS Reserveir AS Norway  100% Hara Skip AS ‘ Norway  100%
Mulitklient invest AS Norway  100% PGS Exploration SON BHD Malaysia  100%
Pertra AS } Norway  100% PGS Exploration, Inc. . USA  100%
Petroleurn Geo-Services, Inc. USA  100% PGS Exploration Pty. Ltd. : Australia  100%
Patroleurn Geo-Services (UK} Ltd. United Kingdom  100% PGS Ocean Bottom Seismic, In¢. usa  100%
Seshouse Insurance Ltd. Bermuda  100% PGS Exploration (UK) L1d. Unijted Kingdom  100%
PGS Mexicana SA de CV Mexico  100% PGS Floating Production {UK) Ltd. United Xingdom  100%
PGS Rio Bonito S.A, Brazil 99% PGS Pension Trustee Lid. United Kingdom  100%
PGS Administracion y Servicios, 5.A, ge C.V Mexico  100% PGS Reservoir (UK) i.td. United Kingdom  100%
Da!morneflegeofizika PGS AS Norway 49% Atlantic Explorer Ltd. islz of Man 50%
Walther Herwig AS Norway — 100% QOslo Seismic Services Inc. UsSA  i00%
Geo Exptorer AS Norway 50% Qslo Explorer Plc. Isle of Man  100%
ShenghaiTensor CNOOC Geophysical Ltd.  United Kingdom 50% QOslo Challenger Pic, Isle of Man  100%
Baro Mekaniske Verksted AS Norway 10% PGS Shipping (Isle of Man) Ltd. Isle of Man  100%
Calibre Seismic Company usSa 50% PGS Onshore, Ing. UsSA  100%
PGS Capital, Inc. usa  100% PGS Americas, Inc. USA  100%
Diamond Geophysical Services Company USA  100% Seismic Energy Holding, Inc. . USA  100%
PGS Exploration {Nigeria) Lid. Nigeria  100% PGS Caspian AS ' Norway - 100%
PGS Data Processing Middle East SAE Egypt 100% PGS Multi Client Seismic Lid. Jersey  100%
PGS Data Processing, Inc. usa  100% PGS Marine Services (Isle of Man) Ltd. Isle of Man  100%
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Company

Shares/
voling
Jurisdiction  rights

Golar-Nor Offshore AS
Golar-Nor Offshore (UK) Ltd.
KIS Petrojarf 1 AS -
Golar-Nor (LK) Ltd.>

Deep Gulf LLC

PGS Nopec {UK) Lid.

PGS Nominees Lid.
Petrojarl 4 DA

SOH, Inc.

PGS Onshore (Canada), Inc.
PGS Venezuela de C.A.
PGS Servicios C.A,

PT PGS Nusantara

PGS Processing (Angota) Ltd.
Seismic Exploration {Canada) Ltd.

PGS Ikdam Lid.
Sakhalin Petroleum Plc
fkdam Preduction, SA

PGS Investigacac Petrolifera Limitada

Sea Lion Exploration Ltd.

Norway  100%

United Kingdom  100%
Norway 9B.5%

United Kingdom  100%
usa 50.1%

United Kingdom  100%
United Kingdom  100%
Norway 99.25%

USA  100%

Usa  100%

Venezvela 100%
Venezuela 100%
Indonesia  100%
United Kingdom  i00%
United Kingdom  100%
United Kingdom  100%

Cyprus  100%
France 40%
Beazil 99%

Baharnas  100%

i'the 34[ Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA, when used by the Company means Net Incoma {Loss} before income (loss) from associated companies, interest expens-
as, other financial itams, taxes, depreciation and amortization, other operating tincome) expense, impairment of long-lived assets and
discontinued ope'rations. Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures from other companies. We have
included Adjusted EBITDA as a suppiemental disclosure because the Company believes that it provides useful information regarding the
Company's ability to service debt and to fund capital expenditures and provides investors with a helpful measure for comparing our operating

performance with that of other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA, for the periods presented was as follows;

Years ended December 31,

ftn thousands of d'oﬂars) 2004 2003 2002
Net income {loss) {53927} 819 079) (1 246 252)
Add back:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net 13048) 5 587 215 349
Income tax expense 28 558 26436 201 944
Other financial items, net 11182 27181 42 803)
Interest expense 111 233 116 459 151 252
income (loss} from associated companies (5277 (897) 1691
Cperating profit (loss) 88 721 645 312) (718 819
Other operating (income) expense 11 760 78 085 15 434
Impairment of long-lived assets — 740 876 807 416
Depreciation and amortization 326 998 305419 356 427
Total Adjusted EBITDA 427 477 479 068 460 458
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Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Statement of Operations

Years ended December 31,

{in thousands of NOK) Mote 2004 2003 2002
Reven;.:e NOK 106 304 NOK 200 836 NOK 386 623
Cost of sales 851 187 640 379182
Depreciation 2nd arnortization 8 6442 5881 7 860
Selling, general and administrative costs 234 831 375069 242 243
Impairment of goodwill - - 42

Bpe i (143480)(367754)(242704)
Interast expense, net 2 {211 141) {182 949} (623 764)
Impairmens of shares in subsidiarias / intercompany receivable 1,9 (13 104) (5078 291} (B 732 432}
Other financial items, net 3 {456 523} (398 873} 1 749 768
Income {loss) before income taxes {824 248) (6 027 867) {7 849 142}
Incomae tax expense 4 - - 313404
Net income {loss) NOK (824 248) NOK (6 027 867) NOK (8 162 546}

'
.
'
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Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Balance sheet

. December 31,
{in thousands of NOK} Note 2004 ’ 2003

ASSETS

Long-term assets:
Property and equipment, ne1 8 NOK 37831 NOK 28814
Shares in subsidiaries 1,9 ' 1851 257 1800610
Intercompany receivablos i 5941944 9416513
Other financial assets 10 38 786 2: 566

Total long-term assets 7 869 818 11 270 503

Current assets:
Receivables ' 402 - 4538
Short-term intercompany receivables 47 981 54 051
Other current assets : 6 267 £ 258
Restricted cash 2083 3088
Cash and cash equivalents ' 452 483 214 543

Totalcurr entassets ............................................................. ey e
Total assets ! NOK 8 379 034 NOK 11 552 979
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity:
Paid in capital: | . .
Common stock (20 000 000 shares, par value NOK 30} NOK 600000 NOK ™ 600000
Additional paid in capital 1104 515 1928 763
17045

Deht:
Pension liabilities o 5 4873 3878

|
Other long-term debt:
Imercompany debt 12 502 782 1959 072
Long-term debt 12 " 6106162 6 796 152
iabiliti 24 555 .

B85 224

Curent liabilities:
Short-term detit and current portion of long-term debt 12 : - 2408
Short-term intercompany debt 5 856 29339
Accounts payable 14 941 4 855
Accrued expenses 14 15 350 ‘ 228 512

Total current liabilties 36 147 265 114
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity NOK 8379034 NOK 11 552 979

Warranties 16
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Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Statement of Cash Flows

' Years ended December 31,
{in thousands of NOK) 2004 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (foss) NOK (824 248) NOK (6027 867) NOK (8 162 546)

Adjustments to reconcile not Income [toss} to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization charged to expense 6442 583 7 860
Impairment of shares in subsidiaries / intercompany receivables 13 104 5078 29 8732432
Iterns classified as investmentffinancing activities {31 174) 41906 (514 850)
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes - - 385614
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss 449 608 (320 571) {4 549177)
Changas in current assets and current liabilities (173 923) (166 810) (142 754)
Net {increase) decrease in restricted cash 1005 {1 850 908
Olhes |lems 11 090 85 272 16 729
Net cash used |n operaung acuwtles . [548 096) (1 305 748) td 2?1 738)
Cash flows (used in) from investing actlvities:
Investments in property and equipment {15 458) - 1960)
Sale of property and equipmeant - - 13
Sale of subsidiary - 373525 -
Invastment in subsidiaries and changes in nmercompany recelvables 898 185 551 602 3544 984

Cash flows {used in) povided by financing activities:

Net increase (decrease) in bank facility ' - . 748 254
Re'payment of long-term debt (33 602) 126 058 {1 999 103}
Net increase (decrease) in shon-term debt - - 2219982
Receipts (paymenss) of dividend 31174 68 004 .
Net [payments) receipts under tax egqualization swap contracts . - B5 595
Other Items (24 340] - tretesneneasaaens ;
Net cash (used m) prowded by flnancmg acuvmes IZG 168) 194 062 'I 035 829
Net mcrease (docrease) in cash and cash equwalems 307 873 {186 559) 308 128
Unrealized foreign exchange {gain} loss on cash and cash equivalents {69 933) {14 353} {108 222)
Cash and cash equwa!ents at beginning of year 214 543 415 455 5549
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Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Notes to the Financial Statements

@tcﬂl Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Petroleurn Geo-Services ASA has prepared its Financial Statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Norway
{"N GAAP"}, and the Financial Statements are presented in Norwegian Kroner (NOK). The Company appties the same accounting policies as
described in Note 2 in the notes to the consolidated finangial statements, buj where Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, in the financial state-
ments, apply the Narwegian Pretiminary Accounting Standard on deferred tax, where reversible temporary negative and positive differences
are offset {see Note 4}, Also, unrealized foreign exchange gain {10ss) on long-term intercompany loans is recognized in the statement of
operations. . .

Shares in subsiciaries (see Note 9) are presented at cost less any impairments. Based on downward adjusted estimated future cash flows in
the subsidiaries, the Company recognizes impairment charges on investments in subsidiaries and intercompany receivables. In cases of
improved estimated recoverable amounts, impairment charges are reversed. There is no fixed plan for repayment of leng-term intercompany
receivables.

]NO?Z'] Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, consist of;

Years ended December 31,

{in thousands of NOX) 2004 2003 2002
Interest income, external . 5278 3058 5 667
Interest income, intercompany 659 610 749 380 763 993
Interest expense; external {(a) 633 765) (676 404) {1126 387}
Interest expense; intercompany 1242 264} (258 983} {272 037}

Total : 211 141} {182 949} {623 764}

fa) Interest expense, external in 2003 decreased significantly since no interest was paid crurir—rg the Chapter 11 period (from July 29, 200;':4 to Novern-
ber 5, 2003). In sddition, the resiructuring reduced the total interest bearing debt. -

Note 3| Other Financial Items, Net

Other financial items, net, consist of:

Years ended December 31,

{in thousands of NOK) 2004 2003 . 2002
Group contribution received — - 514 850
Dividends received . KL VR 68 004 -
Foreign currency gain {loss} {462 251 {267 979} 770883
Loss on sale of subsidiaries -, 102 726} -
Write-oft of deferred dett costs and issue discounts - {94 829} —
GCther {25 446} {1343} 464 025

Total ' ' (456 523} . (398 873} 1749 758

I
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| Note ’4'| IncomeTaxes

Reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for income taxes to taxes computed at nominal tax rate on income {loss) before income taxes:

Years ended December 31,

{in thousands of NOK} 2004 2003 . 2002
Incomp {loss) before income taxes 824 248) {6 027 867) (7 849 142)
Norwegian statutory tax rate . 28% 28% 28%
Provision (henefit) for income taxes at tha stalptory rate 1230 789) {1 687 803) {2 197 760}
Increase (reduction) in income taxes from;
impairmem shares in subsidiaries 289828 - -
Permanent items 394 615 441 937 82
Deferred 1ax asset not recognized in balance sheet {453 654) 1245 866 2511 082

Income 1ax expense - - 313404

In accordance with the Norwegian Preliminary Accounting Standard on 1axes, tax reducing and tax increasing temporary diflerences are
ofiset, provided the differences can be reversed in the same peried. Deferred income taxes are calculated based on the net temporary
differences that exist at yearend. The Company has not recorded any net deferred tax assel due to the considerable uncerntainty regarding
future utilization. The temporary differences which generate the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized as follows:

t December 31,
fin thousands of NOK) 2004 2003
Ternporary differences related 10:
~ Property and equipment . 2 185 5894
Pensicn liabilitios ' {136 (960
Intercompany receivables (625 432} {1327 305}
Shares in subsidiaries {(a} - {2 096 071}
Shares in affiliated companies (97 011) {102 398)
Tax losses carried forward {243 237 —
Other ‘ {6 B75) {572}
Deterred tax lisbility lasset) {971 68G) (3 521 412}
Deferred tax asset not recognised in balance sheet : 971 686 3621472
Deferred tax liability {asset), net — -

{a) In 2004 the Norwegian tax law was amendad so that dividend and capital gain/loss from shares are exempt from taxation. Consequently the Com-
pany’s deferred tax asset related to impairment of shares in subsidiaries ceased to exist. This deferred tax asset was not recognized in the balance
sheet and the change in tax law has therefora no effect on the tax expense; however the gross numbers in the table above are adjusted to reflect
this change.

INote 5] Retirement Plans

The Cqmpany sponsors a defined benefit pension plan for its Norwegian employees, comprising 22 persons. This plan is funded through
contri?utions to an insurance company, after which the insurance company undertake the responsibility to pay out the pensions. It is the
Company's general practice to fund amounts 10 this detined benefit plan, which is sufficient 1o meet the applicable statutory requirements.

Net periodic pension costs:

Years ended December 31,

{in thousands of NOK) 2004 2003 2002

Service costs 2 661 2282 2081

Interest cost 9595 1062 41

Expected return on plan assets {685) (781} (858}
Net amortization 209 2m n

Administration costs 87 - —
Payrell t; 461 378
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Recognized pension liabilities:
The pension labilities have been calculated based on the underlying economic realities. The aggregate funded status on the plan and
amounts recognized in the Company's balance sheey, is as follows:

, December 31,
{In thousands of NOK) 2004 2003

Funded status (10 205} {5 194}
Unrecognized actuarial loss 6067 1 863
Unrecognized prior service cost
Accrued payroll tax

{583}

Net amount recognized as accrued pension liability is presented as follows:

f December 31,
fin thousands of dollars} 2004 2003
QOther financial assets 127
Pension liabilii {3878
(3 761)
]

Assumnptions used to determine benefit obligations:
2004 2003 2002
Discount rates 5.3% 6.0% 6.5%
Return on plan assets 6.3% 70% 75%
Benefit increase . 30% 3.0% L 40%
Annual adjustment to pensicns 3.0% 3.0% 33%

No’tg 6| Commitments

The Company's operating lease commitments related 1o the corporate administration, expires on various dates through 2010. Future
minimum payments related to non-cancetable cperating ieases, with lease terms in excess of cne year, exifsting at December 31, 2004 are as
{ollows: '

{In thousands of NOK) December 31, 2004
2005 ' 3863
2006 : 3863
2007 38863
2008 3863
2009 ’ 3863
2010 3863

Total ‘ 23178

Rental expense ior operating leases, including leases with terms of less than ane year, was NOK 18,3 million, NOK 32,0 million and NOK
36,9 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

'
1

Goodwill

In 2002 the Company impaired all of its goodwill. The Company applies the same rates for depreciation as the group, and expensed amoriiza-
tion on goodwill of NOK 63 000 for the year ended December 31, 2002.
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Property and Equipment

Property and eguipment consists of fixtures, furniture and fittings. Net bock value of property and equipment is as follows:

MNoies to the Financial Statements — PGS ASA 2004

{in thousands of NOK} 2004 2003 2002
Accumulated cost #s of January 1 60 779 61451 60 510
Additions 15458 - 959
Disposals 487} 672) {18}
Accumulated cost as of December 31 75750 60779 61451
Accumulated depreciation as of January 1 31965 26 367 20100
Depreciation this year 6442 5881 6262
Disposals {488} 273) 5
37919 31965 26 357
Net book value . 37831 28814 35094
Propc—;rty and egquipment is depreciated over 3 to & years.
Note 9; Shares in Subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are recognizad in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less any impairment:
! Book-value as
of December
Share- 31, 2004
. Registered MNumber Total share holding {In thousands
{in thousands of NOK} office of shares capital () Par value of NOK)
PGS Geophysical AS Oslo 1 440 000 NOK 144 000 000 100% NOK 100 203197
PGS Exploration {Nigeria) Ltd. Nigeria 2 000 o0C usD 2 000 000 100% USD_, 1 -
PGS Reservoir AS Oslo 1000 NOK 100 000 100% NOK 00 -
Patroleum Geo-Services, Inc. Houston 100G uso 1 000 100% uso 1 -
Petreleum Geo-Services (UK) Ltd. Londen 222731726 GBP 222731726 100% GBP 1 81421
PGS Exploration [UK) Lid. London 44 000 000 GBP 178 353 000 24.7% GBP 1 €5 113
Seismic Exploration [Canada) L1d. London 7 700 000 GBP 7 701 000 100% GBP 1 11 088
PGS Reservoir (UK) L1d. London 7700 000 GBP 7 701 000 100% GBP 1 17 219
PGS 1kdam Lid. London 5 100 000 GBP 5100 100 100% GBP 1 17 218
PGS Floating Production {UK) Ltd, Londen 56 400 000 GBP 127 439 851 44.3% GBP i -
PGS Processing {(Angola) Ltd. Londen 5100 000 GBP 5 110 000 99.8% GBP 1 —_
Seahouse Insurance Lid. Bermuda 120 000 uso 120 000 100% uso 1 B 165
Multiklient Invesi AS Oslo 100 000 NOK 10 000 000 - 100% NOK 100 -
PGS Shipping AS Oslo 4733975 NOK 189 359 100% NOK"  0.04 352 688
Petrcleum Geo-Services Asia Pacific Pte. Lid.  Singapore 160 0Q0C SGD 700 032 748 i00% SGD 1 411 343
PGS tnvestigacao Petrolifera Limitada Brazil — BRL 5000 99% BRL - -
PGS Mexicana SA de CV Mexico 118 000 00C MXN - 118 000 100 100% MXN 1 58 359
PGS Venezuela de C.A, Venezuela 7000 BS 7 000 000 100% BS 1000 26
PGS Production AS Trondheim 187 283 310 NOK 187283310 100% NOK 1 179 611
Hara Skip AS Oslo 1 066 016 NOK 106 601 600 100% NOK 100 411 239
Osle Seismic Services Lid. Isle of Man 1 st 1 100% UsD 1 33570
Pertra AS Trondheim 1000 NOK 1 000 000 100% NCK 1000 1000
PGS Australia Py, Lid. Perth — - — 100% — - -
Total 1851 257
fa) Voting rights are equivalent to shareholding for all companies.
For turther information on impairment of shares in subsidiaries, see Note 1.
I
PCS ROARD OF DIRECTRS REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMINTS 2004 l 53

144



Notes to the Financial Statements - PGS ASA 2004
|

Other Financial Assets
Other financial asset consists of: '
December 31,
fin thousands of NOK] 2004 2003
Deferred long-term debt costs (a} 14 156 -
Longrlermrecewables e e ) ) 24630 ) 21566__
Tﬂtal .u..........‘.“. B T T T T BT T T L R .38 786 T 24 566 TR

fa) Deferred long-term debt costs are expensed using the effective interest method over the period loans are oouts:andmg These costs are inciuded
as part of external interest expense in the statement of operations (see Note 2).

[Note .1_1'{ éhareholders’ Equity

Changes in the sharehalders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

Paid-in capital
3

Number of Common Share premium Other  Shareholders’

{in thousands of NOK, except for share data) shares stock reserve equity T equity
Balance at December 31, 2002 103 345 987 516 730 - (737 465) {220 735)
Write down of old share capital {103 345 987) (516 730) - 516 730 -
Debt restructuring 20 000 000 600 000 7076919 1 100 446 8777365
Netincome | - - {5 148 156) 879 711) (6 027 867)
Balance at December 31, 2003 ) 20 000 000 600 000 1928763 - 2623763
Net i mcume . - - (824 248) - {824 248}

1 104 515

As of Decernber 31, 2004, Petrotleumn Geo-Services ASA had a share capital of NOK 600 million divided on a total of 20 000 000 shares, of
par value NOK 30, each fully paid in. All shares have equal voiing rights and are entitled 1o dividends, Any distribution of the Company’s equity
is dependent on'the approval of the shareholders, and the ability to make distributions are limited by certain debt covenants and Norwegian
Coiparate Law {see Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements), A listing of the Company's largest shareholders is provided in Note 21
in the consolidated financial staternants.

t

Financial Restructuring and Debt

Financial restructuring:

On July 29, 2003, PGS voluntarily filed a petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The filing was based on a fi-
nancial resyructuring plan that was pre-approved by a majority of banks and bondholders as well as a group of PGS’ largest shareholders. PGS emerged
from Chapter 11 November 5, 2003, just 100 days after filing. See Note 25 in the consolidated financiat statements for further information.

Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31,
{In thousands of NOK) 2004 2003
Unsecured:
10% Senior Notes, due 2010 {$745.8 million) T 4573412 5067 529
8% Senior Notes, due 2006 {$250.0 million} 1 532 750 "1 698 350
Libor + 1.15% Unsecured senior term loan ($4.8 million} — 32 681
Total debt ) 6108 162 6 798 560
Less current portion - (2 408}
Total long-term debt 6 106 162 6796152
Maturities:

The Company's debt matures in the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2010 with NGK 1.5 billion {$250.¢ miltion) and NCK 4.6 billion
{$745.9 million), respectively. In May 2004, the Company repaid its loan of $4.8 miliion, which had an original maturity date in 2011.
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!
Bank credit facilities:
In March 2004, the Company entered into a secured $110.0 million credit facility consisting of a $70.0 million revatving credit facility and a
$40.0 million letter of credit facility. See Note 25 in the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Long-term intercompany debt;
There'is no fixed plan for repayment of long-term intercompany debt.

Covenants:
In addition to customary representations and warranties, the Company's loans agreements include various covenants. See Noie 25 in the
consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Subsequent events:
In February 2005 tha Company established an additional overdraft facility of NOK 50 million as part of its Norwegian cash pooling system.

On March 8, 2005 the Company sent a notice of redemption relating to $175 million of its $250 million 8% Senior Notes, due 2006
{“Notes”). The Notes, in the amount of $175 million, will be redeemed April 7 2005 at a redernption price equal to 102.00% of the principal
amount of such Notes, plus accrued and unpeid interest to the redemption date. .

iNote _13! Financial Instruments

Tha Company periodically makes use of financial instruments. For a more in depth description of these instruments refer to Note 2 and Note
27 in the consolidated financial statements.

P

fNote 14| Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

fin thousands of NOK) 2004 2003
Accrugd debt restructuring costs — 172 009
Other 15 350 56 503

Tota 15 350 12

Salaries and Other Personnel Costs, Number of Emp}loyees, and

Remuneration to the Board of Directors, Executive Officers and Auditors
{

.Salary and social expenses that are included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative costs consist of:

‘Years ended Decernber 31,

fin thousands of NOK) 2004 2003 2002
Sataries 33 265 42 564 67 720
Social security 5520 4779 11228
Pension 3728 3142 2155
Other benefits 1754 15377 23372 i
Total 44 267 65 862 104 475 '

The Company had an average of 23 employees in 2004, Average number of employess for 2003 and 2002 were 24 and 25, respectively.

Compensation to Board of Directors, CEQ and other executive officers:
For a tull listing our Board of Directors, CEC and other executive officers and their compensation, see Note 31 to the conselidated financial
statements. -
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Remuneration to auditor:
Fees for audit and other services provided by the Company’s auditor are as follows {exclusive VAT and inclusive out of pocket expenses):

Years ended December 31,

{in NOK) 2004 2003 2002
Audit fees (a) 34 261 104 42 258 889 950 000
Other finangial audit —_ — 5055 025
Total audit fees . 34 261 104 42 258 889 6005 025
Other services {b} 8500 3784 067 4078532

Toial

fa) Fees for 2004 include fees incurred after May 31, 2004 for reaudit 2001/completion 2002 (NOK 21 918 457} and compigtion of audit of 2003 US
GAAP including fresh start (NOK 11 041 647). The fees for 2003 include fees uncurred in 2003/2004 (until May 31, 2004) related to reaudit 2001/
completion 2002 (NOK 27 765 492)) and fresh start 2003 (NOK 13 293 397).

tb) Cther services 2003 and 2002 include fees for assistance in connection with restructuring, refinancing and due-gilligence performed by banks.

N_(:ptge,_‘i':‘»1 Warranties

Petraleum Geo-Services ASA provides letter of credit and related types of guarantees on behalf of subsidiaries, which normally are claimed in
contractual relationships were subsidiaries are contracting parties. These guarantees are considered to be ordinary in contractual relation-
ships, as well as in the Company's ordinary operations. See also Note 25 10 the consolidated financial statements.
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Appendix 11

Audited Interim Balance Sheet for PGS ASA per 31 December 2005

Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Balance sheet

Translation from Norweigian

Audited interim Balance Sheet for Petroleum Geo-Services ASA 1} (NGAAP)

December 31,

(In thousands of NOK} 2005
ASSETS
Long-term assels:
Property and equipment, net 36972
Shares in subsidiaries 4 705 388
Intercompany receivables 6 732 862
Qther financial long-1erm assets 90 475
Total long-term assets 11 565 697
Current assets:
Accounts receivable, net 65 330
Shorl-term intercompany receivables 58 217
Other current asscts 14114
Restricied ¢cash 1605
Cash and cash equivalenis 437 055
Tolal gurrend nssels 576 321
Total assets 12 142018
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHODLERS' EQUITY
Shareholders equity:
Puaid in,capital:
Common stock; 60,000,000 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding, par value NOK 10, at December 31, 2005. 600 000
Additional paid in capital 1 104 515
Total paid in capital 1 704 515
Other equily 4 028 292
Total sharcholders’ equity 5 7321807
Debi:
Pension liabilities 4593
Other long-term debi:
[ntercompany debt 475 526
Long-term debi 5723110
Other bonp-term linbélities ; 37 747
Total other long-term debi 6 236 383
Current liabilities;
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt 57 493
Short-term intercompany debt 9 403
Accounts payable 17 940
Accrued expenses 83 399
Total current liabilities 168 235
Total liabilities and sharcholders’ equity 12142018

Lysaker, March 27, 2006
The Board of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA

Jens Ulltveit-Moe
Chajrman

Keith Henry
Vice Chuirman

Clare Spottiswoode

Rolf Erik Rolfsen

Harald Norvik

Francis Gugen

Anthony Tripodo

Svein Rennemeo
Chief Execuiive Officer
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1} The interim balance sheet is prepared as a pari ol the legal requirements for demerger in Norway.
The balance sheel is prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
Naorway, as described in Petroleum Geo-Services annual report.
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Petrojarl ASA Te i

= t
Balance sheet R
. . VoA ~7
Translation from Norwegian T ()
EA
. . =S ot
Drafi Opening Balance Sheet for Pewrojart ASA 1) '5,‘:};.’ )
January 1, ™ ze
{In thousands of NOK) ) 2006
ASSETS i
Long-term assets: :
Intercompany reccivables ' J 5990 259
Total long-term asscts ' 5990 259
Current assets:
Short-term intercompany receivables 29 843
Cash and cash equivalents 315 530
Total current assels 345373
Total assels ' 6335632
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHODLERS' EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity:
Paid in capital:
Common stock; 74,999,990 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding, par value NOK 2 ‘ 150 000
Additional paid in capital \ 1 022 557
Total paid in capital ! 1172 557
Other equity . 2 964 807
Total shareholders' equity . 4 137 364
Debu: :
Long-term debt . 2198 268
Total other long-term debt - ‘ 2 198 268
Current liabilities: -
Total current liabilities )} f -
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . 6335 632

Lysaker, March 27, 2006

1) The opening balance sheet is prepared as part of the legal requircments for demergers
in Norway. The balance sheet is prepared in compliance with the Norwegian Accounting
Act and generally accepted accounting principles in Norway as described in PGS’ annual
report.

The opening batance is based on the audited interim balance sheet of Petroleum Geo-
Services ASA (PGS ASA) as of December 31, 2005, Assets and liabilities related 1o the
Production Business, including Related Transactions, as described in the demerger plan,
are included as part of the demerger in the opening balance shect. As the assets, rights
and liabilities in the related transactions had no book value in PGS ASA at December 31,
2005, they are recorded to the value they would have had if the transactions had taken
place prior to December 31, 2005 with forcign exchange rale cqual the period end rate
December 31, 2005. The assets and liabilities transferred in the demerger, together with
the cash contribution done at incorporation of Petrojarl ASA, and the subsequent
contribution in kind described in the demerger plan, represent an estimate of the opening
balance sheet for Petrojarl ASA as of the consummation date of the demerger.
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per I January 2006

To'the general meeting of
Petrojarl ASA

i

i

Confirmation of draft opening balance sheet in connection with
demerger

accordance with existing accounting rules.

Oslo, 27 March 2006
ERNST & YOUNG AS

Jan Egil Haga

State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Note: The translation to English has been prepared for information purposes only.

W§ confirm that the draft opening balance sheet as of January 1, 2006 for Petrojarl ASA is prepared in

Auditor’s confirmation regarding tlie draft opening balance sheet for Petrojarl ASA
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On 28 April 2006 an Extraordinary General Meeting was held in Petrojarl ASA (the
“Company”) at Strandveien 4 at Lysaker.
b

The Chief Executive Officer of the sole shareholder Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, Mr. Svein
Rennemo, who also by proxy represented Petroleum Geo-Services ASA, chaired the
Extraordmary General Meeting. 100% of the votes and shares were thus represented.

There were no objections to the procedures of calling the mectmg or the agenda and the
meetmg was declared as lawfully opened.

The following matters were on the agenda.

ITEM | APPROVAL OF DEMERGER PLAN

~ The following was resolved.
“The demerger plan dated 27 March 2006 is approved.

' The share capital of the Company shall be increased from NOK 29,999,980 by

' NOK 120,000,000 to NOK 149,999,980 through the issue of 60,000,000 new

: shares in Petrojarl ASA each with a par value of NOK 2.00 in connection with

| the demerger pursuant to the demerger plan dated 27 March 2006. The
Company’s share premium fund shall be increased from NOK 801,654,305 by
NOK 220,903,000 to NOK 1,022,557,305. :

Subscription of shares shall take place by way of approval of the demerger
plan by the extraordinary general meetings of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
(PGS ASA") and Petrojari ASA.

Payment of shares shall 1ake place by transfer of assets, rights and liabilities
Jrom PGS ASA to Petrojarl ASA in accordance with the demerger plan when
completion of the demerger is registered with the Norwegian Registry of
Business Enterprises.

i The new shares shall entitle the holders to dividends from and including the
i Sinancial year 2006.

i The new shares shall be registered with the Norwegian Registry of Securities,
? Verdipapirsentralen, as soon as possible after the Completion Date and shall
thereafter entitle the holders to full shareholder rights in Petrojarl ASA.”




Appendix 12 *

Auditor’s confirmation on the Interim Balance Sheet for
PGS ASA per 31 December 2005

To the general meeting of
_ Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
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Confirmation of balance sheet in connection with demerger

We have audited the balance sheet of Petroleum Geo-Services ASA as of 31 December 2005, The interim
balance sheet is the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer. Qur

responsibility is to express an opinion on the interim balance sheet according to the requirements of the
Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Nerwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors and generally
accepted auditing principles in Norway. Those principles require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the interim balance sheet is free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the interim balance
sheet. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant ¢stimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall interim balance sheet, We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion the balance sheet has been prepared in accordance with law and regulations and presents the

financial position of the Company as of 31 December 2005 in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in Norway.

Oslo, 27 March 2006
ERNST & YOUNG AS

Jan Egil Haga
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Note: The transkation to English has been prepared for information purposes only.
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Petroleum Geo-Services ASA
Strandveien 4
PO. Box 89
N-1326 Lysaker
Norway
Telephone: +47 67 52 64 00

Fax: +47 67 52 64 64

www.pgs.com

Petrojarl ASA
Beddingen 16
N-7014 Trondheim
Norway
Telephone: +47 73 98 30 00
Fax: +47 73 98 30 10

www Snalureg
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All resolutions were adopted with 100%gprrpfai#from all the votes and shares. No other
matters were on the agenda and the Extraordinary” General Meeting was adjourned.

Svein Rennemo
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j ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
~ FOR
! PETROJARL ASA

(Resolved in the founding convention 2 March 2006, amended and restated in extraordinary
general meeting on 21 March 2006, extraordinary general meetmg 28 April 2006.)

; § I The name of the company
The name of the Company is Petrojarl ASA.
§ 2 Registered office

The registered office of the Company shall be in the municipality of Trondheim.

! § 3 The business of the Company

5
The business of the Company is to provide services to and participate in energy related
business, hereunder to own and operate FPSO vessels, and everything related with this,
including taking part in other companies.

| § ¢ Share Capital
The Share Capital of the Company is NOK 29.999.980 divided into 14.999.990 shares, each
having a face value of NOK 2,00. The shares are to be registered at the Norwelgan Regstry of
Securities.

§ 5 The Board

The Board shall have members as decided and elected by the General Meeting.

The signatory rights of the Company are held by the Chairperson oﬁthe Board and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company separately, or by two Board members jointly.

The Board will form a quorum when more than half of the members are present,

The Board has made a decision when more than half of the present members vote in favour of
a proposal or if the number of votes is equal, the Chairman of the Board has voted in favour
ofjthe proposal. Meetings of the Board shall be held in the municipality where the Company
has its registered office, or elsewhere inside or outside of Norway at the discretion of the
Board.

i
The Chairman of the Board shall preside the meetings. If the Chairman of the Board is not
present, and no Deputy Chairman has been elected, the meeting shall be presided by a person
elected by the present members of the Board. If votes are equal, the élection is decided by the
drawing of lots.



§ 6 The General Meeting

Ordinary General Meeting shall be held within six months afier the expiration of each
financial year. The financial year runs from the 1* of January to the 31® of December,
|

The ordinary General Meeting shall consider and resolve:

1. Approval of the annual accounts and annual reports, including the distribution of
* dividends.
2.+ Other matters which accordmg to law or the Articles of Assocnatlon is the

responsibility of the General Meeting.

The General Meeting shall be held in the municipality where the Company has its registered
office, or in the municipality of Oslo, Berum or Asker.

The General Meeting shall elect a chairman. The Chairman of the Board, or another person
appointed by the Board, opens the meeting and presides this until a chairman is elected.

Extraordinary General Meetings shall be held when required by law. -
§7

The General Meeting shall be chaired by the Chairperson of the Board of Directors.

t
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ITEM 2

As a consequence of the share capital increase, § 4 of the Artlcles of
Association is amended to read: i

“The share capital of the Company is NOK 149,999,980 divided into
74,999,990 shares of NOK 2.00 each. The shares shall be registered with the
Norwegian Registry of Securities (Verdipapirsentralen).”

AMENDMENT OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The following amendment to § 5 of the Articles of Association was resolved:

§ 5 second paragraph is amended to read as follows:

“The signatory rights of the Company are held by the Chairperson of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company separately, or by two
Board members jointly.”

Further, a new provision was resolved as follows:

§ 7 shall read as follows:

“The General Meeting shall be chaired by the Chaal'rperson of the Board of
Directors.”
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Appendix 13

Auditor’s confirmation that there will be full coverage for the paid in capital in PGS
ASA following the capital reduction in connection with the Demerger

¥

To the general,meeting of
Pétroleum Geo-Services ASA
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Confirmation of,Eoverage for remaining share capital and other

restricted equify in connection with share capital reduction
\

}
We confirm that afigr the share capital reduction in Petroleum Geo-Services ASA with NOK 120.000.000
from NOK 600.000.000 to NOK 480.000,000 and reduction of share premium with NOK 220.903.000 from
restricted equity.

* Oslo, 27 March 2006

NOK 1.104.515.000 to NOK 883.612.000 there will be full cover for the remaining share capital and other
ERNST & YOUNG AS

Jan Egil Haga

State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

Note: The translation to English has been prepared for information purposes only.




